THE LEGITIMACY OF POLICE AND COURTS

AROUND THE WORLD

by

Joel Ellis Denney, B.S., M.A.

A dissertation submitted to the Graduate Council of Texas State University in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy with a Major in Criminal Justice August 2022

Committee Members:

Mark Stafford, Chair

Bob Vasquez

Christine Sellers

Justice Tankebe

COPYRIGHT

by

Joel Ellis Denney

FAIR USE AND AUTHOR'S PERMISSION STATEMENT

Fair Use

This work is protected by the Copyright Laws of the United States (Public Law 94-553, section 107). Consistent with fair use as defined in the Copyright Laws, brief quotations from this material are allowed with proper acknowledgement. Use of this material for financial gain without the author's express written permission is not allowed.

Duplication Permission

As the copyright holder of this work I, Joel Ellis Denney, authorize duplication of this work, in whole or in part, for educational or scholarly purposes only.

DEDICATION

For Mom and Dad

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to thank my mentor, confidant, and friend, Dr. Mark Stafford, without whose guidance, encouragement, and honesty over the past six tumultuous years this entire endeavor would not have been remotely possible. I also greatly appreciate the valuable input received from other committee members, from Dr. Sellers taking the time to carefully proofread my rough drivel, to Dr. Vasquez patiently explaining why my statistical ambitions were a bit overzealous, to Dr. Tankebe for pointing out important gaps in my literature review and encouraging me to just call it legitimacy. My thanks also to the entire faculty at Texas State University for accepting my ways so patiently and providing me the opportunity to learn from your experience and expertise.

To my fellow doctoral students Allison, Daniel, Danielle, Jennifer, John, Keeyoon, Kyle, Lisa, Molly, Monica, Tiffany, Tyler, and everyone else, thank you for sharing advice, frustrations, lunch hours, cigarette breaks, and basement office grievances over the years. I wish you all the best of luck on your journeys and hope our paths cross again someday. To Mom, Dad, Robb, Dawn, Steve, Chris, Collin, Cameron, and all my family, all I can say is that I love you dearly. Thank you for being there even in times when all other lights grew dim. To my friends Ogden, Brian, Kirsty, Ryan, Emily, Kirk, Erin, Jenny, Manu, Kevin, Arielle, Indie, Darlene, Kristina, and the rest of you, I appreciate your support and encouragement while I spent so much time cloistered in my apartment working on this project. Thank you for everything. To my students, thank you for inspiring me with your aspirations, dreams, and hopes for a better future. Many times, when my faith in humanity was dwindling over the years, it was one of you who rekindled that flame. I may have been your teacher, but I sure learned a lot from you.

And to my great mentors William Chambliss and Mitchell Chamlin, I am thankful every day for what you taught me, and I will eternally cherish the time we had together. You will not be forgotten.

v

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTSv
LIST OF TABLES viii
LIST OF FIGURESx
LIST OF ILLUSTRATIONS xi
ABSTRACT xii
CHAPTER
I. INTRODUCTION1
II. THEORIES OF LEGITIMACY7
Political Philosophy
III. LEGITIMACY OF LEGAL AUTHORITIES27
The Legal Mandate – Effectiveness, Victimization, and Fear
IV. CURRENT STUDY70
Research Questions and Hypotheses.71Data and Sample.83Dependent Variables.87Independent Variables.101National-Level Variables.106Data Analysis.108
V. RESULTS109
Missing Data

Descriptive Statistics	113
Bivariate Correlations	124
Ordinary Least Squares Models	127
Maximum Likelihood Estimation	138
Null Models	140
Demographic Fixed-Effects Models	144
Demographic Random-Effects Models	147
Fixed-Effects Models	151
Random-Effects Models	156
Interaction Models	161
Multilevel Binary Logistic Models	174
VI. SUMMARY AND DISCUSSION	190
VII. CONCLUSION	215
APPENDIX	230
REFERENCES	237

LIST OF TABLES

Table	Page
1. Frequencies, distributions, and mean levels of police legitimacy, by country	98
2. Frequencies, distributions, and mean levels of court legitimacy, by country	99
3. Mean legitimacy of legal authorities, by country (combined index)	100
4. Individual-level concepts, measures, and descriptive statistics	105
5. National-level variables	107
6. Descriptive statistics	116
7. Bivariate correlations	125
8. Ordinary least squares regression without country controls	128
9. Ordinary least squares regression with country controls	129
10. Null models	141
11. Demographic fixed-effects models	145
12. Demographic fixed and random coefficients	149
13. Demographic random-effects model comparisons	150
14. Fixed-effects model comparisons	152
15. Full fixed-effects model (REML)	153
16. Random-effects model comparisons (variance components)	157
17. Random-effects model comparisons (fixed coefficients)	159
18. Cross-level interaction effects	162
19. Binary logistic regression models	175
20. Binary logistic null models	177
21. Binary logistic fixed-effects models	178
22. Binary logistic fixed-effects model comparisons	183
23. Police legitimacy random-effects model comparisons (variance components)	184

24.	Court legitimacy random effects model comparisons (variance components)	185
25.	Binary logistic random-effects model comparisons (fixed coefficients)	186
26.	Police legitimacy cross-level interaction effects	.188
27.	Court legitimacy cross-level interaction effects	189

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure	Page
1. Tyler's procedural justice model	
2. Tankebe's legitimacy model	44
3. Current legitimacy model	71
4. Raw mean legitimacy by country	115
5. Mean residual variation in legitimacy by country	142
6. Marginal effects of prior victimization on legitimacy, by homicide rate	164
7. Marginal effects of family victimization on legitimacy, by homicide rate	165
8. Marginal effects of fear of crime (home) on legitimacy, by homicide rate	166
9. Marginal effects of vicarious experience on legitimacy, by homicide rate	167
10. Marginal effects of marriage on legitimacy, by freedom score	168
11. Marginal effects of unemployment on legitimacy, by freedom score	169
12. Marginal effects of fear of crime (general) on legitimacy, by freedom score	170
13. Marginal effects of fear of war on legitimacy, by freedom score	171
14. Marginal effects of fear of terrorism on legitimacy, by freedom score	172
15. Marginal effects of national pride on legitimacy, by freedom score	173

LIST OF ILLUSTRATIONS

Illustration		
1.	The Questioner of the Sphynx by Elihu Vedder	1
2.	The Pleiades by Elihu Vedder	7
3.	Corrupt Legislation by Elihu Vedder	27
4.	The Dead Alchemist by Elihu Vedder	215

ABSTRACT

This dissertation analyzed global differences in the legitimacy of police and courts, employing multilevel modeling strategies to measure relationships between legitimacy and individual-level concepts including prior victimization, fear of crime, fear of war and terrorism, vicarious experience, group identity, social capital, and moral alignment, while accounting for the influence of national-level variation in the homicide rate and the freedom score across 47 different countries. This research examined to what extent the effects of individual-level sources of legitimacy varied between countries and whether the included national-level characteristics could explain some of this variation. In addition, supplementary analyses explored whether these relationships varied when the legitimacy of police and courts were investigated separately. Results demonstrated significant cross-national variation in the effects of nearly all included explanatory variables and provided some indication of the extent to which national-level characteristics influence these individual-level relationships. In addition, findings revealed differences between police and courts in the effects of some predictors and the extent of random variation in these effects across countries.

I. INTRODUCTION



Illustration 1: The Questioner of the Sphynx by Elihu Vedder

"Those in authority attempt to justify their rule by linking it, as if it were a necessary consequence, with moral symbols, sacred emblems, or legal formulae which are widely believed and deeply internalized. These central conceptions may refer to a god or gods, the 'vote of the majority', the 'will of the people', the 'aristocracy of talent or wealth', to the 'divine right of kings' or to the alleged extraordinary endowment of the ruler himself."

– C. Wright Mills

Widespread unrest surrounding the role of police in society, protests over pandemic restrictions, political extremism, propaganda, coups, assassinations, government instability, and violent insurrections are manifestations of a continuous struggle over legitimation that lies at the heart of the relationship between citizens and state authorities. Recent demonstrations against criminal justice systems around the world are only the latest flashpoints of the perpetually controversial role inhabited by institutions of formal social control (Hamm et al., 2022; Heaney, 2020; Jurek et al., 2022; Wolfe & McLean, 2021). Endemic corruption, abuses of power, and the rise of "posttruth" politics have further intensified the state of affairs in many countries. Social media has unleashed an endless deluge of bias, misinformation, propaganda, and conspiracy theory that incessantly bombards the senses, to the point that even the educated and wellinformed are beginning to doubt the stability of their long-held paradigms. Common to all these social problems is an underlying crisis in the perceived legitimacy of longstanding institutions. Many people around the world appear to be losing confidence in fundamental social structures, including systems of government, economics, science, and law.

Near the center of this semiotic maelstrom lies the relationship between citizens and criminal justice institutions. Legal authorities are common lightning rods for political volatility, with police and courts perpetually forced to bulwark the old system until finally conceding to serve the new. In the United States, the recent popularity of movements to defund or even abolish police departments is indicative of a dramatic erosion of institutional legitimacy among large segments of the population. Just like all social institutions today, the legitimacy of police and the criminal justice systems they

represent is being questioned and their roles in many countries reassessed after decades of oppressive behavior, unequal application of law, and illegitimate state violence.

To counter this erosion of public support, states and their institutions must stage elaborate symbolic rituals designed to stimulate and heighten public perceptions of legitimacy. Manning (1997) described in intricate detail the pomp and circumstance surrounding police funerals and the symbolic importance they hold in the solidification of police identity in the collective consciousness of a society. Police uniforms were introduced primarily to promote a professional image for the institution, as were military rank and insignia (Bellman, 1935). Similarly, the evolution of the courtroom from its monarchical and theocratical origins in "holding court" has preserved the role of regalia and ceremony in the elicitation of legitimacy. Courthouses are frequently designed to impose an air of intimidation on those who enter. Their towering domes and looming entrance columns evoke the grand architectural designs of antiquity and encourage deference toward the authority seated within. Judges usually sit in an elevated position, and while the powdered wigs that were long a symbol of the aristocracy are less common today, the robes worn by court officials around the world remain to inspire reverence, enhance prestige, and communicate solemnity (McLaren, 1999; Monks, 2018; Moran, 2015; Mutunga, 2014; Robson, 2021).

Ceremonial traditions of this nature demonstrate the relentless struggle legal authorities engage in over the legitimation of their professions. Authorities such as courts and police must continuously work to cultivate an image of legitimate power in the face of widespread popular discontent regarding their role in society. Legal authorities will always face this conflict due to the very nature of their role in society and the

controversial actions it necessitates. Bittner (1970) alluded to the paradoxical nature of the police role with his allegorical observation that "no amount of public relations work can entirely abolish the sense that there is something of the dragon in the dragon-slayer" (p. 7). It is this element of policing, the tendency of the role itself to require police to act in unsavory and villainous ways, to impose violence on civilians and violate the boundaries of agency and privacy, that is most in need of legitimation. The very existence of law enforcement is a precarious contradiction in social meaning, and therefore necessitates constant legitimation.

Theorists and researchers disagree over whether legitimacy is an objectively measurable characteristic of power and authority or if it exists only in the subjective perceptions of subjects, citizens, and sovereigns (Barker, 1995, 2001; Beetham, 1991; Coicaud, 2002; Hinsch, 2010; Tankebe, 2013; Tyler, 1990; Weber, 1922). Previous research on the legitimacy of legal authorities has struggled with developing a conceptualization that can be easily generalized to other countries, cultures, and contexts. While much prior study has emphasized the behavior of legal authorities themselves as the primary source of legitimacy, the relevance of police procedure within diverse international contexts is less certain. People in different countries may have vastly different conceptions of the privileges and responsibilities that should be given to legal authorities (Mazerolle et al., 2013). While the concept of legitimacy carries important implications for criminal justice in a global context, important questions remain as to the applicability of popular theories of legitimation to other countries and justice systems. This study analyzed global differences in the legitimacy of legal authorities, employing multilevel modeling strategies to examine whether and how individual-level sources of

perceived legitimacy varied by country and to what extent these relationships were influenced by national-level characteristics. Additionally, supplementary analyses explored whether these relationships varied between the legitimacy of police and the legitimacy of courts when examined as separate outcomes.

Chapter II broadly reviews the theoretical conceptualization of legitimacy as it has been understood in political philosophy, social science, and criminal justice. This chapter elaborates on what it means for an authority to claim legitimacy and for those subservient to it to ascribe legitimacy to that authority. Important distinctions between major theoretical perspectives on legitimacy, in particular between normative and empirical conceptualizations, are discussed and their relationships with the international generalizability of legitimacy theories are explored. The implications of legitimacy for criminological theory and practice are also addressed.

Chapter III focuses the discussion on the legitimacy of formal legal authorities such as police and courts, reviewing the major elements and processes underlying the legitimation of legal authorities. Legitimacy is discussed in the context of the mandate given to authorities, the symbolic importance of direct and vicarious contact, and the subjective nature of legitimacy as conditioned by group identity, moral alignment, and social capital. This chapter also describes the potential influence of country-level differences in political organization and moral framework on the perceived legitimacy of legal authorities. The concepts discussed in this chapter form the theoretical framework of the current analysis and informed explanatory variables selected for estimation.

Chapter IV outlines the approach taken in the current study, describing the research questions and hypotheses that were addressed, the data sources used, the

operationalization and measurement of concepts, and the statistical methodology that was employed. Concepts measured at the individual level included *fear of crime, fear of war and terrorism, prior victimization, vicarious experience, group identity, social capital,* and *moral alignment*. At the national level, models included variables capturing the *homicide rate* and the *freedom score*.

Chapter V describes the results of the multilevel analysis in detail, beginning with descriptive statistics before describing the individual steps involved in building the various models used in this analysis and summarizing the results and substantive conclusions regarding variation in the sources of legitimacy across different countries.

Chapter VI discusses the overall findings and their relation to the broader criminological literature surrounding legitimacy.

Chapter VII addresses several limitations in the current study and provides recommendations for future research before concluding with some final thoughts on the implications of these findings for criminal justice theory, research, and policy.

II. THEORIES OF LEGITIMACY



Illustration 2: The Pleiades by Elihu Vedder

Since the earliest days of human civilization, legitimacy has been essential to the establishment of power and authority structures. The rulers of ancient civilizations devoted considerable amounts of time, wealth, and manpower toward erecting grand structures, some practical, most ornamental, all monumental representations of supremacy and domination over the masses. Monuments convey a sense of omnipotence, giving the impression that the powers that built them are ubiquitous and eternal, beyond the reach of common people, and therefore legitimate simply by virtue of their existence. Legitimacy has consistently formed the underlying basis for systems of order and elite control, systems that are maintained through careful manipulation of cultural symbolism and meaning (Meyer & Rowan, 1977; Mills, 1959; Richards et al., 2000). The legitimacy of authority is a common theoretical thread that can be found woven throughout history,

philosophy, religion, and the social sciences. This chapter will discuss some of this theoretical lineage before introducing legitimacy as a relevant concept in modern sociological theory.

Political Philosophy

Philosophers of ancient Greece debated the concept of legitimacy at length, discerning its primary sources by analyzing norms and principles of morality and ethics. Thucydides, Plato, Aristotle, and others reasoned that strength alone could not serve as the sole foundation of legitimate state power (Beetham, 1991; Zelditch & Walker, 2003). Social systems that endure and thrive are also dependent on the consent of the governed for their political stability. Aristotle is frequently cited as having laid out one of the first known theories of distributive justice, noting that people often judge the worth of their rulers based on the fair distribution of resources, benefits, and privileges (Zelditch, 2001). The etymological root of legitimacy, derived from the Latin *lex* or *legis*, implies a legal or political connotation. Scholars have pointed to this fundamental implication when contrasting legitimacy with similar concepts such as status or reputation (e.g., Deephouse & Suchman, 2008). The term *legitimacy* appears to relate most closely to lawfulness, to acting in accordance with a set of rules. A legitimate government is therefore almost by definition a lawful government (Zelditch & Walker, 2003). But for as long as the concept has been explored, disagreement has existed over whether the rules at the heart of legitimacy are those established by formal authority itself, those imposed by informal social norms and values, or those derived from the principles of natural law (Beetham, 1991).

European philosophers during the enlightenment period rejuvenated many classical conceptions of legitimacy. Dissatisfied with monarchical rule, they drew inspiration from the democratic traditions of the ancients to propose alternative forms of social organization, some upholding traditional structures of authority and others radically challenging long held paradigms. Enlightenment thinkers appealed to the philosophical concept of *natural law* to explain the basis of morality and social order, replacing the notion of "divine rights" upon which monarchical systems traditionally drew for their legitimation. Natural laws were thought to be distinct from the laws of government, the laws of a higher power, or the laws of nature, arising instead from the human capacity for rational thought and people's reliance on principles of reason in their interaction and organization.

Thomas Hobbes (1651) reasoned that because humans are inherently selfish, hedonistic, and power-hungry beings, there could be no security absent some form of social organization. Human existence in a "state of nature" (without government) would involve a constant struggle against others for protection of oneself and one's property. But because humans are not only hedonistic, but also capable of reason, they rationally decide to organize into societies and governments for their collective benefit, giving up some of their individual sovereignty in return for protection against other selfish individuals. Social organization was therefore necessitated by the parameters of "human nature" and proceeded according to the unavoidable avenues and dispositions of this nature. Hobbes (1651) believed that to maintain order and guard against the deterioration of society into barbarism, states must maintain absolute power over citizens. This power structure must give the appearance of impenetrability and omnipotence, inspiring both

fear and awe in the hearts of the governed, just as the mythical sea creature evoked by Hobbes (1651) in his description of the state apparatus might frighten and astound mariners of lore. The perceived legitimacy of the civil state is paramount to the maintenance of a state of civilization, without which humanity would slide into chaotic disorder and violence (Dawson, 2017; Hobbes, 1651; Nivette, 2014). But while Hobbes (1651) was focused on the horrifying potential of too little government, other philosophers were concerned with the equally disconcerting notion of *too much* government.

John Locke (1690) contended that the existence of natural law and its place in the construction of social order also implies that human beings bear a duty to respect the natural rights of others. These natural rights not only place limitations on the legitimate exercise of power by state authorities, but also suggest that if governments do not act in the best interests of the governed, then citizens are entitled to revoke this power and remove or alter the government once it has violated their trust. To Locke (1690), the legitimacy of government was conditional on the performance of those functions for which it had been empowered. Primary among these was the well-being of the commonwealth and its people. Locke (1690) inferred from the principles of natural law that the power of legitimation lies with the people rather than their rulers. The equality of all men in the state of nature gives all equal capacity to judge the legitimacy of authority. If all people are created equal, then no person can derive their authority over others from an appeal to natural order. In Locke's (1690) conception of the state of nature, no person is inherently exalted, regal, or holy. All who hold power must derive that power at some point from the consent of others.

Rulers acting outside of the law and against popular consent, to Locke, are engaging in despotism and tyranny. Locke (1690) believed that the common good should dictate the right and proper course for authority, appealing to Cicero's edict of salus *populi suprema lex esto* – let the health of the people be the supreme law. Rulers who violated their allegiance to the common good were, to Locke (1690), tyrants and despots no longer worthy of allegiance and obedience. Locke (1690) defined *tyranny* as "the exercise of power beyond right" and said it exists

When the governor, however intitled, makes not the law, but his will, the rule; and his commands and actions are not directed to the preservation of the properties of his people, but the satisfaction of his own ambition, revenge, covetousness, or any other irregular passion. (p. 101)

Enlightenment thinkers clearly associated legitimate authority with the fundamental importance of *reason*, which was essentially considered an innate human faculty. However, enlightenment principles based on a standard of reasonableness break down when a society does not value the concept of rationality. Although Locke perhaps could not conceive of a government that is simultaneously legitimate and unreasonable, the wide variety of despotic regimes that have found stability throughout history irrespective of the internal logic of their systems suggest that government based on reason is only one of many possible forms. Moreover, even governments that Locke might have considered legitimate, such as those that claim to value rationality, equality, and consent, were themselves not necessarily established according to these same principles.

While many discussions of legitimacy in political philosophy focus on the contributions of Western thinkers such as these, other societies around the world clearly

developed their own systems of legitimate authority independent of Western thought. However, in a globalized academic system dominated by hegemonic Western intellectualism, philosophical principles derived from sources such as Asian spirituality and African tradition tend to be suppressed in intellectual discourse, with many discredited as archaic, irrational, and undemocratic (Connell, 2007; Jiadong, 2006; Schatzberg, 1993). Within much ostensibly international philosophical discourse, the foundational principles and paradigms of Western philosophy are still used as reference points against which indigenous systems of knowledge are measured. Even the norms of academic and scientific discourse tend to be imported from Western nations, leading philosophical development in many parts of the world to proceed according to Western terms (Jiadong, 2006; Schatzberg, 1993).

Indigenous conceptions of legitimacy around the world draw from symbolic and philosophical sources that are often incompatible with value systems forcibly introduced by colonial powers (Schatzberg, 1993). This can lead Western scholars to misunderstand the nature of legitimacy in other countries, equating legitimacy with standards of governance while ignoring the relativistic importance of culture, identity, thought, and language. Western assumptions concerning the relationship between legitimacy and rational principles are not necessarily shared by other cultures (Lawson, 1993; Schatzberg, 1993; Waldron, 1989). Historical realities in many parts of the world preclude the notion of legitimate authority based on the consent of the governed (Ellmann, 1995; Tankebe, 2008). As David Hume (1791) remarked of the conundrum inherent to any notion of a shared social contract:

Almost all the governments which exist at present, or of which there remains any record in story, have been founded originally, either on usurpation or conquest, or both, without any pretense of a fair consent, or voluntary subjection of the people. (p. 457)

The historical importance of enlightenment principles is not universal, and different societies rely on entirely separate traditions of language, imagery, and metaphor to contextualize and convey the meaning of legitimacy (Jiadong, 2006; Schatzberg, 1993; Rasmussen, 2017). In many cultures, popular definitions of legitimate power are not easily separated from values related to paternalism, spirituality, and tradition (Factor et al., 2014). The impossibility of applying the same standard of legitimacy to all nations is the basis for Weber's (1922) threefold typology of authority, of which authority based on rationality and legality is only one possible form.

Social Science

Weber (1922) wrote that "custom, personal advantage, purely affectual or ideal motives of solidarity, do not form a sufficiently reliable basis for a given domination. In addition, there is normally a further element, the belief in *legitimacy*" (p. 213, emphasis in original). All types of authority share a common need for their existence to be legitimized, but types can be characterized by different pathways to legitimacy, different approaches to what Weber (1922) called the "legitimation of domination." Weber (1919, 1922) divided forms of authority into three distinct categories based on the primary source of their legitimacy – traditional, charismatic, and rational-legal. Although these are ideal types that rarely if ever exist in such clearly defined terms, this basic framework forms a scaffold upon which an understanding of the roots of power and authority can be

constructed. Even though Weber (1919) appeared to give more credence to the rationallegal type, theorizing that this form would be the natural outcome of societal progress, legitimacy can equally be derived from the charismatic mobilization of popular sentiment, or from historical appeals to lineage, birthright, and tradition. Power and authority can be rationally legitimate, charismatically legitimate, or traditionally legitimate. Weber (1922) asserted that "the basis of every authority, and correspondingly of every kind of willingness to obey, is a *belief*, a belief by virtue of which persons exercising authority are lent prestige" (p. 263, emphasis in original). Thus, in contrast to many Western political philosophers, Weber located legitimacy in the subjective beliefs of citizens rather than in the objective properties of institutions.

Weber (1922) also posited the use of force as central to the concept of legitimacy. Only when the use of force by authorities is considered legitimate can the authorities themselves be considered legitimate. "Ultimately, one can define the modern state sociologically only in terms of the specific means peculiar to it, as to every political association, namely, the use of physical force" (Weber, 1922, p. 1). The state's capacity to engage in legitimized forms of violence is fundamental to the legitimation of its authority. Weber (1922) understood that "like the political institutions historically preceding it, the state is a relation of men dominating men, a relation supported by means of legitimate (i.e., considered to be legitimate) violence" (p. 2). Legitimacy is what distinguishes legal authorities from other users of violence because their discretionary use of force is backed by the power of the law. The use of violence is also what distinguishes legal authorities from other institutions and organizations, altering the nature of legitimation processes. The history of policing can be described as the struggle over the

legitimation of violence, or more accurately the legitimation of discretionary power to decide when violence is warranted (Bittner, 1970; Klockars, 1985; Laurie, 1972; Smith, 2007). The legal authority to forcefully coerce another person against their will is central to police legitimacy. Most in need of legitimation are those actions performed by authorities that would be illegal if engaged in by the citizenry.

Social scientists since Weber have developed several other typologies that distinguish between legitimacy of different kinds, at different levels, and with different audiences. Theorists tend to differentiate between general and specific attitudes toward authorities (Brandl et al., 1994; Easton, 1975). General attitudes are those felt toward authorities in general, and toward the institutions and systems of law and justice that they represent. Specific attitudes are those related to people's individual encounters with specific legal authorities. Trinkner et al. (2018) observed that "there is an important distinction between tangible interactions with legal authorities and the more abstract representation of the law that permeates society" (p. 5). Similarly, differences are likely to be found between attitudes toward local, state, and federal courts (Gibson et al., 2010). Brandl et al. (1994) found that while these attitudes are connected, they appear to have an asymmetrical relationship. General attitudes tend to have a greater effect on specific attitudes than specific attitudes have on general ones. In the United States, Kochel (2018) found that general support for police tends to be stronger than specific support because "general support tends to be grounded in the ideals of policing – justice, social order, and protection – rather than derived from personal experience with police" (p. 252). These findings allude to the possibility that general and specific legitimacy may originate from different sources. While the legitimacy of specific legal authorities is likely heavily

influenced by direct experience, general legitimacy is potentially more dependent on durable factors such as perceived effectiveness, vicarious experience, moral alignment, group identity, and social capital (Cao & Wu, 2019; Chase & Thong, 2012; Coicaud, 2002; Easton, 1975; Kochel, 2018; Rothstein & Stolle, 2008; Tankebe, 2009; Smith, 2007).

An important typological distinction that informs the current study is between empirical and normative conceptions of legitimacy. Normative conceptions tend to describe legitimacy in terms of pre-defined criteria for institutions that represent ideal forms, while empirical definitions describe legitimacy in terms of measurable public support, regardless of the characteristics of institutions themselves (Anderson et al., 2005; Beetham, 1991; Easton, 1975; Hinsch, 2010; Tankebe, 2013; Tyler, 2009; Weber. 1922; Zelditch, 2001). Normative conceptions of legitimacy, associated with classical thinkers and popularized in the modern era by political philosophers such as Habermas (1975) and Rawls (1971), involve the assessment of institutions according to objective standards derived from philosophical principles. Such perspectives say very little about the subjective perceptions and beliefs of individuals and instead focus on whether institutional arrangements conform to principles such as justice, rationality, or freedom. Empirical evidence indicating approval of institutions among citizens does not make them legitimate from a normative perspective. Legitimacy is derived not from popular approval, but from adherence by institutions to overarching philosophical principles (Beetham, 1991; Gilley, 2012; Jackson & Bradford, 2019; Schuck, 2019; Worden & McLean, 2017a).

While normative theories of legitimacy express normative prescriptions in their assessments, empirical theories measure the existence of popular support without preference for one form of social organization over another (Hinsch, 2010). Empirical conceptions locate the power to legitimize authority within the subjective perceptions of citizens, rather than inferring legitimacy based on institutional devotion to philosophical standards (Hinsch, 2010; Jackson et al., 2013; Jackson et al., 2018). In an empirical sense, an institution is legitimate if it has the approval of those subject to its authority, regardless of its objective actions and characteristics. From this perspective, "to say that an institutional arrangement is a legitimate one is to make a factual claim about the subjective state of mind of particular individuals that belong to one political society" (Hinsch, 2010, p. 41). As suggested by Weber's (1922) framework, the source of empirical legitimacy is always the people, but the determinants of people's legitimacy evaluations and the criteria used in these evaluations can differ widely (Jackson et al., 2018; Matheson, 1987). Suchman (1995) revealed this complexity with an illuminating description of the concept: "Legitimacy is a *perception* or *assumption* in that it represents a reaction of observers to the organization as they see it; thus, legitimacy is possessed objectively, yet created subjectively" (p. 574).

Attempting to bridge the gap between the normative conceptions of political philosophy and the empirical conceptions of social science, Beetham (1991) recognized the importance of Weber's (1922) work for the sociological understanding of political legitimacy, but rejected his threefold classification, finding this typology insufficient to explain the multifaceted nature of legitimacy in a modern global context. While the content of legitimacy may vary across societies, Beetham (1991) argued, there likely

exists a universal structure of legitimation that applies in every context. Without imposing an objective typology onto the phenomenon of legitimation, but also conceding that at least some of the power over legitimation must lie with institutions, Beetham (1991) proposed that for authorities to be legitimate they must act within prescribed rules, embody shared norms and values, and have the endorsement of citizens. These three factors – legality, normative justifiability, and recognition – are the basic elements of Beetham's (1991) model of legitimate power. Beetham (1991) contrasted liberal democracies that derive their legitimacy from popular consent with traditional systems based on heredity and custom, communist regimes centered on the collective will, religious theocracies that appeal to divine right, technocracies reliant on expertise, dictatorships based on the will of a strong leader, and fascist governments built around appeals to ethno-nationalism. To Beetham (1991), all these types share a similar underlying structure of legitimacy based on legality, justification, and recognition.

According to Beetham (1991), evaluations of power must begin with the determination that it has been obtained and exercised according to shared social norms and rules. Legality is a component of legitimacy perceptions that operates in concert with broader value systems. The most legitimate authority is that which possesses the greatest amount of overlap with people's shared values as codified in the law. Beetham (1991) considered Weber's (1922) approach to legitimacy flawed because it did not allow for a distinction between moral obligation and forced consent. Beetham (1991) located legitimacy not entirely in the subjective beliefs of citizens, but in the degree to which authorities adhere to social norms, value systems, and their own systems of law. For Beetham (1991), power is legitimate only when it can be justified according to beliefs

shared by both dominant and subordinate social groups. The justification of these shared beliefs and values constitutes the core mechanism of legitimacy. For power to be considered legitimate, it must have a valid source, be exercised in a justified manner, and serve the common interest. Beetham (1991) did not consider legality, justification, and endorsement to be constituent parts of legitimacy, but rather necessary preconditions for its existence. Legitimacy is related to the behavior of authorities only to the extent that this behavior aligns with a shared value system within a society. Legitimacy to Beetham (1991) is dependent not solely on the beliefs of citizens, as Weber (1922) suggested, but also on the intersection of value systems with the qualities and actions of authorities.

In modern criminological theory, legitimacy is commonly operationalized in terms of two related empirical constructs – the trust citizens possess in authorities and the obligation they feel to obey these authorities (Jackson & Bradford, 2019; Kochel et al., 2013; Reynolds et al., 2018; Tyler, 1990). These two items – *trust* and *obligation to obey*, form the basis of Tyler's (1990) well-known conceptualization of legitimacy. Sunshine and Tyler (2003) defined legitimacy as "a property of an authority or institution that leads people to feel that that authority or institution is entitled to be deferred to and obeyed" (p. 514). But some have questioned the use of obligation as a direct indicator of perceived legitimacy, suggesting that while legitimacy may be sufficient to inspire a sense of obligation to obey authorities, it is not the only possible source of such feelings (Akinlabi & Murphy, 2018; Dawson, 2018; Gau, 2011; Kochel et al., 2013; Nix et al., 2019; Radburn & Stott, 2018; Reisig et al., 2014; Sparks et al., 1996).

Empirical research by Reisig et al. (2012, 2014) in Slovenia found evidence that the constituent parts of legitimacy in Tyler's model may act differently in other nations.

A sense of obligation can arise from a multitude of sources, some based on legitimacy, others based on coercion and violence. True consent is exceedingly difficult to measure (Bottoms & Tankebe, 2012; Gau, 2011; Sun et al., 2016, 2018). People might be fearful of what will happen to them if they do not obey the law or follow the directives of police, so that feelings of obligation do not arise from moral alignment but from powerlessness, intimidation, and fear (Akinlabi & Murphy, 2018; Dawson, 2018; Kochel et al., 2013; Nix et al., 2019; Radburn & Stott, 2018; Tost, 2011). Perceived obligation to obey does not necessarily imply perceived legitimacy. According to Tankebe (2013), while some people may feel obligated to obey authority due to a belief in legitimacy, "others might say they are afraid of the costs of nonobedience, so they feel obliged, or that they are so powerless that no realistic alternative is available but to obey the existing societal authorities, however badly they might behave" (p. 105). A sense of obligation does not necessarily arise from legitimacy, and could be the result of trepidation, coercion, habit, or what Carrabine (2005) called "dull compulsion" (p. 106).

There are systems of authority that scarcely rely on legitimacy at all, instead controlling their subjects almost exclusively through force and coercion. In such systems, popular legitimacy is not required for obedience because people lack the power to mount any kind of effective resistance; in fact, their own sense of powerlessness serves as a further deterrent against disobedience or revolt (Beetham, 1991; Tankebe, 2013). But many authorities seem to have realized that a system based on consent is objectively more efficient and stable than one based on coercion and control. Nevertheless, even the most benevolent systems still rely on the threat of violence and must maintain the appearance of a steadfast willingness and capacity to support their claims to authority by

force. Authority must serve as an effective substitute for interpersonal violence if states are to to make effective claims regarding their legitimacy. The provision of security is one of the most basic elements of the social contract between citizens and states (Loader & Walker, 2007). For citizens to willingly surrender the use of violence against one another for the resolution of disputes and place the charge of justice in the hands of the state, this authority must prove itself willing and able to apply force when it is necessary to maintain security. The criminal justice system and its representatives, in one form or another, are the mechanism by which states typically take on this charge.

Criminal Justice

The potential consequences of a legitimacy deficit for criminal justice institutions extend far beyond the erosion of popular support. Bobo and Thompson (2006) noted that "a legal system seen as illegitimate is a system likely to face suspicion, guardedness, and even open resistance and challenge from important segments of the citizenry" (p. 449). Legitimacy can affect people's cooperation with legal authorities, their willingness to empower these authorities, and their general compliance with the law (Mazerolle et al., 2013; Sunshine & Tyler, 2003; Tankebe, 2013; Tyler, 1990; Walters & Bolger, 2019). The absence of legitimacy can undermine the ability of police to solve crimes and maintain order. If people believe that authorities are legitimate, they will be more likely to cooperate with police, volunteer information, report crimes, provide witness testimony, comply with court orders, and help address criminogenic conditions in their communities (Baker et al., 2014; Baird, 2001; Bottoms & Tankebe, 2012; Kochel et al., 2013; Madon et al., 2017a; Mazerolle et al., 2013; Sahin et al., 2017; Sunshine & Tyler, 2003; Tyler & Jackson, 2013). Legitimacy can also lessen feelings of contempt and defiance that citizens might perceive during involuntary interactions with police, reducing the likelihood of police escalation (Sherman, 1993; Steiner & Wooldredge, 2018).

There is also abundant evidence of a connection between legitimacy and compliance with the law more generally (Akinlabi & Murphy, 2018; Bottoms & Tankebe, 2012; Gau & Brunson, 2010; Kane, 2005; Tyler & Jackson, 2013; Walters & Bolger, 2019). A deficit in the legitimacy of legal authorities is associated with greater support for the personal use of violence, the weakening of informal social controls, and the inhibition of pro-social legal socialization (Dawson, 2018; Levi et al., 2009; Jackson et al., 2013; Marien & Hooghe, 2011; Reisig et al., 2011; Tankebe, 2009; Tyler & Jackson, 2013; Worden & McLean, 2017b). The absence of legitimacy can make people more likely to engage in self-help to solve problems and address grievances without the assistance of police and courts. If legal institutions and authorities are not helping citizens, then citizens will quickly learn they must help themselves.

An illegitimate justice system encourages the widespread adoption of self-defense practices ranging from hardening crime targets, to carrying weapons and wearing body armor, to joining gangs or militias, to supporting or committing vigilantism and retaliatory violence (Akinlabi, 2020; Anderson, 1999; Kane, 2005; Meares et al., 2012; Messner et al., 2006; Nivette, 2016; Sampson & Bartusch, 1998; Tankebe, 2009; Tankebe & Asif, 2016). Dawson (2018) described the willingness to resort to violence in informal dispute resolution as a revocation by citizens of the Hobbesian social contract and a reclamation of their natural right to violence and retribution. Nivette and Eisner (2013) made a similar observation, in that "civil society for the most part, accepts the appropriation of violence by the state. And when the state is considered illegitimate, civil

society may reappropriate this tool to use in the course of continuous political 'struggle'" (p. 8).

Self-reliance is not the only mechanism by which the illegitimacy of police and courts can influence crime, delinquency, and disorder. A deficit in the legitimacy of legal authorities can translate to an erosion of confidence in other social institutions. Marien and Hooghe (2011) found distrust of government institutions likely to significantly increase the likelihood of illegal behavior, noting that distrust of government can also erode the capacity of government to fulfill its basic obligations toward the public in terms of public safety, health, and welfare. Theorists have speculated that a loss of confidence in legal authorities may be a part of a larger trend of declining confidence in social and political institutions in general (Beetham, 1991; Bradford et al., 2014b; Habermas, 1975; LaFree, 1998; Nivette & Eisner, 2013). The reduced legitimacy of formal social institutions can diminish the effectiveness of informal social control mechanisms, undermining the pro-social influence of institutions such as family, education, and religion (Ferdik et al., 2013; Levi & Sacks, 2009; Newton & Norris, 1999; Nivette, 2014). The absence of perceived legitimacy in these informal institutions can lead to the breakdown of informal social control mechanisms, making direct contact with formal mechanisms such as police and courts more likely.

Institutional legitimacy can also have broader implications in terms of popular support for domestic and foreign policy beyond the realm of criminal justice, including military intervention, government welfare, education programs, scientific funding, and public health measures such as pandemic restrictions and vaccination programs (Jones, 2020; Kim, 2018; Levi et al., 2009; Lieberman, 2007). Of the scope of legitimacy as a

concept, Zelditch (2001) remarked that "it refers to the acceptance of just about anything at all as 'right', providing acceptance does not simply depend on gain, and it has consequences for the stability of just about any feature of social structure emergent in just about any social process" (p. 51).

Legitimacy also elicits a greater willingness among citizens to accept expansions of discretionary power and authority, including the adoption of invasive technologies and tactics. (Balko, 2013; Heen et al., 2018; Lockwood et al., 2018; Moule et al., 2019; Simmons, 2018; Sunshine & Tyler, 2003). A surplus of legitimacy may also lead citizens to be overly accepting of fraud, waste, and abuse committed by authorities in their fulfillment of their duties (Nivette, 2014). Moreover, a strong belief in the legitimacy of authorities can make the public less likely to believe stories of police and judicial misbehavior, and more likely to deny the existence of police brutality, oppressive tactics, or systemic corruption, even when presented with evidence to the contrary (Moule et al., 2019). Conversely, a legitimacy deficit may lead citizens to desire a reduction in the power granted to legal authorities and a curtailing of their mandate. Many of the underlying demands made by activists calling to defund or abolish police are centered on this type of restriction of the police mandate, as they seek to divorce issues such as mental health, homelessness, and drug abuse as much as possible from the purview of law enforcement (Piza & Connealy, 2022; Trinkner et al., 2018; Vaughn et al., 2022; Vitale, 2017). These types of boundary concerns may be even more important to legitimacy in nations with high rates of crime, ineffective legal systems, and histories of discrimination, conditions unlikely to promote a sense of confidence in authorities (Beetham, 1991; Jackson et al., 2019; Tankebe, 2009). When citizens perceive authorities
to be abusing the powers given to them, they are more likely to demand these powers are regulated, restricted, or removed entirely.

While a great amount of research has been dedicated to the question of whether society can "build a better cop," it is more important than ever not to overstate the potential impact that such improvement can realistically have on the legitimacy of legal authorities overall (Herbert, 2006; Owens et al., 2018; Mazerolle & Terrill, 2018). Perhaps police can be trained to be more procedurally just, but whether this will significantly improve their legitimacy or that of the system they represent remains unclear. Worden and McLean (2017b) questioned the capacity of police organizations to adopt procedural justice changes, noting that maintaining the *appearance* of procedural justice is often valued more highly than creating substantive changes in officer behavior. Underlying the entire framework of procedural justice theory is the assumption that legitimacy rests in the hands of authorities themselves, that law enforcers and arbiters can steer and manage their own legitimacy by changing their tactics, approach, and image.

But despite a large amount of research indicating that legal authorities can indeed improve perceptions of their legitimacy by attending to procedural justice, the relationships between legitimacy and several other theoretically relevant factors remain unclear, especially as they exist within various social, political, and cultural contexts. The current study will examine fear of crime, prior victimization, vicarious experience, group identity, social capital, and moral alignment as potential sources of legitimacy. These influences may be especially important for individuals with little to no direct contact with police and courts. Many people rarely if ever interact in any meaningful way with legal authorities in their daily lives, and their opinions about police and courts are not so much

derived from direct encounters with these authorities as they are dependent on broader mechanisms of socialization and cultural osmosis.

Different sources of legitimacy imply different approaches to its cultivation. If the primary source of legitimacy is direct experience with legal authorities, then institutions would indeed be wise to invest in procedural justice training. But if legitimacy is influenced more by vicarious experiences, moral alignment, and social capital this would call for institutions to focus on image management, outreach, and community-oriented strategies. Additionally, if legitimacy is based primarily on effectiveness and fear of criminal victimization, then legal authorities should focus on public safety and crime control above all else. This chapter has traced the theoretical concept of legitimacy from political philosophy, discussed its development in the social sciences, and established its relevance for criminal justice studies. The following chapter will discuss theoretical frameworks underlying the conceptual sources of legitimacy included in the current study, exploring the mandate given to legal authorities, the symbolic duty that underlies the performance of justice, and the personal bonds that influence people's perceptions of authority.

III. LEGITIMACY OF LEGAL AUTHORITIES



Illustration 3: Corrupt Legislation by Elihu Vedder

The legitimacy of the state is intimately entwined with the legitimacy of its legal authorities. As enforcers of the law, police put force behind the will of lawmakers and sovereigns, and as arbiters of the law, courts direct this force and distribute its punishments and protection. The mandate given to these authorities includes a responsibility to effectively provide security, deliver justice, and maintain social order. The discretionary performance of this charge also carries with it a symbolic duty to represent the ideals of the state during interactions with citizens. The subjective nature of perceived legitimacy introduces further complexity to processes underlying its cultivation. The following sections will discuss conceptual sources of legitimacy relevant to the current study. First, the relationship between fear of crime, prior victimization, and the perceived effectiveness of authorities at fulfilling their mandate will be addressed. Then, discussion will turn to the symbolic duty of legal authorities and its relationship to direct and vicarious experience with police and courts. Lastly, the subjective, personal nature of legitimacy and its relationship with group identity, social capital, and moral alignment will be explored.

The Legal Mandate - Effectiveness, Victimization, and Fear

Egon Bittner (1970) suggested that police are needed to handle circumstances involving "something-that-ought-not-to-be-happening-and about-which-someone-hadbetter-do-something-now" (p. 30). This definition indicates the inherent ambiguity of the police role and the importance of discretion – the freedom to choose the most appropriate response to a given situation. For this discretionary freedom to be accepted by the public, people must have confidence in the decisions made by legal authorities, especially when those decisions involve the use of force. In another description of the police function, Bittner (1970) asserted that "the role of police is best understood as a mechanism for the distribution of non-negotiable coercive force employed in accordance with the dictates of an intuitive grasp of situational exigencies" (p. 46). For modern systems of government to maintain order, the use of force is limited as much as possible into the hands of a small group of sovereign representatives, just as the power to arbitrate disputes and dispense justice is restricted to a formalized judicial system (Bittner, 1970; Smith, 2007). The acceptance by citizens of these limitations and restrictions requires legitimacy, and the most obvious source of this legitimacy is the belief that institutions effectively fulfill the mandates given to them (Aviv & Weisburd, 2016; Beetham, 1991; Manning, 1997; Sunshine & Tyler, 2003; Tankebe, 2009).

While the actual responsibilities assigned to legal systems are vast and diverse, many citizens consider the control of criminal behavior to be the primary purpose of these authorities. An institution that cannot adequately perform its most basic functions is

not likely to garner widespread confidence and legitimacy. Police and courts are charged with apprehending criminals, dispensing appropriate punishment, and maintaining public order and safety. Confidence in these institutions is influenced by how effectively citizens believe them to be satisfying this mandate. Research has consistently found people's perceptions of crime and disorder to be significantly related to their attitudes toward legal authorities (Alda et al., 2017; Boateng, 2017; Dawson, 2018; Jang et al., 2010; Kääriäinen, 2007; Sevier & Tyler, 2014; Sprott & Doob, 2009; St. Louis & Greene, 2019; Van Craen, 2013). In some societies, perceptions of procedural fairness may also be of key importance to these evaluations (Hough et al., 2013; Tyler, 1990). But in many parts of the world, proper procedure is often less vital to perceived legitimacy than the ability of these institutions to provide a sense that justice has been done. This is especially true where and when the goals of punishment reach beyond the individual offender and are aimed at upholding societal values in general (Bradford et al., 2014b; Jackson et al., 2014; Sevier & Tyler, 2014; Tankebe, 2009; Tsushima & Hamai, 2015).

Effectiveness has sometimes been omitted from conceptualizations of legitimacy due to the contention that it is a purely instrumental concern. However, Bottoms and Tankebe (2012) argued that there is a clear normative component to effectiveness, in that the perception that authorities are fulfilling the mandate given to them communicates responsiveness to the moral needs of citizens. The perceived effectiveness of legal authorities is theoretically related to people's experiences with crime and disorder. Being fearful of crime may lead to perceptions that legal authorities are not fulfilling their duty to provide security. Personal experience with criminal victimization might also erode confidence in the ability of legal authorities to provide safety. Indeed, fear of crime and

prior victimization have generally been found to be negatively associated with legitimacy, and several studies have linked these variables directly to the perceived ineffectiveness of legal authorities (Aviv & Weisburd, 2016; Brown & Benedict, 2002; Dull & Wint, 1997; Koenig, 1980; O'Connor, 2008; Singer et al., 2019; Sprott & Doob, 1997).

Research has generally found victims of crime to report more fear of crime than nonvictims. After becoming victims of crime, people tend to perceive greater amounts of vulnerability and risk both at home and in their neighborhoods (Alda et al., 2017; Orr & West, 2007; Sprott & Doob, 1997; Stafford & Galle, 1984). While these may seem to be obvious conclusions, there is some evidence that the relationship between victimization and fear of crime is more complex than it appears. Not all types of crime produce the same effect in victims, not all victims of crime respond in the same way, and not all responses by legal authorities are identical in their effect on victims (Berthelot et al., 2017; Dowler & Sparks, 2008; Dull & Wint, 1997; Koster et al., 2016; Wolfe et al., 2016). Some victims might be highly fearful following their ordeal, while others, potentially targets of less serious forms of crime, or those reassured by the actions of authorities, experience less fear (Singer et al., 2019; Van Dijk, 2015). These feelings might also be partially related to pre-existing attitudes, risk perceptions, and generalized trust. Positive contact with authorities after experiences of criminal victimization may serve to increase legitimacy in the eyes of some victims, while others might view inadequate responses by police and courts as further indication that these authorities are ineffective at fulfilling their mandate (Dull & Wint, 1997; Reisig & Stroshine, 2001).

Different attitudes among victims might also simply be related to these individuals being more likely to have had direct experience with legal authorities.

International research has uncovered further complexity in relationships between prior victimization, fear of crime, and attitudes toward legal authorities in different countries (Alda et al., 2017; Koenig, 1980; Nalla & Gurinskaya, 2020; Nivette, 2016; Singer et al., 2019; Tankebe, 2009; Van Dijk, 2015). There is also evidence that prior victimization can sometimes influence the effects of other variables, such as procedural justice, on perceived legitimacy (Aviv & Weisburd, 2016; Singer et al., 2019; Wolfe et al., 2016). Victims often encounter legal officials while at their most vulnerable, altering the dynamics of the interaction and the expectations of police behavior. The degree to which officials are sensitive to the physical and emotional needs of victims during such encounters likely has great bearing on subsequent attitudes toward these authorities (Aviv & Weisburd, 2016; Orr & West, 2007; Rosenbaum et al., 2005; Singer et al., 2019; Wolfe et al., 2016).

Even for those without personal experience with criminal victimization, general concerns about crime and disorder can greatly influence perceptions of legal authorities. In low-security environments, expectations for authorities may be especially focused on effective crime control and order maintenance. Perceived insecurity resulting from concentrated poverty, social disorganization, and low collective efficacy can have negative effects on citizen attitudes toward police and courts (Frimpong et al., 2019; Kane, 2005; Kochel, 2018; Sprott & Doob, 2009; Zahnow et al., 2019). Signs of physical and social disorder such as graffiti, property deterioration, loitering, panhandling, and drug abuse can similarly undermine the perceived effectiveness of legal authorities (Cao

et al., 1996; Wilson & Kelling, 1982). The salience of crime and disorder in the minds of citizens is likely to affect their expectations of legal authorities. Citizens may be more tolerant of unjust police behavior when they feel unsafe in their homes and neighborhoods (Armaline et al., 2014; Frimpong et al., 2019; Kochel, 2018; Martin & Bradford, 2019; McDonald, 2015; Skogan, 2009). Fear of crime can influence the scope of the mandate given to legal authorities as well as the criteria by which people evaluate the performance of these institutions (Beetham, 1991; Dawson, 2018; Koster et al., 2016; Sampson & Bartusch, 1998; Vaughn et al., 2022).

Depending on contextual factors, citizens in different countries may assess the effectiveness of legal authorities in different ways (Boateng, 2017; Chamlin & Cochran, 2006; Dawson, 2017; Jang et al., 2010; Kääriäinen, 2007; Mazrolle et al., 2013; Thomassen, 2013; Zahnow et al., 2019). In parts of the world where rates of crime are high and institutions less capable of providing security and stability, procedural concerns such as fairness and respect may be less relevant than effectiveness at controlling crime, dispensing justice, and maintaining order. Research has found effectiveness to have a greater or comparable influence on legitimacy than procedural concerns in a variety of nations, including Australia (Hinds & Murphy, 2007), South Africa (Bradford et al., 2014a), Ghana (Tankebe, 2009), and China (Sun et al., 2016, 2018). Additionally, international research has found crime rates, especially rates of violent crime, to be negatively correlated with police legitimacy at the national level (Dawson, 2017; Nivette & Eisner, 2013). Although the relative importance of effectiveness in other countries compared to alternative sources of legitimacy such as procedural justice is widely debated in the literature (e.g., Kochel et al., 2013), most research seems to point to

perceived effectiveness as a crucial influence on the legitimacy of legal authorities that can vary greatly depending on social context.

Beyond localized concerns with neighborhood-level crime and safety, general anxieties related to national-level threats posed by war and terrorism can also influence perceptions of legitimacy. In the weeks and months following the 9/11 terrorist attacks, Americans tended to express an unusually high degree of support for "first responders" including police (Sunshine & Tyler, 2003). Citizens that reside in nations that experience frequent armed conflicts, social unrest, or terrorist attacks may similarly express higher levels of confidence and trust in legal authorities (Brown & Benedict, 2002; Jonathan, 2010; Jonathan-Zamir & Weisburd, 2013; Madon et al., 2017a; Shakhrai, 2015). According to Sunshine and Tyler (2003), "research suggests that during times of strife and difficulty, people become more focused on the effectiveness of police performance and less concerned about issues of process and rights" (p. 522).

Interestingly, Banjak-Corle and Wallace (2020) found that directly experiencing a terror attack was not significantly related to attitudes toward police, but frequent exposure to *news* about terrorism did have a relationship to these same attitudes. The authors concluded that "news portrayals, and not direct experiences themselves, are particularly influential for public attitudes" (Banjak-Corle & Wallace, 2020, p. 13). As these findings indicate, people's opinions do not have to be based on empirical evidence to have relevance for their attitudes toward legal authorities. Public knowledge of crime, justice, and national security issues are largely acquired through broadcast, print, and social media (Dowler, 2003; Roche et al., 2015; Sela-Shayovitz, 2014). Citizen perceptions of crime can be very different from the reality, fear of terrorism and war can

dramatically differ from actual risk, and beliefs about the effectiveness of authorities to address these problems do not necessarily mirror their actual impact (Dowler, 2003; Orr & West, 2007; Stafford & Galle, 1984). To a very real extent, many people's perceptions of the effectiveness of legal authorities are not as dependent on direct knowledge as they are on vicarious experience.

The Symbolic Duty – Direct and Vicarious Experience

As perhaps the most ubiquitous representatives of state authority and power, police and courts fulfill an integral symbolic duty for society (Bradford, 2014; Chambliss, 1979). Because they are the legal authorities with the most frequent and direct contact with the public, they carry the mantle of legitimacy for the entire system of law and government (Beetham, 2013; Boateng, 2018; Loader & Walker, 2007; Sevier & Tyler, 2014; Trinkner, 2018; Walter & Bolger, 2019). This symbolic responsibility is suggested by Van Maanen (1978) in describing the so-called "asshole" – a type of symbolic assailant that is particularly aggravating for police because it threatens the legitimacy of their role:

When a police officer approaches a civilian to issue a traffic citation or to inquire as to the whys and wherefores of one's presence or simply to pass the time of day, he directly brings the power of the state to bear on the situation and hence makes vulnerable to disgrace, embarrassment, and insult that power. (Van Maanen,

1978, p. 11)

The vulnerable nature of this responsibility necessitates careful presentational management, especially when coming into direct contact with citizens. To a certain degree, legal officials humanize the leviathan of state authority, providing a recognizable

face to bear the brunt of popular indignation. But behind the veneer of the individual police officer, judge, or prosecutor lies the generalized, impersonal, and uncaring might of state power. Police and courts play an integral role in the communication of people's relationship with the state, their position in society, their identity, and their worth (Bradford, 2014; Herbert, 2006; Mazerolle et al., 2013; Orr & West, 2007; Tyler & Blader, 2003). In addition to ensuring their own effectiveness at fulfilling the mandate, legal authorities must pay careful attention to the management of a symbolic identity that inspires a sense of confidence and trust among citizens. Facing pressure to meet expectations and overcome negative publicity, legal institutions go to great lengths to maintain a positive public image.

This image, for police perhaps drawing from August Vollmer's notion of police professionalism and for many courts from British common law procedure, aims to provide the public with the impression that these authorities act according to a code of honor, that they adhere to a chain of command, and that they are accountable both to superiors and to the public (Baum, 2006; Bellman, 1935; Chase & Thong, 2012; Gibson et al., 2010; Hamm et al., 2017; Hastie, 1973; Johnston, 2018; Manning, 1997; McDonald, 2015; Monks, 2018; Simpson, 2019; Tyler & Jackson, 2013). In many ways, Vollmer's influential movement toward police professionalization was an effort to reinforce the *legitimacy* of police, both by increasing their effectiveness at fighting crime, and perhaps more importantly by bolstering their appearance as a well-managed organization (Bellman, 1935; Douthit, 1975; Smith, 2007; Uchida, 1993).

These legitimation efforts can reach far beyond traditional forms of crime control. Tyler and Jackson (2013) noted that the goals of legal authorities increasingly include

"the desire to motivate willing cooperation" and the "importance of public engagement in communities in efforts to build social, political, and economic vitality" (p. 78). Even reforms that amount to superficial changes and symbolic gestures that may not dramatically alter specific police behavior can still have a positive impact on general perceptions of policing and thereby rekindle popular support (Chase & Thong, 2012; Loader & Walker, 2007; Manning, 2010; Smith, 2007). Image management becomes especially vital to achieving these goals when the laws being enforced are unpopular. Community resentment toward legal authorities necessitates public outreach and the appearance of accountability and reform. But the nature and success of these efforts can depend on the legal authority in question and the groups this authority most directly impacts. Regardless of the source of discontent, protecting the image of legal authorities, an activity that Manning (1997) termed "presentational strategies" and Goldsmith (2010) called "repair work," is a crucial element of the role inhabited by police and courts.

Image management is especially vital for police and courts because of the potential for violence that hangs over even the most ostensibly legitimate interaction between citizens and legal authorities. "Non-compliance with police instructions will always risk violence, and if the policed do not comply through the mechanism of legitimacy they will be coerced, ultimately at the end of a gun" (Jackson et al., 2020, p. 19). The paradox of using violence to achieve peace contributes to the contamination of the police role, the "taint" referred to by Bittner (1970). While some may argue that authorities only resort to the use of force when legitimacy itself has failed, the *potential* for violence, along with the knowledge that its use is the inevitable consequence of resistance, underlies every interaction with citizens. Violence and legitimacy are separate

mechanisms of social control, but for legal authorities they are intimately related. As much as legal authorities might try to seem like regular members of the community, their ability to impose state sanctioned lethal force differentiates them from most other organizations as well as from the majority of citizens (Herbert, 2006; Jackson et al., 2020; Manning, 1980; Smith, 2007).

Legal authorities must go to great lengths to manage their image because of the alienation that results from this arrangement. Each encounter is a potential source of differential association and reinforcement; every interaction is a learning experience for all parties involved. For citizens, being treated fairly and with respect by authorities communicates a sense of inclusion and social status, making them feel like participants rather than pariahs (Bradford, 2014; Jackson & Sunshine, 2007; Radburn & Stott, 2018; Tyler, 1990). For authorities, encountering resistance and defiance from citizens can contribute to the social distance that these officials feel from citizens, perpetuating a cycle of estrangement (Jurek et al., 2022; Mourtgos et al., 2022; Smith, 2007; Terrill & Paoline, 2015; Wilson, 1968).

The importance of image management for legal authorities during their encounters with citizens is revealed by the substantial amount of research focused on the concept of procedural justice as one of the primary sources of legitimacy. The origins of procedural justice theory are frequently attributed to early research on conflict resolution and courtroom procedures (Thibaut et al., 1974; Thibaut & Walker, 1978), but contributions to our current understanding of the concept have come from a wide range of academic sources, including behavioral and organizational studies (Brockner et al., 2000; Clark & Wilson, 1961; Cohn et al., 2000; Leventhal, 1980; Pillai et al., 2001; Rahim et

al., 2001), political science (Beetham, 1991; Coicaud, 2002; Easton, 1975; Parsons, 1963), social psychology (Barrett-Howard & Tyler, 1986; Morris & Leung, 2000; Tost, 2011), childhood development (Gold et al., 1984; Hicks & Lawrence, 1993; Shaw & Olson, 2014), and research on community attitudes toward police (Albrecht & Green, 1977; Bridenball & Jesilow, 2008; Frank et al., 2005; Stoutland, 2001; Wilson, 1968). Searching for ways to improve the public image of police and courts, criminologists applied the concept of procedural justice to explain perceptions of direct encounters between citizens and legal authorities (Casper et al., 1988; Leventhal, 1980; Lind & Tyler, 1988).

Influential work on police legitimacy by Tyler (1990) broadly defined procedural justice as "the fairness of the procedures through which the police and the courts exercise their authority" (p. 284). Legitimacy, according to procedural justice theory, is derived primarily from the way authorities conduct themselves during their interactions with citizens. Assessments of procedural fairness in Tyler's (1990) seminal framework are primarily based on two elements: *quality of decision making* and *quality of treatment*. These can be further divided into four distinct aspects: allowing citizens a voice in interactions, treating citizens with dignity and respect, making neutral decisions, and possessing trustworthy motives. These four aspects – *voice, respect, neutrality*, and *trust* – form the crux of Tyler's procedural justice model (Figure 1).



Figure 1: Tyler's procedural justice model

This model can be described as a "process-based" conception of legitimacy built upon the idea that processes tend to be more important to people's perceptions of legitimacy than outcomes. According to Tyler's (1990) framework, legitimacy is derived primarily from procedural rather than instrumental sources. This means that interactions between authorities and citizens can be perceived as legitimate even when the outcomes are negative or when disputes and problems are left unresolved. While the perceived effectiveness of legal authorities is still relevant to legitimacy, its importance is secondary to perceptions of procedural fairness. When citizens perceive that their input is valued and received by officials, then they are more likely to believe in the legitimacy of law enforcement. Further, when citizens perceive police to have trustworthy motives, to be neutral in their interactions with citizens, and to treat people with respect, they are more likely to perceive police to be legitimate (Tyler, 1990). The elements of voice, respect, neutrality, and trust are central to modern procedural justice theory. The main conclusion of Tyler's body of work is that people form their assessments of legal authorities based largely on the extent to which these authorities are perceived to behave in accordance with the norms of procedural justice.

A substantial amount of support exists for Tyler's (1990) procedural justice model of legitimacy. Research conducted in many countries has found that procedural concerns tend to have a stronger influence on perceived legitimacy than instrumental concerns such as effectiveness (Hough et al., 2013; Kochel et al., 2013; Martin & Bradford, 2019; McLean et al., 2018; Reisig & Lloyd, 2009; Rice & Piquero, 2005; Sparks & Bottoms, 1995; Sunshine & Tyler, 2003; Terrill & Paoline, 2015; Trinkner & Cohn, 2014; Trinkner et al., 2018; Tyler et al., 2014; Van Damme et al., 2015; Wolfe & Piquero, 2011). Being treated in a procedurally just manner by authorities tends to leave a more positive impression, even if a ticket was written or a crime left unsolved (Lee et al., 2019; Mazerolle et al., 2012; Murphy et al., 2008; Sahin et al., 2017). Procedural justice has also been shown to reduce anger, defiance, and resistance to police commands and court orders (Mazerolle et al., 2013; Walters & Bolger, 2019). Experimental research has found that the implementation of procedural justice practices is associated with more positive citizen attitudes toward authorities and a greater likelihood of voluntary cooperation, at least within the context of relatively routine encounters such as traffic stops (Mazerolle, 2012; Murphy et al., 2008; Sahin et al., 2017).

However, it should be noted that these same strategies may not be as practical or effective when employed in hostile confrontations between police and citizens, nor may these same conceptualizations of proper procedure hold true in all countries and contexts (Akinlabi & Murphy, 2018; Bottoms & Tankebe, 2012; Mazerolle et al., 2013; Sun et al.,

2016, 2018; Tankebe, 2009). Procedural justice research has in the past been criticized for relying heavily on data collected in the United States and other Western countries (Murphy & Cherney, 2012; Reisig et al., 2014; Sato et al., 2016). According to Bradford et al. (2014a), "with a handful of exceptions, procedural justice effects have been identified in relatively wealthy societies with stable and well-established police services and generally Peelian policing ideologies" (p. 248). There remains vast disagreement about what procedural justice looks like in different countries and how much of the variation in legitimacy between countries can be attributed to differences in procedure (Boateng et al., 2016; Bottoms & Tankebe, 2012; Cao & Zhao, 2005; Dawson, 2018; Liu, 2019; Mazerolle et al., 2013; Radburn & Stott, 2018; Reisig et al., 2014; Sun et al., 2016, 2018; Tankebe, 2009; Terpstra & Van Wijck, 2021; Trinkner, 2019).

Theories of procedural justice have also been challenged for exhibiting bias toward democratic forms of governance, tautologically establishing the criteria for legitimacy in democratic terms and ignoring the ideological relativism of the concept. Critics have argued that the applicability of the procedural justice model to non-Western cultures and societies is limited and requires adjustment to account for contextual differences (Akinlabi & Murphy, 2018; Bottoms & Tankebe, 2012; Mehozay & Factor, 2017; Sun et al., 2016, 2018). Some scholars maintain the existence of a universal legitimation *process* or *structure*, although the specific contents may vary between nations (Beetham, 1991; Reisig et al., 2014). International research has produced mixed results regarding the importance of procedural justice for legitimacy in other nations (e.g., Bottoms & Tankebe, 2012; Hough et al., 2013; Reisig et al., 2014; Sun et al., 2016, 2018). For example, while Sun et al. (2018) noted that some elements of Tyler's model were supported by their analysis of Chinese data, they recommended that "future research needs to develop culture-specific measures to further elaborate Tyler's process-based model of policing" (p. 455). This simple suggestion for future study understates a larger ongoing debate over conceptualization and measurement. Scholars are undecided as to whether procedural justice (and legitimacy) should be studied using subjective "culturespecific" measures or objective universal measures. The desire to construct a model of legitimation that is universally applicable is often at odds with the conceptualization of legitimacy as a subjective, empirical property rather than an objective, normative standard.

In a recent study of routine traffic stops in the Netherlands, Terpstra and Van Wijck (2021) found no significant relationship between police behavior during traffic stops and citizen perceptions of police, indicating that attitudes toward legal authorities are likely too durable to be greatly influenced by a single encounter. Pre-existing attitudes derived from prior experience, interactions with parents and peers, and media consumption are prone to have a large influence on how interactions with police and courts are perceived by citizens (MacCoun, 2005; Roche et al., 2015; Terpstra & Van Wijck, 2021). Even if people's evaluations of their individual interactions with authorities are heavily influenced by perceptions of procedural justice, more general perceptions of legitimacy likely stem from broader origins than personal experience alone. Attitudes toward authorities are not solely dependent on how these authorities behave – they are also influenced by sources such as vicarious experience, group identity, social capital, moral alignment, and perceived effectiveness. These other influences are particularly important for the large number of individuals without any direct experience

with legal authorities (Brandl et al., 1994; Mazerolle et al., 2013; Mehozay & Factor, 2017).

In one of the most well-known modifications of Tyler's framework, Bottoms and Tankebe (2012) called for a different kind of approach to the study of legitimacy, arguing that the process of legitimation is better understood as a *dialogue* between holders of power and average citizens subject to that power. Tyler's (1990) definition, according to Bottoms and Tankebe (2012) specifies the concept of legitimacy as overly dependent upon citizens' *reactions* to the exercise of authority. It is equally important, say Bottoms and Tankebe (2012), to focus on the process by which authorities make *claims* to their own legitimacy and adapt their methods according to public reactions. Those who hold power attempt to give the impression that they are justified in the possession of this position and privilege (Barker, 2001). Those subservient to authority react to these claims, conferring legitimacy with their consent or withholding it with their defiance (Beetham, 1991). Only considering one side of this dialogue will not provide a complete picture of the legitimation process. From the dialogical perspective, legitimacy is not a solid state; it is a complex, perpetual process of semiotic call and response (Bottoms & Tankebe, 2012; Mazerolle et al., 2013).

In a subsequent article, Tankebe (2013) advocated combining the concepts of *procedural fairness, distributive fairness, lawfulness*, and *effectiveness*, not just as indicators of legitimacy, but as elements of legitimacy itself (Figure 2). Tankebe (2013) defined legitimacy as "the right to exercise power" and noted the large amount of conceptual confusion surrounding this concept, which is frequently conflated with related but distinct concepts such as "trust" and "obligation to obey." Describing this

conceptualization, Jackson and Kuha (2016) noted that "procedural justice does not activate status, respect, and identification, which then generates legitimacy, according to Tankebe. Procedural justice (or at least the belief that police are procedurally fair) *is* legitimacy" (Jackson & Kuha, 2016, p. 25, emphasis in original).



Figure 2: Tankebe's legitimacy model

Both Tyler's (1990) and Tankebe's (2013) conceptions of legitimacy heavily emphasize the behavior of legal officials during their encounters with the public. But rather than proposing procedural fairness as antecedent to legitimacy, Tankebe's (2013) model locates this concept as an element of legitimacy itself. Distributive fairness is included within this model of legitimacy as well, again not as a cause, but as a fundamental component, implying that legal authorities can only be considered legitimate when they are perceived to distribute their benefits, impositions, arbitrations, and intrusions in an equitable manner. In addition, Tankebe's (2013) model incorporates the concepts of *lawfulness* and *effectiveness* as key elements of legitimacy. When people perceive legal authorities to be acting in accordance with the law and when there is sufficient accountability for misconduct, legitimacy will be increased. When people perceive legal authorities to be effectively fulfilling their mandate, legitimacy is likely to increase as well. Incidents of corruption, brutality, and other abuses of power coupled with the absence of oversight and accountability can dramatically reduce the perceived legitimacy of authorities. (Kääriäinen, 2007; Punch & Gilmour, 2010; Tankebe & Asif, 2016; Vito et al., 2011).

The great variety of criminal justice systems around the world and the diversity of organizational forms within a single country can produce widely varied impressions of the fairness, lawfulness, and effectiveness of these systems (Akinlabi, 2020; Jang et al., 2010; Lowatcharin & Stallman, 2019; Sun et al., 2018). Different justice systems have entirely different mandates, protocols for oversight and accountability, organizational structure, standards of conduct, and civil rights concerns. Tankebe (2013) himself specified that the elements of this legitimacy model were "some of the likely main contents of the dimensions of police legitimacy *in a liberal democracy*" (p. 107, emphasis added). The applicability of this conceptual model internationally remains a matter of academic debate.

In a confirmatory factor analysis of survey data from the United States and Ghana, Tankebe et al. (2015) found empirical support for a four-dimensional legitimacy construct composed of procedural justice, distributive justice, effectiveness, and lawfulness. However, this approach to measurement has been criticized for falsely assuming that factor analysis alone can determine whether these elements are indeed

legitimacy itself, rather than merely indicating that they are highly correlated with each other (Jackson & Kuha, 2016). Legitimacy might not have the same meaning in different social contexts, nor comprise the same elements or be derived from the same sources. Tankebe's (2013) model has been criticized for essentially imposing a normative definition of legitimacy, denying the possibility that what constitutes legitimate authority might vary dramatically between societies.

In other words, while Tankebe's (2013) use of confirmatory factor analysis (CFA) can assess the underlying dimensionality of the items, their combined meaning of "legitimacy" has been imposed *a priori* rather than derived from analytical results (Jackson & Kuha, 2016). According to Trinkner (2019), within Tankebe's (2013) framework, "there is no distinction between legitimacy itself and the process by which an entity becomes legitimated" (p. 7). The applicability of the model when incorporating subjective, localized, and indigenous definitions of fairness, lawfulness, and effectiveness remains a source of contention.

Despite these criticisms, other researchers (e.g., Sun et al., 2018) have continued to draw similar inferences from the application of CFA in different social contexts and persisted with the conclusion that because these four elements are highly correlated this means that they are constituent parts of legitimacy. The empirical strategy used by Tankebe (2013), Sun et al. (2018), and others to arrive at this conclusion is, according to Jackson and Bradford (2019), incapable of making this determination. They argued that Sun et al. (2018) imposed their own definitions of legitimacy and did not adequately account for the possibility of cultural relativity (Jackson & Bradford, 2019). The fact that these four elements were found to form a common factor does not imply that this factor

can be called legitimacy. Sun et al. (2018) had merely imposed their preconceived definition of legitimacy as comprised of these four elements. While this type of analysis may indicate whether these four elements form a single factor, it reveals nothing about whether this factor can be called legitimacy.

Another conceptual and measurement issue encountered by previous research is the problem of capturing *perceived* procedural justice compared to *actual* procedural justice. Most research in this area relies on the self-reported views of individuals and does not take the extra investigatory step of objectively measuring the procedures used by legal authorities (Radburn & Stott, 2018; Trinkner et al., 2018). Within both Tyler's (1990) and Tankebe's (2013) frameworks, the key to legitimacy lies not in altering the *perceptions of citizens*, but in altering the *behavior of legal officials* through supervision, training, oversight, and an organizational realignment toward norms of procedural and distributive justice, lawfulness, and effectiveness. These perspectives maintain that process and behavior are major sources of attitudes toward police and that these attitudes can be changed if legal authorities' process and behavior are changed (Mazerolle et al., 2013; Mazerolle & Terrill, 2018; Owens et al., 2018).

However, it is debatable to what extent individual interactions with legal authorities can affect people's lasting perceptions of these entities. Perceptions of criminal justice authorities develop over time, with frequent interactions having a cumulative effect on perceived legitimacy (Kochel, 2017; Oliveira et al., 2020; Smith, 2007). In communities where contact with police is more common, these accumulated experiences can have dramatic effects on local attitudes toward police. Many policecitizen interactions involve discretionary forms of police behavior that are often not part

of any formal process and provide limited opportunity for citizens to contest mistreatment by police. This includes police stops for questioning, investigatory vehicle stops, patdowns, checkpoints, and other types of searches (Gau & Brunson, 2010). While some research on community policing and police legitimacy has found that positive contacts with police can significantly improve public perceptions of police legitimacy (e.g., Peyton et al, 2019), these results contradict other findings, for example by Skogan (2006), that *any* involuntary police contact, even when ostensibly "positive," tends to negatively affect perceptions of police.

According to Skogan's (2006) "asymmetry hypothesis," even seemingly benevolent interactions with police cannot outweigh the effects of negative encounters and general perceptions. While some studies have found support for this hypothesis (e.g., Rosenbaum et al., 2005), it remains unclear if changes to officer behavior during policecitizen interactions can significantly improve attitudes, or if any contact is inherently negative contact, as Skogan (2006) has suggested. One notable experimental study of police behavior during traffic stops found that procedural justice positively influenced citizen perceptions of the *stop* but did not significantly affect their perceptions of police more generally (Sahin et al., 2017). These results align with other findings that have indicated the near impossibility of altering a person's long-held "durable perceptions" of legal authorities with a single positive encounter (e.g., Oliveira et al., 2020; Skogan, 2006).

The potential impact of the procedural justice paradigm on police training, tactics, and behavior as its prescribed reforms become more widespread remains unclear. Even if such interventions do not have an immediately positive effect on perceptions of police,

they may contribute to a broader cultivation of police legitimacy over time. The formulation of procedural justice as central to the process of legitimation implies that direct experience with police and courts will have the greatest effect on public perceptions, potentially overriding preexisting attitudes toward legal authorities. Tyler (2001) noted that extant literature at the time indicated that "those members of the public with personal experience with the police or courts focus more heavily on issues of quality of treatment" (p. 234). This suggests that procedural justice is most important for perceived legitimacy to those who have direct experience with authorities. These and similar findings have been called into question by more recent research indicating that the influence of individual encounters with police and courts on general attitudes toward legal authorities is not as strong as previously thought (e.g., Orr & West, 2007; Sahin et al., 2017; Skogan, 2006; Terpstra & Wijk, 2021). For individuals without direct contact, other factors such as perceived effectiveness, vicarious experience, group identity, moral alignment, and social capital likely have a greater influence.

Because many citizens have little to no direct contact with legal authorities during their lives, direct experience is likely not the only, or even the primary, source of attitudes toward these authorities (Forrest, 2021; Zahnow et al., 2019). For many people, perceptions derived from vicarious sources are likely to have a larger influence (Bridenball & Jesilow, 2008; Chermak et al., 2005; Intravia et al., 2018; Rosenbaum et al., 2005; Smith, 2007). The vicarious effect of police misconduct and brutality has been noted in studies conducted in the United States and many other nations (Akinlabi, 2020; Kochel, 2017; Levi et al. 2009; Miethe et al., 2019; Skogan, 2006; Tankebe, 2009; Weitzer & Tuch, 2005). Similarly, the relaying of vicarious experiences with courts,

incidents of judicial misconduct, or media depictions of controversial court rulings can all influence people's opinions of these authorities (Bobo & Thompson, 2006; Chermak et al., 2005; Gibson et al., 2010; Sevier & Tyler, 2014). A single high-profile instance of perceived injustice has the potential to damage the relationship between citizens and police, impeding crime control and leading to even worse outcomes for communities (Kochel, 2017). Responding to this deficit in legitimacy, authorities might double down on crime control and attempt to maintain citizen confidence based on effectiveness, an approach that may be sufficient to rekindle belief in legitimacy in the short term. In some contexts, however, this deficit will necessitate further outreach and image management to repair the moral and ethical rift between citizens and legal authorities (Bradford et al., 2014b; Kochel, 2017).

General perceptions of legal authorities can affect how specific interactions with these authorities are perceived by citizens, making identical actions interpretable in any number of ways depending on people's preconceived notions of police and the justice system (Smith, 2007). As Gau and Brunson (2010) noted, "police actions do not necessarily have to *be* unfair for people to perceive them as such" (p. 259). Negative media depictions of police violence or judicial misconduct can undermine public perceptions of legitimacy, leading citizens to interpret all behavior by legal authorities through a critical lens (Akinlabi, 2020; Chermak et al., 2005; Dowler, 2003; D'Souza et al., 2018; Gibson et al., 2010; Roche et al., 2015). Positive depictions of authorities can have the opposite effect, clouding the judgements of citizens and leading to a tendency to interpret behavior by legal authorities as benevolent and justified (Van Craen, 2013). The same imagery can elicit a wide range of perceptions of legal authorities in the minds of

different individuals. Differences in pre-existing conceptualizations of authority derived from legal socialization, group identity, moral alignment, social capital, perceived effectiveness, and direct experience likely explain some of this variation (Hawdon, 2008; Hinds, 2007; Murphy, 2017; Nihart et al., 2005; Nivette et al., 2020; Orr & West, 2007; Rosenbaum et al., 2005; Smith, 2007).

Nevertheless, if the popular narrative surrounding criminal justice is based on a fundamentally flawed understanding of the proportionality of police violence and punitive sentencing, legitimacy is likely to be unaffected by any attempt to improve the behavior of legal officials. Similarly, if people are frequently exposed to sensationalized media coverage of violent crime, they will be less likely to perceive authorities as effective no matter what effect police and courts may have on actual crime rates. Findings published in academic research articles are often interpreted by news media without a complete understanding of the importance of denominators to the implications of results (Tregle et al., 2019; Van Craen, 2013; Zimring, 2017). Media misinterpretations of the scientific research process and a tendency to highlight findings that confirm preconceived assumptions or generate web traffic can have dramatic effects on public opinion about crime and justice issues. Media depictions of crime, law enforcement, and justice also contribute to group identity, trust, and moral alignment, concepts which themselves have nuanced implications for the legitimacy of legal authorities (Baranauskas, 2022; Intravia et al, 2018; Miethe et al., 2019; Roche et al., 2015).

The Personal Bond – Identity, Morality, and Society

Theories of legitimacy have been criticized for erroneously assuming the inherent validity of criminal justice systems without considering how these systems are historically embedded within larger social hierarchies based on race, class, gender, and other group identities (Armaline et al., 2014; Beetham, 1991; Radburn & Stott, 2018; Tankebe, 2008). Procedural justice theory suggests that to be considered legitimate, legal authorities must act in a fair and just manner. But some of Tyler's (1988) earliest findings emphasized that the way citizens subjectively *perceive* the actions of legal authorities strongly influences citizen evaluations, regardless of the objective reality of these actions. These subjective perceptions can be greatly influenced by factors such as group identity, social capital, and moral alignment. (Antrobus et al., 2015; Hawdon, 2008; Herbert, 2006; Luo et al., 2019; Radburn & Stott, 2018; Smith, 2007; Terpstra & Van Wijck, 2021; Trinkner, 2019; Tyler et al., 2000).

While some researchers maintain that the relationship between procedural justice and legitimacy is largely invariant across individuals and groups (e.g., Lind et al., 1997; Sargeant et al., 2015; Sunshine & Tyler, 2003; Tyler & Huo, 2002; Wolfe et al., 2016; Zahnow et al., 2019), a substantial amount of research suggests that procedural justice is of varying significance to legitimacy based on a person's orientation toward the group represented by legal authorities (Blumer, 1958; Bobo & Hutchings, 1996; Bridenball & Jesilow, 2008; Drakulich et al., 2019; Factor et al., 2014; Gerber et al., 2017; Gibson et al., 2010; Lockwood et al., 2018; Madon et al., 2017b; Martin & Bradford, 2019; Moule et al., 2018; Swain, 2018; Tankebe, 2009). The groups to which a person belongs and the hierarchical positions of these groups relative to legal authorities appear to moderate the effect of procedural justice on perceived legitimacy in many contexts. The more that people possess a sense of belonging to the "in-group" represented by police and the criminal justice system, the more likely they are to evaluate these authorities based on shared moral values such as fairness and justice. Individuals and groups who do not possess this identity might be more likely to prioritize factors such as effectiveness, or have different standards by which they assess fairness, justice, and proper procedure (Ashforth & Gibbs, 1990; Bradford et al., 2014b; Coicaud, 2002; Factor et al., 2014; Hurwitz & Peffley, 2005; MacCoun, 2005; Madon et al., 2017b; Mazerolle et al., 2013; Murphy & Cherney, 2012; Radburn & Stott, 2018; Tankebe, 2009; Zahnow et al., 2019).

Even if the effect of procedural justice does not vary across individuals and groups, the importance of other sources of perceived legitimacy may still exhibit a great deal of variation. In some contexts, other influences might rival procedural justice in their effect on the perceived legitimacy of legal authorities (Antrobus et al., 2015; MacCoun, 2005; Tankebe, 2009). Additionally, groups may have different criteria for the legitimacy of within-group relationships compared to between-group relationships. For those who do not feel part of the group represented by legal authorities, procedural justice is potentially much less relevant to perceived legitimacy. Research has even found evidence that procedural justice can have a negative effect on the perceived legitimacy of legal authorities if it is viewed as a manipulative, condescending distraction from more salient issues (Ashforth & Gibbs, 1990; Herbert, 2006; MacCoun, 2005; Murphy, 2017).

Standards of "fairness" and "justice" are not universal, and different groups may evaluate procedural justice and the legitimacy of legal authorities based on entirely different criteria. Not all members of society agree on how law and order should look,

how legal officials should behave, and what behavior deserves the attention of the justice system. Different groups can have radically different interpretations of the mandate given to legal authorities and the boundaries around its discretionary enforcement. It is therefore difficult to definitively conclude that procedural justice is a universal source of legitimacy, at least in the rigid formulation presented by Tyler (1990). People can belong to and identify with many groups, all with different positions in the social hierarchy and different relationships with authority. The only way to understand legitimacy as it is subjectively perceived by citizens is through an intersectional approach that accounts for a multitude of social identities.

The presence of police or the involvement of the courts in people's lives can take on very different symbolic meanings depending on their group identities (Smith, 2007). Individuals belonging to marginalized social groups might perceive the same objective reality of law enforcement differently than members of more privileged groups. Historical pattens of bias and discrimination, carried forward into unequal protection and enforcement of the law, can threaten the legitimacy of legal institutions among marginalized groups for generations (Bobo & Thompson, 2006; Tankebe, 2008). Moreover, if people belong to a group or otherwise possess an identity that they believe is the target of differentially oppressive or brutal treatment by authorities, confidence in these authorities is much less likely (Baker et al., 2015; Bradford, et al., 2014a; Dario et al., 2019; Murphy, 2021; Rothstein & Stolle, 2008; Trinkner et al., 2018; Tyler & Blader, 2003). Belonging to a disadvantaged racial or ethnic group, for example, is often associated with more negative perceptions of police, while belonging to a dominant racial group can have positive effects on people's perceptions of police if the values of this

group are seen as being protected and upheld by the criminal justice system (Blumer, 1958; Cheurprakobkit, 2000; Engel, 2005; Gau & Brunson, 2010; Heen et al., 2018; Hurwitz & Peffley, 2005; Lloyd et al., 2020; Novak & Chamlin, 2012; Nuño, 2018; Rice & Piquero, 2005; Sampson & Bartusch, 1998; Weitzer & Tuch, 2005). These differences can also affect indirect impressions of police, with members of different minority groups perceiving the same vicarious retellings or publicized incidents in very different ways (Intravia et al., 2018; Kochel, 2017; Moule et al., 2018).

Manning's (1997) definition of the "impossible mandate" imposed upon police referred to the fact that the various responsibilities and expectations of legal authorities are often incompatible with one another, especially when attempting to address diverse and often conflicting group norms. The mandate given to police and courts comes with an understanding of reciprocation. If some groups feel that authorities are not upholding their end of the bargain, they may revoke some of the privileges and immunities extended to these entities. For example, the introduction of "broken windows" policing approaches targeting low-level offenses and disorder created serious problems for the perceived legitimacy of police among the subsection of the public most affected by these policies (Gau & Brunson, 2010; Wilson & Kelling, 1982). The concept of "disorderly conduct" is highly subjective and open to the discretionary situational interpretation of public order violations does not always appeal to the same general sense of morality as more serious and violent crimes.

Order maintenance often involves the enforcement of external definitions of order and group-specific concepts of peace and security not shared by every member of the

community (Armaline et al., 2014; Radburn & Stott, 2018). While some residents may welcome increased police scrutiny in their neighborhoods, others may feel that police are too frequently interfering in their daily lives (Armaline et al., 2014; Hawdon et al., 2003; Bobo & Thompson, 2006; Levi & Sacks, 2009; Schuck, 2019; Vitale, 2017). It is also worth noting that many of those with whom law enforcement interact most frequently and oppressively are rarely included in survey research or consulted at community meetings. The difficulties associated with order maintenance policing indicate how people's expectations and perceptions of behavioral aspects of law enforcement can depend on the amount of social distance present between their group and the group represented by the justice system (Braithwaite, 2003; Kelling & Coles, 1998; Murphy & Cherney, 2012; Wilson, 1968).

The broader group identity represented by legal authorities is that of the nationstate itself (Sargeant et al., 2015; Schwartz et al., 2012). Legal authorities are mechanisms of the state apparatus, and the symbolic identity of police and courts is often intertwined with the imagery of nationalism and patriotism. In the United States, the police role became increasingly melded with patriotic symbolism in the decades following the 9/11 attacks (Sunshine & Tyler, 2003). The popularity of a mock American flag with the traditional color scheme replaced with black and white separated by a "thin blue line" representing police is another example of how closely connected these symbols have become in the minds of many Americans (Wolfe & McLean, 2021). Even if unintentional, the choice by many professional athletes to protest police brutality by kneeling for the national anthem at sporting events further cemented this symbolic connection. To many Americans, disrespecting the flag and disrespecting the police have

become one and the same, and individuals with strong patriotic beliefs likely also express more support for law enforcement in general (Schatz & Lavine, 2007; Wolfe & McLean, 2021).

This connection between national identity and support for law enforcement is by no means unique to the United States. Many countries, especially those of an authoritarian nature, draw on the symbolic power of patriotism to aid in the legitimization of their legal authorities (Bradford, 2016; Brudny & Finkel, 2011; Cherney & Murphy, 2013; Fauve, 2015; Günay & Dzihic, 2016; Machura et al., 2019; Ortmann, 2009; Pratt, 2007; Sargeant et al., 2015; Von Soest & Gauvogel, 2017). The more the police role becomes entwined with nationalism, the more opposition and criticism of police will be perceived as unpatriotic. The use of nationally recognized symbols, rituals, and ceremonies by police serves to engender public legitimacy by appealing to the national identity and patriotism of citizens (Schatz & Lavine, 2007). National identity therefore tends to be associated with more positive attitudes toward authorities, so long as these authorities exhibit a strong connection with the symbolic mythologies of the nation-state (Barker, 1995; Bleaney & Dimico, 2016; Bradford, 2014; Radburn & Stott, 2018). The political values people hold are likely to influence their opinions about legal authorities, although this can depend on the degree to which criminal justice is politicized in a society (Beetham, 1991; Stack & Cao, 1998; Swain, 2018). Importantly, stark political division regarding the role of legal authorities in society may itself be a potential detriment to legitimacy. As Goldsmith (2005) noted, "wherever policing is experienced as partisan in nature, generalized trust in the police is unlikely" (p. 456).

Related to but distinct from group identity, the amount of social capital possessed by individuals, communities, and groups is another important source of perceived legitimacy. Social capital for individuals most frequently refers to the amount of trust they have in others and the extent to which they are active in group associations, such as clubs, leagues, or congregations (Putnam, 2000). At the group level, social capital can refer to community cohesion, collective efficacy, and political mobilization (Hawdon, 2008; Zahnow et al., 2019). Social capital can determine the nature of people's relationships with authorities, and the amount of social capital individuals can access is often associated with the groups they belong to and the social position of these groups (Alda et al., 2019; De Zuniga et al., 2019).

Individuals, groups, and communities with higher social status and more social capital may be better able to translate their dissatisfaction with authorities into changes in policy and law, thereby increasing their own perceptions of legitimacy. Those who possess greater access to social networks, a better grasp of dominant social norms, and a propensity for trust and cooperation tend to have more positive attitudes toward legal authorities (Cao et al., 1996; Hamm et al., 2017; Putnam, 2000; Rothstein & Stolle, 2008). Social capital is theorized to increase trust in the justice system "because it familiarizes citizens with the way in which institutions work and provides them with ways to influence policy, but also because by increasing involvement and cooperation, it facilitates the implementation of policy" (Van Craen, 2013, p. 1046). A generalized sense of trust in other people is considered the primary element of social capital that facilitates involvement in community networks and associations and promote collective efficacy

(Cao & Wu, 2019; Hawdon, 2008; Hu et al., 2019; Newton & Norris, 1999; Putnam, 2000).

Tankebe (2019) suggested that "the notion of 'cooperative social relations' can be understood in two ways: generalized 'horizontal' cooperation among citizens and institutions or 'vertical' cooperation as in support by citizens for legal institutions" (p. 1390). Social capital is one indicator of horizontal cooperation, while legitimacy might be said to represent vertical cooperation. These forms of cooperation are distinct but interrelated. Possessing a predisposition toward generalized trust makes individuals more likely to have positive attitudes toward legal authorities. Generalized trust can also cause interactions with the law to proceed more smoothly and the actions of authorities to be assessed less critically by citizens (Hamm et al., 2017). For people without any direct experience with legal authorities, generalized trust potentially has a larger effect on perceived legitimacy than more immediate variables such as procedural justice.

Social capital is directly tied to the ability of community members to petition legal institutions for redress of grievances. These opportunities usually take the form of complaint systems whereby citizens can formally log their discontent and community meetings where members of the public are able to voice their concerns directly (Stelkia, 2020). However, these concerns, whether submitted in writing or voiced in person, often appear to citizens to go unaddressed (Cheng, 2020). There is a clear imbalance within communities as to which voices are given more credence and respect by authorities, which concerns are taken seriously, and which grievances are dismissed. Simple measures of the occurrence or frequency of police community meetings may not capture the nuances of how effective these meetings are at enhancing legitimacy among citizens

(Cheng, 2020). The more open and accessible are the communication channels between citizens and police, the more community social capital can be channeled into productive dialogue. It is not a foregone conclusion that greater social capital will always and everywhere be associated with more positive attitudes toward authorities. In the absence of open communication, social capital may in fact undermine legitimacy when communities band together in collective resistance against legal authority (Hu et al., 2019). When community bonds are forged in opposition to perceived oppression by legal authorities, the resulting collective efficacy does not tend to bolster the legitimacy of these authorities.

The relationship between social capital and legitimacy can vary widely depending on national context. Commonly used measures of social capital can have different meanings and implications in different cultural contexts (Boateng, 2018; De Zuniga et al., 2019; Kääriäinen, 2007; O'Loughlin, 2004; Tausch, 2016; Tsushima & Hamai, 2015). For example, in China, cooperation with authorities has been found to be dependent on people's cultivation of what Hu et al. (2019) called "public spirit." However, associational membership and other traditional measures of social capital take on a very different meaning in the Chinese context, as they do not necessarily imply a fully voluntary decision to participate in such activities and associations (Hu et al., 2019). Cultural differences of this nature complicate predictions regarding the relationship between social capital and legitimacy in different countries. Measures of social capital are sometimes difficult to separate from identification with the superordinate group represented by legal authorities, as well as from the perception of moral alignment with
these authorities, especially when analyzing the diversity of interrelated beliefs and identities around the world.

Closely related to group identity and social capital, moral alignment is another subjective source of the legitimacy of legal authorities. Importantly, morals alone do not promote cooperation with police or compliance with the law, it is when these morals are perceived to be aligned with police and consistent with the law (Beetham, 1991; Gilley, 2009; Tost, 2011). Legal authorities acting in ways or upholding laws that are inconsistent with people's moral convictions threatens the legitimacy of these authorities in the eyes of these citizens (Jackson et al., 2020; Levi et al., 2009; MacCoun, 2005; Meares et al., 2012; Reisig et al., 2014; Tankebe, 2009; Thomassen, 2013; Tyler, 2009). More broadly, legitimacy is partly based on perceptions that authorities are maintaining moral order, delivering moral justice, and fulfilling a moral mandate. Moral alignment can lead authorities to be perceived as morally effective, irrespective of their actual influence on crime and safety. (Bottoms & Tankebe, 2012; Factor et al., 2014; Jackson & Kuha, 2016; Jackson et al., 2018; Kelling & Coles, 1998; Mazerolle et al., 2012; Tost, 2011; Van Craen, 2013). Jackson and Sunshine (2007) asserted that "trust and confidence in the police are shaped not by sentiments about risk and crime, but by evaluations of the values and morals that underpin community life" (p. 214).

Perceptions of corruption within legal institutions can undermine the symbolic image of these authorities as protectors of moral order. The role of legal authorities is already on tenuous moral ground due to the "tainted" nature of its discretionary use of force (Bittner, 1970; Punch, 2009). Perceived corruption and lawlessness can erode what little legitimacy remains in these institutions by damaging the moral framework

underpinning the existence of legal authority itself (Jackson et al., 2014; Kääriäinen, 2007; Kochel et al., 2013; Levi et al., 2009; Punch & Gilmour, 2010; Tankebe et al., 2016; Vito et al., 2011). Corruption and lawless behavior at the institutional level can pollute the symbolic identity of legal authorities and contaminate grand narratives of law and order that form the moral foundation of criminal justice systems. Perceptions of corruption are commonly found to be negatively associated with the perceived legitimacy of authorities, and perceived corruption in any institution is likely to reduce the perceived legitimacy of related institutions (Bradford, 2016; Jackson et al., 2020; Levi et al., 2009; Punch, 2009; Reisig et al., 2014; Thomassen, 2013; Tyler, 2009). However, greater connection to the group identity represented by legal authorities might also attenuate the negative effects of perceived corruption on legitimacy, perhaps making corrupt behavior more tolerable as long as it does not threaten this association (Bradford, 2016).

The specific content of moral frameworks and the influence of these frameworks on perceived legitimacy can vary greatly between individuals, groups, and societies (Benedict et al., 2000; Jackson et al., 2011; MacCoun, 2005; Maskály et al., 2019; Mehozay & Factor, 2017; Taylor et al., 2015; Taylor & Lawton, 2012; Tyler et al., 2000). The diversity of value-systems around the world suggests a variety of moral influences on legitimate authority. Many international studies have concluded that while the process of legitimation may exhibit universal similarities, the content and mechanisms of that process depend on social, political, legal, and historical context and can vary widely across countries and cultures (e.g., Boateng, 2018; Cao & Zhao, 2005; Coicaud, 2019; Hough et al., 2013; Jackson & Bradford, 2019; Jang et al., 2015; Morris, 2015; Nivette, 2014; Stack & Cao, 1998; Sun et al., 2016, 2018). Such findings provide support for the

type of theoretical framework suggested by Beetham (1991), in which legitimacy is not based on adherence by authority to normative political standards but is instead derived from alignment between the qualities of authority and the moral frameworks underlying a particular social order.

Mehozay and Factor (2017) examined the diversity of value systems around the world and attempted to measure the relative orientation of various countries in terms of the core normative values held by their citizens. In their cross-national analysis of over two dozen European countries, the authors distinguished between four types of value system present in their sample of European nations – *religious-traditional*, *liberal*, republican-communitarian, and ethno-national (Mehozay & Factor, 2017). While not directly part of the interaction or dialogue between citizens and legal authorities, these core cultural values and deeply embedded worldviews might set the stage for more performative sources of legitimacy such as effectiveness and procedural justice. The moral framework through which citizens interpret the actions of legal authorities has great bearing on the way legitimacy is perceived. One important question raised by the debate between normative and empirical perspectives on legitimacy is to what extent legitimacy and its sources are inseparable from democratic value systems (Beetham, 1991; Coicaud, 2002; Gilley, 2012; Hinsch, 2010). While ostensibly measuring empirical conceptualizations of legitimacy, many studies that focus on procedural justice tend toward normative definitions of proper procedure that rely on democratic values such as fairness and equality. However, not all societies necessarily expect these procedural characteristics from their authorities, nor does legitimacy necessarily align to democratic norms.

Arising from international academic discourse is a growing understanding of legitimacy as a multilevel phenomenon that must be understood in terms of the complex interaction between higher-level variation and individual-level differences (Beetham, 1991; Boateng, 2018; Jackson & Bradford, 2019; Jang et al., 2015; Morris, 2015; Nivette, 2014; Stack & Cao, 1998; Sun et al., 2018). The specific actions by authorities that contribute to or detract from legitimacy are likely not universal. Researchers must be mindful not to impose imported measures on populations with very different conceptions of justice, law, and authority (Bottoms & Tankebe, 2012). Societies can have very different definitions of these concepts, and nations may place different boundaries around the mandate given to legal authorities, which could be expansive in some countries but restrictive in others (Hathazy, 2013; Mekouar, 2017; Way & Levitsky, 2006). Additionally, different group identities, moral frameworks, and social dynamics in different cultures are likely to produce substantial international variation in attitudes toward criminal justice authorities.

For example, Jackson et al. (2020) found that while perceived procedural justice was a very strong predictor of normative alignment with police in Brazil, attitudes toward police violence were not, indicating that people in different social contexts might define proper procedure in fundamentally different ways. A person's conception of justice may include the avoidance of violence, but it may also hinge on the imposition of violence. Jackson et al. (2020) referenced the unstable political history found in Brazil, where forms of governance shifted between authoritarianism and democracy several times over the 20th century, to explain why citizens might adopt different standards of proper procedure. Coicaud (2019) similarly remarked on the paradoxical legitimation strategies

employed by authoritarian regimes in Chile, Argentina, and Uruguay in the management of a superficially democratic image, both internally and among the global community of nations.

Legal authorities in countries with colonial pasts possess histories that are closely intertwined with legacies of slavery and oppression, undermining their legitimacy among minority groups (Ellmann, 1995; Jackson et al., 2020; Nivette & Eisner, 2013; Power & Cyr, 2009; Tankebe, 2008). Divisive histories of oppression and domination eat at the foundations of legitimacy and fragment social support for legal authorities in many parts of the world. Boateng et al. (2016) attributed lower levels of police legitimacy among a sample of South Korean citizens to the historical context of law enforcement in the Korean peninsula. They noted that "the brutally violent tactics of suppression employed by the police during the period of Japanese control left a deep antagonism toward the police force among South Korean citizens" (Boateng et al., 2016, p. 292). These examples are indicative of the complexity in applying universal standards to nations with widely diverse historical, cultural, and political contexts.

While all of the elements of legitimacy as defined by theorists such as Tyler (1990) and Tankebe (2013) perhaps matter to some extent across circumstances, the degree to which they matter is likely to depend on context. The relevance of conceptual sources of legitimacy such as procedural justice, distributive justice, effectiveness, lawfulness, vicarious experience, group identity, or social capital might depend entirely on the moral framework within a society from which the specific meaning of these concepts is derived. The importance of history cannot be understated, with some countries able to rely upon traditional structures to establish the legitimacy of legal

authorities, and others having no such historical foundation to build upon, or one that has been rendered unreliable by historical oppression and injustice (Bleaney & Dimico, 2016; Boateng et al., 2016; Bradford et al., 2014a; Hamilton et al., 1995; Jackson et al., 2020).

Accounting for the complex influence of political differences on the legitimacy of legal authorities around the world is already a daunting endeavor; it is made even more difficult when attempting to identify the diverse historical and cultural influences that may also play a role. A nation's historical and cultural context can influence all aspects of social organization, affecting vital processes related to socialization and the production of social capital that can then influence attitudes toward legal authorities (Bleaney & Dimico, 2016; Rothstein & Stolle, 2008). For example, research by Wang et al. (2019) found attachment to cultural values highly predictive of attitudes toward police among Chinese youth. Their findings indicated that traditional Chinese cultural values, rooted in Confucian ideals of harmony, respect, and collectivism, were associated with more positive views of police among juveniles. Conversely, juveniles more exposed to "Western popular culture" (which according to the authors promotes the undesirable ideals of materialism, capitalism, and individualism) were found to hold more negative opinions of police (Wang et al., 2019). Although an outlier in legitimacy research, the perspective offered by Wang et al. (2019) indicates that criminologists should be mindful not to assume that a Western understanding of legitimacy is generalizable to all cultural settings. While all societies may ultimately desire peace and harmony, the legitimate means to achieve these ends can take on very different forms.

In democratic societies, the mandate for legal authorities is thought to arise from the will of the people, expressed through the democratic system. The democratic ideal is

a system of justice based on consent rather than coercion. How people think and feel about legal authorities is an integral part of this process, at least according to the democratic paradigm (Anderson, 2005). From this point of view, the importance of procedural concerns for legitimacy appears reasonable. However, much debate in the research literature on legitimacy is focused on the generalizability of these concepts to different social, political, and cultural contexts and whether legitimacy as commonly conceptualized is inseparable from democratic values and forms of governance (Beetham, 1991; Coicaud, 2002).

Many consider the popular support for authorities found under non-democratic regimes to not qualify as "true" legitimacy, deriving its existence instead from a sort of "false consciousness," or "dull compulsion" (Akinlabi & Murphy, 2018; Carrabine, 2005; Tankebe, 2013). Certain features of authoritarian states may make such societies incompatible with Tyler's legitimacy model, or at least make accurate measurement of its indicators prohibitively convoluted (Jang et al., 2015; O'Loughlin, 2004; Sun et al., 2018). Citizens living under oppressive authoritarian regimes may be less likely to voice criticism, even on an anonymous survey, either due to fear of retaliation by the state or because of an ingrained acceptance of the necessity to submit to authority, reasons that bear little resemblance to Tyler's conceptualization of legitimacy. Additionally, perceived legitimacy among citizens of authoritarian regimes may be "artificially" high because of cultural emphasis on a collective social orientation and the filtration of negative news about legal authorities by powerful regimes, leading to a "false" sense of confidence in these institutions (Cao et al., 2012).

While this is one potential explanation, it is debatable whether the notion of "artificial" confidence fits within an empirical conceptualization of legitimacy. By suggesting a normative definition of "legitimate" confidence and claiming that those in non-democratic societies hold "artificial" beliefs, these researchers are imposing a prescriptive judgement. A more empirical perspective would allow for the legitimacy of non-democratic regimes as well, as suggested by Dawson (2017):

An undemocratic or even a despotic regime could theoretically enjoy a high level of state legitimacy as a result of multiple factors...including the effectiveness of the state's public relations campaign (i.e., propaganda), the control of information, the state's ability to promote development, security, international standing, and/or to achieve other desirable outcomes. (p. 554)

In reviewing extant research on police legitimacy, Sun et al. (2018) found that nondemocracies are generally excluded from the literature because social, cultural, and political differences are thought to create entirely different contexts for the exercise of legitimate power. Their findings indicated that "in non-Western, nondemocratic countries where cultures, sociopolitical settings, crime rates, and police systems are different from Western democracies, the dynamics of police-public relations, the formation of police legitimacy, and the influence of procedural justice may be quite distinct" (Sun et al., 2018, p. 457).

Even within more democratic societies, confidence and trust in authorities is far from assured. Many have noted the existence of a greater number of "critical citizens" in democratic societies and the important role played by the healthy skepticism of a free press (De Zuniga et al., 2019; Gilley, 2012; O'Loughlin, 2004). Additionally, confidence in authorities can vary greatly across democratic societies depending on factors such as partisan polarization, corruption, and crime rates (Anderson et al., 2005; Hough et al., 2013; Jang et al., 2015; Punch & Gilmour, 2010). Police operating under ostensibly democratic forms of government are perhaps more likely to be held accountable for their misbehavior or ineptitude, meaning that perceived corruption and effectiveness may be more relevant to police legitimacy in democratic societies (Mauk, 2019). The relationship between legitimacy and democratic forms of government remains unclarified, with different perspectives making highly divergent claims about the structural requirements of legitimate authority (Beetham, 1991). Continued comparative study of legitimacy across countries and greater theoretical clarity in the specification of concepts and relationships are needed to better conceptualize this association.

This chapter has reviewed theoretical frameworks underlying several potential sources of the legitimacy of legal authorities. The first section discussed the importance of the mandate given to legal authorities and its relationship with perceived effectiveness, prior victimization, fear of crime, and fear of war and terrorism. Then the importance of image management related to people's direct and vicarious experience with legal authorities was explained in terms of the representative symbolic duties inherent to these institutions. Lastly, the highly subjective nature of legitimacy as it is perceived among different group identities, levels of social capital, and moral alignments both within and across countries was addressed. With this theoretical background in mind, the following chapter will proceed to describe the research questions, hypotheses, data sources, variables, and proposed analyses involved in the current study.

IV. CURRENT STUDY

This study analyzed the influence of theoretically relevant individual- and national-level factors on the perceived legitimacy of legal authorities in 47 different nations. This research aimed to contribute to the body of literature on legitimacy while addressing current debates surrounding the generalizability of theorized sources of legitimacy within different social contexts. Tyler's (1990) model proposed procedural justice as the primary source of legitimacy, whereas Tankebe's (2013) framework suggested that procedural fairness is a component of legitimacy itself. Both models located the procedural behavior of authorities as central to the cultivation of legitimacy, regardless of the fact that many people have little to no direct experience with the behavior of legal authorities over the course of their lives. In addition, international application of procedural justice models can often tend toward normative prescriptions for appropriate behavior on the part of authorities. It is important to allow for the possibility that what is considered procedurally just behavior by authorities may not be the same everywhere. The current study proposed a model of perceived legitimacy that did not include measures of perceived justice or fairness, instead focusing on concepts more likely to remain relevant for individuals without direct experience with legal authorities, and potentially across a wider range of social, political, and cultural configurations.

Based on the preceding theoretical analysis of their mandate to provide safety and security, their symbolic duty in relation to the state, and the subjective nature of their relationship with society across groups, power structures, and moral ideologies, this model included seven conceptual sources of legitimacy for legal authorities. These

concepts were *prior victimization, fear of crime, fear of war and terrorism, vicarious experience, group identity, social capital*, and *moral alignment* (Figure 3). Importantly, these concepts were not specified as constituent elements of legitimacy, but rather as some of its potential sources in different social contexts. Legitimacy itself remains conceptually ethereal and difficult to define in universally consistent terms, perhaps only existing within the confluence of several factors and manifesting itself through various configurations across diverse social contexts.



Figure 3: Current legitimacy model

Research Questions and Hypotheses

The current study examined to what extent these individual-level sources of legitimacy varied in significance and strength across countries and what effect nationallevel characteristics had on this variation. In addition, the possibility was explored that these relationships varied between different types of legal authority, in this case between police and courts. People in different countries may have vastly different conceptions of the privileges and responsibilities given to legal authorities, potentially evaluating the legitimacy of these authorities based on different criteria, or on the same criteria to different degrees (Mazerolle et al., 2013). The concept of legitimacy carries important implications for criminal justice in a global context, and questions remain as to the applicability of popular theories of legitimation to other countries (Beetham, 1991; Coicaud, 2019; Mazerolle et al., 2013; Tankebe, 2009). Three primary research questions were addressed by this research. First, to what extent do the sources of legitimacy vary in their effects across different countries? Second, what country-level characteristics might explain some of this variation? Third, are these relationships the same for different types of legal authorities?

Based on these research questions, the current study focused on three interrelated hypotheses. First, that the individual-level sources of legitimacy for legal authorities vary in their effect across different countries. Second, that characteristics at the national level can explain some of this variation. And third, that these relationships differ between types of legal authorities, in this case between police and courts. These hypotheses are restated below.

Hypothesis 1: Individual-level sources of legitimacy vary in their effects across countries.

Hypothesis 2: Some of this variation can be explained by national-level characteristics.

Hypothesis 3: These relationships at both levels differ between police and courts.

The following paragraphs briefly reiterate the primary sources of perceived legitimacy included in the current study, while also explicitly stating secondary hypotheses associated with these concepts. These concepts all possessed hypothesized relationships with perceived legitimacy based on extant research, but the primary hypotheses in this study were more focused on the existence of variation in these relationships across countries, the influence of national-level characteristics on this variation, and differences in these relationships between police and courts.

In general, prior research suggests that those who have recently experienced criminal victimization, are more fearful of crime, less fearful of war and terrorism, have more negative vicarious experience with authorities, do not identify strongly with the group represented by authorities, possess low social capital, and do not perceive authorities as morally aligned with their own values will tend perceive legal authorities as less legitimate. Conversely, those who have no recent experience with victimization, less fear of crime, more fear of war and terrorism, less negative vicarious experience, do identify strongly with the group represented by authorities, possess high social capital, and perceive authorities as morally aligned with their own values will tend to perceive legal authorities as more legitimate. These conceptual relationships were discussed in detail in the preceding chapter and are restated briefly in the following paragraphs. The simplicity of these hypotheses, however, obscures the potential for complex variation and interaction across different national contexts.

Measures of *prior victimization* and *fear of crime* were hypothesized to be *negatively* related to the legitimacy of legal authorities. Such crime-related variables are frequently cited as important instrumental sources of legitimacy (Boateng, 2017; Jang et

al., 2010; Koenig, 1980; St. Louis & Greene, 2019; Sunshine & Tyler, 2003; Tankebe, 2009; Weitzer & Tuch, 2005) and it has been argued that even these ostensibly instrumental sources contain moral elements vital to their influence on the legitimation process (Bottoms & Tankebe, 2012; Coicaud, 2002). Prior research suggests that crime victims and those fearful of crime are less likely to perceive legal authorities as effectively providing safety and security, and therefore less likely to perceive them as legitimate (Alda et al., 2017; Aviv & Weisburd, 2016; Brown & Benedict, 2002; Dawson, 2018; Dull & Wint, 1997; Kääriäinen, 2007; Manning, 1997; O'Connor, 2008; Orr & West, 2007; Reisig & Stroshine, 2001; Sevier & Tyler, 2014; Singer et al., 2019; Sprott & Doob, 1997; Stafford & Galle, 1984; Van Craen, 2013). The relationship between fear of crime and legitimacy is related to the perceived effectiveness of authorities at fulfilling their mandate, a relationship itself dependent on the parameters of the mandate given to authorities and the extent to which these authorities are held responsible for public safety and security. The degree to which citizens associate their own fear of criminal victimization with a lack of police presence, ineffective criminal investigation, improper court procedure, or lax punishment of offenders is likely to vary depending on the localized expectations citizens have for these authorities (Armaline et al., 2014; Kochel, 2018; Tankebe, 2013; Skogan, 2009).

Related to but distinct from fear of crime, concerns over national-level security issues such as war and terrorism can also influence people's perceptions of legal authorities, but due to differences in the symbolic nature of these fears, the direction of this relationship may differ from that between legitimacy and crime-related variables. Measures of *fear of war* and *fear of terrorism* were hypothesized to be *positively* related

to the legitimacy of legal authorities, as generalized support for law enforcement has been found to increase in the wake of major terrorist incidents and other forms of instability (Banjak-Corle & Wallace, 2020; Brown & Benedict, 2002; Jonathan, 2010; Jonathan-Zamir & Weisburd, 2013; Sela-Shayovitz, 2014; Sunshine & Tyler, 2003). This contrasts with the hypothesized directional influence of fear of crime on legitimacy, as prior study suggests that high-profile incidents of violent crime appear related to less positive perceptions of authorities, while high profile incidents of terrorism seem to inspire support for authorities (Banjak-Corle & Wallace, 2020; Jonathan-Zamir & Weisburd, 2013; Sunshine & Tyler, 2003). This effect may also differ depending on whether the national threat is from war or terrorism, although there is little indication from previous research that these effects would not both be positive so long as the threat is perceived to be external to national identity.

While vicarious experience in general could result in either positive or negative feelings toward legal authorities, the variable included in this study explicitly referred to *negative* vicarious experience due to its use of the word "interfere." Therefore, *vicarious experience* was hypothesized to be *negatively* related to the perceived legitimacy of these authorities. Even in the absence of direct experience with police, the degree to which law enforcement agencies are perceived to be unjustly interfering in people's private lives, imposing forms of "alien rule" upon communities, or "over-policing" certain forms of behavior can severely erode people's confidence in police (Armaline et al., 2014; Levi et al., 2009; Schuck, 2019; Weitzer & Tuch, 2005). Additionally, perceptions that courts are either over- or under-punishing offenders, contributing to racially biased systems of mass incarceration, engaging in politically biased activity, or insufficiently prosecuting police

misconduct can negatively influence people's confidence in the justice system (Bobo & Thompson, 2006; Casper et al., 1988; Gibson et al., 2010). Many citizens acquire such perceptions vicariously, either from acquaintances or media depictions, rather than from personal experience with legal authorities. These vicarious experiences can have a strong cumulative effect over time and take on differential importance depending on proximity to the source (Skogan, 2006). High-profile incidents of police brutality or judicial misconduct can have a "ripple effect" both within close-knit communities and more broadly through media coverage (Akinlabi, 2020; Kochel, 2017; Tyler & Jackson, 2013; Weitzer & Tuch, 2005). Vicarious experiences with legal authorities have been found to have at least as much influence on perceptions of legitimacy as direct encounters (Akinlabi & Murphy, 2018; Kochel, 2017; Skogan, 2006).

As discussed in the previous chapter, the groups that individuals identify with can strongly impact their attitudes toward legal authorities (Blumer, 1958; Braithwaite, 2003; Lind & Tyler, 1992; Trinkner, 2019). Belonging to the "in-group" represented by the justice system is generally thought to be associated with better treatment by authorities and more positive attitudes toward law enforcement (Martin & Bradford, 2019; Murphy & Cherney, 2012). The current study included measures of national pride and national identity that served as indicators of attachment to the superordinate group represented by legal authorities. Based on extant research, strong feelings of *national pride* and *national identity* were hypothesized to be *positively* associated with the legitimacy of legal authorities (Bradford, 2014; Bradford et al., 2020; Loader & Walker, 2007; Radburn & Stott, 2018; Reynolds et al., 2018; Schatz & Lavine, 2007). Social capital has been found to increase the ability of individuals to effectively influence social institutions such as police and the justice system (Newton & Norris, 1999; Putnam, 2000; Van Craen, 2013). As a result, *social capital* was hypothesized to be *positively* related to the legitimacy of legal authorities. The current study included two measures of social capital – trust in others and voluntary association. Both have been used as measures of social capital in prior research and have been found to exhibit a positive association with the legitimacy of legal authorities (Cao & Wu, 2019; Newton & Norris, 1999; Putnam, 2000; Rothstein & Stolle, 2008; Van Craen, 2013).

The extent to which people perceive themselves to be morally aligned with police and the justice system is also hypothesized to have a positive relationship with the perceived legitimacy of these institutions. The greater an individual's sense that authority figures are aligned with normative, ethical, and moral standards, the more likely they will be to have confidence in the institutions they represent (Beetham, 1991; Coicaud, 2002; Jackson & Sunshine, 2007; Kelling & Coles, 1998; Mazerolle et al., 2012; Punch & Gilmour, 2010; Tyler, 2009). If people believe that authorities are acting in the common interest of society and abiding by their own standards of lawfulness, they will be more likely to perceive these authorities as legitimate (Gilley, 2006; Jackson et al., 2020; Levi et al., 2009; Reisig et al., 2011). Two measures of moral alignment were included in the current study – perceived corruption and importance of democracy.

Existing literature suggests that individuals who perceive higher levels of corruption in their country tend to have less confidence in legal authorities (Jackson et al., 2014; Kochel et al., 2013; Levi et al., 2009; Punch & Gilmour, 2010; Tankebe et al., 2016). *Perceived corruption* was therefore hypothesized to be negatively related to the legitimacy of legal authorities. The hypothesized relationship between importance of democracy and legitimacy was more complex. In democratic societies, strong democratic values may be conducive to moral alignment with legal authorities, but in autocratic and authoritarian societies, these same values may be associated with defiance of authority and disillusionment with legal institutions (De Zuniga et al., 2019). *Importance of democracy* was therefore hypothesized to be *positively* associated with legitimacy in countries with higher freedom scores, but *negatively* associated with legitimacy in countries with lower freedom scores. This cross-level interaction effect, along with others that were investigated by the current study, are discussed at the end of this section.

The current study also included several theoretically relevant demographic control variables measuring *age*, *sex*, *level of education*, *marital status*, *unemployment*, and *urban/rural residence*. Research to date has produced mixed evidence regarding the relationship between age and legitimacy. Some have noted that perceived legitimacy appears to increase with age, with older individuals perhaps more likely to possess social bonds, identities, and values that align with police and courts (e.g., Brown & Benedict, 2002; Hurst & Frank, 2000; Reisig & Parks, 2000). Other findings have indicated that perceived legitimacy might decline with age, possibly resulting from an accrual over time of vicarious experience, awareness of injustice, and cynicism toward the law (e.g., Fagan & Tyler, 2005; Worden & McLean, 2017a). In addition, the effect of age may not be constant across countries, as a variety of sociohistorical factors can affect the perceptions of legal authorities among members of different generations and age groups (Boateng, 2018; Ferdik et al., 2013; Hinds, 2007; McLean et al., 2018; Nivette et al., 2020; Reisig et al., 2011, 2012; Reynolds et al., 2018).

Sex and gender have also been shown to influence people's attitudes toward legitimacy, although findings are mixed and differences are rarely found to be very large (Dario et al., 2019; Kääriäinen, 2007; Morris, 2015; Reynolds et al., 2018). Similarly mixed results have arisen when studying the relationship between education and legitimacy. While some studies have determined higher levels of education to be associated with lower levels of legitimacy (e.g., Jang et al., 2010; Stack & Cao, 1998), this relationship is likely to vary depending on national differences in educational systems, cultural meanings of education, and school curricula (Boateng et al., 2016; Hinds & Murphy, 2007; Luo et al., 2019; Sunshine & Tyler, 2003; Weitzer & Tuch, 2005). Marriage has in general been found to exhibit a positive association with the legitimacy of legal authorities, but it can sometimes be difficult to parse the effects of being married in isolation from other potential influences such as age, sex, education, social class, social bonds, and social capital, especially when considering variation across different countries (Boateng, 2018; Cao & Wu, 2019; Cao & Zhao, 2005; Kääriäinen, 2007; McLean et al., 2018; Stack & Cao, 1998). Unemployment was hypothesized to place individuals outside of the social in-group represented by police and therefore be negatively associated with legitimacy, as opposed to other employment statuses captured by this WVS variable that did not involve full-time employment but are nonetheless accepted as valued social roles (Boateng, 2018; Cao & Wu, 2019; Kääriäinen, 2007; Martin & Bradford, 2019; Mazerolle et al., 2013; McDonald, 2015; Reisig & Parks, 2000; Tankebe, 2009). As with marriage, it was suspected that unemployment was acting as a proxy measure for attachment to conventional society and personal investment in

conformity, but the specific meaning and implication of these social bonds remained likely to vary substantially between countries.

Differences in the perceived legitimacy of legal authorities have also been found between residents of urban compared to rural locations. While rural communities are often no less diverse in terms of opinions toward police and courts, there is evidence that urban and rural citizens have unique needs and expectations of authorities that must be taken into consideration for legal authorities to be considered legitimate (Benedict et al., 2000; Taylor et al., 2015). Urban and rural communities may also differ in terms of the prevalence and incidence of interactions with police and the frequency of justice system involvement in people's private lives (Gau et al., 2012; Taylor & Lawton, 2012). Different relationships between urban and rural segments of society in different countries may lead to further complexity in this relationship. Whereas much research conducted in Western nations has found urbanites on average more likely to possess negative attitudes toward police, evidence exists that the direction of this relationship is far from universal. Research conducted by Sun et al. (2013) found that residents of rural areas in China were less likely to report satisfaction with police than urban residents. The authors pointed to the absence of competency and integrity among rural police in China, widespread misconduct, and poor overall performance in combatting crime and resolving disputes as potential reasons for these differences (Sun et al., 2013).

Controlling for these demographic variables, the current study tested the aforementioned hypotheses by using international datasets to construct a series of multilevel regression models. This analysis was primarily focused on variation in the effects of these individual-level explanatory variables across countries, as well as the

potential for cross-level interaction with national-level characteristics to explain some of this variation. Models also included two measures hypothesized to explain such variation at the national level – the *freedom score* and the *homicide rate*. For purely analytical purposes, a country's freedom score was hypothesized to be positively related with legitimacy at the individual level, a prediction consistent with traditional normative conceptualizations of legitimacy, but perhaps less compatible with subjective, empirical notions of legitimacy (Anderson et al., 2005; Beetham, 1991; Coicaud, 2002). The homicide rate was hypothesized to be negatively associated with individual-level legitimacy (Chamlin & Cochran, 2006; Dawson, 2017, 2018). In addition, these nationallevel variables were hypothesized to interact with several relationships at the individual level, potentially explaining at least some of the variation in these effects across countries.

For example, importance of democracy was hypothesized to have a more positive association with legitimacy in more democratic countries, and a less positive (or even negative) association with legitimacy in less democratic countries. When a nation's freedom score is high and authorities are perceived to embody democratic values, importance of democracy is likely to have a positive effect on legitimacy. Conversely, authorities in low-freedom countries may be seen as failing to embody democratic values and symbolic duties, and therefore not likely to inspire confidence among those who value democracy. In addition, the freedom score was hypothesized to interact with other variables in the model, potentially offering some explanation for variation in their relationships with legitimacy across different countries.

The other national-level predictor included in this analysis, the homicide rate, was also hypothesized to influence several relationships at the individual level, in particular those related to prior victimization, fear of crime, and vicarious experience. In countries with higher homicide rates, police interference in the private lives of citizens (as this variable is measured) may be more tolerable because of different priorities, expectations, and boundaries surrounding the police mandate (Boateng, 2018; Radburn & Stott, 2018; Tankebe et al., 2015).

To summarize, the current study was informed by three central research questions: (1) To what extent do the sources of legitimacy for legal authorities vary in their effect across different countries; (2) what effect do country-level characteristics have on this variation, and (3) are these relationships the same across countries for different types of legal authorities? These research questions suggested the following three broad hypotheses. First, that the individual-level influence of *fear of crime*, *fear of war and terrorism*, *prior victimization*, *vicarious experience*, *group identity*, *social capital*, and *moral alignment* on the legitimacy of legal authorities varies across countries. Second, that the included national-level measures of the *freedom score* and the *homicide rate* will explain some of this variation. Third, that these relationships vary between types of legal authorities, in this case between police and courts. The following sections discuss data sources and sampling strategies in detail before beginning a full discussion of measures and statistical methodology.

Data and Sample

This analysis used Wave 7 of the World Values Survey (2017-2021), as a source for individual-level demographic and attitudinal data. Fieldwork for the seventh wave began in mid-2017, with the World Values Survey Association (WVSA) first releasing these data to the public in July of 2020. Subsequent revisions have corrected numerous errors and completed data for some countries. This analysis will use version 2.0.0 of the Wave 7 dataset, released in July 2021, that included data for two additional countries – Canada and Singapore. The collection of data for Wave 7 is still ongoing and aims to eventually include more nations, but this initial release contains data from 51 different countries spread across all inhabited continents on Earth. The current analysis omitted data from four countries (China, Egypt, Macau, and Puerto Rico) because of missing data on key variables. The final sample was determined through listwise deletion of cases without valid data on all variables. After listwise deletion, viable data were available for 61,648 individual cases in 47 different countries. National-level data were obtained from two ancillary sources: Freedom House and the United Nations Office on Drugs and Crime (UNODC).

The World Values Survey (WVS), started in 1981, is a global research project aimed at measuring people's values and attitudes around the world. Whenever possible, the WVS employs a rigorous methodology involving full probability sampling of national populations aged 18 years and older. Researchers attempt to access lists and registries of all households or voters in a country to build a national sample. When local conditions preclude such an approach, or make the cost of such endeavors prohibitively high, WVS methodology allows for the application of nationally representative random sampling

procedures based on a multi-stage stratified selection of territories within a country. These multi-stage sampling techniques begin with the selection of primary sampling units (PSUs), corresponding to regions, territories, and cities, before then proceeding to the simple probability selection of subjects within each PSU (Haerpfer et al., 2020).

Depending on the specific conditions endemic to each country, other sampling designs are allowed after being subjected to a rigorous approval process by WVSA investigators. National teams can determine whether local peculiarities related to geography, administration, urbanization, and the availability of statistical data require adaptation of the sampling model, provided it still meets existing WVSA requirements. These requirements include coverage of all residents, not just citizens, of a country that are aged 18 years and older. Once the minimum required sample size for the 18 and up population is obtained, investigators can lower the minimum age limit. This means that the final sample includes some respondents that are 16 or 17 years old. WVSA requirements also specify that the final sample obtained by researchers should be representative and should reflect the distribution of gender and age in the general country population. The minimum acceptable sample size for most countries included in the WVS is 1200, but a smaller sample size of 1000 was allowed for nations with a population of less than 2 million. In addition, WVS investigators are advised to collect larger samples of at least 1500 respondents from countries with large and widely distributed populations, such as Russia, China, Brazil, and the United States (Haerpfer et al., 2020).

After procuring an adequate sample size in each country, WVS investigators administer a common questionnaire that has been translated into local languages. This

questionnaire measures a wide range of values, attitudes, and beliefs regarding gender, family, religion, poverty, education, health, security, culture, tolerance, trust, social institutions, justice, moral principles, corruption, accountability, risk, migration, and national security (Haerpfer et al., 2020). Suggestions for survey items for each wave of the WVS are solicited from social scientists around the world, and less valuable concepts and measures are dropped in subsequent waves to make room for more relevant ones. After being translated into various national languages, the questionnaire is whenever possible translated back into English to verify the accuracy of question wording. The translated questionnaire is also pre-tested to identity problematic translation issues, and problematic or inapplicable items may be omitted in certain situations, with approval of the WVSA.

The primary method of data collection utilized by WVS investigators is a face-toface interview at the respondent's home or place of residence. Most answers are recorded using either computer-assisted personal interview (CAPI), or pen-and-paper personal interview (PAPI) techniques. In some cases, other techniques are justified to better access respondents who are unreachable for a face-to-face interview, including computerassisted web interviews (CAWI), computer-assisted telephone interviews (CATI), and postal interviews. In the final sample (as of December 2020), 56% of interviews have been conducted using CAPI, 31% of interviews used PAPI, 8% used CAWI, 5% were postal interviews, and 0.2% used CATI techniques (Haerpfer et al., 2020). Investigators make every effort to increase response rate, following up numerous times on their initial sample of respondents. In countries using a full probability sampling design, no replacements are allowed, and sampled respondents are contacted repeatedly before being

recorded as non-responses. WVS data are anonymous and publicly available free of cost. This dataset has been a popular source of attitudinal data for international research for decades and is widely considered reliable and representative (Haerpfer et al., 2020).

An index variable measuring each nation's "freedom score" was obtained from the 2020 Freedom House annual global report on political rights and civil liberties. This report is produced each year by a body of internal and external analysts, including members of academia, think-tanks, and human rights groups. Analysts draw from a wide range of sources, including news articles, academic studies, reports from non-government organizations, professional contacts, and local research, to arrive at a proposed score for each nation. These scores are then presented, discussed, and defended by analysts at a series of review meetings. The final product represents the consensus view of the entire team of analysts. The 2020 edition of this report is based on data collected during 2019 covering 195 countries. The methodology used by Freedom House is derived from the United Nations Universal Declaration of Human Rights and based on the premise that the same standards of "freedom" can be applied to all nations (Repucci, 2020).

The index is designed to assess the rights and freedoms of individuals rather than the performance or characteristics of governments, as codified legal guarantees do not always translate to the lived experiences of individuals. Operating under the assumption that political rights and civil liberties can be infringed by state and non-state actors alike, Freedom House places an emphasis on measuring the implementation and fulfillment of rights, rather than claims made by state actors. The Freedom House index is based on 10 indicators of political rights and 15 indicators of civil liberties, each scored on a scale from 0 to 4. Countries can score up to 40 points on political rights and up to 60 points on

civil liberties, for a total possible score of 100. Indicators capture the state of the electoral process; political pluralism and participation; functioning of government; freedom of expression and belief; associational and organizational rights; rule of law; personal autonomy; and individual rights. For a complete list of measures included in the Freedom House index, see Appendix B.

The homicide rate for each country was obtained from the United Nations Office on Drugs and Crime (UNODC). The UNODC collects crime data from national authorities around the world through the annual United Nations Crime Trends Survey (UN-CTS). This survey captures incidents of victimization as reported to authorities and recorded by official crime statistics, and the instrument has been revised in recent years to be consistent with the International Classification of Crime for Statistical Purposes (ICCS). Sources of crime data used by the UN-CTS include national statistical offices, police departments, and government agencies, as well as global organizations such as the World Health Organization (WHO), Pan-American Health Organization (PAHO), and the International Criminal Police Organization (INTERPOL). A detailed account of the specific data sources tapped for each nation can be obtained from the website dataunodc.un.org.

Dependent Variables

The perceived legitimacy of legal authorities was measured using an additive index comprising two ordinal WVS items, one measuring *confidence in police* and the other *confidence in courts*. These two items were part of a series of questions asking how much confidence respondents had in a variety of organizations and institutions (see Appendix A). Supplementary analyses were also conducted using the original confidence

measures as endogenous variables in separate multilevel binary logistic regression models. This section addresses the operationalization of legitimacy as the primary endogenous variable of interest in the current study. First, the use of confidence as an indicator of legitimacy and the combination of variables into an index is justified. Then, the operationalization of legitimacy as a continuous variable will be examined and the decision to conduct supplementary analyses of the individual confidence measures will be discussed.

There exists a sizeable amount of conceptual disagreement surrounding the appropriate operationalization and measurement of legitimacy (Boateng, 2018; Bradford & Jackson, 2010; Cao & Wu, 2019; Hamm et al., 2022). Gau (2011) noted that "it is exceedingly difficult to devise valid measures for constructs that exist only in people's minds and can be colored by things like past experiences and personal characteristics" (p. 496). Conflict between normative and empirical perspectives on legitimacy makes the establishment of a definitional and operational consensus exceedingly difficult (Hinsch, 2010). How people think about police and legal authorities is complicated, and studies frequently confound a variety of indicators under the label of legitimacy. The wide assortment of research into legitimacy and procedural justice reveals a complex constellation of interrelated concepts (Mazerolle et al., 2013; Van Craen, 2013). These include terms such as compliance, cooperation, confidence, consent, effectiveness, satisfaction, trust, and obligation (Mazerolle et al., 2013).

Depending on the legitimacy model being applied, many of these factors might be understood either as antecedents of legitimacy, as its constituent elements, or as its effects, leading to conceptual confusion in comparative study. For example, St. Louis & Greene (2019) measured police legitimacy as "the perceived success of police activities," which would seem to indicate a greater connection to instrumental concerns regarding police effectiveness. Treating legitimacy as synonymous with instrumental concerns such as effectiveness has clear implications for its presumed association with normative factors such as trust. Drawing a similar distinction between the concepts of satisfaction and trust, Van Craen (2013) recommended that researchers "reflect on the question whether the concept of 'satisfaction' (which mainly implies an evaluation of a past or the present situation) and the concept of 'trust' (which mainly implies a belief concerning what is going to happen in the future) may be mixed up" (Van Craen, 2013, p. 1053). Frimpong et al. (2019) also made note of these conceptual irregularities, commenting that "there has been continual slippage with the use of terms such as confidence, trust, and satisfaction to express public opinion about the police" (p. 140). Similarly, Taylor and Lawton (2012) observed that "investigated components [of police legitimacy] have included overall liking for, trust of, confidence in, and satisfaction with the local police as well as satisfaction or dissatisfaction resulting from specific interactions with the police" (p. 414). Ongoing debate in the criminological literature regarding the appropriate operationalization and measurement of legitimacy has yet to offer a clear solution to this empirical conundrum (Cao & Graham 2019, Jackson & Bradford, 2019, Sun et al. 2016, 2018, 2019; Trinkner 2019). Regarding this lack of clarity, Zelditch (2001) remarked:

There appears to be no unique dependent variable associated with legitimation processes, except that legitimacy is always a matter of voluntarily accepting that something is 'right', and its consequence is always the stability of whatever structure emerges in the process. (p. 40)

Beyond such ostensibly direct measures of legitimacy, studies have also inferred its existence using proxy indicators derived from models such as those suggested by Tyler (1990) and Tankebe (2013), including obligation to obey, normative alignment, lawfulness, procedural justice, distributive justice, and effectiveness (Hamm et al., 2022). In Tyler's (1990) popular model, legitimacy is operationalized as some combination of trust in and obligation to obey authorities. But the formulation of obligation to obey as an indicator of legitimacy may conceal whether power gives authority its legitimacy or whether legitimacy gives authority its power. The interpretation of a sense of obligation to obey legal authorities as an indication of perceived legitimacy has been criticized for implying moral alignment where it does not necessarily exist (Akinlabi & Murphy 2018; Tankebe 2013, Tost, 2011; Tsushima & Hamai, 2015). Obligation resulting from normative alignment is difficult to distinguish from obligation arising from powerlessness and coercion. Tyler (2003) himself questioned the universal applicability of obligation to obey as a measure of legitimacy, noting that "if the social structure is viewed as fundamentally unfair by particular people or groups, then their willingness to comply might be regarded as a 'false consciousness' – that is, as a willingness that should be discouraged" (p. 285).

The current study avoided complications involved with the use of obligation to obey and focused instead on another common measure of legitimacy – confidence in legal authorities. Confidence is frequently used as an indicator of legitimacy in sociological and criminological research. A meta-analysis by Mazerolle et al. (2013) found the most commonly used endogenous variables in studies of legitimacy to be satisfaction with and confidence in legal authorities. They concluded that satisfaction and confidence are "well-established constructs in the research literature and arguably the most tangible of all of the direct outcomes in the legitimacy policing literature" (Mazerolle et al., 2013, p. 265).

Confidence is admittedly an imperfect indicator of legitimacy, as it remains conceptually unclear if *confidence* has the same meaning as *trust*, especially when translated into different languages. If confidence and trust are conceptually interchangeable, then confidence in legal authorities can be useful as an indicator of legitimacy, however, the meaning of this variable depends on the conceptual model being applied. In Tyler's model, trust is one of the elements of legitimacy itself, therefore, if "confidence" is synonymous with "trust," then variables measuring confidence in police and confidence in courts can be considered valid indicators of legitimacy. In Tankebe's model, trust is not considered a constituent part of legitimacy, which means that trust in authorities influences or is influenced by legitimacy. From this perspective, if "confidence" is taken to mean "trust," then these dependent variables cannot act as direct measures of legitimacy. Confidence might also be understood in terms of the amount of faith people have in authorities to control crime, deliver justice, and keep communities safe. This instrumental definition of confidence is more closely related with effectiveness, rather than with more normative concerns such as procedural justice and fairness. A person may have confidence in police and courts simply because they believe these authorities are satisfactorily fulfilling their mandate, without any consideration for their behavior toward citizens.

Translating and administering the WVS questionnaire in different languages may lead to additional conceptual confusion, as the specific meaning of the word *confidence*

could vary depending on the native language of the respondent. Despite the great effort by WVS researchers to make these measures as universally comparable as possible, the potential remains that differences in meaning across languages introduce error into models using these data. For example, the WVS translation of *confidence* in the German language is the word *vertrauen*, which has the same meaning as *trust*. The German word *zuversicht*, meaning *optimism*, may more accurately capture the English meaning of confidence. This discrepancy was noticed only because the author is familiar with the German language, and there are likely similar peculiarities of translation to be found among other languages. These issues notwithstanding, measures of institutional confidence contained in the WVS has been used numerous times by other researchers, and therefore these variables will hopefully allow for sufficiently valid comparative analysis, regardless of any conceptual differences in translation.

It is also worth noting that many dictionary sources list *confidence* and *trust* as synonyms, which may be further indication that these should be considered interchangeable concepts in survey research. However, other common synonyms for confidence include words like *assurance*, *conviction*, *belief*, *faith*, *support*, and *loyalty*, clearly implying a wide range of potential meanings and implications, even within a single language. Although there is much focus in the research literature on the conceptualization and measurement of legitimacy in different cultural contexts, very little attention seems to be given to these kinds of linguistic and translation issues.

International research on the subject of legitimacy should strive to reduce translation issues and ensure that the meaning of concepts such as confidence, trust, and obligation are comparable across nations and cultures. The specific meaning of

confidence to an individual could be based on perceptions of procedural or distributive justice, on perceptions of police effectiveness at maintaining order and providing security, or on perceptions of these authorities' alignment with the fundamental norms and values of a society. For the purposes of this study, the dependent variable *confidence in legal authorities* will be understood as an indicator of respondents' overall attitudes toward police and courts, attitudes which could arise from both instrumental and normative concerns. By combining variables measuring *confidence in police* and *confidence in courts* into a single index, the current analysis attempted to increase the reliability of this dependent variable as a measure of the legitimacy of legal authorities across countries.

The combination of these variables was not without theoretical merit. Evidence exists of a considerable "spill-over" effect between attitudes toward legal institutions (e.g., Albrecht & Green, 1977; Alda et al., 2019; Baker et al., 2014). People's attitudes toward police and courts are likely closely related to each other, although the possibility that legitimacy in these institutions might have different sources in different social contexts remains largely unexplored. Attitudes toward police are likely part of a larger cluster that includes feelings toward other criminal justice institutions such as courts and corrections, as well as attitudes toward institutions and the law in general. Perceptions of legitimacy are part of larger value systems, which often makes solutions focused only on police ineffective because they lack impact on the larger set of attitudes surrounding the criminal justice system (Albrecht & Green, 1977).

Questions also remain as to whether legitimacy is best understood as a binary or as a continuous variable. Is legitimacy something that either exists or does not exist, a

property of an institution or not a property, a sentiment of the people or not a sentiment? Or does it exist on a continuum, and the more legitimacy possessed or professed, the more power and privilege is conferred? Worden and McLean (2017a) clarified that:

For social psychological theory, legitimacy – trust – is a continuous variable: differences in degree matter, and those differences are manifestations primarily of differences in the procedural justice with which police act. For institutional theory, legitimacy is by and large a binary variable: organizations that are legitimate survive, and those that lose legitimacy cease to exist. (p. 502)

This conceptual distinction has important implications for the measurement of legitimacy, as in the choice to dichotomize ordinal variables capturing such attitudes (e.g., Levi et al., 2009; Schuck, 2019; St. Louis & Greene, 2019). Several researchers have previously contended that ordinal confidence variables, such as those contained in the WVS and similar international datasets, should be converted into binary variables to reduce the potential for translation error, redundancy, and subjective interpretations of meaning (e.g., Boateng et al., 2016; Jang et al., 2015; Morris, 2015). However, there is no clear evidence that statistical research using ordinal measures is advantaged by collapsing data in this fashion, rather than by creating index variables or analyzing items in their original forms.

Collapsing an ordinal variable into fewer categories may obscure moderate attitudes toward legal authorities, giving the impression of polarization when many, if not most, opinions are closer to the middle. The current study avoided this practice and utilized continuous and ordinal measures of confidence in legal authorities. Ordinal variables measuring confidence in police and confidence in courts were combined to

form a continuous index for the primary analysis. Supplementary analyses utilized more common binary variables to explore whether the influence of explanatory variables differed between confidence in police and confidence in courts.

The dependent variable in the current study was a continuous index variable created by adding respondents' scores on two separate items, one measuring *confidence in police* and the other *confidence in courts*, both of which were four-category ordinal scales (0 = none at all; 1 = not very much; 2 = Quite a bit; 3 = A great deal). Respondents scored zero points if they responded "none at all" for *both* confidence in police and confidence in courts, six points if they responded "a great deal" for *both* items, and a combination of points for responses in between.

Use of an additive index rather than individual items was advantageous for several reasons. Index variables comprising multiple items are generally thought to measure theoretical constructs more reliably (Spector, 1992). A continuous index variable also enables the use of linear regression and allows for more precise interpretation of variation in the underlying conceptual continuum. The reliability coefficient (Cronbach's alpha) for this index was $\alpha = .79$, which provided some indication that these items displayed similar response patterns and captured elements of the same underlying factor (Gliem & Gliem, 2003; Taber, 2017). However, critics have noted the inadequacy of Cronbach's alpha as the sole indicator of index reliability and have recommended supplementing alpha with additional measures (McNeish, 2017; Sijtsma, 2009; Taber, 2017).

It is worth noting that critical analyses of this statistic tend to find that it represents the "lower bound" of reliability, especially when assumptions that are foundational to Cronbach's alpha are violated, as in this case with the inclusion of ordinal scale items rather than continuous measures. Although technically incongruous with assumptions underlying the alpha statistic, results are likely to be underestimations of the "true" reliability of the created index (McNeish, 2017). Therefore, this relatively high alpha score was taken as evidence that these items were on average capturing part of the same interrelated factor. Additional factor analyses further indicated that both confidence in police and confidence in courts loaded strongly onto a single factor, with both items displaying loadings over 0.6. These initial analyses appeared to indicate that these variables were both tapping into some shared underlying sentiment. This shared factor was considered a measure of overall confidence in legal authorities and served as the primary indicator of legitimacy in the current study. This combined index was treated as a continuous measure, allowing for the use of mixed models while maintaining a linear approach to regression and interpretation.

The results of these reliability tests and factor analyses should not, however, be taken as evidence that confidence in police and confidence in courts are conceptually identical. A high Cronbach's alpha score between these items is not evidence of unidimensionality (Sijtsma, 2009; Taber, 2017). People's attitudes toward police and courts are likely not always identical and, even more problematic for the current analysis, might be more dissimilar in some countries than in others. A comparison of the aggregated frequency distributions presented below indicated that while citizens of some countries may be relatively alike in terms of how they think of police compared to how they think of courts, those of other countries appear to display more divergent distributions of attitudes toward these separate institutions. Supplementary analyses were
therefore conducted to explore relationships between predictor variables and separate binary outcome variables capturing *confidence in police* and *confidence in courts*.

While the combination of items measuring perceptions of police and perceptions of courts into a single measure is not uncommon in the research literature (e.g., Tyler, 2006; Tyler & Huo, 2002), many have cautioned that conflating these two attitudes might risk obfuscation of their unique causes and effects (e.g., Baker et al., 2015; Meares et al., 2012; Sprott & Doob, 2009). It could be the case that people compartmentalize their attitudes toward different social institutions, evaluating each on different criteria and not allowing the actions of one to affect the legitimacy of another (Dawson, 2017; De Zuniga et al., 2019). This possibility presents a difficulty for research that combines attitudes toward police and courts into a single measure. The primary analysis in the current study was based on such an index variable and assumed that attitudes toward police and courts were similar and derived from similar sources. This assumption is far from a certainty and the implications of this discrepancy inspired supplementary analyses of these variables as separate outcomes.

These analyses therefore examined the same multilevel models using binary measures of *confidence in police* and *confidence in courts* as endogenous variables. However, multilevel modeling with dichotomized dependent variables presented its own set of unique problems. These difficulties are addressed in the methodology and discussion sections. The following tables summarize means, standard deviations, and distributions of variables measuring *police legitimacy* by country (Table 1), *court legitimacy* by country (Table 2), and the combined index variable *legitimacy* (Table 3).

Country	N	Mean	SD	% None at all (0)	% Not very much (1)	% Quite a lot (2)	% A great deal (3)
				uni (0)		100 (2)	
Andorra	942	1.88	0.75	5.52	17.83	59.55	17.09
Argentina	807	1.08	0.84	26.15	44.73	23.92	5.20
Australia	1,516	2.10	0.72	2.64	13.46	54.75	29.16
Bangladesh	1,038	1.44	0.96	17.73	36.51	29.87	15.90
Bolivia	1,773	0.84	0.79	36.21	48.67	10.38	4.74
Brazil	1,294	1.46	0.94	20.87	23.65	44.36	11.13
Canada	3,997	1.80	0.78	5.83	24.74	52.69	16.74
Chile	741	1.42	0.85	13.63	40.62	35.63	10.12
Colombia	1,498	1.16	0.90	20.76	54.47	12.35	12.42
Cyprus	741	1.63	0.95	13.36	30.90	35.49	20.24
Ecuador	1,104	1.58	0.90	12.23	33.61	38.04	16.12
Ethiopia	1,120	1.59	0.97	17.05	25.00	40.09	17.86
Germany	1,210	2.11	0.63	1.24	10.91	63.31	24.55
Greece	1,081	1.84	0.80	6.38	22.39	51.80	19.43
Guatemala	1,000	0.84	0.68	30.80	56.10	11.60	1.50
Hong Kong	1,989	1.69	0.76	6.64	29.16	52.89	11.31
Indonesia	3,059	1.88	0.84	4.58	28.24	41.88	25.30
Iran	1,405	2.27	0.83	4.77	10.60	37.58	47.05
Iraq	1,027	1.69	1.08	19.08	22.01	29.50	29.41
Japan	808	1.99	0.66	2.10	15.59	63.37	18.94
Jordan	1,073	2.64	0.68	2.33	4.47	19.66	73.53
Kazakhstan	891	1.84	0.80	5.50	25.14	49.49	19.87
Kyrgyzstan	1,040	1.42	0.92	18.85	32.21	37.50	11.44
Lebanon	1,173	1.65	0.95	11.94	33.08	33.16	21.82
Malaysia	1,311	1.69	0.79	5.72	34.78	44.62	14.87
Mexico	1,613	0.81	0.90	46.50	32.05	15.56	5.89
Myanmar	1,198	1.58	0.94	17.20	22.54	45.58	14.69
N. Zealand	662	2.26	0.67	0.91	9.97	51.81	37.31
Nicaragua	1,166	1.04	1.01	35.16	39.28	11.58	13.98
Nigeria	1,152	0.93	0.96	41.67	31.86	18.58	7.90
Pakistan	1,641	1.21	1.10	36.99	19.99	27.67	15.36
Peru	1,266	0.95	0.89	36.65	37.36	20.22	5.77
Philippines	1,192	2.12	0.77	1.59	19.55	44.13	34.73
Romania	705	1.47	0.97	18.87	30.35	35.46	15.32
Russia	1,295	1.45	0.91	17.61	31.51	39.31	11.58
Serbia	839	1.23	0.86	21.45	39.93	32.30	6.32
Singapore	1,855	2.11	0.63	1.19	11.75	62.10	24.96
S. Korea	1,245	1.57	0.67	4.58	38.88	51.16	5.38
Taiwan	1,184	1.99	0.67	2.96	14.44	63.34	19.26
Tajikistan	1,106	2.21	0.82	4.34	12.03	42.31	41.32
Thailand	1,164	1.60	0.82	9.02	35.05	43.04	12.89
Tunisia	1,025	1.46	0.89	13.85	40.10	32.39	13.66
Turkey	2,133	2.19	0.78	3.89	11.39	46.41	38.30
Ukraine	841	1.22	0.84	22.71	37.34	35.43	4.52
U.S.A.	2,422	1.82	0.81	6.40	24.03	50.66	18.91
Vietnam	1,150	2.16	0.62	1.74	7.04	64.70	26.52
Zimbabwe	1,156	1.51	1.02	19.64	30.02	30.36	19.98
Total	61,648	1.65	0.94	13.73	27.02	40.03	19.21

Table 1: Frequencies, distributions, and mean levels of police legitimacy, by country

Country	Ν	Mean	SD	% None at all (0)	% Not very much (1)	% Quite a lot (2)	% A great deal (3)
Andorra	942	1.57	0.82	11.15	30.57	48.20	10.08
Argentina	807	0.87	0.76	34.45	45.85	18.09	1.61
Australia	1,516	1.71	0.80	6.79	30.67	47.16	15.37
Bangladesh	1,038	2.00	0.82	5.68	16.67	49.52	28.13
Bolivia	1,773	0.82	0.79	37.11	48.73	9.53	4.62
Brazil	1,294	1.42	0.97	23.03	23.34	41.65	11.98
Canada	3,997	1.65	0.76	6.71	32.05	50.59	10.66
Chile	741	1.16	0.80	20.78	47.64	26.59	4.99
Colombia	1,498	0.91	0.77	28.70	58.01	7.01	6.28
Cyprus	741	1.55	0.88	12.69	33.74	39.68	13.90
Ecuador	1,104	1.29	0.87	19.75	38.95	33.61	7.70
Ethiopia	1,120	1.72	0.93	12.32	23.84	42.77	21.07
Germany	1,210	1.93	0.74	3.22	21.16	55.12	20.50
Greece	1,081	1.60	0.81	10.08	30.71	48.20	11.01
Guatemala	1,000	0.80	0.70	35.10	51.70	11.70	1.50
Hong Kong	1,989	2.02	0.71	2.11	18.15	55.66	24.08
Indonesia	3,059	1.98	0.84	3.69	24.75	40.99	30.57
Iran	1,405	2.00	0.94	10.46	12.95	42.28	34.31
Iraq	1,027	1.37	1.10	28.14	27.17	24.05	20.64
Japan	808	2.06	0.65	2.23	11.76	64.23	21.78
Jordan	1,073	2.24	0.93	6.80	14.17	27.68	51.35
Kazakhstan	891	1.82	0.83	6.85	24.58	48.26	20.31
Kyrgyzstan	1,040	1.22	0.92	24.81	36.35	30.38	8.46
Lebanon	1,173	1.27	0.85	16.62	49.28	24.64	9.46
Malaysia	1,311	1.77	0.79	4.04	33.26	44.70	18.00
Mexico	1,613	0.82	0.91	46.00	32.05	16.06	5.89
Myanmar	1,198	1.58	0.95	17.45	22.95	43.82	15.78
N. Zealand	662	1.91	0.77	4.08	22.36	52.27	21.30
Nicaragua	1,166	0.98	0.97	36.36	41.51	10.38	11.75
Nigeria	1,152	1.37	0.96	20.49	36.11	29.51	13.89
Pakistan	1,641	1.71	1.08	20.11	16.64	35.41	27.85
Peru	1,266	0.53	0.76	60.66	28.36	8.21	2.76
Philippines	1,192	2.06	0.79	2.60	20.47	45.39	31.54
Romania	705	1.27	0.95	24.68	34.33	30.35	10.64
Russia	1,295	1.39	0.91	19.31	33.05	37.14	10.50
Serbia	839	1.05	0.81	26.82	45.17	24.43	3.58
Singapore	1,855	2.04	0.67	1.62	15.69	59.89	22.80
S. Korea	1,245	1.62	0.69	5.54	32.93	55.18	6.35
Taiwan	1,184	1.54	0.79	10.73	32.69	48.65	7.94
Tajikistan	1,106	2.18	0.81	3.53	14.83	41.23	40.42
Thailand	1,164	1.94	0.84	4.73	24.74	42.44	28.09
Tunisia	1,025	1.45	0.92	15.61	38.05	31.71	14.63
lurkey	2,133	1.94	0.82	6.28	18.05	50.54	25.13
Ukraine	841	0.86	0.84	39.12	38.88	18.31	3.69
U.S.A.	2,422	1.62	0.77	7.06	34.85	47.44	10.65
Vietnam	1,150	2.20	0.58	0.78	6.35	64.70	28.17
Zimbabwe	1,156	1.51	0.99	19.03	28.72	34.86	17.39
Total	61,648	1.57	0.94	15.10	29.38	38.68	16.85

Table 2: Frequencies, distributions, and mean levels of court legitimacy, by country

Country	Ν	Mean	SD
Andorra	942	3 45	1 40
Argentina	807	1 95	1 39
Australia	1 516	3.82	1.35
Bangladesh	1 038	3.44	1.20
Bolivia	1,773	1.65	1.38
Brazil	1.294	2.88	1.69
Chile	741	2.58	1.42
Colombia	1.498	2.07	1.44
Cyprus	741	3.17	1.67
Ecuador	1,104	2.87	1.51
Ethiopia	1,120	3.31	1.75
Germany	1,210	4.04	1.18
Greece	1,081	3.44	1.45
Guatemala	1,000	1.63	1.25
Indonesia	3,059	3.86	1.47
Iran	1,405	4.27	1.57
Iraq	1,027	3.06	1.97
Japan	808	4.05	1.20
Jordan	1,073	4.88	1.40
Kazakhstan	891	3.66	1.51
Kyrgyzstan	1,040	2.64	1.71
Lebanon	1,173	2.92	1.58
Malaysia	1,311	3.45	1.46
Mexico	1,613	1.63	1.63
Myanmar	1,198	3.16	1.73
N. Zealand	662	4.16	1.25
Nicaragua	1,166	2.02	1.83
Nigeria	1,152	2.30	1.70
Pakistan	1,641	2.92	1.86
Peru	1,266	1.48	1.46
Philippines	1,192	4.18	1.40
Romania	705	2.74	1.75
Russia	1,295	2.84	1.68
Serbia	839	2.28	1.56
S. Korea	1,245	3.20	1.19
Tajikistan	1,106	4.39	1.47
Thailand	1,164	3.54	1.44
Tunisia	1,025	2.91	1.64
Turkey	2,133	4.14	1.44
Ukraine	841	2.08	1.49
U.S.A.	2,422	3.44	1.40
Vietnam	1,150	4.36	1.10
Zimbabwe	1,156	3.01	1.87
Total	61,648	3.22	1.70

Table 3: Mean legitimacy of legal authorities, by country (combined index)

Independent Variables

At the individual level, demographic variables included respondents' *age*, *sex*, *level of education, marital status*, whether they were *unemployed*, and whether they resided in an *urban* or *rural* area (see Table 4). Because it cannot be assumed that the distances respondents perceive between Likert scale categories are equal in size, it is difficult to draw conclusions about linear relationships based on ordinal independent variables (Williams, 2020). Ordinal items were therefore entered as factor variables, each with one category omitted to serve as a reference group. Ordinal variables were also zero coded to allow meaningful interpretation of model constants without the need for centering.

Age was a continuous variable that ranged from 16 to 103. Sex was a dichotomous variable (0 = male; 1 = female). Education was a three-category ordinal variable (0 = lower; 1 = middle; 2 = higher), that was entered as two dummy variables, with the lowest category serving as the reference group. This variable is based on a recoded version of the original education variable, with categories collapsed as follows: lower (0) = early childhood, primary, or lower secondary education; middle (1) = upper secondary or post-secondary non-tertiary education; higher (2) = short-cycle tertiary education, bachelor, master, doctoral, or equivalents.

Marital status was collapsed into a dummy variable (0 = single, widowed, separated, divorced; 1 = married, living together as married) with categories specified to better represent active social bonds. Employment status was collapsed into a dummy variable (0 = unemployed; 1 = employed full-time or part-time, self-employed, retired/pensioned, homemaker, student, other). This coding was primarily meant to

capture the group identity associated with the category of "unemployed" as it was assumed that this status carries distinctly negative social implications, unlike other nonemployment categories such as student, homemaker, or retiree. Lastly, whether the respondent resided in an urban or rural location was represented as a dummy variable (0 = rural; 1 = urban).

Potential sources of legitimacy included in this analysis were *prior victimization*, *fear of crime*, *fear of war and terrorism*, *vicarious experience*, *group identity*, *social capital*, and *moral alignment* (Table 4). Two dichotomous measures of *prior victimization* from the WVS were included that indicated whether the respondent or any of their family members had been victims of crime in the past year (0 = no; 1 = yes). Respondents' *fear of crime* was captured using two variables, one measuring how often the respondent felt unsafe from crime in their own home, the other how unsafe they felt from crime in general. Fear of crime at home was a four-category ordinal variable (0 =never; 1 = rarely; 2 = sometimes; 3 = often) that was entered as three dummy variables with the lowest category serving as the reference group. Likewise, fear of crime in general was a four-category ordinal variable (0 = very secure; 1 = quite secure; 2 = not very secure; 3 = not at all secure) entered as three dummy variables. Measures of *fear of war* and *fear of terrorism* were also four-category ordinal variables (0 = not at all; 1 = not much; 2 = a great deal; 3 = very much) that were entered as three dummy variables each.

Obvious indicators of direct experience with authorities were not present in the current wave of WVS data; however, a variable measuring how frequently police or military were perceived to interfere in people's private lives in the respondent's neighborhood served as a measure of negative *vicarious experience* with legal authorities.

This was a four-category ordinal variable (0 = not at all frequently; 1 = not frequently; 2 = quite frequently; 3 = very frequently), that was again entered as three dummy variables. While it was not entirely certain if these perceptions were based on personal or vicarious experiences with authorities, the wording of the question suggested that more general experiences were being probed (see Appendix A). This variable closely resembled others in the survey that captured general perceptions of neighborhood crime and disorder, rather than personal experiences, and therefore represented a valid indicator of general experiences with authorities in the respondent's local area.

Group identity was measured using attitudinal variables that captured respondents' identification with the nation-state, including how much pride they felt in their nationality and how close they felt to their country. These measures served as indicators of identification with the superordinate group represented by legal authorities. *National pride* was a four-category ordinal variable (0 = not at all proud/not of country; 1 = not very proud; 2 = quite proud; 3 = very proud) that was entered as three dummy variables with the lowest category serving as the reference group. This survey item originally contained a category indicating that respondents were not the nationality in question, and responses fitting this category were combined with those indicating no national pride. *National identity* was similarly a four-category ordinal variable measuring how close the respondent felt to their country (0 = not close at all; 1 = not very close; 2 = close; 3 = very close) that was entered into the model as three dummy variables while omitting the lowest category as a reference group.

Social capital was captured using variables measuring respondents' generalized trust in other people and their membership in voluntary associations. *Generalized trust*

was a dummy variable based on a question that simply asked whether "most people" can be trusted (0 = need to be very careful; 1 = most people can be trusted). Voluntary association was similarly a dummy variable indicating whether the respondent belonged to at least one of the following 12 types of voluntary associations: churches or religious organizations; sport or recreational organizations; art, music, or educational organizations; labor unions; political parties; environmental organizations; professional associations; humanitarian or charitable organizations; consumer organizations; self-help or mutual aid groups; women's groups; or other (0 = not active member of anyorganizations; 1 =active member of at least one organization). This variable was calculated to include all cases that had at least one response on any of these variables, rather than losing many cases due to listwise deletion of missing data. Because the measure was only meant to capture whether the respondent belonged to at least one organization, it was not necessary to drop cases with missing values on some items if at least one of the items was answered. Essentially, if the respondent provided a response for at least one of the voluntary association items, other missing values were treated the same as if the respondent had indicated inactive or no membership. Respondents were excluded from the analysis only if they failed to answer all 12 organizational membership questions.

Moral alignment with legal authorities was captured using measures of *perceived corruption* and *importance of democracy*. Unlike other ordinal variables in the WVS that were based on Likert scale responses, these items asked respondents to reply on a scale from one to ten. Ordinal variables with seven or more categories are often treated as continuous in regression analysis, and the numerical nature of this variable made

assumptions of equidistant categories more reasonable. *Perceived corruption* and *importance of democracy* were therefore entered into the model as continuous predictors, eschewing the factor variable approach used for other ordinal variables. *Perceived corruption* ranged from zero (no corruption in country) to nine (abundant corruption in country), and *importance of democracy* similarly ranged from zero (not at all important) to nine (absolutely important).

Concept	Measures	Min-Max	Mean	SD
Dependent				
Variables	Legitimacy of legal authorities	0-6	3.22	1.70
	Legitimacy of police	0-3	1.63	0.96
	Legitimacy of courts	0-3	1.56	0.96
Demographics	Age	16-103	42.58	16.13
	Female	0-1	0.51	0.50
	Education	0-2	1.02	0.80
	Married	0-1	0.65	0.48
	Unemployed	0-1	0.08	0.27
	Urban	0-1	0.67	0.47
Prior	Victim of crime in last year (self)?	0-1	0.10	0.30
Victimization	Victim of crime in last year (family)?	0-1	0.12	0.33
Fear of Crime	How often feel unsafe from crime in home?	0-3	0.58	0.88
	How unsecure feel in general?	0-3	1.02	0.82
Fear of War and	How worried about war?	0-3	1.93	1.07
Terrorism	How worried about terrorism?	0-3	1.97	1.04
Vicarious	How often police/military interfere in private			
Experience	lives of residents in neighborhood?	0-3	0.61	0.80
Group Identity	How much pride in country?	0-3	2.44	0.80
1	How close feel to country?	0-3	2.26	0.79
Social Capital	Trust in others	0-1	0.22	0.41
1	Organizational membership	0-1	0.44	0.50
Moral Alignment	Perceived corruption	0-9	6.60	2.50
C	Importance of democracy	0-9	7.37	2.12

Table 4: Individual-level concepts, measures, and descriptive statistics

N = 61,648

National-Level Variables

At the national level, this analysis included measures of the *freedom score* and the *homicide rate* (Table 5). *Freedom score* was based on the 2020 Global Freedom Index published by Freedom House. This index ranks countries on a scale from 0 to 100, with higher scores representing more freedom in terms of political rights and civil liberties. Within this sample of countries, the freedom index ranged from a low of 9 (Tajikistan) to a high of 98 (Australia and New Zealand). The mean freedom score across all countries in this sample was 55.04, with a standard deviation of 24.85 The *homicide rate* was obtained from the UNODC and based on the most recent available data from each country, ranging from 2011-2018. The homicide rate for a country is the annual number of intentional homicides per 100,000 residents. The mean homicide rate in this sample of countries was 5.91 (*SD* = 8.10), ranging from a low of less than .01 (Andorra) to a high of 34.52 (Nigeria).

Country	Sample Size (World Values Survey, 2021)	Homicide Rate (UNODC 2011-2018)	Global Freedom Score (Freedom House, 2019)
Andorra	942	< 0.01	94
Argentina	807	5.10	85
Australia	1 516	0.80	97
Bangladesh	1 038	2 20	39
Bolivia	1,773	6 30	63
Brazil	1 294	30.50	75
Canada	3 997	1.80	98
Chile	741	4 30	90
Colombia	1 498	24 90	66
Cyprus	741	0.60	94
Ecuador	1 104	5.80	65
Ethionia	1 120	8.80	24
Germany	1,120	1.00	94
Greece	1,210	0.70	88
Guatemala	1,001	26.10	52
Hong Kong	1 080	0.70	52
Indonesia	3 059	0.70	61
Iran	1 405	2.50	17
Iraa	1,403	0.00	21
Ianan	808	0.20	96
Japan Jordon	1 073	1.40	27
Vozokhston	1,073	5.00	22
Kazakiistaii	1 040	5.00	23
Lahanan	1,040	4.20	39
Melavsia	1,1/3	2.00	44 50
Manaysia	1,511	2.09	52 62
Muanmar	1,013	24.79	02
N Zaaland	1,198	2.30	50
N. Zealallu	1 166	0.70	21
Nicaragua	1,100	7.40	51
Delrister	1,132	4.30	47
Pakistan	1,041	4.20	38 72
Dhilingings	1,200	7.70	50
Philippines	1,192	8.40 1.50	39 92
Romania	1 205	1.30	83 20
Russia	1,293	9.20	20
Serola	039	1.10	50
Singapore S. Karaa	1,855	0.20	30 82
5. Korea	1,243	0.00	83 02
Taiwan T_{2}	1,184	0.80	93
Tajikistan	1,100	1.00	9
Thailand	1,164	3.20	32
i unisia	1,025	5.00	70
I urkey	2,133	4.30	32 62
	841 2.422	0.20 5.20	02
U.S.A.	2,422	5.30	80
vietnam	1,150	1.50	20
Zimbabwe	1,156	6.70	29
Mean	1,312	5.91	59.27

Table 5: National-level variables

N = 61,648; K = 47

Data Analysis

This analysis combined individual-level data from Wave 7 of the World Values Survey with national-level data obtained from Freedom House and UNODC datasets. Of primary interest was whether predictors of legitimacy varied significantly in their effects across different countries and how much of this variation could be explained by nationallevel differences. Multilevel modeling techniques allowed such country-level variation in legitimacy to be controlled and explained separately from individual-level variation. Mixed models of this nature have become the preferred method for social scientists to parsimoniously account for clustering influences on individual-level variation. Of the benefits inherent to such an approach, O'Loughlin (2004) noted that:

Perhaps the greatest potential of multilevel modeling is to take the interaction of place and individual socio-demographic attributes into account. A respondent may answer quite differently depending on the ideology or government style of the country in which he/she is a citizen. Whether through intimidation, pressure, or conversion, ethnic or class determinants of political attitudes can take on different dimensions in different countries. (p. 5)

Multilevel models were constructed in stages, beginning with unconditional (null) models, expanding to fixed-effects models, testing for random variation in these effects using a series of random-effects models, and finally examining the influence of nationallevel predictors in a series of cross-level interaction models. The following chapter discusses the results of these multilevel analyses in detail.

V. RESULTS

This chapter discusses statistical procedures used in this analysis and summarizes results obtained through these various methods. The focus throughout this study remained extant variation in the sources of legitimacy across different countries. In the first section, a discussion of missing data that began in the methodology section is concluded and implications of potential patterns of missing data are addressed. Data from several countries were omitted from the analysis because of an absence of responses on key variables, and more detailed reasoning behind these omissions is provided below. The implications of listwise deletion and the potential consequences of this practice when data are not missing at random are also addressed in this section. After a brief discussion of centering decisions, descriptive statistics as well as bivariate correlations between variables are presented. The results of an initial ordinary least squares regression (OLS) analysis are then interpreted, including evaluations of multicollinearity based on variance inflation factors derived from the model.

The second section describes each step of the multilevel analysis in detail and summarizes the results of various multilevel models. The suitability of multilevel analysis for the current dataset was first established using an empty "null" model. Subsequent models added explanatory variables as fixed-effects before allowing each effect to vary across countries in a series of random-effects models. Model comparisons using likelihood-ratio tests formed the basis for conclusions regarding which effects varied significantly across countries. Lastly, cross-level interaction effects between explanatory variables and national-level measures of the homicide rate and the freedom score were

estimated and tested for significance in order to explain some of this random variation in effects.

The final section describes supplementary analyses that involved the estimation of two separate binary logistic regression models. These analyses used the two variables comprising the legitimacy index as separate outcomes, with one modeling the legitimacy of police and the other modeling the legitimacy of courts. In contrast to the first set of multilevel models, effects and variances in these models were transformed into log odds and interpreted as odds ratios. These analyses otherwise progressed in similar fashion, first estimating empty models to establish the need for multilevel modeling, then adding fixed effects, and finally testing the significance of random effects and cross-level interactions.

Missing Data

Several important decisions were made when trimming the final dataset for analysis. The latest version of the WVS, released in July 2021, included new data for two additional countries: Canada (n = 4,018) and Singapore (n = 2,012). Making use of this updated dataset added 6,030 individual-level cases nested in these two additional higherlevel groups. A few countries were excluded from the analysis entirely due to missing data on key variables. All 3,036 cases from China were dropped because of missing data on the variable measuring how frequently police and/or military interfere in people's private lives, a crucial question in this analysis notably omitted by local data collectors because it was considered to have "little relevancy" in China (Haerpfer et al., 2020). In Egypt, questions related to confidence in police and courts, fear of war and terror, and vicarious experience with legal authorities were similarly not asked of respondents for reasons related to security and cultural sensitivity (Haerpfer et al., 2020). Because these missing data included not only several key explanatory variables, but also the dependent variable of interest, all 1,200 cases from Egypt were dropped from the analysis.

Although individual-level data for the remaining countries in the WVS were otherwise largely complete, national-level variables were missing for some countries, absences potentially related to disputes over sovereignty and allegiance. Freedom House does not publish freedom scores for Macau (n = 1,023) or Puerto Rico (n = 1,127), making these countries unavailable for analysis using the final model. Dropping these countries from the analysis led to a loss of an additional 2,150 cases. Urban residence was not recorded for WVS data from Singapore and no reason was given for this omission. Instead of dropping all cases from this country, urban residence was assumed for all respondents from Singapore based on supplemental data from the United Nations Population Division (2018) indicating that virtually the entire population of that country resides in an urban area. Based on these supplemental data, all of the 2,012 respondents from Singapore were assumed to reside in an urban area and data were adjusted accordingly.

After trimming the dataset in this manner, the remaining sample consisted of N = 70,511 individuals distributed across K = 47 countries. However, this sample still contained missing data scattered across several variables. Before proceeding with the analysis, these missing data were examined more closely for patterns of randomness, and decisions were made regarding the treatment of missing values in the dataset. This analysis used listwise deletion to remove cases without complete data on all explanatory variables, an approach that was potentially problematic if data were not missing at

random (Grund et al., 2016). Although missing data analyses conducted before listwise deletion did not explicitly indicate the presence of significant patterns of missingness, the possibility remained that the distribution of missing data for some variables was related to other individual-level and national-level factors of interest. Of particular concern was the possibility that missingness was related to the outcome variable itself, in that the legitimacy of legal authorities may in some way be predictive of the likelihood of a respondent choosing not to answer certain questions in the first place. Future study should more carefully account for patterns of missingness in order to control for such potentialities.

Centering

Decisions regarding the centering of variables in the model were made before any further analyses were conducted. These decisions are discussed in the following section. Centering variables is common with continuous variables for which the zero point has no substantive meaning (Paccagnella, 2006). After mean centering, centered variables controlled by the model at zero will instead be controlled at their means. However, in multilevel models a choice must be made between mean centering around the grand mean of all higher-level units, or around the group means of each higher-level unit. The implications of this decision for measurement and interpretation make the centering of variables in multilevel analysis take on far greater complexity than in standard regression models (Luke, 2004; Paccagnella, 2006; Yaremych et al., 2021).

Introducing group-mean centered variables to the model may have allowed for more precise interpretation of country-level intercept values, but the resulting reduction in model parsimony made such an approach prohibitively complex for this study. While

grand-mean centering only affects the intercept value, group-mean centering would have produced entirely different coefficient estimates for all variables in the model and fundamentally altered the interpretation of results. Moreover, mean values derived from these country samples likely did not perfectly reflect actual population values, undermining inferences derived under the assumption that centering represents an adequate control for contextual effects (Longford, 1989; Paccagnella, 2006; Plewis, 1989).

To avoid these complications, none of the variables in the model were groupmean centered prior to analysis. Continuous variables measuring *age*, *perceived corruption*, *importance of democracy*, *homicide rate*, and *freedom score* were grandmean centered to allow for more reasonable zero-point estimates and to ease computation. Instead of being held constant at zero, these variables were held constant at their global means. Holding variables at zero made conceptual sense for the remaining variables in the model, and these values were retained in their raw forms.

Descriptive Statistics

After arriving at a final sample through listwise deletion, distributions were examined using a variety of graphical and numerical methods. This study was primarily focused on the expected multilevel nature of these WVS data, making descriptive statistics of the overall sample imperfect because they account for neither the multilevel structure nor the possibility of correlated error terms. Nevertheless, these explorations provided initial insight into the broad distribution of values contained within this wideranging dataset.

Multilevel modeling partitions variation in the dependent variable into withingroup and between-group types. For the purposes of this analysis, this distinction referred to within-country and between-country variation in legitimacy. Within a particular country, some individuals could be expected to report a legitimacy score above that country's mean, some a score below that country's mean, and some a score equivalent to that country's mean. The mean level of legitimacy associated with any particular country could similarly be expected to vary around the global mean of legitimacy. Individuallevel differences might be attributable to variation between individuals within countries as well as to variation between countries themselves. There were therefore two types of mean value relevant to the current analysis – a global mean across all countries as well as separate means for each country. For this reason, the following descriptive section highlights both the global mean of each variable as well as the range of country means.

The final multilevel sample included N = 61,648 individuals nested in K = 47 countries. The dependent variable was the perceived legitimacy of legal authorities, measured using a continuous index variable obtained by combining ordinal measures of confidence in police and confidence in courts. This variable ranged from 0 to 6, with zero indicating that a respondent reported no confidence in either police or courts, and six indicating that a respondent reported high confidence in both police and courts. For the purposes of brevity and clarity, this variable is referred to as *legitimacy* throughout this analysis.

Figure 4 presents the distribution of these mean values across countries, with the vertical dotted line representing the raw global mean of 3.22 (SD = 1.70). Country means ranged from 1.48 (SD = 1.46) in Peru to 4.88 (SD = 1.40) in Jordan, and country standard

deviations ranged from 1.10 in Vietnam (M = 4.36) to 1.97 in Iraq (M = 3.06). Superficially, these summary statistics indicated the presence of substantial variation in legitimacy both within and between countries. But whether this variation was significant, which variables might explain this variation, and how much of this variation is attributable to individual-level versus country-level factors could not be established from these simple comparisons.



Figure 4: Raw mean legitimacy by country

The mean level of legitimacy appeared to differ greatly between countries, as did the amount of within-country variation around each of these means. Respondents in some countries (e.g., Vietnam) appeared to be more homogenous in their attitudes toward authorities, displaying relatively limited variation around their country mean, while respondents in other countries (e.g., Iraq) appeared to be more heterogeneous, with wider variation around their country means. At the individual level, 19 conceptually relevant predictors of legitimacy (represented by a total of 34 independent variables due to dummy-coding) were included in the analysis (Table 6).

Measures	Min-Max	Mean	SD
Legitimacy (legal authorities)	0-6	3.22	1.70
Legitimacy (police)	0-3	1.63	0.96
Legitimacy (courts)	0-3	1.56	0.96
Age	16-103	42.58	16.13
Female	0-1	0.51	0.50
Education	0-2	1.02	0.80
Married	0-1	0.65	0.48
Unemployed	0-1	0.08	0.27
Urban	0-1	0.67	0.47
Prior victimization (self)	0-1	0.10	0.30
Prior victimization (family)	0-1	0.12	0.33
Fear of crime (home)	0-3	0.58	0.88
Fear of crime (general)	0-3	1.02	0.82
Fear of war	0-3	1.93	1.07
Fear of terrorism	0-3	1.97	1.04
Vicarious experience	0-3	0.61	0.80
National pride	0-3	2.44	0.80
National identity	0-3	2.26	0.79
Trust	0-1	0.22	0.41
Voluntary association	0-1	0.44	0.50
Perceived corruption	0-9	6.60	2.50
Importance of democracy	0-9	7.37	2.12
Homicide rate	0-34.5	5.91	8.10
Freedom score	9-98	59.27	25.99

Table 6: Descriptive statistics	
---------------------------------	--

N = 61,648

Age was a continuous variable that ranged from 16 to 103 and had an overall mean of 42.58 (SD = 16.14). Individual country means varied around this global mean, ranging from 31.72 (SD = 11.40) in Ethiopia to 56.35 (SD = 16.07) in New Zealand. Country-level standard deviations ranged from 11.40 in Ethiopia (M = 31.72) to 17.91 in Germany (M = 52.16). This variable was grand-mean centered to enable more meaningful interpretation of its zero point. Sex was a dummy variable (0 = male; 1 = female) with an overall mean value of .51 (SD = .50), indicating that slightly over half (51.29%) of the overall sample was female. Individual country means varied somewhat around this global mean, with some majority male, such as the United States (M = .46, SD = .50) and others majority female, such as Kyrgyzstan (M = .62, SD = .48). Standard deviations of this variable ranged from .48 in Kyrgyzstan (M = .62) to .50 in Cyprus (M = .50).

Education was a three-category ordinal variable (0 = low; 1 = middle; 2 = high) that was entered into the model as two dummy variables while omitting the lowest category as a reference group. In the overall sample, approximately 31.18% of respondents reported a low level of education (early childhood, primary, lower secondary), 36.14% reported a moderate level of education (upper secondary, post-secondary non-tertiary), and 32.69% reported a high level of education (short-cycle tertiary, bachelor, master, doctoral). The global mean level of education in this sample was 1.02 (SD = .80). While the mean of an ordinal variable is not a reliable foundation for estimating relationships, it can still provide superficial indication of relative levels of education reported by respondents in different countries. Individual country means again showed variation around this overall mean, with average levels of education ranging from

.32 (SD = .64) in Bangladesh to 1.59 (SD = .65) in Ukraine. Standard deviations ranged from .53 in the United States (M = 1.51) to .87 in Malaysia (M = .77).

Marital status was a dummy variable (0 = not married; 1 = married) with a global mean of .65 (SD = .48), indicating that approximately 65% of all respondents reported being married or living together as married. Individual country means varied from .41 (SD = .49) in Guatemala to .86 (SD = .35) in Bangladesh. Standard deviations ranged from .35 in Bangladesh to .50 in Argentina. Unemployment was a dummy variable (0 = employed; 1 = unemployed) with an overall mean of .08 (SD = .27), indicating that approximately 8% of the global sample reported being unemployed. Individual country averages and standard deviations ranged from .00 (SD = .00) in Kyrgyzstan to .37 (SD = .48) in Zimbabwe.

Urban residence was a dummy variable measuring whether the respondent lived in an urban or rural area (0 = rural; 1 = urban). This variable had an overall mean of .67 (SD = .48), indicating that approximately 67% of respondents were reported as residing in urban areas. Country-level means of urban residence displayed variation around this overall mean. The least urban country in this sample was Bangladesh, with a mean of .24 (SD = .43), and the most urban countries were South Korea, Hong Kong, and Singapore, all with means of 1.00 (SD = .00). Standard deviations of this variable ranged from .00 in South Korea, Hong Kong, and Singapore (M = 1.00) to .50 in Nigeria (M = .49).

In addition to these seven demographic control variables, the analysis included 27 individual-level explanatory variables capturing a range of theoretical antecedents of legitimacy, including prior victimization, fear of crime, fear of war and terrorism, vicarious experience, national identity, social capital, and moral alignment. Prior victimization was measured as a dummy variable (0 = no; 1 = yes) and had a global mean of .10 (SD = .30) indicating that around 10% of the overall sample reported personally having been a victim of crime in the year prior to the survey. Individual country means varied around this global mean, from .01 (SD = .08) in Vietnam to .28 (SD = .45) in Mexico. To reiterate, because these are dummy variables, these mean values indicate that compared to around 1% of respondents in Vietnam, approximately 28% of respondents in Mexico reported having been victims of crime within the past year. Standard deviations of this variable ranged from .08 in Vietnam (M = .01) to .45 in Mexico (M = .28).

Prior family victimization, also measured as a dummy variable (0 = no; 1 = yes), had a global mean of .12 (SD = .33) indicating that around 12% of respondents in the overall sample reported a family member having been a victim of crime in the year prior to the survey. Once again, individual country means varied around this overall mean, with Vietnam reporting the lowest level of family victimization at .01 (SD = .08), and Mexico reporting the highest at .37 (SD = .48). In other words, over one-third (37%) of respondents in Mexico reported that a member of their family had been a victim of crime in the past year, compared to around 1% of respondents in Vietnam. Standard deviations ranged from .08 in Vietnam (M = .01) to .48 in Mexico (M = .37).

Fear of crime at home was an ordinal variable capturing how often the respondent had felt unsafe from crime in their home during the prior year (0 = never; 1 = rarely; 2 =sometimes; 3 = often), that was entered as three dummy variables. In the overall sample, 64.32% of respondents reported "never" feeling unsafe from crime in their homes in the past year, 18.29% reported "rarely" feeling unsafe, 12.58% reported "sometimes" feeling unsafe, and 4.80% reported "often" feeling unsafe. This variable had a mean of .58 (*SD* = .88). While the ordinal nature of this variable again precluded the use of mean values for statistical inferences, some rough inferences from mean comparisons across countries could still be made. Because this variable could range from zero to three, with three indicating the most unsafe, this statistic suggested that in the overall sample, respondents on average "rarely" felt unsafe from crime in their homes. However, this mean value varied a great deal between countries, from .07 in South Korea (SD = .37) to 1.56 in Peru (SD = .98). Standard deviations ranged from .37 in South Korea (M = .07) to 1.17 in Mexico (M = 1.50).

Fear of crime in general was also an ordinal variable capturing how safe the respondent felt from crime in their neighborhood (0 = very; 1 = quite; 2 = not very; 3 = not at all) that was entered as three dummy variables. This variable was reversed from its original coding so that higher values represented more fear of crime. In the overall sample, 28.09% of respondents reported feeling "very" safe in their neighborhoods, 46.23% reported feeling "quite" safe, 21.00% reported feeling "not very" safe, and 4.69% reported feeling "not at all" safe. This variable had a global mean of 1.02 (SD = .82), indicating that in the overall sample, respondents on average felt quite secure from crime in their neighborhoods. Country means once again varied greatly around this global mean, ranging from .26 (SD = .48) in Tajikistan to 1.88 (SD = .78) in Peru. Standard deviations ranged from .48 in Tajikistan (M = .26) to .97 in Colombia (M = 1.10).

Fear of war was an ordinal variable (0 = not at all; 1 = not much; 2 = a great deal; 3 = very much) that was entered as three dummy variables while omitting the lowest category as a reference group. In the overall sample, 13.53% of respondents reported no fear of war, 20.78% reported "not much," 24.68% reported "a great deal," and 41.02% reported "very much." The global mean of this variable was 1.93 (SD = 1.07), indicating a great deal of fear on average in the overall sample. Country means varied substantially around this mean, from .78 (SD = .90) in New Zealand to 2.75 (SD = .63) in Myanmar. Standard deviations ranged from .63 in Myanmar (M = 2.75) to 1.34 in Tajikistan (M =1.49).

Similarly, fear of terror was an ordinal variable (0 = not at all; 1 = not much; 2 = a great deal; 3 = very much) entered as three dummy variables while omitting the lowest category as a reference group. In the overall sample, 11.45% of respondents reported no fear of terrorism, 21.65% reported "not much," 25.42% reported "a great deal," and 41.47% reported "very much." This variable had a global mean of 1.97 (SD = 1.04), indicating a great deal of fear of terrorism on average in the overall sample. Individual country means showed substantial variation around this global mean, ranging from 1.11 (SD = .84) in Canada to 2.87 (SD = .43) in Myanmar. Standard deviations ranged from .43 in Myanmar (M = 2.87) to 1.29 in Tajikistan (M = 1.57).

Vicarious experience was captured using an ordinal variable that measured the frequency with which police and/or military were perceived to interfere in people's private lives in the respondent's neighborhood (0 = not at all frequently; 1 = not frequently; 2 = quite frequently; 3 = very frequently). This variable was again entered as three dummy variables while omitting the lowest category as a reference group. In the overall sample, 55.46% of respondents reported that police/military interfere "not at all frequently," 31.91% reported this occurring "not frequently," 8.96% reported this occurring "quite frequently," and 3.67% reported interference occurring "very frequently." The global average of this variable was .61 (*SD* = .80), indicating that

respondents on average perceived legal authorities to be infrequently interfering in people private lives. Individual country means varied around this overall mean, from .16 (SD = .41) in Taiwan to 1.26 (SD = 1.05) in Zimbabwe. Standard deviations ranged from .41 in Taiwan (M = .16) to 1.05 in Zimbabwe (M = 1.26).

National pride was an ordinal variable (0 = not at all proud or not nationality; 1 = not very proud; 2 = quite proud; 3 = very proud) that was entered as three dummy variables while omitting the lowest category as a reference group. In the overall sample, 3.85% of respondents reported being "not at all proud" of their nation, 8.06% reported being "not very proud," 28.09% reported being "quite proud," and 60.00% reported being "very proud." This variable had a global mean of 2.44 (SD = .80), indicating a relatively high level of national pride on average across the total sample. Country means varied around this grand mean, ranging from 1.19 (SD = 1.31) in Andorra to 2.89 (SD = .42) in Jordan. Standard deviations ranged from .41 in the Philippines (M = 2.87) to 1.31 in Andorra (M = 1.19).

National identity was also an ordinal variable (0 = not at all close; 1 = not very close; 2 = close; 3 = very close) entered as three dummy variables while omitting the lowest category as a reference group. In the overall sample, 2.96% of respondents reported feeling "not at all close" to their nation, 12.84% reported feeling "not very close," 38.91% reported feeling "close," and 45.28% reported feeling "very close." This variable had an overall average of 2.26 (SD = .79), indicating high levels of identification with one's nation on average across the global sample. Individual country means varied around this group mean, ranging from 1.55 (SD = .95) in Thailand to 2.94 (SD = .31) in

Jordan. Standard deviations ranged from .31 in Jordan (M = 2.94) to .95 in Thailand, (M = 1.55).

Social capital was measured using two dummy variables – trust in others and organizational membership. The overall mean of trust in the sample was .22 (SD = .41), meaning that approximately 22% of respondents in the overall sample reported a belief that most people can be trusted. Country means varied around this global mean, from .02 (SD = .14) in Zimbabwe to .65 (SD = .48) in New Zealand. Standard deviations ranged from .14 in Zimbabwe (M = .02) to .50 in Canada (M = .50). The global mean level of organizational membership was .44 (SD = .50), indicating that approximately 44% of the total sample reported active membership in at least one type of voluntary association. This average level of membership varied among countries, ranging from .09 (SD = .29) in Turkey to 1.00 (SD = .06) in Jordan. Standard deviations ranged from .06 in Jordan (M = .100) to .50 in Tajikistan (M = .59).

Lastly, moral alignment was measured using two continuous variables – perceived corruption and importance of democracy. In their raw forms, each of these variables could range from 0 to 9. The average level of perceived corruption in the overall sample was 6.60 (SD = 2.50), while country means ranged from 2.51 (SD = 1.99) in Singapore to 8.55 (SD = 1.41) in Brazil. Standard deviations of these mean values ranged from 1.17 in Peru (M = 8.52) to 3.13 in Iran (M = 5.78). The average level of importance placed on democracy in the overall sample was 7.37 (SD = 2.12), with individual country means ranging from 5.93 (SD = 2.82) in Lebanon to 8.53 (SD = 1.46) in Ethiopia. Standard deviations ranged from 1.02 in Greece (M = 8.41) to 2.82 in Lebanon (M = 5.93). Both of these variables were grand mean centered prior to analysis. At the country level, models included measures of the homicide rate and the freedom score. The average homicide rate for the overall sample was 5.9 (SD = 8.1) with individual country rates varying from a low of less than 1 per 100,000 in Andorra to a high of 34.5 in Nigeria. The average freedom score in the overall sample was 59 (SD = 26), with individual freedom scores varying around this mean from a low of 9 in Tajikistan to a high of 98 in Canada. Both of these variables were grand mean centered to enable more meaningful interpretation of their zero points. The final model, comprising demographic, individual-level, and national-level predictors, contained a total of 36 explanatory variables, including dummy variables representing different categories of the same ordinal measure.

Bivariate Correlations

The next step in the exploratory stage of this analysis was the examination of pairwise relationships between covariates and outcomes in the model. While some variables might have shown moderate to large correlations, there were often theoretical reasons for keeping many of these measures separate. In such cases, variables measuring similar concepts were generally not combined so long as tolerance and variance inflation statistics did not indicate problematically high levels of multicollinearity. Bivariate correlations are presented in Table 7 below.

Table 7: Bivariate correlations

	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11	12	13	14	15	16	17	18	19	20	21
1. Legit	1.00																				
2. Age	.08*	1.00																			
3. Sex	.01	03*	1.00																		
4. Edu	02*	11*	03*	1.00																	
5. Marriage	.06*	.21*	02*	09*	1.00																
6. Unemp	02*	08*	04*	06*	10*	1.00															
7. Urban	06*	.07*	001	.24*	09*	04*	1.00														
8. Svictim	12*	05*	03*	.003	03*	.02*	.05*	1.00													
9. Fvictim	14*	06*	.002	.02*	03*	.02*	.06*	.44*	1.00												
10. Hcrime	14*	02*	.007	08*	01	.05*	.03*	.23*	.24*	1.00											
11. Gcrime	25*	002	.05*	.02*	05*	.02*	.11*	.16*	.19*	.29*	1.00										
12. Fwar	06*	10*	.06*	15*	.03*	.01*	16*	.05*	.04*	.12*	.06*	1.00									
13. Fterror	02*	07*	.05*	13*	.04*	.01	14*	.03*	.03*	.10*	.05*	.77*	1.00								
14. Vicar	14*	11*	03*	05*	05*	.06*	.04*	.15*	.14*	.22*	.21*	.08*	.06*	1.00							
15. Npride	.10*	.02*	005	13*	.06*	.01	16*	04*	02*	02*	13*	.13*	.15*	07*	1.00						
16. Nident	.10*	.08*	03*	.01	.04*	01	.02*	02*	01*	01	10*	.04*	.06*	05*	.32*	1.00					
17. Trust	.15*	.09*	02*	.16*	.02*	05*	.08*	02*	03*	08*	11*	18*	18*	04*	06*	.02*	1.00				
18. Assoc	.06*	03*	04*	.03*	.002	01	05*	.07*	.07*	.05*	04*	.003	.007	.05*	.07*	.01	.06*	1.00			
19. Democ	.06*	.08*	02*	.07*	.03*	02*	01	02*	002	05*	03*	.003	.02*	10*	.09*	.08*	.04*	.05*	1.00		
20. Corrupt	30*	09*	005	08*	02*	.03*	08*	.08*	.10*	.14*	.17*	.21*	.18*	.10*	.05*	02*	20*	.02*	.08*	1.00	
21. Homic	27*	13*	01	09*	07*	.08*	002	.14*	.17*	.20*	.17*	.14*	.09*	.19*	.04*	04*	14*	.10*	06*	.27*	1
22. Free	05*	.20*	000	.20*	04*	08*	.26*	.05*	.06*	.03*	.09*	21*	20*	08*	20*	03*	.17*	.05*	.09*	02*	10*

N = 61,648; *p < .001

Bivariate correlations displayed in Table 7 indicated that the dependent variable exhibited some degree of significant correlation with nearly all of the included explanatory variables. Legitimacy was moderately negatively correlated with perceived corruption (r = -.30), homicide rate (r = -.27), and fear of crime in general (r = -.25), weakly negatively correlated with family victimization (r = -.14), fear of crime at home (r = -.14), vicarious experience (r = -.14), and prior victimization (r = -.12), and weakly positively correlated with trust (r = .15), national pride (r = .10), and national identity (r = .10). Only the variable measuring sex did not display a significant correlation with legitimacy.

Other moderately sized correlations among demographic variables were found between age and marriage (r = .21), and between education and urban residence (r = .24). Prior victimization displayed moderate correlation with family victimization (r = .44) and fear of crime at home (r = .23), as did family victimization and fear of crime at home (r = .24). Fear of crime at home was moderately positively correlated with fear of crime in general (r = .29) and vicarious experience (r = .22). Fear of crime in general was also moderately positively correlated with vicarious experience (r = .21). Fear of war showed a very strong positive correlation with fear of terrorism (r = .77), and a moderate positively correlated with national identity (r = .32), while trust was moderately and negatively correlated with perceived corruption (r = .20).

National-level variables also displayed significant correlation with other variables in the model. In addition to the previously noted moderate negative correlation with the dependent variable, the homicide rate was also moderately positively correlated with fear of crime at home (r = .20), and perceived corruption (r = .27). Freedom score was moderately positively correlated with age (r = .20), education (r = .20), and urban residence (r = .26), while showing moderate negative correlation with fear of war (r = .21), fear of terrorism (r = -.20), and national pride (r = -.20). All other bivariate correlations among independent variables were relatively weak (r < .20) and/or nonsignificant.

Based solely on these correlations, it appeared that fear of crime, perceived corruption, and the homicide rate displayed the strongest associations with legitimacy in this sample. However, these simple correlations did not control for any of the other variables in the model, nor did they account for the likely presence of correlated error terms within countries. They provided no insight into the amount of variation that may exist across different countries and whether these same relationships were equally important in all contexts. While the need for a multilevel approach seemed clear based on national-level variation apparent in descriptive analyses, an ordinary least squares (OLS) regression was attempted before proceeding with the multilevel model, both to test for multicollinearity among the variables and to further establish the benefits of an approach that accounted for country-level variation.

Ordinary Least Squares Models

This analysis began with a series of initial OLS regression models using the total sample, first without controlling for country, and then including a set of dummy variables to control for country-level variation. The results of these OLS regression analyses are presented in Tables 8 and 9 below.

	Model A: OLS without country controls (no homicide & freedom)	Model B: OLS without country controls (with homicide & freedom)
Variable	b (SE)	b (SE)
Age	.002*** (.0004)	.002*** (.0004)
Sex	.07*** (.01)	.07*** (.01)
Education (1)	16*** (.02)	14*** (.02)
Education (2)	19*** (.02)	20*** (.02)
Married	.07*** (.01)	.04** (.01)
Unemployed	.001 (.02)	.03 (.02)
Urban	13*** (.01)	08*** (.01)
Victim (self)	18*** (.02)	14*** (.02)
Victim (family)	27*** (.02)	20*** (.02)
Fear crime at home (1)	.02 (.02)	.04* (.02)
Fear crime at home (2)	05* (.02)	.01 (.02)
Fear crime at home (3)	16*** (.03)	07* (.03)
Fear crime in general (1)	18*** (.02)	18*** (.02)
Fear crime in general (2)	65*** (.02)	59*** (.02)
Fear crime in general (3)	88*** (.03)	77*** (.03)
Fear war (1)	06* (.02)	04 (.02)
Fear war (2)	10*** (.03)	07** (.03)
Fear war (3)	19*** (.03)	14*** (.03)
Fear terrorism (1)	.10*** (.03)	.07** (.03)
Fear terrorism (2)	.31*** (.03)	.24*** (.03)
Fear terrorism (3)	.32*** (.03)	.26*** (.03)
Vicarious (1)	14*** (.01)	10*** (.01)
Vicarious (2)	17*** (.02)	14*** (.02)
Vicarious (3)	38*** (.03)	29*** (.03)
National pride (1)	.07 (.04)	.08* (.04)
National pride (2)	.24*** (.03)	.23*** (.03)
National pride (3)	.32*** (.03)	.32*** (.03)
National identity (1)	.12** (.04)	.11** (.04)
National identity (2)	.26*** (.04)	.24*** (.04)
National identity (3)	.36*** (.04)	.34*** (.04)
Trust	.35*** (.02)	.33*** (.02)
Association	.20*** (.01)	.25*** (.01)
Corruption	17*** (.003)	15*** (.003)
Democracy	.04*** (.003)	.04*** (.003)
Homicide		035*** (.001)
Freedom		003*** (.0003)
Constant	3.73*** (.06)	3.74*** (.06)

T 11 0 0	1 1	•	• .1		. 1
Toble V ()	rdinory loost a	allorog rogroggion	without	0011mtry	aontrola
TADIE 0. U	ונוווומו ע ובמאו א		WILLIGHT	COLLET	CONTROLS
10010 01 0.					•••••••

Model A: N = 61,648; R² = .1783; Adj R² = .1778; Root MSE = 1.5415 | Model B: N = 61,648; R² = .2022; Adj R² = .2017; Root MSE = <math>1.5189

Variable Age Sex Education (1) Education (2) Married Jnemployed Jrban Victim (self) Victim (family) Fear crime at home (1) Fear crime at home (2) Fear crime at home (2) Fear crime in general (1) Fear crime in general (2) Fear crime in general (2) Fear crime in general (3) Fear war (1) Fear war (2) Fear war (2) Fear war (3) Fear terrorism (1) Fear terrorism (2) Fear terrorism (2) Fear terrorism (3) Vicarious (1) Vicarious (2) Vicarious (3) National pride (1) National pride (3) National pride (3) National identity (1) National identity (3) Frust Association Corruption Democracy Homicide	Model C: OLS with country controls (no homicide & freedom)	Model D: OLS with country controls (with homicide & freedom)
Variable	b (SE)	b (SE)
Age	0006 (.0004)	0006 (.0004)
Sex	.06*** (.01)	.06*** (.01)
Education (1)	15*** (.02)	15*** (.02)
Education (2)	17*** (.02)	17*** (.02)
Married	.03* (.01)	.03* (.01)
Unemployed	05* (.02)	05* (.02)
Urban	14*** (.01)	14*** (.01)
Victim (self)	09*** (.02)	09*** (.02)
Victim (family)	08*** (.02)	08*** (.02)
Fear crime at home (1)	.02 (.02)	.02 (.02)
Fear crime at home (2)	.08*** (.02)	.08*** (.02)
Fear crime at home (3)	.08** (.03)	.08** (.03)
Fear crime in general (1)	24*** (.01)	24*** (.01)
Fear crime in general (2)	52*** (.02)	52*** (.02)
Fear crime in general (3)	87*** (.03)	87*** (.03)
Fear war (1)	03 (.02)	03 (.02)
Fear war (2)	06* (.02)	06* (.02)
Fear war (3)	02 (.03)	02 (.03)
Fear terrorism (1)	.05* (.02)	.05* (.02)
Fear terrorism (2)	.15*** (.03)	.15*** (.03)
Fear terrorism (3)	.22*** (.03)	.22*** (.03)
Vicarious (1)	08*** (.01)	08*** (.01)
Vicarious (2)	12*** (.02)	12*** (.02)
Vicarious (3)	25*** (.03)	25*** (.03)
National pride (1)	.06 (.04)	.06* (.04)
National pride (2)	.30*** (.03)	.30*** (.03)
National pride (3)	.48*** (.03)	.48*** (.03)
National identity (1)	.17** (.04)	.17** (.04)
National identity (2)	.28*** (.04)	.28*** (.04)
National identity (3)	.41*** (.04)	.41*** (.04)
Trust	.27*** (.02)	.27*** (.02)
Association	.16*** (.01)	.16*** (.01)
Corruption	11*** (.003)	11*** (.003)
Democracy	.03*** (.003)	.03*** (.003)
Homicide		.09** (.03)
Freedom		01*** (.001)
Constant	3.34*** (.07)	3.65*** (.06)

Table ()· Or	dinary	least sc	mares	regression	with	country	control	c
Table .	7. On	umai y	icasi se	Juarts	regression	vv I tII	country	control	3

Model C: N = 61,648; R^2 = .3091; Adj R^2 = .3082; Root MSE = 1.414 | Model D: N = 61,648; R^2 = .3091; Adj R^2 = .3082; Root MSE = 1.414

In models that included dummy variables as country controls, Andorra was omitted as the reference group solely because it was first in the alphabetical list of countries. Compared to other countries in the analysis, Andorra displayed a relatively low homicide rate (< .01) and a relatively high freedom score (94). Variables measuring age, perceived corruption, importance of democracy, homicide rate, and freedom score were mean centered, allowing zero to represent mean values for these variables. These four regression models were mostly identical, except for differences in national-level variables and country controls. Model A was estimated without country controls and without national-level measures of the homicide rate and the freedom score. Model B also omitted country controls but added homicide rate and freedom score measures. Model C added dummy-coded variables as country controls but did not include the homicide rate or the freedom score. Model D included country controls as well as the homicide rate and the freedom score. Relevant distinctions between these models are discussed in detail below.

Compared to Model A, estimated effects showed notable differences when national-level predictors were included in Model B. While many effects varied only slightly or not at all between these models, coefficients for variables such as fear of crime at home and fear of war displayed a greater sensitivity to the inclusion of these additional measures. This indicated that some of the variation in legitimacy attributable to the individual-level effects, especially those related to crime and safety, was attenuated when national-level measures of the homicide rate and the freedom score were included in the model.

Model C, which added 46 dummy predictors to represent each country sans the reference group, also showed sizeable differences from effects estimated in Model A. The largest differences were apparent in the effects of age, marriage, unemployment, prior and family victimization, fear of crime at home and in general, fear of war and terrorism, and national pride. This appeared to indicate that the individual-level effects of many variables were affected by the inclusion of country controls, or at least by the respecification of Andorra as the reference group upon which all coefficient estimates were based. Notable differences between Model B (with national-level predictors) and Model C (with country controls) were present in the effects of age, urban residence, prior and family victimization, fear of war, national pride, national identity, trust, and voluntary association, among others. Again, these differences are likely primarily related to differences in reference group when all predictor variables are held at zero.

In Model B, coefficients are estimated holding all other variables in the model at zero, which for the homicide rate and the freedom score equal the mean due to centering. Therefore, coefficients in Model B represented the estimated effect of explanatory variables in a country with an average homicide rate and average freedom score, while coefficients in Model C represented the estimated effect of explanatory variables in the reference group. In this case, the reference group was Andorra, a country with an extremely low homicide rate (< .01) and a relatively high freedom score (94). Model D included both country controls and measures of homicide and freedom score but omitted data from Singapore and Canada due to multicollinearity. Coefficient estimates produced by this model were almost identical to those of model C, with the notable difference of a

higher constant (3.65). The results of Model D, including national-level variables and country controls, are interpreted in full below.

Age was not significantly associated with legitimacy once country controls were added to the model. However, as will be shown in the following sections, this nonsignificant result means little when considering the variation in effect that may exist in this effect across countries. A non-significant or negligible global effect in no way precludes the possibility that a variable may display strong and significant relationships with legitimacy in some countries. Being female corresponded to a significant .06 increase in legitimacy on average. Compared to the lowest level of education (early childhood, primary, lower secondary), a moderate level of education (upper secondary, post-secondary non-tertiary) was associated with a .15 decrease in legitimacy, while a high level of education (short-cycle tertiary, bachelor, master, doctoral) was associated with a .17 decrease in legitimacy. Being married was associated with a .03 increase in legitimacy, but this relationship was only significant at the .05 level. Unemployment was associated with a .05 decrease in legitimacy, but this relationship was also only significant at the .05 level. Living in an urban area was associated with a significant .14 decrease in legitimacy on average.

Prior victimization and family victimization were associated with significant .09 and .08 decreases in legitimacy, respectively. Fear of crime at home displayed a somewhat complicated relationship with legitimacy, as feeling "rarely unsafe" compared to "never unsafe" was not significantly associated with legitimacy, while feeling "sometimes unsafe" or "often unsafe" were both associated with significant .08 increases in legitimacy. Fear of crime in general exhibited a much stronger relationship with
legitimacy than fear of crime at home, with feeling "quite" safe associated with a significant .24 decrease in legitimacy, "not very" safe with a significant .52 decrease in legitimacy, and "not at all" safe with a significant .87 decrease in legitimacy on average.

Fear of war displayed a weak negative correlation with legitimacy, with only the middle level, representing "a great deal" of fear, corresponding to a significant .06 decrease in the outcome variable. Fear of terrorism displayed stronger, more significant, and notably positive correlations with legitimacy compared to fear of war. Having "not much" fear compared to "none" was associated with a significant .05 increase in legitimacy, "a great deal" with a significant .15 increase, and "very much" with a significant .22 increase.

Negative vicarious experience was significantly and negatively associated with legitimacy. Perceiving authorities as interfering "not frequently" compared to "never" was associated with a significant .08 decrease in legitimacy, perceiving authorities as interfering "quite frequently" with a significant .12 decrease, and perceiving authorities as interfering "very frequently" with a significant .25 decrease.

National pride and national identity displayed positive relationships with legitimacy overall. While feeling "not very proud" of one's nation compared to "not at all proud" was not significantly associated with legitimacy, feeling "quite proud" was associated with a significant .30 increase, and feeling "very proud" was associated with a significant .48 increase. Feeling "not very close" to one's nation compared to "not close at all" was associated with a significant .17 increase in legitimacy, feeling "close" with a significant .28 increase, and feeling "very close" with a significant .41 increase.

Trust in others was associated with a significant .27 increase in legitimacy, while voluntary association was associated with a significant .16 increase. Perceived corruption was significantly and negatively associated with legitimacy, with a one-unit increase in perceived corruption corresponding to a .11 decrease in legitimacy on average. Importance of democracy was significantly and positively associated with legitimacy, with a one-unit increase in legitimacy, with a one-unit increase in importance of democracy was significantly and positively associated with legitimacy, with a legitimacy on average in legitimacy on average.

The national-level homicide rate displayed a positive association with legitimacy at the individual level, with a one-unit increase in the homicide rate corresponding to a significant .09 increase in legitimacy on average. The national-level freedom score was negatively associated with legitimacy at the individual-level, with a one-unit increase in freedom score corresponding to a significant .01 decrease in legitimacy on average.

Variance inflation factors (VIFs) estimated from these OLS models provided tests for problematic levels of multicollinearity among the variables. One slight alteration to the model was made before this postestimation could produce accurate results. Estimation of a regression model using dummy variables to represent ordinal predictors produced inflated VIF scores because variables representing categories of the same measure were highly correlated. When the regression was estimated with ordinal variables treated not as separate dummies but as continuous predictors, none of the VIF or tolerance scores appeared problematically large (Luke, 2004; Mansfield & Helms, 1982; Midi et al., 2013). The highest VIFs were for fear of war (2.58) and fear of terrorism (2.52), while the rest were all well below 2.00, indicating acceptable levels of multicollinearity among variables.

Although bivariate correlations indicated that related variables such as fear of war/fear of terrorism, prior victimization/family victimization, safe at home/safe in general, and national pride/national identity were significantly correlated, the VIFs produced by these regression models did not indicate problematic levels of collinearity among these predictors. Moreover, theoretical distinctions between these concepts and the goal of investigating differences in effect between these predictors made their combination into index variables undesirable for the current analysis.

Taken at face value and ignoring probable violations of heteroskedasticity and uncorrelated error assumptions, these linear regression analyses provided preliminary evidence of significant relationships between legitimacy and many, but not all, explanatory variables in the model. In addition, comparison of the relative significance and strength of these associations with and without controlling for country suggested the importance of country-level differences on individual-level relationships. However, the likely existence of clustering effects within countries meant that these estimates were prone to inaccuracy as they did not properly account for correlated error at the country level (Aitkin & Longford, 1986; Albright & Marinova, 2015; Bell et al., 2019; Gelman et al., 2009; Snijders & Bosker, 2012).

More broadly, these results precluded a nuanced understanding of the specific differences in these relationships that exist across countries. OLS coefficients only indicate estimated *global* mean effects on legitimacy, while the strength, significance, and direction of these relationships might vary widely between different countries. Most, if not all, of the variables included in this study were theorized to exhibit somewhat different relationships with legitimacy in different countries. For example, the effect of

age might vary due to differences in historical contexts between nations, while the effect of sex might depend on differences in gender roles and laws related to sex, gender, sexuality, and reproduction. The relationship between education and legitimacy could vary because of differences in curriculum and academic freedom, while the effect of marriage may vary due to differences in government incentives and the social importance of traditional family structures. The effect of unemployment might vary due to differences in government assistance or vagrancy laws, and the effect of urban residence may vary due to cultural and historical differences, national proportions of rural and urban populations, or different rates of crime.

Beyond these demographic variables, the primary conceptual measures included in the analysis were also theorized to display cross-national variation in their relationships with legitimacy. The effects of prior victimization and fear of crime may vary depending on crime rates, police response, perceived police effectiveness, or selfdefense and firearms laws (Alda et al., 2017; Boateng, 2017; Chamlin & Cochran, 2006; Dawson, 2017; Jang et al., 2010; Kääriäinen, 2007; Koenig, 1980; Mazrolle et al., 2013; Nalla & Gurinskaya, 2020; Nivette, 2016; Singer et al., 2019; Tankebe, 2009; Thomassen, 2013; Van Dijk, 2015; Zahnow et al., 2019). The effects of fear of war and terrorism may vary depending on the actual or perceived likelihood of these events, which itself could depend on variation in geopolitical events or media exposure in different nations (Banjak-Corle and Wallace, 2020; Brown & Benedict, 2002; Jonathan, 2010; Jonathan-Zamir & Weisburd, 2013; Madon et al., 2017; Sunshine and Tyler, 2003). The effect of vicarious experience, measured here as the frequency with which legal authorities were perceived to be "interfering" with people's private lives, could vary depending on crime rates, expectations of police, or the normalization and codification of individual rights and civil liberties (Brandl et al., 1994; Hawdon, 2008; Hinds, 2007; MacCoun, 2005; Mazerolle et al., 2013; Mehozay & Factor, 2017; Murphy, 2017; Nivette et al., 2020; Orr & West, 2007; Roche et al., 2015; Rosenbaum et al., 2005; Smith, 2007; Terpstra & Van Wijck, 2021).

The effects of national identity and national pride may vary depending on the political party currently in power, the degree of factionalism and polarization in a country, or the extent to which legal authorities are entwined with patriotic symbolism (Beetham, 1991; Bradford, 2016; Cherney & Murphy, 2013; Machura et al., 2019; Sargeant et al., 2015; Stack & Cao, 1998; Swain, 2018). The effect of social capital, especially in terms of voluntary association, can vary depending on the role of voluntary organizations in society and the importance of civil service and public participation (Boateng, 2018; De Zuniga et al., 2019; Hu et al., 2019; Kääriäinen, 2007; O'Loughlin, 2004; Tausch, 2016; Tsushima & Hamai, 2015). The effect of moral alignment measured as corruption might depend on the expectations for legal authorities and perceptions of their effectiveness, while the effect of moral alignment measured as importance of democracy might depend on type of government or value system (Beetham, 1991; Coicaud, 2002; Gilley, 2009; Tost, 2011).

Because of this great potential for variation in the effects of explanatory variables across countries, this study employed multilevel modeling to analyze the influence of antecedents of legitimacy at the individual level while accounting for variation at the country level. Multilevel modeling allowed variation to be partitioned into separate components that could be estimated individually. This discussion now turns to the

multilevel portion of the analysis, beginning with a brief summary of the statistical methodology underlying this approach.

Maximum Likelihood Estimation

In a multilevel data structure such as the WVS, residual effects associated with individuals within the same country are likely to be correlated. Correlated residuals violate the independence assumptions of OLS and can lead to erroneous conclusions regarding the relationships between variables (Aitkin & Longford, 1986; Albright & Marinova, 2015; Goldstein, 2011; Leyland & Groenewegen, 2020; Longford, 1993; Luke, 2004; Maas & Hox, 2004a; Raudenbush & Bryk, 2002; Snijders & Bosker, 2012). The non-independence of these residual effects must be accounted for to increase the validity of model estimates. Moreover, a regression analysis of the overall sample precludes close examination of variation in the effects of explanatory variables across different countries.

In contrast to the OLS estimation approach of minimizing the average squared differences between observed data and model-predicted values, multilevel modeling employs maximum likelihood (ML) estimation to arrive at a set of values with the highest likelihood given the specified model parameters. ML estimation calculates the natural log of the likelihood, as likelihoods can be exceedingly small and inscrutable numbers, while analysis of their natural logarithms tends to result in easier optimization and interpretation (Eliason, 1993; Roback & Legler, 2021; Snijders & Bosker, 2012). ML estimation employs an iterative process to arrive at optimal sample estimates for the set of parameters in the model. When the selected fit criterion has been converged upon, the software generates final model estimates. Convergence may be difficult to achieve in

more complex models with a greater number of random slopes, potentially requiring an increase in maximum iterations or respecification of model parameters. ML estimation has been found to produce consistent, efficient, and robust estimates, even when applied to unbalanced datasets with differing group sample sizes (Albright & Marinova, 2010, Snijders & Bosker, 2012).

However, because of the relatively small number of countries included in this analysis, inferences based on ML may inflate Type I error rates due to downward bias in the standard error estimates for fixed and random effects (McNeish, 2017). To correct for this issue, models employed restricted maximum likelihood (REML) estimation whenever possible. Instead of compounding error by deriving random effects from potentially flawed fixed coefficients, as in ML estimation, REML estimates these effects separately, first iteratively establishing random effects and then calculating the coefficients of fixed effects using generalized least squares (GLS). REML thus tends to provide more accurate estimates of variance components when compared to standard ML estimates (Longford, 1993; Maas & Hox, 2004; McNeish, 2017). REML suited the purposes of the current analysis due to the relatively small level-two sample size and large number of parameters being estimated in the final model. However, for model comparisons involving differences in fixed effects, such as between the null model and models containing various sets of predictors, standard ML estimation needed to be used for likelihood-ratio tests to be feasible (McNeish, 2017; Snijders & Bosker, 2012).

Null Models

Instead of directly estimating a separate mean for each country, multilevel modeling summarizes the distribution of higher-level units using a *global mean* of all countries and a *variance* around this mean. The reduced number of parameter estimates using this method compared to the dummy variable method in OLS makes multilevel modeling more parsimonious and efficient for nested data (Luke, 2004; Raudenbush & Bryk, 2002; Snijders & Bosker, 2012). The constant or fixed intercept in this model was the predicted global mean of legitimacy controlling for explanatory variables and accounting for clustering at the country level. Around this predicted mean, the multilevel model partitioned residual effects between different levels of the model, in this case between level one and level two residuals.

The first step in the multilevel analysis was the construction of a baseline model consisting only of the dependent variable and a random intercept term accounting for higher-level variation. This model, hereafter referred to as the "null" model, included only the individual-level dependent variable *legitimacy* and the higher-level grouping variable *country*. The null model was estimated using both ML and REML and results of both procedures are presented in Table 10 below. Both models provided an estimated mean legitimacy score across all individuals and countries of 3.16 and an estimated between-country variance of 2.22. The only notable difference between these two null models was found in the within-country variance estimate, which was .69 in the ML model and .71 in the REML model. Both models included 47 separate random intercepts, one for each country in the sample. Likelihood-ratio tests reported in the output

confirmed that this random intercept model offered significant improvement over a linear regression model.

Significant clustering within higher-level groups in the null model was detected using a measure known as the intraclass correlation coefficient (ICC), which is the proportion of the overall variance in the dependent variable that can be attributed to higher-level units in the model (Goldstein, 2011; Leyland & Groenewegen, 2020; Luke, 2004; Snijders & Bosker, 2012). The ICC was .2377 for the ML null model and .2416 for the REML null model, with both indicating that approximately 24% of the variation in legitimacy could be explained at the national level rather than at the individual level (Goldstein, 2011). Based on standard errors and confidence intervals, both ICCs were significant at the .05 level, indicating the suitability of multilevel modeling for analysis of these data. As with all subsequent multilevel models in this study, statistics related to goodness-of-fit and effect size, including deviance (-2 log-likelihood), Bayesian Information Criterion (BIC), and Akaike Information Criterion (AIC), were estimated and saved for use in model comparisons (Lewis et al., 2011; Luke, 2004).

	Null Model (ML)	Null Model (REML)
	b (SE)	b (SE)
Constant	3.16*** (.12)	3.16*** (.12)
Variance (constant)	.69 (.14)	.71 (.15)
Variance (residual)	2.22 (.01)	2.22 (.01)
ICC	.2377** (.04)	.2416** (.04)
LL (restricted)	-112180.5	-112181.7
AIC	224367.0	224369.4
BIC	224394.1	224396.4

Table	10:	Null	mod	lels
-------	-----	------	-----	------

N = 61,648; K = 47

Before expanding the null model to include explanatory variables, baseline values of the individual country intercepts were predicted. Each country was associated with an estimated random intercept value that, when added to or subtracted from the constant, approximated that country's estimated mean legitimacy value. Consistent with earlier examination of country means and standard deviations, these country-level residual effects were positive for some countries and negative for others, shifting the mean level of legitimacy in each country up or down (Figure 5). Importantly, these mean levels did not yet account for the influence of explanatory variables on legitimacy. Predicted random intercepts based on subsequent models including explanatory variables were later estimated for comparison with these initial values.



Figure 5: Mean residual variation in legitimacy by country

Figure 5 shows the distribution of residual variation around the global mean of legitimacy estimated by the null model, with some countries appearing close to the mean, some above, and some below. Adding any of these residuals to the estimated constant produces the expected mean level of legitimacy in that country without any explanatory variables included in the model. For example, adding the predicted residual effect for Peru (-1.68) to the constant (3.16) results in an intercept value of 1.48, which approximates the mean legitimacy value listed for Peru in the descriptive statistics section. Adding the predicted residual for Jordan (1.71) to the constant results in a value of 4.87, or the approximate mean of legitimacy for that country. Countries with estimated residuals just above or below zero, such as Cyprus and Myanmar in this model, are thus predicted to have mean legitimacy values nearly identical to the global average.

With the existence of not only individual-level variation, but significant countrylevel residual variation in legitimacy firmly established by these null models, the analysis proceeded by expanding the multilevel model to include predictors of legitimacy at both levels. The final multilevel model was built in stages, beginning with the fixed effects of explanatory variables before introducing random slopes and allowing these effects to vary across countries. Prior to calculating estimates using the full model, a smaller pilot analysis was conducted including only the demographic control variables as predictors. The results of this demographic analysis are presented here to clarify the methodological procedures used in this analysis before the full model is discussed in earnest.

Demographic Fixed-Effects Models

Fixed-effects models assume that while the mean level of legitimacy for individuals with a given set of characteristics is random and varies between countries, the relationships between this outcome and the explanatory variables in the model are fixed and consistent across all contexts. The demographic fixed-effects model described below included only the dependent variable (legitimacy), the grouping variable (country), and seven demographic predictors (age, sex, education (middle/high vs low), married, unemployed, urban). Fixed-effects models enabled the estimation of individual-level relationships while controlling for national-level variation, but the ultimate goal of this analysis remained to examine and explain this variation in more detail. Therefore, fixedeffects models only served as intermediate points of analysis before the construction of more complex models that allowed effects to vary across countries.

The results of demographic fixed-effects models using both ML and REML estimation are shown in Table 11 below. These models produced nearly identical estimates, with the exception of slightly different variances and resulting ICC values. The estimated constant in both models was 3.37, somewhat higher than in the null model and now representing the model-predicted global mean of legitimacy with all explanatory variables at zero (which for age equaled the grand mean due to centering). Fixed slope coefficients here represent the predicted global mean effect on legitimacy of a one-unit increase in an explanatory variable, holding all other predictors in the model at zero (or mean).

	Null model (ML)	Demographic fixed- effects model (ML)	Demographic fixed- effects model (REML)
		b (SE)	b (SE)
Age Sex Education (middle) Education (high) Married Unemployed Urban Constant	3.16*** (.12)	.001** (.0004) .03* (.01) 18*** (.02) 14*** (.02) .06*** (.01) 11*** (.02) 21*** (.01) 3.37*** (.12)	.001** (.0004) .03* (.01) 18*** (.02) 14*** (.02) .06*** (.01) 11*** (.02) 21*** (.01) 3.37*** (.12)
Variance (constant) Variance (residual)	.69 (.14) 2.22 (.01)	.68 (.14) 2.20 (.01)	.70 (.14) 2.20 (.01)
ICC	.2377 (.04)	.2366 (.04)	.2404 (.04)
LL AIC BIC	-112180.49 224367.0 224394.1	-111944.31 223908.6 223998.9	-11972.05 223964.1 224054.4
LR chi ² vs null		472.37***	

Table 11: Demographic fixed-effects models

N = 61,648; K = 47; *p < .05; **p < .01; ***p < .001

This model found that age, sex, and marriage displayed significant but relatively weak positive relationships with legitimacy, while education, unemployment, and urban residence displayed significant and relatively strong negative relationships with legitimacy. However, these estimates once again represented merely the overall average effects of these variables across all countries in the model. At this stage, the model did not yet account for the possibility that these effects may vary from one country to another. These fixed coefficients were likely obscuring this variation by averaging these different relationships into a single estimate. To gain a better understanding of this variation, fixed-effects models were expanded by adding variance components for each of the fixed slopes, allowing these effects to vary across different countries in the model. There was little change in the ICC from the null model, with demographic fixedeffects models indicating that approximately 24% of the unexplained variance remained attributable to national-level differences. This lack of improvement over the null was expected at this stage because there were no variables or variance components yet in the model aimed at explaining national-level variation in legitimacy. The inclusion of theoretically relevant explanatory variables at the individual and national level as both fixed and random effects in subsequent models would attempt to further explain some of this variation.

The demographic fixed-effects model was compared to the null model to determine whether the inclusion of demographic variables significantly improved model fit. This initial model comparison is used here to demonstrate the statistical methodology applied to comparisons throughout this analysis. Because these models differed in terms of fixed effects, the comparison between the null and fixed-effects models presented in Table 11 were based on ML estimation to enable use of the likelihood-ratio test. Subsequent comparisons of models with differing fixed effects were also based on ML estimates, while comparisons of models that differed only in their random effects were based on REML estimates.

The likelihood-ratio (LR) test served as the primary method for evaluating model comparisons throughout this analysis. This chi-square test evaluates the difference in -2 log-likelihood (-2LL) or *deviance* values between two nested models, essentially serving as a test of which model is more likely to be accurate given the data in question (Aguinis et al., 2013; Lewis et al., 2011; Snijders & Bosker, 2012). The LR test has degrees of freedom equal to the number of parameters that differ between the models, and a null

hypothesis of no difference in deviance values. The LR test of the null model compared to the demographic fixed-effects model produced a significant chi-square statistic of 472.37 (df = 7; p < .001). The AIC and BIC values of the fixed-effects model were also lower than those of the null model, indicating meaningful improvement in model fit (see Table 11). Based on these results, the fixed-effects demographic model appeared to fit the data significantly better than the empty model, showing improvement in terms of deviance, AIC, and BIC. The analysis now proceeded by allowing each of these effects to vary randomly in order to determine which sources of legitimacy were likely to vary in their effect across different countries.

Demographic Random-Effects Models

While both the null and fixed-effects models allowed the intercept of legitimacy to vary by country, the effects of independent variables in these models were held constant across countries. But just as country means displayed variation around the grand mean, country slopes for each variable were likely to vary around their predicted global mean slope. Random-effects models allowed slopes to vary across countries and provided estimated variances of these random slope components. The core question in this analysis was whether the effects of explanatory variables on legitimacy varied significantly across countries. If this were the case, then the inclusion of random slope components for such variables would help account for this additional source of national-level variation. A closer inspection of cross-level interactions influencing these random effects could then provide an indication of which national-level predictors may help explain variation in their effects (Aguinis et al., 2103; Bryan & Jenkins, 2016; Diggle et al., 2002; Hamilton,

2012; Luke, 2004; Raudenbush & Bryk, 2002; Singer & Willett, 2003; Snijders & Bosker, 2012).

Adding a random slope to a multilevel model introduces two additional parameters – the *variance* of the slope and the *covariance* between the intercept and slope, necessitating the specification of a structure for the variance-covariance (VC) matrix in order to account for possible correlation between slopes and intercepts (Goldstein, 2011; Snijders & Bosker, 2012). All models testing random slope components were therefore estimated using an unstructured VC matrix that allowed for such correlation.

The contribution of each random slope component to the overall model was evaluated individually, with each demographic random-effects model allowing a single slope to vary randomly before comparing these models with the more constrained fixedeffects model. Table 12 below presents the demographic fixed effects, variance and covariance estimates of each demographic random effect, and the estimated fixed effect for each variable when its random effect was included in the model.

		Null model (REML)	Fixed-effects model (REML)	Random-effects models (REML)
		b (SE)	b (SE)	b (SE)
Level 1				
	Constant	3.16*** (.12)	3.37*** (.12)	
	Age		.001** (.0004)	.00003 (.001)
	Sex		.03* (.01)	.04* (.01)
	Education (Middle)		18*** (.02)	12*** (.03)
	Education (High)		14*** (.02)	12* (.06)
	Married		.06*** (.01)	.04 (.02)
	Unemployed		11*** (.02)	11** (.04)
	Urban		21*** (.01)	21*** (.04)
Level 2				
	Constant variance	.707 (.148)	0.697 (.146)	
	Residual variance	2.219 (.013)	2.202 (.012)	
	Age variance			.00006 (.00001)
	Age covariance			.001 (.001)
	Sex variance			.007 (.003)
	Sex covariance			012 (.015)
	Education variance			.036 (.008)
	Education covariance			030 (.025)
	Married variance			.021 (.006)
	Married covariance			.036 (.021)
	Unemployed variance			.047 (.017)
	Unemployed covariance			091 (.038)
	Urban variance			.051 (.013)
	Urban covariance			021 (.032)

Table 12: Demographic fixed and random coefficients

N = 61,648; K = 47; REML estimation; VC unstructured; *p < .05; **p < .01; ***p < .001

Variance components presented in the lower section of Table 12 are estimates of variation around the global mean slope of each explanatory variable, while covariances are estimates of correlation between the variance and intercept. The goal of this analysis was to test the significance of these variance components, thereby determining the existence of significant variation in the effects of predictor variables across countries. However, significance tests using standard errors of variance components are inconclusive as these estimates tend to be biased (Lahuis & Ferguson, 2009; Lewis et al., 2011; Snijders & Bosker, 2012). Therefore, the likelihood-ratio (LR) test continued to serve as the primary criteria for model comparisons.

When testing two models that differed only in terms of a single random slope component, the LR test functioned as a test of statistical significance for that variance component. Significant test results provided evidence that the inclusion of a variance component for a given slope improved the model fit. To verify the significance of random effects in the model, this analysis compared a series of nested model pairs, with one model specifying all parameters included in the other except for the random slope of interest. Based on these LR tests, as well as comparisons of AIC and BIC values, all demographic effects in the model showed some degree of significant random variation across countries. The results of these model comparisons are presented in Table 13.

	Fixed effects	Random age	Random sex	Random education	Random married	Random employed	Random urban
Variance		.00006	.007	.036	.021	.047	.051
Constant Var(cons) Covariance Var(resid)	3.370 .697 2.202	3.346 .700 .001 2.187	3.365 .708 012 2.200	3.317 .710 030 2.186	3.380 .6458 .036 2.197	3.369 .710 091 2.199	3.350 .706 021 2.194
ICC	.2404	.2424	.2436	.2451	.2272	.2442	.2435
LL(restrict)	- 111972.1	-111813.1	-111961.9	-111796.9	-111924.0	-111949.5	-111890.6
AIC BIC	223964.1 224054.4	223650.2 223758.6	223947.8 224056.2	223617.7 223726.1	223872.0 223980.4	223923.0 224031.4	223805.2 223913.6
LR chi2 (vs fixed)		317.86***	20.27***	350.36** *	96.07***	45.08***	162.89***

 Table 13: Demographic random-effects model comparisons

N = 61,648; K = 47; REML estimation; VC unstructured; ***p < .001

The demographic pilot study discussed in this section assisted in establishing a methodological framework upon which more complex analyses were built. Subsequent steps involved the addition of several other theoretically relevant individual-level predictors of legitimacy, the further investigation of variation in these effects across countries, and the introduction of country-level variables to explain some of this variation.

Fixed-Effects Models

The previous demographic analysis was expanded to include additional theoretical predictors of legitimacy in the model as fixed effects. Full fixed-effects models ostensibly included 19 individual-level predictors and two national-level predictors. However, due to dummy coding of ordinal variables, the true number of predictors entered into these models was 36. At the individual level, these included measures of prior victimization, fear of crime, fear of war and terror, vicarious experience, national identity, social capital, and moral alignment. After estimating a model that included only individual-level predictors, national-level measures of the homicide rate and the freedom score were added to the final fixed-effects model. These models were compared using likelihood-ratio tests and evaluation of fit statistics. The results of these model comparisons are displayed in Table 14.

	Null model	Demographic fixed-effects model	Individual fixed- effects model	Full fixed- effects model
Constant	3.165 (.121)	3.370 (.122)	2.709 (.111)	2.713 (.100)
Variance (constant)	.692 (.143)	.682 (.141)	.461 (.096)	.356 (.074)
Variance (residual)	2.219 (.013)	2.202 (.012)	1.998 (.011)	1.998 (.011)
ICC LL AIC BIC	.2377 (.04) -112180.5 224367.0 224394.1	.2366 (.04) -111944.3 223908.6 223998.9	.1875 (.03) -108946.8 217967.7 218301.8	.1513 (.03) -108940.8 217959.6 218311.7
LR chi2 vs. null LR chi2 vs demographic LR chi2 vs individual		472.37***	6467.30*** 5994.93***	6479.40*** 6007.03*** 12.10**

Table 14: Fixed-effects model comparisons

N = 61,648; K = 47; ML estimation; VC identity; *p < .05; **p < .01; ***p < .001

Model comparisons displayed in Table 14 provided evidence of substantial improvement in model fit and residual variance explained as predictors were introduced. The full fixed-effects model, containing all relevant individual- and national-level predictors, offered significantly better fit than the null, demographic fixed-effects, or individual-level fixed effects models. The full model displayed a large reduction in unexplained variation across countries, lowering the ICC to .15 compared to .24 in the null model. This indicated that some of the variation in legitimacy at the country level was reduced by the inclusion of additional predictor variables at both the individual and national level, as evidenced by differences between the last two models in Table 14. The results of the full fixed-effects model using REML estimation are presented in Table 15.

	b (SE)		b (SE)
Age	0005 (.0004)	Vicarious (1)	08*** (.01)
Sex	.06*** (.01)	Vicarious (2)	12*** (.02)
Education (1)	14*** (.02)	Vicarious (3)	25*** (.03)
Education (2)	17*** (.02)		
Married	.03* (.01)	National pride (1)	.06 (.04)
Unemployed	05* (.02)	National pride (2)	.30*** (.03)
Urban	14*** (.01)	National pride (3)	.48*** (.03)
		National identity	.17*** (.04)
		(1)	
Victim (self)	09*** (.02)	National identity	.28*** (.04)
		(2)	
Victim (family)	08*** (.02)	National identity	.41*** (.04)
		(3)	
Fear crime at home (1)	.02 (.02)	Trust	.27*** (.02)
Fear crime at home (2)	.08*** (.02)	Association	.16*** (.01)
Fear crime at home (3)	.08** (.03)		
Fear crime in general (1)	24*** (.01)	Corruption	11*** (.003)
Fear crime in general (2)	52*** (.02)	Democracy	.03*** (.003)
Fear crime in general (3)	87*** (.03)		
		Homicide	04*** (.01)
Fear war (1)	03 (.02)	Freedom	002 (.003)
Fear war (2)	06* (.02)		
Fear war (3)	02 (.02)	Constant	2.713*** (.10)
Fear terrorism (1)	.05* (.02)		
Fear terrorism (2)	.15*** (.03)	Variance (constant)	.381 (.08)
Fear terrorism (3)	.22*** (.03)	Variance (residual)	1.999 (.01)

Table 15: Full fixed-effects model (REML)

N = 61,648; K = 47; LL (restricted) = -109063.56; ICC = .16 (.03); AIC = 218205.1; BIC = 218557.3; VC (identity); *p < .05; **p < .01; ***p < .001

The model-predicted intercept of 2.71 suggested that an average-aged male with low education, who is unmarried, employed, lives in a rural area, with no prior victimization, no prior family victimization, low fear of crime at home, low fear of crime in general, low fear of war, low fear of terrorism, low negative vicarious experience, low national pride, low national identity, low trust, no voluntary associations, average level of perceived corruption, average level of importance of democracy, living in a country with an average homicide rate and an average freedom score will have a legitimacy score of 2.71, controlling for other variables in the model. All fixed-effects coefficients interpreted below similarly represent global average effects controlling for all other explanatory variables in the model.

In the fixed-effects model, age did not display a significant relationship with legitimacy. Being female was associated with a significant .06 increase in legitimacy (p < .001). A moderate level of education compared to the lowest level was associated with a .14 decrease in legitimacy (p < .001), while a high level of education was associated with a .17 decrease (p < .001). Marriage was associated with a significant .03 increase in legitimacy (p < .05), unemployment with a significant .05 decrease (p < .05), and urban residence with a significant .14 decrease (p < .001).

Prior victimization was associated with a significant .09 decrease in legitimacy (p < .001), while family victimization was associated with a significant .08 decrease (p < .001). Fear of crime at home displayed a relatively weak and surprisingly positive relationship with legitimacy. While the effect of experiencing fear at home "rarely" compared to "never" was not significant, experiencing fear at home "sometimes" was associated with a significant .08 increase in legitimacy (p < .001), and experiencing fear at home "often" with a significant .08 increase (p < .01). By contrast, fear of crime in general displayed a relatively strong and negative association with legitimacy across all levels, with feeling "quite" safe compared to "very" safe to a significant .52 decrease (p < .001), and feeling "not at all" safe to a significant .87 decrease (p < .001).

Fear of war displayed a significant association with legitimacy in only one of its three factor variables, and this only at the .05 level. Feeling a "great deal" of fear of war was associated with a significant .06 decrease in legitimacy (p = .029). In comparison,

fear of terrorism displayed a strong, significant, and notably positive relationship with legitimacy. Feeling "not much" fear of terrorism was associated with a significant .05 increase in legitimacy (p = .048), while a "great deal" and "very much" fear were associated with significant .15 and .22 increases, respectively (p < .001).

Vicarious experience displayed a significant negative relationship with legitimacy, with perceiving interference "not frequently" compared to "never" associated with a .08 decrease (p < .001), "quite frequently" associated with a .12 decrease (p < .001), and "very frequently" associated with a significant .25 decrease (p < .001). National pride displayed a significant and positive relationship with legitimacy at higher categories. While the difference between feeling "not very proud" of one's nation compared to "not at all proud" was not significant, feeling "quite proud" corresponded to a significant .30 increase in legitimacy (p < .001) and feeling "very proud" to a significant .48 increase (p < .001). National identity displayed a significant and positive relationship with legitimacy across all categories, with feeling "not very close" to one's country compared to "not at all close" associated with a .17 increase (p < .001), feeling "close" a .28 increase (p < .001) and feeling "very close" a .41 increase (p < .001).

Trust in others was associated with a significant .27 increase in legitimacy (p < .001) and voluntary association with a significant .16 increase (p < .001). A one-unit increase in perceived corruption was associated with a significant .11 decrease in legitimacy (p < .001), while a one-unit increase in importance of democracy was associated with a significant .03 increase (p < .01). The national-level homicide rate was associated with a significant .04 decrease in legitimacy at the individual level (p < .001),

but the national-level freedom score did not display any significant direct relationship with legitimacy.

While coefficient estimates presented in Table 15 provided an interesting picture of global average relationships between legitimacy and this set of explanatory variables, these average effects were not the primary focus of this study. Of greater interest was the existence of variation in these effects across countries and the different relationships these explanatory variables may have with legitimacy depending on national context. The presence of such variation was again tested by adding random slopes one at a time and comparing each random-effects model with the full fixed-effects model.

Random-Effects Models

Variation in the effects of explanatory variables was examined through a series of model comparisons in which separate models, each including a random slope for a single predictor, were compared with the full fixed-effects model. These comparisons used likelihood-ratio tests and evaluation of information criteria to establish the significance of variance components in the model. All random-effects models used REML estimation and were compared to the REML estimated fixed-effects model. The results of these model comparisons are presented in Table 16.

Model	Variance (estimate)	Constant	Variance (constant)	Variance (residual)	Covariance	LL (restricted)	AIC	BIC	LR chi ² vs fixed
Fixed effects		2.713	.381	1.999		-109063.6	218205.1	218557.3	
R. age R. sex R. education R. married R. unemployed	.00004 (.00001) .004 (.002) .023 (.01) .013 (.004) .021 (.01)	2.711 (.10) 2.705 (.10) 2.670 (.10) 2.720 (.10) 2.711 (.10) 2.077 (11)	.384 (.08) .388 (.08) .405 (.09) .349 (.08) .390 (.08)	1.989 (.01) 1.998 (.01) 1.988 (.01) 1.996 (.01) 1.998 (.01)	.001 (.001) 008 (.01) 025 (.02) .024 (.01) 038 (.02)	-108950.8 -109056.8 -108940.6 -109035.7 -109056.2	217983.6 218195.5 217963.3 218153.3 218194.4	218353.8 218565.7 218333.5 218523.5 218564.6 218480.2	225.56*** 13.62** 245.84*** 55.79*** 14.68***
R. victim (self) R. victim (family) R. fear at home R. fear in general	.021 (.01) .022 (.01) .013 (.003) .020 (.005)	2.713 (.10) 2.712 (.10) 2.704 (.10) 2.697 (.11)	.386 (.08) .393 (.08) .400 (.09) .492 (.11)	1.994 (.01) 1.998 (.01) 1.997 (.01) 1.992 (.01) 1.988 (.01)	017 (.02) 028 (.02) 020 (.01) 059 (.02)	-109054.7 -109051.5 -108985.1 -108929.1	218110.0 218191.4 218184.9 218052.1 217940.2	218480.2 218561.6 218555.1 218422.3 218310.4	17.73*** 24.21*** 157.02*** 268.92***
R. fear of war R. fear of terror	.011 (.003) .008 (.002)	2.710 (.10) 2.709 (.10)	.390 (.08) .407 (.09)	1.991 (.01) 1.993 (.01)	014 (.01) 014 (.01)	-108979.7 -109000.6	218041.4 218083.1	218411.6 218453.3	167.70*** 125.99***
R. vicarious R. national pride R. national identity	.028 (.01) .021 (.005) .015 (.004)	2.711 (.11) 2.714 (.10) 2.729 (.11)	.458 (.10) .301 (.07) .422 (.09)	1.984 (.01) 1.990 (.01) 1.993 (.01)	063 (.02) 008 (.02) 028 (.01)	-108871.5 -108966.4 -108998.4	217825.1 218014.8 218078.9	218195.3 218385.0 218449.1	384.05*** 194.36*** 130.25***
R. trust R. association R. corruption R. democracy	.027 (.01) .048 (.01) .003 (.001) .003 (.001)	2.710 (.10) 2.710 (.11) 2.732 (.10) 2.721 (.10)	.389 (.08) .437 (.09) .362 (.08) .380 (.08)	1.996 (.01) 1.991 (.01) 1.988 (.01) 1.990 (.01)	031 (.02) 074 (.03) .014 (.01) .010 (.005)	-109040.9 -108981.5 -108927.2 -108960.9	218163.9 218044.9 217936.4 218003.9	218534.1 218415.1 218306.6 218374.1	45.24*** 164.22*** 272.72*** 205.27***

 Table 16: Random-effects model comparisons (variance components)

N = 61,648; K = 47; *p < .05; **p < .01; ***p < .001; SE in parentheses

These model comparisons indicated that all random slopes displayed some degree of significant variation across countries. With the exception of the random slope for sex, all random slope variances tested by these model comparisons were significant at the .001 level. Although differences in scales across variables precluded the direct interpretation of these coefficients, it could be concluded with a reasonable amount of certainty that nearly all antecedents of legitimacy included in this model varied significantly in their effects across different countries. The inclusion of these random slope components altered the estimated fixed-effect coefficients of several explanatory variables. Table 17 presents coefficient estimates from full fixed-effects model and compares these with coefficients produced by models that allowed the slope of each variable to vary randomly across countries. Although the addition of a random slope component also sometimes altered other predicted relationships in the model, Table 17 only compares the coefficients of the predictor included as a random slope in each model.

	Fixed-effects model	Random-effects models
Variable	b (SE)	b (SE)
Age	- 0005 (0004)	- 001 (001)
Sex	06*** (01)	06*** (02)
Education (1)	- 14*** (02)	- 11*** (03)
Education (2)	17*** (.02)	15** (.05)
Married	.03* (.01)	.02 (.02)
Unemployed	05* (.02)	04 (.03)
Urban	14*** (.01)	14*** (.03)
Victim (self)	09*** (.02)	11** (.03)
Victim (fam)	08*** (.02)	10** (.03)
Fear crime at home (1)	.02 (.02)	.03 (.02)
Fear crime at home (2)	.08*** (.02)	.08* (.04)
Fear crime at home (3)	.08*** (.03)	.05 (.06)
Fear crime in general (1)	24*** (.01)	22*** (.03)
Fear crime in general (2)	52*** (.02)	52*** (.05)
Fear crime in general (3)	87*** (.03)	83*** (.07)
Fear war (1)	03 (.02)	01 (.03)
Fear war (2)	06* (.02)	03 (.04)
Fear war (3)	02 (.02)	.001 (.05)
Fear terrorism (1)	.05* (.02)	.06* (.03)
Fear terrorism (2)	.15*** (.03)	.17*** (.04)
Fear terrorism (3)	.22*** (.03)	.23*** (.05)
Vicarious (1)	08*** (.01)	07* (.03)
Vicarious (2)	12*** (.02)	13* (.05)
Vicarious (3)	25*** (.03)	29*** (.08)
National pride (1)	.06 (.04)	.07 (.04)
National pride (2)	.30*** (.03)	.32*** (.06)
National pride (3)	.48*** (.03)	.48*** (.07)
National identity (1)	.17*** (.04)	.16*** (.04)
National identity (2)	.28*** (.04)	.27*** (.05)
National identity (3)	.41*** (.04)	.40*** (.07)
Trust	.27*** (.02)	.27*** (.03)
Association	.16*** (.01)	.15*** (.04)
Corruption	11*** (.003)	12*** (.01)
Democracy	.03*** (.003)	.02** (.01)

Table 17: Random-effects model comparisons (fixed coefficients)

N = 61,648; K = 47; *p < .05; **p < .01; ***p < .001; SE in parentheses

While many of the variables that had displayed significant overall associations with legitimacy in the fixed-effects model retained these relationships when their random slopes were included, others differed noticeably in strength or statistical significance. The estimated effect of age in the random-effects model remained nonsignificant, and the effect of sex was nearly identical between the two models. The effect of education on legitimacy was somewhat attenuated in the random-effects model, while the effects of marriage and unemployment were no longer significant. Urban residence remained strongly and significantly associated with legitimacy across both models.

Prior victimization and family victimization displayed somewhat stronger effects in their random-effects models, but these relationships did not achieve the same level of statistical significance as in the fixed-effects model. The estimated relationship between legitimacy and fear of crime at home was substantially altered in the random-slope model, as only a single category remained significant in the random-slope model, and then only at the .05 level of significance. Fear of crime in general was highly significant across both models, although effect sizes were somewhat attenuated in the randomeffects model. Fear of war did not display any significant effect on legitimacy once its random slope was included, while fear of terrorism retained a comparatively large and significant effect in its random-slope model.

Relationships between legitimacy and the lowest levels of vicarious experience were significant only at the .05 level in the random-slope model, but the relationship at the highest level retained its significance and increased in strength with the inclusion of the random slope. The effects of national pride and national identity differed only slightly between the models, as did the effects of trust, voluntary association, and perceived

corruption. Lastly, importance of democracy displayed a smaller effect that was significant only at the .01 level once its random slope was included. These results overall provided substantial evidence that the sources of legitimacy included in the model displayed significant variation in their effects across different countries. The last step in this part of the analysis involved the addition of cross-level interaction terms aimed at explaining some of this variation.

Interaction Models

Cross-level interactions between individual-level predictors of legitimacy and national-level measures of the homicide rate and the freedom score were added to the model to explain variation in the effects of individual-level predictors across countries. Because all relationships in the fixed-effects model possessed significant variance components, all potential cross-level interaction effects between individual-level variables and these national-level measures were examined. These interactions were tested one at a time in another series of model comparisons, with each model allowing one national-level predictor to interact with one individual-level predictor, while also allowing the slope of that individual-level predictor to vary randomly across countries. The inclusion of a random slope component for the individual-level variable involved in a cross-level interaction was necessary for the model to produce accurate standard error estimates (Aguinis et al., 2013; Heisig & Schaeffer, 2019; Mathieu et al., 2012). The results of these interaction models are presented in Table 18 below. All cross-level interaction models were conducted using REML estimation and specifying an unstructured variance-covariance matrix.

Homicide rate interaction models		Freedom score interaction models		
Interaction	b (SE)	Interaction	b (SE)	
Age#homicide	00005 (.0001)	Age#freedom	.00004 (.00004)	
Sex#homicide	0004 (.002)	Sex#freedom	.0002 (.0006)	
Education#homicide (1)	0003 (.003)	Education#freedom (1)	.0004 (.001)	
Education#homicide (2)	001 (.006)	Education#freedom (2)	.003 (.002)	
Married#homicide	.0003 (.002)	Married#freedom	.002* (.001)	
Unemployed#homicide	.0066 (.0034)	Unemployed#freedom	003* (.001)	
Urban#homicide	003 (.004)	Urban#freedom	.002 (.001)	
Victim (self)#homicide	.008* (.003)	Victim (self)#freedom	.002 (.001)	
Victim (family)#homicide	.010*** (.003)	Victim (family)#freedom	.0006 (.001)	
Crime (home)#homicide (1)	.008** (.003)	Crime (home)#freedom (1)	.001 (.001)	
Crime (home)#homicide (2)	.008 (.004)	Crime (home)#freedom (2)	.001 (.002)	
Crime (home)#homicide (3)	.009 (.007)	Crime (home)#freedom (3)	003 (.002)	
Crime (gen)#homicide (1)	.003 (.003)	Crime (gen)#freedom (1)	.002* (.001)	
Crime (gen)#homicide (2)	.007 (.006)	Crime (gen)#freedom (2)	.004* (.002)	
Crime (gen)#homicide (3)	.002 (.008)	Crime (gen)#freedom (3)	.007* (.003)	
Fear war#homicide (1)	.006 (.003)	Fear war#freedom (1)	.004*** (.001)	
Fear war#homicide (2)	.005 (.005)	Fear war#freedom (2)	.005*** (.001)	
Fear war#homicide (3)	.006 (.006)	Fear war#freedom (3)	.004* (.002)	
Fear terrorism#homicide (1)	.005 (.003)	Fear terrorism#freedom (1)	.005*** (.001)	
Fear terrorism#homicide (2)	.002 (.004)	Fear terrorism#freedom (2)	.006*** (.001)	
Fear terrorism#homicide (3)	.002 (.005)	Fear terrorism#freedom (3)	.006*** (.002)	
Vicarious#homicide (1)	.009** (.003)	Vicarious#freedom (1)	0002 (.001)	
Vicarious#homicide (2)	.018** (.006)	Vicarious#freedom (2)	.001 (.002)	
Vicarious#homicide (3)	.011 (.009)	Vicarious#freedom (3)	.001 (.003)	
Nat. pride#homicide (1)	.002 (.005)	Nat. pride#freedom (1)	004* (.002)	
Nat. pride#homicide (2)	001 (.006)	Nat. pride#freedom (2)	005* (.002)	
Nat. pride#homicide (3)	010 (.008)	Nat. pride#freedom (3)	007* (.003)	
Nat. identity#homicide (1)	.002 (.005)	Nat. identity#freedom (1)	.002 (.002)	
Nat. identity#homicide (2)	.002 (.006)	Nat. identity#freedom (2)	.002 (.002)	
Nat. identity#homicide (3)	.003 (.008)	Nat. identity#freedom (3)	.0005 (.002)	
Trust#homicide	.007 (.004)	Trust#freedom	.0003 (.001)	
Association#homicide	005 (.004)	Association#freedom	0006 (.001)	
Corruption#homicide	0001 (.001)	Corruption#freedom	0001 (.0003)	
Democracy#homicide	0005 (.001)	Democracy#freedom	0004 (.0003)	

Table 18: Cross-level interaction effects

 $N = 61,648; K = 47; p^* < .05; p^{**} < .01; p^{***} < .001$

These interaction models tested the influence of the national-level measures of the *homicide rate* and the *freedom score* on relationships at the individual level. Significant interactions were found between the *homicide rate* and the effects of *prior victimization, family victimization, fear of crime at home*, and *vicarious experience*. Models also indicated the presence of significant interactions between the *freedom score* and the effects of *marriage, unemployment, fear of crime in general, fear of war, fear of terrorism,* and *national pride*. These models showed that several important individual-level influences on the legitimacy of legal authorities varied significantly in their effects depending on a country's homicide rate and freedom score. These statistically significant interaction effects are presented graphically in Figures 6 through 15 and discussed in detail in the following paragraphs. The interactions described in this section are the primary basis for conclusions regarding variation in the contextual effects of these influences on legitimacy.

Marginal effects displayed in Figure 6 show the interaction of the national-level homicide rate with the individual-level effect of prior victimization (Williams, 2012). The mean-centered homicide rate ranged from approximately -5 to 28, and the values presented in these figures were chosen to reflect this range. In countries with lower homicide rates, prior victimization appeared to have a negative effect on legitimacy, while in countries with higher homicide rates, prior victimization appeared to have a negative effect on have a positive effect. On average, a one-unit increase in the homicide rate was associated with an increase of .008 units on the prior victimization/legitimacy slope.



Figure 6: Marginal effects of prior victimization on legitimacy, by homicide rate

Similar results were found for the interaction between the homicide rate and the effect of prior family victimization. Figure 7 shows that family victimization displayed a negative association with legitimacy in low-homicide countries and a positive association in high-homicide countries. On average, a one-unit increase in the homicide rate was associated with an increase of .01 units on the family victimization/legitimacy slope. This interaction was relatively large compared to its standard error and achieved significance at the .001 le



Figure 7: Marginal effects of family victimization on legitimacy, by homicide rate

The homicide rate also displayed a significant influence on the individual-level effect of fear of crime at home on legitimacy. Figure 8 depicts the estimated marginal effects of fear of crime at home for different values of the homicide rate, showing an interaction affecting the lower level of the fear variable. For individuals in low-homicide countries, perceiving fear of crime at home "rarely" compared to "never" was associated with a slight decrease in legitimacy, but for individuals in high-homicide countries, this same difference was associated with an increase in legitimacy. On average, a one-unit increase in the homicide rate was associated with a .01 unit increase on the fear of crime/legitimacy slope for the lowest level of the variable, while displaying no significant effect for other levels.



Figure 8: Marginal effects of fear of crime (home) on legitimacy, by homicide rate

Significant interactions were also found between the national-level homicide rate and the effect of negative vicarious experience at the individual level. Figure 9 shows the estimated marginal effects of vicarious experience by homicide rate, indicating that in lowhomicide countries, vicarious experience displayed a negative effect on legitimacy across all levels, but that this relationship changed as the homicide rate increased. In countries with higher homicide rates, vicarious experience displayed a positive relationship with legitimacy at lower levels. On average, a one-unit increase in the homicide rate was associated with an increase of .01 units on the vicarious experience/legitimacy slope for the lowest level, and an increase of .02 units for the middle level. The interaction for the highest category did not achieve statistical significance.



Figure 9: Marginal effects of vicarious experience on legitimacy, by homicide rate

The other national-level variable included in the analysis, *freedom score*, also displayed significant interactions with several individual-level predictors of legitimacy. The mean-centered freedom variable ranged from approximately -50 to 38, and the freedom score values at which marginal effects were estimated were once again selected to reflect this range. Figure 10 shows the relationship between marriage and legitimacy at different levels of the freedom score variable. In low-freedom countries, being married was associated with decreased legitimacy, but in high-freedom countries, marriage was associated with increased legitimacy. On average, a one-unit increase in the freedom score.



Figure 10: Marginal effects of marriage on legitimacy, by freedom score
The individual-level effect of unemployment on legitimacy also appeared to vary depending on national-level freedom score. Figure 11 shows this interaction, with unemployment displaying a positive relationship with legitimacy in low-freedom countries and a negative relationship in high-freedom countries. On average, a one-unit increase in freedom score was associated with a .003 unit decrease on the unemployment/legitimacy slope.



Figure 11: Marginal effects of unemployment on legitimacy, by freedom score

The freedom score also displayed a significant interaction with the individuallevel effect of fear of crime in general. Figure 12 shows that while fear of crime had a negative association with legitimacy regardless of freedom score, this negative effect was stronger in low-freedom countries than in high-freedom countries. On average, a one unit increase in the freedom score was associated with a .002 unit increase on the fear/legitimacy slope at the lowest level, a .004 unit increase at the middle level, and a .007 increase at the highest level.



Figure 12: Marginal effects of fear of crime (general) on legitimacy, by freedom score

The freedom score also interacted significantly with the individual-level effects of fear of war and fear of terrorism. Figure 13 shows that in low-freedom countries, fear of war had a negative effect on legitimacy at its lower levels, only shifting to a positive effect at its highest level. In high-freedom countries, fear of war maintained a positive relationship with legitimacy across all levels. On average, a one-unit increase in the freedom score was associated with a .004 increase in the fear/legitimacy slope in the lowest category, a .005 increase in the middle category, and a .007 increase in the highest category.



Figure 13: Marginal effects of fear of war on legitimacy, by freedom score

Similarly, Figure 14 shows that in low-freedom countries, the increase from "none" to "not much" fear of terrorism had a negative effect on legitimacy, while this same increase was associated with a positive effect in high-freedom countries. On average, a one-unit increase in freedom score was associated with a .005 increase in the fear of terrorism/legitimacy slope in the lowest category.



Figure 14: Marginal effects of fear of terrorism on legitimacy, by freedom score

Lastly, freedom score displayed a significant interaction with the individual-level effect of national pride on legitimacy, as shown in Figure 15. In low-freedom countries, national pride had a positive effect across all levels. In high-freedom countries, this effect was negative at the lowest level of national pride and while positive at higher levels, somewhat attenuated when compared to low-freedom countries. On average, a one-unit increase in freedom score was associated with a .004 decrease in the national pride/legitimacy slope at the lowest level, a .005 decrease at the middle level, and a .007 decrease at the highest level.



Figure 15: Marginal effects of national pride on legitimacy, by freedom score

Multilevel Binary Logistic Models

Supplementary analyses involved the estimation of two separate multilevel binary logistic regression models, one measuring the legitimacy of police and the other measuring the legitimacy of courts. Of interest was the existence of substantive differences in the relationships between these separate outcomes and the predictor variables included in the previous analysis. In addition, the possibility that random slope variation as well as cross-level interaction differed between police and courts was investigated.

The original four-category ordinal measures of confidence in police and confidence in courts were dichotomized, with a value of 0 representing "none at all" or "not very much" confidence and a value of 1 representing "quite a bit" or "a great deal" of confidence. These multilevel models were estimated using logistic regression, necessitating logarithmic transformation of the outcome and prediction using log odds. Coefficients in these models represented estimated effects of predictor variables on the log-odds of having "quite a bit" or "a great deal" of confidence compared to having "not very much" or "none at all." Interpretation will in the interest of brevity refer to these estimates as the log-odds of police legitimacy and the log-odds of court legitimacy.

The construction of these models followed the same procedure used in the first analysis, beginning with null models, expanding these to include fixed effects, allowing these effects to vary in a series of random-effects models, and finally introducing crosslevel interactions to explain this variation. Before conducting the multilevel analysis, initial models were estimated using mono-level binary logistic regression analyses (Table 19).

	Police legitimacy	Police legitimacy (with country)	Court legitimacy	Court legitimacy (with country)
Age	.01*** (.001)	.005*** (.001)	001* (.0005)	003*** (.001)
Sex	.10*** (.02)	.09*** (.02)	.07*** (.02)	.08*** (.02)
Education (1)	01 (.02)	10*** (.03)	19*** (.02)	16*** (.02)
Education (2)	08** (.02)	16*** (.03)	21*** (.02)	09** (.03)
Married	.02 (.02)	.04* (.02)	.06** (.02)	01 (.02)
Unemployed	.08* (.03)	05 (.04)	.01 (.03)	04 (.04)
Urban	01 (.02)	15*** (.02)	15*** (.02)	13*** (.02)
Victim (self)	17*** (.03)	10** (.04)	13*** (.03)	11** (.04)
Victim (family)	20*** (.03)	08* (.03)	22*** (.03)	06 (.03)
Fear of crime at home (1)	.08** (.02)	.05 (.03)	02 (.02)	02 (.02)
Fear of crime at home (2)	.01 (.03)	.08** (.03)	03 (.03)	.07* (.03)
Fear of crime at home (3)	06 (.04)	.07 (.05)	12** (.04)	.06 (.05)
Fear of crime in general (1)	13*** (.02)	21*** (.02)	05* (.02)	22*** (.02)
Fear of crime in general	67*** (.03)	65*** (.03)	60*** (.03)	68*** (.03)
Fear of crime in general	70*** (.05)	92*** (.05)	59*** (.05)	89*** (.05)
Fear of war (1)	02 (.04)	02 (.04)	07 (.04)	04 (.04)
Fear of war (2)	- 05 (04)	- 04 (04)	- 10** (04)	- 04 (04)
Fear of war (3)	20*** (.04)	08 (.05)	15*** (.04)	.02 (.04)
Fear of terrorism (1)	.16*** (.04)	.11** (.04)	.11** (.04)	.07 (.04)
Fear of terrorism (2)	.41*** (.04)	.29*** (.04)	.22*** (.04)	.12** (.04)
Fear of terrorism (3)	.42*** (.04)	.35*** (.05)	.24*** (.04)	.16** (.05)
Vicarious (1)	24*** (.02)	21*** (.02)	14*** (.02)	12*** (.02)
Vicarious (2)	30*** (.03)	27*** (.03)	06 (.03)	08* (.03)
Vicarious (3)	50*** (.05)	43*** (.05)	20*** (.05)	21*** (.05)
National pride (1)	17** (.06)	05 (.06)	.13* (.06)	.01 (.06)
National pride (2)	.20*** (.05)	.42*** (.05)	.27*** (.05)	.29*** (.05)
National pride (3)	.25*** (.05)	.65*** (.05)	.29*** (.05)	.45*** (.05)
National identity (1)	.12* (.06)	.15* (.06)	.04 (.06)	.10 (.06)
National identity (2)	.31*** (.05)	.30*** (.06)	.27*** (.05)	.32*** (.06)
National identity (3)	.36*** (.05)	.39*** (.06)	.27*** (.05)	.43*** (.06)
Trust	.44*** (.02)	.38*** (.02)	.49*** (.02)	.40*** (.02)
Association	.26*** (.02)	.23*** (.02)	.23*** (.02)	.17*** (.02)
Corruption	17*** (.004)	13*** (.005)	19*** (.004)	16*** (.005)
Democracy	.05*** (.004)	.04*** (.005)	.06*** (.004)	.21*** (.05)
Homicide	04*** (.001)	15** (.06)	04*** (.001)	.21*** (.05)
Freedom	001 (.0004)	01*** (.002)	006*** (.0003)	02*** (.002)
Constant	13 (.08)	19 (.34)	07 (.07)	1.55 (.30)

T 11	10	D '	1	• .•	•	1 1
Table	19:	Binary		ogistic	regression	models
1 4010	· · ·	DILICUL	-	O GID CIU	regression	111000010

N = 61,648; K = 47; *p < .05; **p < .01; ***p < .001

These initial logistic models provided the first indication of differences between the effects of explanatory variables on police and court legitimacy. Some of these differences are noted here, but full interpretations of these preliminary logistic models are omitted for brevity. Age displayed a significant positive association with police legitimacy but a significant negative association with court legitimacy. The effect of education also differed between the two outcomes, with a higher level of education having a stronger negative effect on police legitimacy and a moderate level of education having a stronger negative effect on court legitimacy.

Fear of terrorism appeared to have a stronger positive association with police legitimacy than with court legitimacy. Vicarious experience displayed a stronger negative association with police legitimacy than with court legitimacy. Importance of democracy appeared to have a stronger positive effect on court legitimacy than on police legitimacy. Lastly, while the homicide rate was negatively associated with police legitimacy both with and without country controls included, this variable was positively associated with court legitimacy in the model with country controls. The next step in the logistic regression analysis was the construction of separate multilevel null models for police legitimacy and court legitimacy. The results of these null models and presented as both log odds and odds ratios in Table 20.

	Police legit	imacy	Court legitimacy	
	b (SE)	OR	b (SE)	OR
Constant	.40** (.16)	1.50* (.24)	.16 (.16)	1.18 (.18)
Variance (constant)	1.15 (.24)	1.15 (.24)	1.13 (.23)	1.13 (.23)
LL	-35473.62	-35473.62	-36195.78	-36195.78
ICC AIC BIC	.2592 (.04) 70951.25 70969.31	.2592 (.04) 70951.25 70969.31	.2556 (.04) 72395.56 72413.61	.2556 (.04) 72395.56 72413.61
LR test vs. logistic model	12395.49***	12395.49***	12317.35***	12317.35***

Table 20: Binary logistic null models

N = 61,648; K = 47; *p < .05; **p < .01; ***p < .001

Intraclass correlation coefficients (ICCs) estimated via these null models provided evidence of significant national-level clustering effects for both outcome variables. These models indicated that approximately 26 percent of the variation in these outcomes could be attributed to differences at the country level. Based on these results, the analysis proceeded with the construction of full fixed-effects models (Table 21).

Comparison of these models revealed several notable differences in the effects of explanatory variables on police and court legitimacy. All coefficient estimates interpreted below are on average and controlling for other variables in the model. A one-unit increase in age was associated with a significant .005 increase in the log-odds of police legitimacy, but the same increase was associated with a significant .003 *decrease* in the log-odds of court legitimacy. The effect of sex was similar across both models, with being female associated with a significant .09 increase in the log-odds of police legitimacy and a significant .08 increase in the log-odds of court legitimacy.

	Police legit	imacy model	Court legitimacy model		
	b (SE)	OR	b (SE)	OR	
Age	.005*** (.001)	1.005*** (.001)	003*** (.001)	.997*** (.001)	
Sex	.09*** (.02)	1.10*** (.02)	.08*** (.02)	1.08*** (.02)	
Education (1)	09*** (.02)	.91*** (.02)	16*** (.02)	.85*** (.02)	
Education (2)	16*** (.03)	.85*** (.02)	09** (.03)	.91** (.02)	
Married	.04* (.02)	1.04* (.02)	01 (.02)	.99 (.02)	
Unemployed	05 (.04)	.95 (.03)	04 (.04)	.96 (.03)	
Urban	15*** (.02)	.86*** (.02)	13*** (.02)	.87*** (.02)	
Victim (self)	10** (.04)	.90** (.03)	-11** (.04)	.89** (.03)	
Victim (family)	08* (.03)	.92* (.03)	06* (.03)	.94* (.03)	
Fear crime at home (1)	.05 (.03)	1.05 (.03)	02 (.02)	.99 (.02)	
Fear crime at home (2)	.08** (.03)	1.09** (.03)	.07* (.03)	1.07* (.03)	
Fear crime at home (3)	.06 (.05)	1.07 (.05)	.05 (.05)	1.06 (.05)	
Fear crime in general (1)	21*** (.02)	.81*** (.02)	22*** (.02)	.81*** (.02)	
Fear crime in general (2)	$-65^{***}(03)$	$52^{***}(02)$	-68***(03)	$51^{***}(02)$	
Fear crime in general (3)	- 92*** (05)	$40^{***}(02)$	- 89*** (05)	$41^{***}(02)$	
Fear of war (1)	- 02 (04)	98 (04)	- 04 (04)	96 (04)	
Fear of war (2)	04 (.04)	.96 (.04)	04 (.04)	.96 (.04)	
Fear of war (3)	- 08 (05)	92 (04)	- 02 (04)	1.02 (.05)	
Fear of terrorism (1)	$11^{**}(04)$	1 12 ** (05)	07(04)	1.02(.03) 1.07(.04)	
Fear of terrorism (2)	29*** (04)	$1.12^{(.00)}$ $1.34^{***}(.06)$	$12^{**}(04)$	1.07(.01) 1.13**(.05)	
Fear of terrorism (3)	.35*** (.05)	1.41*** (.07)	.16** (.05)	1.17** (.06)	
Vicarious (1)	21*** (.02)	.81*** (.02)	12*** (.02)	.88*** (.02)	
Vicarious (2)	27*** (.03)	.76*** (.03)	08* (.03)	.92* (.03)	
Vicarious (3)	43*** (.05)	.65*** (.03)	21*** (.05)	.81*** (.04)	
National pride (1)	05 (.06)	.95 (.06)	.01 (.06)	1.01 (.06)	
National pride (2)	.42*** (.05)	1.52*** (.08)	.29*** (.05)	1.34*** (.07)	
National pride (3)	.64*** (.05)	1.90*** (.10)	.44*** (.05)	1.56*** (.08)	
National identity (1)	.15* (.06)	1.16* (.07)	.10 (.06)	1.11 (.07)	
National identity (2)	.30*** (.06)	1.35*** (.08)	.32*** (.06)	1.37*** (.08)	
National identity (3)	.39*** (.06)	1.48*** (.08)	.42*** (.06)	1.53*** (.09)	
Trust	.38*** (.02)	1.46*** (.04)	.40*** (.02)	1.50*** (.04)	
Association	.23*** (.02)	1.26*** (.03)	.17*** (.02)	1.18*** (.02)	
Corruption	13*** (.005)	.87*** (.004)	16*** (.005)	.85*** (.004)	
Democracy	.04*** (.005)	1.04*** (.005)	.05*** (.005)	1.05*** (.005)	
Homicide	06*** (.01)	.94*** (.01)	05** (.02)	.95** (.01)	
Freedom	.001 (.005)	1.00 (.005)	007 (.005)	.99 (.005)	
Constant	24 (.14)	.79 (.11)	25 (.15)	.78 (.11)	

Table 21: Binary logistic fixed-effects models

 $\boxed{N = 61,648; K = 47; *p < .05; **p < .01; ***p < .001}$

The effect of education continued to display notable differences between the models, with a middle level of education compared to a low level associated with a significant .09 decrease in the log-odds of police legitimacy, but a much larger .16 decrease in the log-odds of court legitimacy. On the other hand, a high level of education compared to the lowest level was associated with a .16 decrease in the log-odds of police legitimacy. Marriage was associated with a .04 increase in the log-odds of police legitimacy, but this effect was significant only at the .05 level. Marriage did not display a significant relationship with court legitimacy. Unemployment was not significantly associated with either police legitimacy or court legitimacy, while urban residence was significantly and negatively associated with both outcomes. Living in an urban area corresponded to a .15 reduction in the log-odds of police legitimacy.

Prior victimization was significantly and negatively associated with both police and court legitimacy, corresponding to a .10 decrease in the log-odds of police legitimacy and a .11 decrease in the log-odds of court legitimacy. Family victimization was associated with a .08 decrease in the log-odds of police legitimacy and a .06 decrease in the log-odds of court legitimacy, however, both of these estimated effects were significant only at the .05 level. Fear of crime at home displayed no significant relationship with police or court legitimacy at its lowest and highest levels, but significant relationships at moderate levels in both models. Being fearful of crime at home "sometimes" compared to "never" was associated with a significant .08 increase in the log-odds of police legitimacy and a significant .07 increase in the log-odds of court legitimacy. By contrast, fear of crime in general displayed strongly negative effects on both police legitimacy and court legitimacy across all levels. Feeling "quite secure" from crime compared to "very secure" was associated with a significant .21 decrease in the log-odds of police legitimacy and a significant .22 decrease in the log-odds of court legitimacy. Feeling "not very secure" was associated with a significant .65 decrease in the log-odds of police legitimacy and a significant .68 decrease in the log-odds of court legitimacy. Feeling "not at all secure" was associated with a .92 decrease in the log-odds of police legitimacy and a significant .68 decrease in the log-odds of police legitimacy. Feeling "not at all secure" was associated with a .92 decrease in the log-odds of police legitimacy and a .89 decrease in the log-odds of court legitimacy.

Fear of war was not significantly associated with the legitimacy of police or courts in these separate models. Conversely, fear of terrorism displayed significant positive associations with both outcome variables. Having "not much" fear of terrorism compared to "none" was associated with a .11 increase in the log-odds of police legitimacy, but this same difference displayed no significant effect on the log-odds of court legitimacy. Having a "great deal" of fear of terrorism was associated with a significant .29 increase in the log-odds of police legitimacy and a smaller .12 increase in the log-odds of court legitimacy. Having "very much" fear of terrorism was associated with a significant .35 increase in the log-odds of police legitimacy and a smaller .16 increase in the log-odds of court legitimacy.

Vicarious experience displayed notable differences in effect between the police and court legitimacy models. Perceiving authorities to interfere "not frequently" compared to "not at all frequently" was associated with a significant .21 decrease in the log-odds of police legitimacy and a significant but smaller .12 decrease in the log-odds of court legitimacy. Perceiving such interference "quite frequently" was associated with a significant .27 decrease in the log-odds of police legitimacy, but a much smaller .08

decrease in the log-odds of court legitimacy that was significant only at the .05 level. Perceiving authorities to interfere "very frequently" was associated with a significant .43 decrease in the log-odds of police legitimacy and a significant but again smaller .21 decrease in the log-odds court legitimacy.

National pride displayed a significant positive relationship with both police and court legitimacy in its higher two categories. While feeling "not very proud" compared to "not at all proud" of one's nationality did not display a significant relationship with either police legitimacy or court legitimacy, feeling "quite proud" was associated with a significant .42 increase in the log-odds of police legitimacy and a significant but smaller .29 increase in the log-odds of court legitimacy. Feeling "very proud" of one's nationality was associated with a significant .64 increase in the log-odds of police legitimacy and a significant at a significant but smaller .29 increase in the log-odds of court legitimacy. Feeling "very proud" of one's nationality was associated with a significant .64 increase in the log-odds of police legitimacy and a significant but smaller .44 increase in the log-odds of court legitimacy.

National identity displayed significant positive effects on the log-odds of police legitimacy across all categories and similarly significant positive effects on the log-odds of court legitimacy at all but the lowest level. Feeling "not very close" to one's country compared to "not close at all" was associated with a significant .15 increase in the log-odds of police legitimacy but had no significant effect on the log-odds of court legitimacy. Feeling "close" was associated with a significant .30 increase in the log-odds of police legitimacy and a significant .32 in the log-odds of court legitimacy. Feeling "very close" was associated with a significant .39 increase in the log-odds of police legitimacy and a significant .42 increase in the log-odds of court legitimacy.

Trust in others was associated with a significant .38 increase in the log-odds of police legitimacy and a significant .40 increase in the log-odds of court legitimacy.

Voluntary association corresponded to a significant .23 increase in police legitimacy and a significant .17 increase in court legitimacy. Perceived corruption was significantly and negatively associated with both police and court legitimacy. A one-unit increase in perceived corruption was associated with a .13 decrease in the log-odds of police legitimacy and a .16 decrease in the log-odds of court legitimacy. Importance of democracy displayed a significant positive association with both police and court legitimacy. A one-unit increase in importance of democracy was associated with a .04 increase in the log-odds of police legitimacy and a .05 increase in the log-odds of court legitimacy.

Lastly, the homicide rate displayed significant negative direct effects on the legitimacy of both police and courts. A one-unit increase in the homicide rate was associated with a .06 decrease in the log-odds of police legitimacy and a .05 decrease in the log-odds of court legitimacy, although the latter relationship only achieved significance at the .01 level. The other national-level variable, freedom score, did not display statistically significant relationships with the legitimacy of either police or courts.

Comparisons of these fixed-effects models with null models indicated significant improvement in model fit and reduction of unexplained variance at the country level, as depicted in Table 22. However, significant ICCs produced by these fixed-effects models indicated that sizable amounts of higher-level variation still remained in both models. The analysis therefore proceeded once again by allowing each of these effects to vary across countries in a series of random-effects models.

	Police legitimacy		Court legitimacy	
	Null model Fixed-effects model		Null model	Fixed-effects model
	b (SE)	b (SE)	b (SE)	b (SE)
Constant Variance (constant)	.40 (.16) 1.15 (.24)	24 (.14) .68 (.14)	.16 (.16) 1.13 (.23)	25 (.15) .71 (.15)
ICC AIC BIC	.2592 (.04) 70951.25 70969.31	.1708 (.03) 66950.32 67293.43	.2556 (.04) 72395.56 72413.61	.1783 (.03) 68524.02 68867.13
LL	-35473.62	-33437.16	-36195.78	-34224.01
LR chi2 vs null		4072.93***		3943.54***

Table 22: Binary logistic fixed-effects model comparisons

N = 61,648; K = 47; *p < .05; **p < .01; ***p < .001

Tables 23 and 24 present the results of these random-effects model comparisons, indicating that most of the predictors in the model displayed significant cross-national variation in their effects on the legitimacy of both police and courts. In the police legitimacy models (Table 23), the effects of sex and prior victimization displayed no significant variation across countries, while variation in the effects of unemployment and trust were significant only at the .05 level, and family victimization was significant only at the .01 level. All other variance components in the police legitimacy model were significant at the .001 level. Models with significant variance components displayed improvement in fit with random slopes included, as evidenced by corresponding reductions in AIC and BIC values.

Model	Variance (estimate)	Covariance (estimate)	LL	AIC	BIC	LR chi2 vs fixed
Fixed effects			-33437.16	66950.32	67293.43	
R. age	.0001 (.00002)	.001 (.001)	-33325.94	66731.89	67093.05	222.43***
R. sex	.01 (.006)	.0003 (.02)	-33434.66	66949.33	67310.50	4.99
R. education	.04 (.01)	03 (.03)	-33359.34	66798.69	67159.86	155.63***
R. married	.04 (.01)	.09*** (.02)	-33402.29	66884.58	67245.75	69.74***
R. unemployed	.04 (.02)	06 (.05)	-33432.99	66945.99	67307.16	8.33*
R. urban	.05 (.02)	.08** (.03)	-33405.39	66890.77	67251.94	63.55***
R. victim (self)	.02 (.02)	02 (.04)	-33434.81	66949.61	67310.78	4.70
R. victim (family)	.04 (.02)	01 (.04)	-33431.57	66943.14	67304.31	11.18**
R. crime (home)	.02 (.01)	06* (.02)	-33409.00	66898.00	67259.17	56.31***
R. crime (general)	.04 (.01)	13** (.04)	-33365.37	66810.75	67171.92	143.57***
R. fear war	.02 (.005)	02 (.02)	-33380.27	66840.53	67201.7	113.79***
R. fear terrorism	.02 (.005)	02 (.02)	-33386.02	66852.04	67213.21	102.28***
R. vicarious	.05 (.01)	13** (.04)	-33319.20	66718.39	67079.56	235.93***
R. national pride	.04 (.01)	.02 (.02)	-33375.95	66831.91	67193.08	122.41***
R. national ident	.02 (.01)	.004 (.02)	-33402.45	66884.89	67246.06	69.42***
R. trust	.02 (.01)	01 (.03)	-33432.67	66945.34	67306.51	8.98*
R. association	.10 (.03)	.08 (.04)	-33400.69	66881.38	67242.54	72.94***
R. corruption	.01 (.002)	.01 (.01)	-33301.17	66682.33	67043.50	271.99***
R. democracy	.005 (.001)	.02* (.01)	-33356.78	66793.56	67154.73	160.76***

Table 23: Police legitimacy random-effects model comparisons (variance components)

 $\boxed{ N = 61,648; K = 47; *p < .05; **p < .01; ***p < .001 }$

Model	Variance (estimate)	Covariance (estimate)	LL	AIC	BIC	LR chi2 vs fixed
Fixed effects			-34224.01	68524.02	68867.13	
R. age	.0001 (.00002)	.003 (.001)	-34148.12	68376.25	68737.42	151.77***
R. sex	.02 (.01)	.06* (.02)	-34207.06	68494.12	68855.28	33.90***
R. education	.04 (.01)	01 (.03)	-34139.68	68359.36	68720.53	168.66***
R. married	.02 (.01)	.06*** (.02)	-34196.75	68473.51	68834.67	54.51***
R. unemployed	.06 (.03)	04 (.05)	-34217.05	68514.09	68875.26	13.93***
R. urban	.08 (.02)	.08* (.03)	-34166.00	68412.00	68773.17	116.02***
R. victim (self)	.06 (.02)	05 (.05)	-34215.68	68511.35	68872.52	16.67***
R. victim (family)	.06 (.02)	05 (.05)	-34210.81	68501.63	68862.79	26.39***
R. crime (home)	.03 (.01)	08* (.03)	-34172.61	68425.22	68786.38	102.80***
R. crime (general)	.03 (.01)	09** (.03)	-34165.52	68411.04	68772.21	116.98***
R. fear war	.02 (.006)	04 (.02)	-34170.15	68420.30	68781.47	107.72***
R. fear terrorism	.02 (.004)	03 (.02)	-34178.86	66437.72	68798.89	90.29***
R. vicarious	.05 (.01)	14** (.04)	-34117.69	68315.37	68676.54	212.65***
R. national pride	.02 (.01)	.01 (.03)	-34190.88	68461.75	68822.92	66.26***
R. national ident	.02 (.01)	05 (.03)	-34195.89	68471.79	68832.96	56.23***
R. trust	.08 (.02)	01 (.05)	-34184.54	68449.09	68810.26	78.93***
R. association	.07 (.02)	13* (.05)	-34187.57	68455.15	68816.32	72.87***
R. corruption	.005 (.001)	.02* (.01)	-34151.11	68382.22	68743.39	145.79***
R. democracy	.005 (.001)	.03* (.01)	-34162.09	68404.18	68765.35	123.84***

 Table 24: Court legitimacy random effects model comparisons (variance components)

N = 61,648; K = 47; *p < .05; **p < .01; ***p < .001

In the court legitimacy models (Table 24), all variance components were significant at the .001 level, indicating greater variation overall in the effects of these predictors on the legitimacy of courts than on the legitimacy of police. The inclusion of random slopes for these variables substantially improved the fit of these models, as evidenced by sizable reductions in AIC and BIC values. Coefficient estimates for several variables were affected by the inclusion of random slope components, which altered the predicted global average effects of these variables on the legitimacy of police and courts. Table 25 compares coefficient estimates from fixed-effects models with coefficient estimates for each variable produced by random-effects models.

	Police legitimacy		Court legitimacy		
	Fixed-effects	Random-effects	Fixed-effects	Random-	
	model	models	model	effects models	
	b (SE)	b (SE)	b (SE)	b (SE)	
Age	.005*** (.001)	.003 (.002)	003*** (.001)	004* (.002)	
Sex	.09*** (.02)	.10*** (.02)	.08*** (.02)	.08** (.03)	
Education (1)	09*** (.02)	08* (.04)	16*** (.02)	12** (.04)	
Education (2)	16*** (.03)	14* (.07)	09** (.03)	09 (.07)	
Married	.04* (.02)	.04 (.03)	01 (.02)	01 (.03)	
Unemployed	05 (.04)	05 (.05)	04 (.04)	02 (.06)	
Urban	15*** (.02)	15*** (.04)	13*** (.02)	12** (.04)	
Victim (self) Victim (family) Fear crime at home (1) Fear crime at home (2) Fear crime at home (3) Fear crime in general (1) Fear crime in general (2) Fear crime in general (3) Fear of war (1) Fear of war (2) Fear of war (3) Fear of terrorism (1) Fear of terrorism (2) Fear of terrorism (3)	$\begin{array}{c}10^{**} (.04) \\08^{*} (.03) \\ .05 (.03) \\ .08^{**} (.03) \\ .06 (.05) \\21^{***} (.02) \\65^{***} (.03) \\92^{***} (.05) \\02 (.04) \\04 (.04) \\08 (.05) \\ .11^{**} (.04) \\ .29^{***} (.04) \\ .35^{***} (.05) \end{array}$	$12^{**}(.04)$ $10^{*}(.05)$.04(.03) .05(.05) 004(.08) $22^{***}(.04)$ $67^{***}(.07)$ $93^{***}(.10)$ 01(.05) 04(.06) 06(.08) $.12^{**}(.05)$ $.28^{***}(.06)$ $.34^{***}(.08)$	$\begin{array}{c}11^{**} (.04) \\06^{*} (.03) \\02 (.02) \\ .07^{*} (.03) \\ .05 (.05) \\22^{***} (.02) \\68^{***} (.03) \\89^{***} (.05) \\04 (.04) \\04 (.04) \\02 (.04) \\ .07 (.04) \\ .12^{**} (.04) \\ .16^{**} (.05) \end{array}$	$14^{**}(.05)$ $10^{**}(.05)$ 01(.04) .06(.06) 001(.09) $21^{***}(.04)$ $65^{***}(.06)$ $88^{***}(.09)$.01(.05) .02(.06) .05(.08) .08(.05) $.14^{*}(.06)$ $.18^{*}(.08)$	
Vicarious (1)	21*** (.02)	20*** (.04)	12*** (.02)	12** (.04)	
Vicarious (2)	27*** (.03)	29*** (.08)	08* (.03)	08 (.08)	
Vicarious (3)	43*** (.05)	50*** (.12)	21*** (.05)	24* (.11)	
National pride (1)	05 (.06)	08 (.07)	.01 (.06)	.04 (.07)	
National pride (2)	.42*** (.05)	.35*** (.08)	.29*** (.05)	.31*** (.08)	
National pride (3)	.64*** (.05)	.56*** (.10)	.44*** (.05)	.46*** (.09)	
National identity (1)	.15* (.06)	.17** (.06)	.10 (.06)	.11 (.07)	
National identity (2)	.30*** (.06)	.34*** (.08)	.32*** (.06)	.33*** (.08)	
National identity (3)	.39*** (.06)	.45*** (.09)	.42*** (.06)	.45*** (.09)	
Trust	.38*** (.02)	.39*** (.04)	.40*** (.02)	.35*** (.05)	
Association	.23*** (.02)	.24*** (.05)	.17*** (.02)	.16*** (.04)	
Corruption	13*** (.005)	15*** (.01)	16*** (.005)	16*** (.01)	
Democracy	.04*** (.005)	.03* (.01)	.05*** (.005)	.04*** (.01)	

 Table 25: Binary logistic random-effects model comparisons (fixed coefficients)

N = 61,648; K = 47; *p < .05; **p < .01; ***p < .001

With the existence of significant cross-national variation in the effects of predictor variables now established by these random-effects models, the analysis proceeded by estimating another series of models that included cross-level interactions between these individual-level relationships and national-level measures of the *homicide rate* and the *freedom score*. Coefficient estimates for interaction terms produced by these models are presented in Tables 26 and 27 below.

Police legitimacy interaction models indicated the presence of significant interactions between the homicide rate and the individual-level effects of unemployment, prior victimization, family victimization, fear of crime at home, and vicarious experience. In addition, significant interactions were found between the freedom score and the individual-level effects of marriage, fear of crime at home, fear of crime in general, fear of war, fear of terrorism, and national identity.

Court legitimacy interaction models indicated the presence of significant interactions between the homicide rate and the individual-level effects of prior victimization, family victimization, fear of crime at home, fear of crime in general, and vicarious experience. Additionally, significant interactions were found between freedom score and the effects of urban residence, prior victimization, fear of war, fear of terrorism, national pride, trust, and perceived corruption.

Homicide rate interaction models		Freedom score interaction models		
Interaction	b (SE)	Interaction	b (SE)	
Age#homicide	0002 (.0002)	Age#freedom	.0001 (.0001)	
Sex#homicide	004 (.003)	Sex#freedom	.001 (.001)	
Education#homicide (1)	.002 (.005)	Education#freedom (1)	.001 (.002)	
Education#homicide (2)	.007 (.009)	Education#freedom (2)	.003 (.002)	
Married#homicide	005 (.004)	Married#freedom	.004** (.001)	
Unemployed#homicide	.01* (.005)	Unemployed#freedom	003 (.002)	
Urban#homicide	.0003 (.004)	Urban#freedom	.002 (.001)	
Victim (self)#homicide	.01** (.004)	Victim (self)#freedom	00003 (.002)	
Victim (family)#homicide	.01** (.004)	Victim (family)#freedom	001 (.002)	
Crime (home)#homicide (1)	.01* (.004)	Crime (home)#freedom (1)	.003* (.001)	
Crime (home)#homicide (2)	.02** (.006)	Crime (home)#freedom (2)	.002 (.002)	
Crime (home)#homicide (3)	.01 (.01)	Crime (home)#freedom (3)	.003 (.003)	
Crime (gen)#homicide (1)	.005 (.004)	Crime (gen)#freedom (1)	.003* (.001)	
Crime (gen)#homicide (2)	.007 (.007)	Crime (gen)#freedom (2)	.01** (.002)	
Crime (gen)#homicide (3)	001 (.01)	Crime (gen)#freedom (3)	.01** (.004)	
Fear war#homicide (1)	001 (.005)	Fear war#freedom (1)	.006*** (.002)	
Fear war#homicide (2)	004 (.007)	Fear war#freedom (2)	.007** (.002)	
Fear war#homicide (3)	006 (.009)	Fear war#freedom (3)	.007* (.003)	
Fear terrorism#homicide (1)	.004 (.005)	Fear terrorism#freedom (1)	.01*** (.002)	
Fear terrorism#homicide (2)	008 (.006)	Fear terrorism#freedom (2)	.01*** (.002)	
Fear terrorism#homicide (3)	009 (.008)	Fear terrorism#freedom (3)	.01*** (.002)	
Vicarious#homicide (1)	.01* (.005)	Vicarious#freedom (1)	001 (.002)	
Vicarious#homicide (2)	.02** (.01)	Vicarious#freedom (2)	002 (.003)	
Vicarious#homicide (3)	.02 (.01)	Vicarious#freedom (3)	002 (.004)	
Nat. pride#homicide (1)	.001 (.007)	Nat. pride#freedom (1)	005 (.003)	
Nat. pride#homicide (2)	009 (.009)	Nat. pride#freedom (2)	004 (.003)	
Nat. pride#homicide (3)	02 (.01)	Nat. pride#freedom (3)	006 (.004)	
Nat. identity#homicide (1)	.001 (.007)	Nat. identity#freedom (1)	.005* (.002)	
Nat. identity#homicide (2)	007 (.009)	Nat. identity#freedom (2)	.006 (.003)	
Nat. identity#homicide (3)	006 (.01)	Nat. identity#freedom (3)	.004 (.004)	
Trust#homicide	.005 (.005)	Trust#freedom	.0002 (.001)	
Association#homicide	006 (.005)	Association#freedom	0004 (.002)	
Corruption#homicide	.001 (.002)	Corruption#freedom	00005 (.0005)	
Democracy#homicide	001 (.001)	Democracy#freedom	.0001 (.0002)	

Table 26: Police legitimacy cross-level interaction effects

 $N = 61,648; K = 47; p^* < .05; p^{**} < .01; p^{***} < .001$

Homicide rate interaction models		Freedom score interaction models		
Interaction	b (SE)	Interaction	b (SE)	
Age#homicide	00003 (.0002)	Age#freedom	.00003 (.00006)	
Sex#homicide	002 (.004)	Sex#freedom	.000003 (.001)	
Education#homicide (1)	.001 (.004)	Education#freedom (1)	0001 (.002)	
Education#homicide (2)	002 (.003)	Education#freedom (2)	.002 (.002)	
Married#homicide	.0002 (.004)	Married#freedom	.001 (.001)	
Unemployed#homicide	.003 (.01)	Unemployed#freedom	.003 (.002)	
Urban#homicide	004 (.005)	Urban#freedom	.004* (.002)	
Victim (self)#homicide	.01* (.005)	Victim (self)#freedom	.004* (.002)	
Victim (family)#homicide	.01** (.005)	Victim (family)#freedom	.002 (.002)	
Crime (home)#homicide (1)	.02*** (.004)	Crime (home)#freedom (1)	.0004 (.001)	
Crime (home)#homicide (2)	.02** (.01)	Crime (home)#freedom (2)	.003 (.002)	
Crime (home)#homicide (3)	.01* (.01)	Crime (home)#freedom (3)	003 (.004)	
Crime (gen)#homicide (1)	.01* (.004)	Crime (gen)#freedom (1)	0004 (.001)	
Crime (gen)#homicide (2)	.02** (.01)	Crime (gen)#freedom (2)	.001 (.002)	
Crime (gen)#homicide (3)	.01 (.01)	Crime (gen)#freedom (3)	.005 (.004)	
Fear war#homicide (1)	.001 (.005)	Fear war#freedom (1)	.004* (.002)	
Fear war#homicide (2)	0004 (.01)	Fear war#freedom (2)	.005* (.002)	
Fear war#homicide (3)	.004 (.01)	Fear war#freedom (3)	.003 (.003)	
Fear terrorism#homicide (1)	004 (.005)	Fear terrorism#freedom (1)	.005** (.002)	
Fear terrorism#homicide (2)	004 (.01)	Fear terrorism#freedom (2)	.003 (.002)	
Fear terrorism#homicide (3)	.0005 (.01)	Fear terrorism#freedom (3)	.003 (.002)	
Vicarious#homicide (1)	.01* (.005)	Vicarious#freedom (1)	0001 (.002)	
Vicarious#homicide (2)	.02** (.01)	Vicarious#freedom (2)	0005 (.003)	
Vicarious#homicide (3)	.02 (.01)	Vicarious#freedom (3)	.001 (.004)	
Nat. pride#homicide (1)	.0003 (.01)	Nat. pride#freedom (1)	004 (.003)	
Nat. pride#homicide (2)	01 (.01)	Nat. pride#freedom (2)	01* (.003)	
Nat. pride#homicide (3)	01 (.01)	Nat. pride#freedom (3)	01** (.003)	
Nat. identity#homicide (1)	0001 (.01)	Nat. identity#freedom (1)	001 (.002)	
Nat. identity#homicide (2)	0002 (.01)	Nat. identity#freedom (2)	002 (.003)	
Nat. identity#homicide (3)	.004 (.01)	Nat. identity#freedom (3)	006 (.003)	
Trust#homicide	.01 (.01)	Trust#freedom	.004* (.002)	
Association#homicide	.003 (.005)	Association#freedom	.002 (.002)	
Corruption#homicide	.002 (.001)	Corruption#freedom	001* (.0004)	
Democracy#homicide	0005 (.001)	Democracy#freedom	0004 (.0004)	

Table 27: Court legitimacy cross-level interaction effects

 $N = 61,648; K = 47; p^* < .05; p^{**} < .01; p^{***} < .001$

VI. SUMMARY AND DISCUSSION

These results offered valuable insight into the complex tapestry of relationships that exist between legitimacy and its antecedents around the world, ultimately providing partial support for all three research hypotheses. To reiterate, these hypotheses predicted that (1) the individual-level sources of legitimacy would vary in their effects across countries, (2) that some of this variation could be explained by national-level characteristics, and (3) that these relationships at both levels would differ between police and courts.

Investigation of cross-national variation in the effects of explanatory variables in a series of multilevel random-effects models found support for the first hypothesis. The second hypothesis was partially supported by the results of cross-level interaction models, although the ability of the included national-level factors to explain variation in effect was limited to only some of the predictor variables. Lastly, results of separate binary logistic regression analyses provided partial support for the third hypothesis, indicating that several individual-level effects, national-level variation in these effects, and the potential to explain this variation using the included national-level factors differed between police and courts.

Fixed-effects coefficient estimates from these various models allowed for broad inferences regarding the global mean relationships likely to exist between these predictor variables and the legitimacy of legal authorities. While the entire purpose of this analysis was to indicate the irrelevance of broad measures of central tendency when analyzing a complex concept such as legitimacy across a wide variety of national contexts, these global mean values provided a point of comparison around which predictors could be

understood to display significant variation across countries. Importantly, a relationship appearing to be small or nonsignificant on average across all countries does not preclude the possibility of significant and large relationships in some countries. To this end, each slope was allowed to vary across countries in a series of random-effects models, crosslevel interactions were tested, and separate binary logistic regression models were evaluated for substantial differences between the effects of predictor variables on the legitimacy of police compared to courts. The following paragraphs summarize the overall conclusions of these models and discuss their relevance in the context of the wider research literature surrounding the legitimacy of legal authorities.

Demographics

Age did not display a consistently significant relationship with legitimacy on average across all countries, but significant variance shown in the random-effects model indicated that the effect of this variable was likely to depend on national context. Interaction models did not indicate that the effect of age on legitimacy was influenced by either the homicide rate or the freedom score, and the significant variation in this effect across countries could not be explained by these higher-level characteristics. The results of binary logistic analyses evaluating the legitimacy of police and courts as separate outcomes offered a partial explanation for the absence of any significant relationship between age and the combined legitimacy measure. These models revealed a significant positive relationship between age and the legitimacy of police, but a significant negative relationship between age and the legitimacy of courts. Random-effects models found significant cross-national variation in both relationships, but interaction models once again provided no indication that either effect was influenced by national-level variation in the homicide rate or the freedom score.

These inconclusive results align with the inconsistent findings of previous research on the relationship between age and legitimacy. While some have found generally positive associations between age and police legitimacy specifically (e.g., Brown & Benedict, 2002; Hurst & Frank, 2000; Reisig & Parks, 2000), others have noted that the effect of age may depend on national context (e.g., Boateng, 2018; Ferdik et al., 2013; Hinds, 2007; McLean et al., 2018; Nivette et al., 2020; Reynolds et al., 2018). Significant variation in the effect of age revealed in these models provided support for the latter assessment. Cross-national differences in the effect of age may be attributable to different generational values, group identities, and social bonds that likely result from the wide variety of unique social, cultural, and historical factors present in different countries. Furthermore, the current study found evidence that the effect of age on legitimacy may not be the same for different types of legal authority. While older individuals might indeed have more positive attitudes toward police, this association does not necessarily extend to other types of legal authority.

Sex was significantly and positively associated with legitimacy on average across all countries, with female respondents generally reporting slightly more positive attitudes toward legal authorities overall. Once again, significant variation in this effect was discovered across countries, and the strength and direction of this effect in any given country appeared likely to depend on national context. In some nations, being female may indeed be positively associated with the legitimacy of legal authorities, while in others this relationship may be less positive or even negative. Interaction models did not

reveal any significant influence from national-level measures of the homicide rate or the freedom score. The lack of significant interaction with freedom score was particularly notable because this index contained measures related to sex and gender equality. The relationship between sex and legitimacy was theorized to be more positive in countries with more rights guaranteed for women and less positive in countries with fewer such rights guaranteed. However, the current analysis did not provide evidence of such an interaction. The source of variation in the effect of sex may be related to other factors, perhaps embedded in cultural norms that run deeper than the political and civil rights captured by the freedom index.

Binary logistic models revealed similar relationships between sex and the legitimacy of police and courts, with female respondents generally reporting more positive attitudes toward both types of legal authority. Interestingly, logistic random-effects models found that while the effect of sex on *police legitimacy* did not vary significantly across countries, this effect displayed significant cross-national variation in the *court legitimacy* model. It would appear from these results that the positive relationship between sex and legitimacy is more consistent across countries for police than it is for courts. Binary logistic interaction models did not indicate the presence of significant interactions between these effects and either the homicide rate or the freedom score, again somewhat surprising results considering the implications of a low freedom score for sex and gender equality. Whatever cross-national variation may exist in the relationship between sex and legitimacy, it appears unrelated to differences in democratic freedoms.

There was a significant negative relationship between education and legitimacy on average. This effect displayed significant cross-national variation but no significant interaction with either the homicide rate or the freedom score. Binary logistic models revealed similarly significant and negative relationships with the legitimacy of police and courts but found notable differences in the effect of education between these types of legal authority. For police legitimacy, the negative effect of possessing a moderate level of education compared to a low level was smaller than the negative effect of a high level of education. But for court legitimacy, this pattern was reversed, with a moderate level of education associated with a larger negative effect than a high level of education. In other words, while education overall had a negative effect on the legitimacy of both types of legal authority, the effect of a moderate level of education was less negative for police and more negative for courts, while the effect of a high level of education was more negative for police and less negative for courts. Random-slope models found significant variance components for the effect of education on both police and courts, but interaction models did not reveal significant relationships with national-level predictors.

These results align with mixed findings in previous research regarding the effect of education on legitimacy. While some studies have determined higher levels of education to be associated with lower levels of legitimacy (e.g., Jang et al., 2010; Stack & Cao, 1998), this relationship has been found to vary depending on national differences in educational systems, cultural meanings of education, and school curricula (Boateng et al., 2016; Hinds & Murphy, 2007; Luo et al., 2019; Sunshine & Tyler, 2003; Weitzer & Tuch, 2005). The current results indicate that in addition to these likely differences across national contexts, the effect of education on legitimacy may also vary between police and other types of legal authority, such as courts.

The relationship between marriage and legitimacy appeared tenuous overall in these models. While being married had a significant positive effect on legitimacy in OLS and fixed-effects models, this effect was no longer significant once its slope was allowed to vary in the random-effects model. The effect of marriage showed significant variation across countries, and at least some of this variation was found likely to be attributable to differences in the national-level freedom score. In very low-freedom countries, marriage was found to have a negative effect on the legitimacy of legal authorities, while in countries with higher freedom scores this effect became positive. Binary logistic models revealed differences between the effects of marriage on police and court legitimacy. For police legitimacy, being married had a significant and positive effect overall, but for court legitimacy this effect was non-significant. Random-effects models indicated significant cross-national variation in the effect of marriage on both of these outcomes. For police legitimacy, a significant interaction was again found between marriage and the freedom score. In countries with higher freedom scores, the effect of marriage was more positive than in countries with lower freedom scores. For court legitimacy, no significant interactions with the effect of marriage were found.

Prior research has indicated the difficulty of parsing the effect of marriage on legitimacy from related influences associated with sex, education, social class, social bonds, and social capital (Boateng, 2018; Cao & Wu, 2019; Cao & Zhao, 2005; Kääriäinen, 2007; McLean et al., 2018; Stack & Cao, 1998). This variable is likely capturing broader social factors related to attachment, status integration, and investment

in conventional society (Gibbs, 2000). However, the specific implications and importance of marriage for these social connections is likely to depend not only on the sex and gender of the person in question, but on the broader cultural norms and traditions regarding the practice in their society (Stafford & Gibbs, 1988). These results provided evidence that the individual-level relationship between marriage and legitimacy varies across countries, and that this variation is affected in part by the national-level freedom score. Being married appears to increase the perceived legitimacy of police in countries with greater civil liberties and political rights but decrease the perceived legitimacy of police in countries lacking such protections.

There was a significant negative association between unemployment and legitimacy overall in the fixed-effects model, but no significant association in the random-effects model. The effect of unemployment was found to vary significantly across countries, and a significant interaction was discovered between this individuallevel effect and the national-level freedom score. In low-freedom countries, unemployment had a positive effect on legitimacy, while in high-freedom countries it had a negative effect. Binary logistic models revealed no significant relationship overall with either of the disaggregated outcome variables, but once again there was significant variation in this effect across countries. In contrast to the combined legitimacy model, binary interaction models showed a significant positive interaction between the homicide rate and the effect of unemployment on police legitimacy, but there was no interaction with the freedom score in the police legitimacy model, nor were significant interactions found with either national-level variable in the court legitimacy model. The effect of

unemployment overall appeared relatively inconsistent and likely to depend on the implications of being unemployed within a particular national context.

Similar to the variable capturing marital status, this measure may have acted as a proxy for social attachment and investment more generally (Gibbs, 2000; Stafford & Gibbs, 1985). However, the relationship between unemployment and social bonding is likely to depend once again on the specific implications of this social status in a particular country. Some nations may offer more social support for those facing unemployment, perhaps alleviating some of the alienation that results, while in other nations, the unemployed are left to fend for themselves, shamed, or even criminalized. Results here indicate that the relationship between unemployment and legitimacy partially depends on a nation's freedom score, with unemployment having a negative effect in high-freedom countries and a positive effect in low-freedom countries. In addition, binary logistic models found that unemployment had a less negative effect on police legitimacy in countries with higher homicide rates, indicating that this type of social attachment and commitment may be less relevant to the legitimacy of police in low-security environments, where instrumental concerns over safety are more likely to take precedent.

Urban residence was significantly and negatively associated with legitimacy overall. These findings align with previous research indicating a distinctly negative relationship between urban residence and legitimacy in many countries (Benedict et al., 2000; Gau et al., 2012; Taylor et al., 2015; Taylor & Lawton, 2012). This effect displayed significant variation across countries, but there was no significant interaction with either the homicide rate or freedom score. Binary logistic models indicated a similar pattern, with urban residence exerting a negative influence on the legitimacy of both

police and courts, although this negative effect appeared somewhat stronger for police legitimacy. Logistic random-effects models revealed significant variation in both effects, and while no significant interactions were found in the police legitimacy model, the freedom score interacted significantly with the effect of urban residence in the court legitimacy model. In high-freedom countries, urban residence appeared to have a somewhat less negative effect on the legitimacy of courts than in low-freedom countries. These results provide support for the notion that the relationship between urban residence and legitimacy depends on national context and is not universally negative (Sun et al., 2013).

Prior Victimization

Prior victimization was significantly and negatively associated with the legitimacy of legal authorities, but this effect varied significantly across countries and displayed a positive interaction with the national-level homicide rate. Prior victimization appeared to have a negative effect on legitimacy in low-homicide countries, while having a positive effect in high-homicide countries. No significant interaction was found between this effect and the freedom score. Binary logistic models indicated differences in this relationship between police and courts. Prior victimization remained significantly and negatively associated with the legitimacy of both types of legal authority, and variation in the effect of prior victimization on court legitimacy remained significant, but random-effects models indicated no significant cross-national variation in this effect for police legitimacy. Interaction models found that, despite the lack of a significant variance component, the effect of prior victimization on police legitimacy interacted significantly with the homicide rate, while the effect on court legitimacy interacted with both the

homicide rate and the freedom score. Prior victimization displayed positive effects on the legitimacy of both police and courts in countries with higher homicide rates, while having negative effects in low-homicide countries. In addition, the effect of prior victimization on court legitimacy was more positive in countries with higher freedom scores.

Family victimization was also significantly and negatively associated with the legitimacy of legal authorities overall, and this effect varied significantly across countries. A significant positive interaction was found with the homicide rate, with family victimization displaying more positive effects in countries with higher homicide rates. For legitimacy overall, no significant interaction was found between the effect of family victimization and the freedom score. Logistic models indicated similar patterns for the legitimacy of both police and courts as separate outcomes, with family victimization significantly and negatively associated with the legitimacy of both types of legal authority and both models indicating significant variation in these effects across countries. However, in contrast to the combined outcome model, logistic random-effects models found significant interactions with the homicide rate. For both police and courts, the homicide rate appeared to positively influence the relationship between family victimization and legitimacy, making family victimization exert a more positive influence in countries with higher homicide rates. The national-level freedom score did not display significant interaction with either relationship.

Research to date has indicated a significant association between criminal victimization and fear of crime, with victims tending to perceive greater amounts of vulnerability and risk both at home and in their neighborhoods (Alda et al., 2017; Orr & West, 2007; Sprott & Doob, 1997; Stafford & Galle, 1984). However, what is less clear is

to what extent victimization affects attitudes toward legal authorities, such as police and courts. Not all victims respond to their experiences in the same way, and the amount of fear people feel as a result of victimization may itself depend on perceptions related to the competence of legal authorities (Berthelot et al., 2017; Dowler & Sparks, 2008; Dull & Wint, 1997; Koster et al., 2016; Singer et al., 2019; Van Dijk, 2015; Wolfe et al., 2016). The current study indicated that differences exist between the effects of victimization and the effects of fear, between the effects of victimization in different countries, and between the effects of victimization, fear of crime, and the legitimacy of different types of authority becomes an increasingly daunting endeavor when attempting to account for variation across countries, but the mixed associations indicated by these models are consistent with some of the contradictory international literature on the subject (Alda et al., 2017; Koenig, 1980; Nalla & Gurinskaya, 2020; Nivette, 2016; Singer et al., 2019; Tankebe, 2009; Van Dijk, 2015).

Fear of Crime

There was a complex relationship between fear of crime and legitimacy. Two different variables were included in the analysis to capture respondents' concerns over crime, one representing how often they fear crime at home and the other, how secure they feel in general. These results indicated substantial differences between the effects of these two measures on the legitimacy of legal authorities. Fixed-effects models found that higher levels of fear at home were significantly and positively associated with the legitimacy of legal authorities overall, but only one of these slopes was significant in the random-effects model, while all slopes displayed significant cross-national variation.

Some of this variation could be explained by a significant positive interaction with the national-level homicide rate in the lowest category. In low-homicide countries, perceiving fear of crime at home "rarely" compared to "never" appeared to exert a negative influence on legitimacy, but in high-homicide countries this same difference displayed a positive effect. Higher levels of this variable showed no significant interaction with either the homicide rate or freedom score.

Binary logistic models produced similarly mixed results regarding the effect of fear of crime at home on police and court legitimacy as separate outcomes. Fixed-effects models revealed significant positive relationships only in the second category, which represented the difference between fearing crime "sometimes" compared to "never." When slopes were allowed to vary in random-effects models, no significant relationship was found between fear of crime at home and either outcome, while both effects were found to vary significantly across countries. For police legitimacy, significant positive interactions were found between the homicide rate and the effects of the lower two categories of this variable. In high-homicide countries, lower levels of fear of crime at home appeared to have a more positive effect than in low-homicide countries. In addition, a significant positive interaction was also found between the freedom score and the effect of fear on police legitimacy. In countries with higher freedom scores, fearing crime at home "rarely" compared to "never" had a slightly more positive effect on the legitimacy of police than in countries with lower freedom scores. For court legitimacy, the homicide rate had a significant positive interaction with fear of crime at home across all three categories. Fear of crime at home had a more positive effect on the legitimacy of courts in high-homicide countries than in low-homicide countries.

Fear of crime in general exhibited a stronger and more consistently negative effect on legitimacy overall than did fear of crime at home, but this effect again varied significantly across countries. Interaction models found some of this cross-national variation to be attributable to differences in the freedom score. In low-freedom countries, fear of crime in general had a more negative effect on legitimacy than in high-freedom countries. For the combined legitimacy measure, no significant interaction was found between the effect of fear of crime in general and the homicide rate. Binary logistic models, while still showing the same negative effect of fear of crime in general on the legitimacy of both police and courts, along with significant cross-national variation in both relationships, indicated that the freedom score had a positive interaction with this effect for police, while the homicide rate had a positive interaction with this effect for courts. In countries with higher freedom scores, fear of crime in general had a less negative effect on the legitimacy of police, and in countries with higher homicide rates, fear of crime in general had a less negative effect on the legitimacy of courts.

These results were generally consistent with prior research that has found fear of crime to be an important instrumental source of legitimacy for legal authorities in many different countries (Boateng, 2017; Bottoms & Tankebe, 2012; Jang et al., 2010; Koenig, 1980; St. Louis & Greene, 2019; Sunshine & Tyler, 2003; Tankebe, 2009; Weitzer & Tuch, 2005). However, models showed substantial differences between the effect of fear of crime at home and the effect of fear of crime in general. On average, fear of crime at home exerted relatively weak positive effect on legitimacy overall and on the legitimacy of police and courts individually, especially in countries with higher homicide rates. By contrast, fear of crime in general exerted a much stronger negative effect on legitimacy

overall and on the legitimacy of police and courts individually. While all of these effects were found to vary significantly across countries, clear differences were evident between fear of crime at home and fear of crime in general, not just in terms of the predicted direction of the effect but also its magnitude. These differences might be related to these variables having slightly different meanings and being phrased differently in the original survey instrument. Fear of crime at home measured the frequency of an occurrence within the past year, while fear of crime in general captured a broader sense of security without any specific time limitation. This might explain some of the dissimilarity between predicted relationships with legitimacy, but these differences likely also indicate actual dissimilarity in the effects of these measures on the legitimacy of legal authorities. Feeling unsafe from crime in one's home appears to have different connotations and implications for legitimacy than feeling unsafe in general, perhaps related to differing expectations for authorities (Armaline et al., 2014; Kochel, 2018; Tankebe, 2013; Skogan, 2009). While general security in one's neighborhood might be more likely to fall under the mandate given to legal authorities, security at home could be considered by some to be more of a personal responsibility. As these findings indicate, specific experiences with crime and general feelings of insecurity potentially have different implications for the legitimacy of legal authorities.

Fear of War and Terrorism

Fear of war displayed a relatively weak association with legitimacy overall, as this effect only achieved significance in the fixed-effects model in the second category, (i.e., "a great deal" compared to "not much") and was non-significant in the randomeffects model. However, the relationship between fear of war and legitimacy displayed

significant variation across countries, some of which was likely attributable to interaction with the national-level freedom score. In low-freedom countries, fear of war had a negative effect on legitimacy at its lower two levels, only becoming positive at the highest level, while in high-freedom countries, fear of war displayed a positive effect on legitimacy across all categories. In binary logistic models, the relationship between fear of war and legitimacy did not achieve statistical significance for either police or courts, but there was significant variation in both relationships across countries. For both police and courts, the national-level freedom score was again found to interact with the effect of fear of war on legitimacy. In high-freedom countries, fear of war appeared to have a more positive effect on the legitimacy of police and courts than in low-freedom countries.

In contrast to fear of war, fear of terrorism displayed a consistently significant, much stronger, and notably positive effect on legitimacy overall. This effect showed significant variation across countries and was influenced by the national-level freedom score. The difference between "none" and "not much" fear of terrorism was associated with a negative effect on legitimacy in low-freedom countries but a positive effect in high-freedom countries, while all other categories displayed positive effects regardless of the freedom score. Binary logistic models revealed similarly significant and positive effects on the legitimacy of both police and courts, although fear of terrorism had a substantially larger positive effect on legitimacy for police than for courts. Logistic random-effects models indicated significant variation in both relationships, partially attributable to a significant positive interaction with the national-level freedom score in both models.
These results provided further evidence that concerns about national-level security issues such as war and terrorism appear to differ in their influence on people's perceptions of legal authorities when compared to individual-level concerns about crime. Unlike the negative relationship displayed by fear of crime, measures of fear of war and especially fear of terrorism were found to be positively related to the legitimacy of legal authorities overall. This aligns with prior research that has revealed support for law enforcement to increase after terrorist attacks or during wartime, indicating the existence of a different symbolic pathway to legitimacy likely related not only to fear, but also to national identity and patriotism (Banjak-Corle & Wallace, 2020; Brown & Benedict, 2002; Jonathan, 2010; Jonathan-Zamir & Weisburd, 2013; Sela-Shayovitz, 2014; Sunshine & Tyler, 2003).

Further, these models indicated that the effect of fear of war on legitimacy may be very different from the effect of fear of terrorism. Although both may be considered external threats, these different sources of concern appear to have different implications for the legitimacy of legal authorities, perhaps because terrorism is more likely to fall under the mandate given to police and courts, while war is seen as the purview of other government entities and institutions, such as the military and intelligence agencies. Similar to fear of war, fear of terrorism displayed a significant interaction effect with the national-level freedom score. This could indicate that national-level threats are more damaging to legitimacy and the image of state power in countries with fewer democratic freedoms, a finding that would align with Beetham's (1991) suggestion that in the absence of popular legitimation through democratic processes, authoritarian states more heavily rely on instrumental performance standards as their source of legitimacy. When

these governments fail to meet such standards, for example by not providing citizens with sufficient security from the dangers of war and terrorism, they have few other wellsprings of legitimation to draw from, as they lack broad popular support based on the principles of democratic consent (Beetham, 1991).

Vicarious Experience

Vicarious experience, measured in this study as the frequency with which authorities were perceived to interfere in people's private lives, displayed a significant negative effect on legitimacy overall. However, this global average effect once again varied significantly across countries in the random-effects model, and interaction models indicated that some of this variation was likely attributable to differences in the nationallevel homicide rate. In low-homicide countries, vicarious experience had a consistently negative effect on legitimacy across all levels, but in high-homicide countries, this variable had a positive effect at all but its highest level. These results indicated that in low-security contexts, even a great deal of interference by authorities in people's private lives might be tolerated or even welcomed by respondents, while no such interference is tolerated in high-security environments. This suggests that boundary concerns are less relevant and expansions of the mandate more tolerated where security concerns are heightened.

Logistic regression models similarly indicated that vicarious experience had a significant and negative effect on legitimacy for both police and courts, but the effect on police legitimacy was much larger than the effect on court legitimacy. Both logistic random-effects models showed significant random variation in the effect of vicarious experience, and both models indicated significant positive interactions between this

variable and the national-level homicide rate. For both police and courts, vicarious experience was more positively associated with legitimacy in countries with higher homicide rates, and more negatively associated with legitimacy in countries with lower homicide rates.

Group Identity

Measures of group identity were found to be significantly and positively associated with the legitimacy of legal authorities overall, but some differences existed between the effects of national pride and national identity. National pride was significantly and positively associated with legitimacy in its highest two levels. The lack of significance in the lowest comparison could be expected because the difference between being "not very proud" of one's nation and "not proud at all" was unlikely to be as impactful as the difference between either "quite proud" or "very proud" and "not proud at all." These results provided some indication that a dichotomized version of this variable may have produced more efficient estimates of the same effect. Random-effects models found this relationship to vary significantly across countries, and interaction models indicated that some of this variation was attributable to differences in the national-level freedom score. In low-freedom countries, national pride appeared to have a much more positive effect on legitimacy than in high-freedom countries.

Binary logistic models similarly indicated a positive relationship between national pride and legitimacy but found this relationship to be stronger for police than for courts. This distinction further revealed that respondents likely possessed somewhat different attitudes towards police and courts, and perhaps derived their perceptions of the legitimacy of these authorities from different sources. The combination of different legal

institutions into index measures, such as the one included in this study, may obscure this variation in attitudes toward specific types of authority. Both models revealed significant variation in these effects, and while no significant interactions were found for police legitimacy, the effect of national pride on court legitimacy was found to interact negatively with the freedom score. In high-freedom countries, national pride had a less positive effect on the legitimacy of courts than in low-freedom countries.

National identity had a similarly significant and positive association with legitimacy overall, but random-effects models once again indicated the presence of significant variation in this effect across countries. However, no significant interactions were found with either the homicide rate or the freedom score. Logistic models indicated that stronger and more consistent positive relationships existed for the higher two levels of this variable, again providing evidence that a dichotomous measure of national identity would potentially produce similar results. For both police and courts, higher levels of national identity were associated with more legitimacy overall, but these effects once again varied significantly across countries. In the police legitimacy model, this effect also showed a slight positive interaction with the freedom score, with national identity in high-freedom countries associated with a more positive influence on police legitimacy than in low-freedom countries. No significant interactions were found in the court legitimacy model.

These results generally supported previous research findings that the groups with which individuals identify strongly impact their attitudes toward legal authorities (Blumer, 1958; Bradford et al., 2020; Braithwaite, 2003; Loader & Walker, 2007; Murphy & Cherney, 2012; Radburn & Stott, 2018; Reynolds et al., 2018; Schatz &

Lavine, 2007; Trinkner, 2019). A sense of belonging to the "in-group," represented here by feelings of national pride and national identity, was generally found to be associated with more positive attitudes toward legal authorities, although these positive effects were strongest in low-freedom countries.

Notably, the different relationships found between freedom score and the effects of national pride and national identity may indicate that identification with one's nation is distinct from pride in one's nation, with each having different implications for the legitimacy of legal authorities in different contexts. While identifying with one's nation was associated with more legitimacy in high-freedom countries, having pride in one's nation was associated was more legitimacy in low-freedom countries. These findings are consistent with international research indicating that legitimacy may be more dependent on group identity in less-democratic contexts, where allegiance to the in-group represented by legal authorities is more of an imperative than a choice. Authoritarian regimes are often highly dependent on the promotion of a strong sense of national identity among their populations, often under the guise of populist movements, as they lack the ability to derive their legitimacy from rational principles of popular electoral consent (Beetham, 1991; Brudny & Finkel, 2011; Fauve, 2015; Günay & Dzihic, 2016; Ortmann, 2009; Pratt, 2007; Von Soest & Gauvogel, 2017).

Social Capital

Measures of social capital were found to be positively associated with the legitimacy of legal authorities overall. Trust displayed a significant and positive association with legitimacy, as well as significant variation in effect across countries. However, no significant interactions were discovered with the homicide rate or the

freedom score that could explain this cross-national variation. Logistic regression models indicated similarly significant and positive relationships between trust and the legitimacy of both police and courts, although this effect appeared somewhat larger for police than for courts. No significant interactions were found in the police legitimacy model, but for court legitimacy the effect of trust was found to interact significantly with the freedom score. Trust had a more positive effect on the legitimacy of courts in countries with higher freedom scores.

Voluntary association was also significantly and positively associated with legitimacy overall. This effect showed significant variation across countries but no significant interactions with either the homicide rate or the freedom score. Logistic models indicated significant positive associations between this variable and the legitimacy of both police and courts, although the effect once again appeared somewhat larger for police than for courts. Logistic random-effects models indicated that both relationships varied significantly across countries, but these models also found no significant cross-level interactions with either the homicide rate or the freedom score.

As previously discussed, social capital has generally been found to increase the ability of individuals to effectively influence social institutions such as police and the justice system, thereby increasing the perceived legitimacy of these institutions (Cao & Wu, 2019; Newton & Norris, 1999; Putnam, 2000; Rothstein & Stolle, 2008; Van Craen, 2013). The results here provided support for this contention, with trust in others and voluntary association both displaying significant positive associations with legitimacy. However, significant variance components discovered in each effect indicate that this relationship is far from universal and is likely to depend on national context. Whatever

affects this variation, it does not appear related to differences between countries in either their homicide rate or freedom score. As previously mentioned, the meaning of voluntary association and the importance of interpersonal trust may differ according to cultural and social factors not captured by the included national-level measures (Boateng, 2018; De Zuniga et al., 2019; Hu et al., 2019; Kääriäinen, 2007; O'Loughlin, 2004; Tausch, 2016; Tsushima & Hamai, 2015).

Moral Alignment

Two measures of moral alignment – perceived corruption and importance of democracy – were included to capture the extent to which respondents' perceptions of civic morality were related to their attitudes toward legal authorities. Perceived corruption was significantly and negatively associated with legitimacy overall. There was significant variation in this effect across countries, but no significant interactions with either the homicide rate or the freedom score. Binary logistic models revealed similarly significant and negative relationships between perceived corruption and the legitimacy of both police and courts, although corruption appeared to have a slightly more negative effect on attitudes toward courts than toward police. No significant interactions were found in the police legitimacy model, but the court legitimacy model found a significant negative interaction with the freedom score. Perceived corruption appeared to have a more negative effect on the legitimacy of courts in high-freedom countries than in lowfreedom countries. These findings are consistent with research that has found a relationship between legitimacy and the perceived alignment of authority figures with normative, ethical, and moral standards (Coicaud, 2002; Gilley, 2006; Kelling & Coles, 1998; Mazerolle et al., 2012; Reisig et al., 2011; Tyler, 2009). These results are also

supportive of existing literature suggesting that those who perceive more corruption in their country tend to have less confidence in legal authorities (Jackson et al., 2014; Kochel et al., 2013; Levi et al., 2009; Punch & Gilmour, 2010; Tankebe et al., 2016).

Importance of democracy was significantly and positively associated with legitimacy overall. This variable also displayed significant variation in its effects across countries, but no significant interactions with the homicide rate or the freedom score. Logistic regression models indicated similarly significant and positive relationships between importance of democracy and the legitimacy of police and courts, as well as significant variation in both relationships. However, these models found no significant interactions with either the homicide rate or the freedom score. These results were somewhat surprising, as importance of democracy was expected to vary in its effect on legitimacy depending on the level of democratic freedom in a particular country. Strong democratic values were theorized to be conducive to moral alignment with legal authorities in more democratic societies, but these same values were thought likely to be associated with defiance of authority and disillusionment with legal institutions in more autocratic and authoritarian societies (De Zuniga et al., 2019). Contrary to these predictions, the relationship between importance of democracy and legitimacy displayed no such significant interaction with the freedom score. Although this effect did vary significantly across countries and was not likely to have the same effect on legitimacy everywhere, the source of this variation appeared to be unrelated to the included measure of democratic freedom.

Homicide and Freedom

In addition to interacting with other relationships in the model, national-level predictors themselves exerted direct effects on legitimacy at the individual level. The homicide rate was significantly and negatively associated with legitimacy overall, and logistic regression models found similar results for both police and courts. These findings were consistent with previous research indicating a direct negative association between national-level crime rates and individual-level perceptions of legal authorities (Chamlin & Cochran, 2006; Dawson, 2017, 2018). It should be noted that while the homicide rate is assumed to be capturing an objective measure of public safety, this variable could also be reflective of the effectiveness of social control mechanisms in a country, a measure that itself has important implications for people's subjective perceptions of authority.

Stafford & Gibbs (1993) theorized that the absence of effective social control leads to a higher incidence of interpersonal disputes, violence, and homicide. However, while this absence of control is potentially related to the perceived effectiveness of legal authorities, a connection at the micro level cannot reasonably be inferred from the national-level homicide rate. The large amount of variation that likely exists within countries in terms of individual-level experiences with crime and disorder precludes any conclusion regarding direct relationships between the national-level homicide rate and individual-level perceptions of social control. Such inferences are better drawn from individual-level measures included in the analysis that might pertain to individual-level perceptions of lack of control, such as fear of crime and prior victimization.

The freedom score did not display a significant direct association with legitimacy overall, nor with the legitimacy of police or courts individually. The lack of any direct

effect for this variable, which is designed to rank countries in terms of their political rights and civil liberties, did not support some of the more traditional normative conceptualizations of the inherent legitimacy of democratic forms of government (e.g., Habermas, 1975; Rawls, 1971). A nation's freedom score did not appear to have any direct bearing on whether respondents in a particular country expressed more positive attitudes toward legal authorities. Freedom score was also found to be negatively associated mean legitimacy at the national level. However, the national-level freedom score was found to exert interactive effects on individual-level relationships between legitimacy and many other explanatory variables. While level of democracy may not directly influence legitimacy, it appears likely to alter the criteria by which legitimacy is evaluated.

In Summation

This study hypothesized that (1) the individual-level sources of legitimacy would vary in their effects across countries, (2) some of this variation could be explained by national-level characteristics, and (3) these relationships at both levels would differ between police and courts. These results provided partial support for all three hypotheses and offered valuable suggestions for the future study of legitimacy. The antecedents of legitimacy included in this analysis all displayed significant variation in their effects across countries, many were found to interact with national-level measures of the homicide rate and the freedom score, and the relationships for several variables varied between police and courts. While some of this variation was found likely to be attributable to national-level differences in security and liberty, future studies should investigate additional factors may affect the process of legitimation in different countries.

VII. CONCLUSION



Illustration 4: The Dead Alchemist by Elihu Vedder

Overall, this dissertation research provided evidence in support of a legitimation process that is dependent on context, with antecedents taking on varying levels of importance in different countries and effects dependent on national-level characteristics. The search for a universal set of criteria upon which the legitimacy of legal authority is based may be futile when considering the diversity of attitudes and influences that exist around the world. Not only the meanings of legitimacy but also the mechanisms of legitimation appear likely to vary depending on the national context in which they appear. Any attempt at empirical measurement of legitimacy must account for the subjective conditions present in different contexts, cultures, and countries. This study was informed by three central research questions aimed at discerning to what extent the sources of legitimacy vary in their effect across different countries, what influence country-level characteristics have on this variation, and whether these relationships are similar for different types of legal authority. Results indicated significant cross-national variation in the individual-level effects of several theoretical antecedents of legitimacy, interaction between these effects and national-level measures of the homicide rate and the freedom score, and notable differences in these relationships between police and courts.

These results also have important macro-level implications for the debate over empirical and normative conceptions of legitimacy (Beetham, 1991; Coicaud, 2002; Gilley, 2012; Hinsch, 2010). It does not appear from this analysis that the legitimacy of legal authorities, measured here as confidence in police and courts, is any less likely to exist in authoritarian societies than it is in democratic societies. In fact, the countries that were rated highest in terms of mean legitimacy possessed relatively low freedom scores, while countries with the lowest levels of mean legitimacy tended to score comparatively higher in terms of democratic freedoms. These results were supported by aggregate-level regression analyses that indicated the presence of a significant and weak negative association between the freedom score and raw mean legitimacy at the national level. The mean level of legitimacy in a country, at least when measured as confidence in legal authorities, had a negative relationship with the strength of democratic political rights and civil liberties at the national level.

For example, the country in this sample with the highest mean level of legitimacy was Jordan, a near-autocratic monarchy that was rated 37 on the freedom score at the

time of the analysis, well below the sample mean of 55 and far from the high scores held by democratic nations such as Canada (98), Australia (97), Japan (96) and the United States (86). While parliamentary elections are held in Jordan on a regular basis, the executive wields enormous legislative power over this body and most important government positions are appointed unilaterally by the king. In addition, these elections are fraught with undue influence from powerful groups and unequal access to voting infrastructure. Media in Jordan are heavily restricted by the government, and academic education is highly monitored to prevent the dissemination of politically sensitive content. Jordanian law also places limitations on speech, expression, assembly, and religion (Freedom House, 2019). Nevertheless, respondents from Jordan rated the legitimacy of their police and courts higher on average than all other countries in the sample.

By contrast, the country in this sample with the lowest mean level of legitimacy was Peru, a relatively well-established democracy with a freedom score of 72, well above the average for this sample and far from the low scores held by authoritarian nations such as Tajikistan (9), Iran (17), Russia (20), and Vietnam (20). Elections in Peru are largely considered free and fair, although high-profile incidents of corruption and unequal access by indigenous groups have continued to undermine public confidence in the process. Media are free and independent, but defamation is strictly criminalized, and ownership of media companies is limited to a handful of wealthy elites. Academic freedom is not restricted, and citizens enjoy freedom of speech, expression, assembly, and religion (Freedom House, 2019). Despite these relatively positive democratic indicators,

respondents from Peru rated the legitimacy of their police and courts lower on average than all other countries in the sample.

The importance of a contextual analysis of legitimacy is exemplified by the significant cross-level interactions revealed in this multilevel analysis. In countries with very low freedom scores, marriage, fear of crime, fear of war, and fear of terrorism were negatively associated with the legitimacy of legal authorities, while unemployment and national pride were positively associated with legitimacy. But in countries with very high freedom scores, marriage, fear of war, and fear of terrorism were positively associated with legitimacy, the negative effect of fear of crime was attenuated, and unemployment and national pride displayed negative effects. In other words, heightened security concerns about war and terrorism were associated with less legitimacy in authoritarian countries, but these same anxieties were associated with more legitimacy in democratic countries. Similarly, national pride exhibited a much more positive relationship with legitimacy in authoritarian than in democratic countries. By contrast, measures of marriage and employment, often treated as proxy measures for active social bonds (Gibbs, 2000), were associated with less legitimacy in authoritarian countries but more legitimacy in democratic countries. And while fear of crime displayed a consistently negative relationship with legitimacy regardless of the freedom score, this relationship was significantly more negative in countries with lower freedom scores.

The significant cross-level interactions found in these models indicate that many predictors of legitimacy vary in strength and significance depending on a nation's freedom score. Instrumental factors regarding personal safety and national security, as well as personal identification with the state, appear to be more beneficial for the

legitimacy of police and courts in authoritarian societies, where the perceived lack of strength or capacity for control on the part of legal authorities can have more severe consequences for public confidence in state institutions and the need for a strong sense of patriotic duty among citizens can be more pronounced (Beetham, 1991). While prior research has found authoritarian nations to rely heavily on the creation of external threats for their internal legitimacy (e.g., Shakhrai, 2015), these results suggested that national security concerns have more negative effects on the legitimacy of legal authorities in countries with lower freedom scores. Legal authorities in democratic societies are comparatively less reliant on instrumental performance evaluations for their legitimacy, in particular those evaluations related to national security threats. These differences could be a result of the greater separation of powers between legal authorities and national governments in more democratic countries, leading individuals to be less likely to attribute national-level security concerns to failures of these domestic institutions. In contrast, authoritarian countries often possess militarized police forces and nationalized judicial systems, perhaps making citizens of these nations more likely to allocate responsibility for all manner of security failures to legal authorities (Hathazy, 2013; Mekouar, 2017; Sun et al., 2018; Way & Levitsky, 2006).

Compared to authoritarian societies, legitimacy in democracies also appears to be more dependent on the existence of strong social bonds among citizens. These findings are consistent with other research that has found authoritarian states to be more dependent on regime performance for their legitimacy than democratic societies, where legitimacy is more likely derived from the alignment of authorities with common social values (Beetham, 1991; Brudny & Finkel, 2011; Fauve, 2015; Günay & Dzihic, 2016;

Ortmann, 2009; Pratt, 2007; Von Soest & Gauvogel, 2017). By contrast, legitimacy in authoritarian states appears to be more dependent on the existence of strong feelings of national pride among citizens. In democratic societies, legitimacy seems to benefit from citizens having strong bonds to each other, while in authoritarian societies, legitimacy benefits from citizens having strong bonds to the state. National pride is less beneficial for the legitimacy of legal authorities in democracies, perhaps because democratic values encourage a healthy skepticism toward state authority (De Zuniga et al., 2019; Gilley, 2012; O'Loughlin, 2004). Attributing too much legitimacy to the state or its legal authorities is contrary to some of the most foundational democratic ideals. A wider range of opinions toward legal authorities is therefore perhaps to be expected from a more democratic citizenry.

The significant influence of the other national-level predictor included in this analysis, the homicide rate, provided additional evidence of the importance of contextual variation in the study of legitimacy. The homicide rate to was found to be significantly and negatively associated with mean legitimacy at the country level and all types of legitimacy at the individual level. Homicide rates in countries with the highest mean legitimacy scores, Jordan (1.40), Tajikistan (1.60), Vietnam (1.50), and Iran (2.50) were all well below the mean homicide rate in this sample (5.91), while those countries with the lowest mean legitimacy scores, Peru (7.70), Mexico (24.79), Guatemala (26.10), and Bolivia (6.30) all had homicide rates above the mean. These results are far from conclusive but provide some indication that at both macro and micro levels, instrumental concerns related to the homicide rate may have a greater influence on the perceived

legitimacy of a nation's legal authorities than normative concerns related to political rights and civil liberties.

The homicide rate was also found to interact with the individual-level effects of prior victimization, family victimization, fear of crime, and vicarious experience. In countries with higher homicide rates, prior victimization, fear of crime, and vicarious experience displayed more positive effects on the legitimacy of legal authorities than in countries with lower homicide rates. These findings suggest that personal experiences and instrumental concerns related to crime can have very different implications for legitimacy depending on a country's violent crime rate. In addition, significant interaction with the effect of vicarious experience provided evidence that even ostensibly negative "interference" by legal authorities with citizens' private lives can have varying consequences for the legitimacy of these authorities in different security contexts.

Normative theorists might dismiss these patterns by claiming that the high levels of perceived legitimacy expressed by citizens in non-democratic countries is not evidence of "true" legitimacy and instead merely represents coerced opinions or "dull compulsion" (Akinlabi & Murphy, 2018; Beetham, 1991; Carrabine, 2005; Cao et al., 2012; Rawls, 1971; Tankebe, 2013). However, the notion of "false" legitimacy makes little sense from an empirical perspective, suggesting as it does a normative definition of the concept based on an external judgement, as opposed to one derived solely from the assessments and actions of the citizens subject to a given authority (Cao et al., 2012; Dawson, 2017; Hinsch, 2010). Normative definitions of legitimacy that cannot be separated from democratic ideals are inconsistent with the fact that authoritarian regimes can be very popular internally, often inducing a level of fanatic devotion from citizens that appears

unlikely to be the result of mere "dull compulsion". Rather than discredit the opinions of these citizens as "false" or incompatible with normative definitions of legitimacy, research should strive to understand the forces that influence popular support for authority in different contexts.

These results may be inconsistent with a normative conception of legitimacy based on principles of democratic freedom and justice (e.g., Rawls, 1971), but perhaps still allow for the sort of transcendental interpretation suggested by Beetham (1991). What is needed is an empirical conception of "legitimacy-in-context" that is able to account for normative political and philosophical criteria based on principles such as legality, ethics, and consent. That acts of consent do not have to take the form of democratic elections seems clear, but the argument could be made that even authoritarian regimes still essentially rely on popular consent, although this consent may be manufactured in various ways by the state and expressed in different forms by citizens. To Beetham (1991), normative and empirical conceptions of legitimacy can complement each other because "it is reflection on the empirical processes through which legitimacy is reproduced that leads to the discovery of the principles and procedures of an ideal legitimacy which is not conditioned by the very power that it validates" (p. 247). The results of this study confirm an interpretation of legitimacy that may not be universal but is still empirically measurable using multilevel analysis to account for contextual variation in the effects of its predictors.

Measuring legitimacy in context allows for sources of legitimacy such as procedural justice, distributive justice, effectiveness, lawfulness, vicarious experience, group identity, social capital, and moral alignment to all play subjective roles in the

creation of this objective property, while enabling a greater understanding of the variation that exists across nations in terms of each factor's specific contextual relevance. While all of these elements of legitimacy might matter to some extent in most contexts, the specific extent to which they matter is likely influenced by contextual factors. These cross-level interactions can be measured empirically using multilevel modeling techniques such as those employed by the current study. Nearly all forms of government can be considered legitimate by their citizens, and a better understanding of the contextual factors that lead people to support different regime types, even decidedly undemocratic ones, will enable a more accurate grasp of the processes and mechanisms underlying legitimation. Knowing what makes people support authoritarian regimes can help democracies identify potential threats to their own continued popular support. Only by placing all systems on the same spectrum of legitimacy can researchers hope to make sense of why democratic institutions gain and lose popularity among their citizens. If legitimacy is to be understood at all, it must be understood in all contexts.

Notable limitations of this study include the lack of any direct measure of police contact or procedural justice, which produced a significant gap in the theoretical model analyzed here given the prevalence of these concepts in the literature on police legitimacy. This omission could not be avoided due to the absence of any such measure in the dataset being analyzed. But while the inclusion of procedural justice or other measures of direct contact with legal authorities would undoubtedly improve the explanatory power of the current model, these variables should not be considered essential to the study of legitimacy. As previously noted, while procedural justice is an integral part of many common conceptions of legitimacy, it is not the only factor relevant

to people's attitudes toward legal authorities, nor is it likely to influence the many individuals who have little meaningful contact with police or courts in their daily lives.

Furthermore, many definitions of procedural justice employ decidedly normative conceptualizations of proper legal procedure, imposing democratic notions of fairness and equality that may not be equally relevant in all societies. The included measure of vicarious experience, framed in terms of interference by authorities in people's private lives, is also tangentially related to boundary concerns associated with procedural justice. In order for citizens to make the judgement that authorities are interfering too much in people's private lives, there must exist a norm of separation between these spheres – the line between public and private must exist in people's minds for it to be crossed by authorities. This measure therefore presumably captured at least some of these boundary concerns associated with procedural and distributive justice.

Another limitation may reside in the use of *confidence* as the sole measure of legitimacy for this analysis. This variable may be better suited as part of a larger index of legitimacy encompassing not only confidence, which may derive entirely from instrumental assessments of authority, but clearer measures of trust, identification, and voluntary acts of endorsement that indicate recognition of state legitimacy (Beetham, 1991). However, increasing the complexity of any measure of legitimacy by including such concepts as constituent parts rather than antecedent effects risks imposing preconceived definitions of the concept that echo the normative prescriptions long made by political philosophers. To understand the complexity of its origins and implications in different civilizations, countries, and cultures, legitimacy must be understood as a

fundamentally emergent property that exists ephemerally at the intersection of diverse social, political, and historical vectors.

Yet another potential shortcoming of this analysis was the untested potential for clustering within groups above or below the country level. Preliminary analyses explored the potential for testing a three-level model that included primary sampling unit (PSU) as an intermediate level between individuals and countries. However, the variety of sampling techniques employed in the collection of WVS data rendered PSUs incomparable across countries, and the lack of any PSU coding for a great number of respondents would have resulted in the loss of substantially larger amounts of data. Future international survey research should attempt to measure such intermediate groups more precisely to allow for a better understanding of attitudinal clustering effects. In addition, the possibility remained that clustering effects were present above the country level, for example due to international alliances, cross-cultural similarities, colonial histories, or continental geography. However, sample sizes at such higher levels are likely to be quite small, complicating the use of multilevel modeling in arriving at valid estimates that account for such clustering. It was hoped that the inclusion of the freedom score and the homicide rate would account for at least some of these potential parallels between nations, but future research should attempt to identity other national-level variables that may explain similarities and differences in the mechanisms of legitimation.

Additional limitations regarding the generalizability of these results were associated with the sample of countries included in this analysis. As previously discussed, responses from China and Egypt could not be included in this analysis due to missing data on key explanatory variables. The possibility remains that the lack of data on

variables capturing attitudes toward formal authorities may in some countries have been related to social pressure, government censorship, or restrictions on thought and opinion that lead respondents to be less willing to answer such questions, or survey researchers less willing to ask them. Such a phenomenon may of course also have affected data that were included in this study, and overly positive reported attitudes towards ostensibly authoritarian forms of authority should likely be viewed with some caution.

Further sampling issues included the potential for inherent bias in the selection of countries included in the WVS, in which there is a notable absence of decidedly nondemocratic, underdeveloped, or conflict-prone nations, such as North Korea, South Sudan, Yemen, Venezuela, and Cuba. Including data from as many of these nations as possible would increase the potential for models to identify country-level characteristics that influence individual-level sources of legitimacy within a variety of regime types, economic contexts, and geopolitical orientations. In addition to the absence of these "outlier" nations, the most recent wave of the WVS also lacked data on many other countries around the world. Future research should attempt to increase the sample of countries to include more nations from Africa, Asia, Latin America, and Europe, perhaps by combining previous waves of the WVS that included data from additional nations.

Finally, it is important to note that these findings are limited to the legitimacy of police and courts, rather than the legitimacy of other social institutions or of the state more generally. The sources of legitimacy and contextual variation in effects may be entirely different for different institutions. However, because of the visibility of police and courts in public life, it is likely that specific attitudes toward these legal authorities

have an important relationship with more general feelings about the authority structures of state and society.

Despite these limitations, what is clear from this research is that the formulation of universal criteria by which to measure the constellation of concepts related to legitimacy is exceedingly difficult if not inherently impossible. Legitimacy is not easy to define in generalizable terms, and the potential for great variation in this confluence of attitudes makes the application of any single model to all national contexts a source of trepidation. The possibility of cross-national variation applies whether considering Weber's (1922) model of legitimacy based on tradition, charisma, or rationality; Beetham's (1991) model of legitimacy derived from legality, justification, and consent, Tyler's (1990) model of legitimacy arising from quality of treatment and quality of decision-making, or Tankebe's (2013) model of legitimacy composed of effectiveness, lawfulness, distributive fairness, and procedural justice.

Future research must continue to explore the validity of these and other models of legitimacy under different social, cultural, political, and historical conditions, incorporating the potential for contextual variation in the sources of people's attitudes toward legal authorities. The use of multilevel modeling to account for cross-national variation in the sources and substance of legitimacy should become a standard feature of any future attempt to establish a more generalizable model of this phenomenon. Different sources of legitimacy imply different approaches to its cultivation. If the primary source of legitimacy is direct experience with legal authorities, then institutions should focus on improving quality of treatment and quality of decision-making in such encounters. But legitimacy influenced more by vicarious experience, group identity, moral alignment, or

social capital might suggest an approach geared toward image management, community outreach, and personal bonds. Legitimacy based primarily on effectiveness and fear of criminal victimization would call for legal authorities to focus on public safety and crime control.

The legitimacy of legal authority is a fundamental pillar of any society. The institutions that create, adjudicate, and enforce the law must receive popular support, however manufactured, to fulfill the mandates for which they are created. Legitimacy is influenced by instrumental concerns related to the legal mandate given to authorities, by the fulfillment of symbolic duties related to the image of state competence and power, and by the bonds formed between state entities and personal identities. But the nature of these influences depends in large part on broader contextual factors that set the stage for legitimation processes to occur. There is little question that the study of legitimacy carries important implications in a global context, not only for legal authorities and justice systems, but for social institutions in general (Beetham, 1991; Hinsch, 2010; Mazerolle et al., 2013; Tankebe, 2009; Tyler, 1990; Weber, 1922). Legal authorities such as police and courts are often the "face" of state authority that is most visible to citizens, and the legitimacy of these institutions is therefore intimately tied to the legitimacy of the state itself (Hamm et al., 2022). Corrosion in the legitimacy of these legal authorities is likely to spread across the broader social order, however that order happens to be defined. The relativistic nature of legitimacy and the reality that its existence likely relies on different factors in different national contexts makes comprehension of these implications exceedingly difficult, but not entirely impossible. A better understanding of these differential legitimation processes would be beneficial not only for the future study of

legitimacy by academics, but also as for its cultivation by agencies and institutions interested in improving relationships with the general public.

APPENDIX

Appendix A: Questions from the World Values Survey

The following questions are worded exactly as on the original World Values Survey (WVS). Questions from the WVS not relevant to this study have been omitted. Questions are presented in the order in which they are discussed in Chapter IV of this dissertation, rather than the order they appeared on the WVS questionnaire.

Dependent variables were based on the following items:

I am going to name a number of organizations. For each one, could you tell me how much confidence you have in them: is it a great deal of confidence, quite a lot of confidence, not very much confidence, or none at all?

Q69. The police

Q70. The courts/justice system

Demographic variables were based on the following items:

Q260. Respondent's sex (coded by observation, not asked):

1. Male

2. Female

Q262. Age in years (number)

Q273. Are you currently:

- 1. Married
- 2. Living together as married
- 3. Divorced
- 4. Separated
- 5. Widowed
- 6. Single

Q275. What is the highest educational level that you have attained?

- 1. Primary
- 2. Secondary
- 3. Post-secondary
- 4. Tertiary

Q279. Are you employed now or not? If yes, about how many hours a week? If more than one job; only for the main job.

Yes, has paid employment:

1. Full-time employee (30 hrs/wk or more)

2. Part-time employee (less than 30 hrs/wk)

3. Self-employed

No, no paid employment:

4. Retired/pensioned

5. Housewife not otherwise employed

6. Student

7. Unemployed

8. Other (write-in)

H1. Settlement type

1. Urban (city, town)

2. Rural (village)

Prior victimization and fear of crime variables were derived from the following items:

Q52. In the last 12 months, how often have you or your family felt unsafe from crime in your home?

- 1. Often
- 2. Sometimes
- 3. Rarely
- 4. Never

Q131. Could you tell me how secure do you feel these days?

- 1. Very secure
- 2. Quite secure
- 3. Not very secure
- 4. Not at all secure

Have you been the victim of a crime during the past year? And what about your immediate family – has someone in your family been the victim of a crime during the last year?

Q144. Respondent

- 1. Yes
- 2. No
- Q145. Family
 - 1. Yes
 - 2. No

Fear of war and terrorism variables were based on the following items:

To what degree are you worried about the following situations?

Q146. A war involving my country:

- 1. Very much
- 2. A good deal
- 3. Not much
- 4. Not at all

Q147. A terrorist attack:

- 1. Very much
- 2. A good deal
- 3. Not much
- 4. Not at all

The vicarious experience variable was based on a single item:

Q134. How frequently do [police or military interfere with people's private life] in your neighborhood?

- 1. Very frequently
- 2. Quite frequently
- 3. Not frequently
- 4. Not at all frequently

Group identity variables were based on the following items:

Q254. How proud are you to be [country's nationality]?

- 1. Very proud
- 2. Quite proud

3. Not very proud

4. Not at all proud

People have different views about themselves and how they relate to the world. Using this card, would you tell me how close do you feel to ...?

Q257. Your [country]:

1. Very close

- 2. Close
- *3. Not very close*
- 4. Not close at all

Variables measuring social capital were derived from the following two items:

Q57. Generally speaking, would you say that most people can be trusted or that you need to be very careful in dealing with people?

- 1. Most people can be trusted
- 2. Need to be very careful

Now I am going to read off a list of voluntary organizations. For each organization, could you tell me whether you are an active member, an inactive member, or not a member of that type of organization?

Q94. Church or religious organization

Q95. Sport or recreational organization, football/baseball/rugby team

Q96. Art, music, or educational organization

Q97. Labor union

Q98. Political party

Q99. Environmental organization

Q100. Professional association

Q101. Humanitarian or charitable organization

Q102. Consumer organization

Q103. Self-help group, mutual aid group

Q104. Women's group

Q105. Other organization

Measures of perceived corruption and importance of democracy were based on the following items from the WVS:

Q112. Now I'd like you to tell me your views on corruption – when people pay a bribe, give a gift, or do a favor to other people in order to get the things they need done or the services they need. How would you place your views on corruption on a 10-point scale where "1" means "there is no corruption in my country" and "10" means "there is abundant corruption in my country?" If your views are somewhat mixed, choose the appropriate number in between. (1-10)

Q250. How important is it for you to live in a country that is governed democratically? On this scale where 1 means it is "not at all important" and 10 means "absolutely important" what position would you choose? (1-10)

Appendix B: Freedom House Democracy Index

Political Rights

A. Electoral Process

A1. Was the current head of government or other chief national authority elected through free and fair elections?

A2. Were the current national legislative representatives elected through free and fair elections?

A3. Are the electoral laws and framework fair, and are they implemented impartially by the relevant election management bodies?

B. Political Pluralism and Participation

B1. Do the people have the right to organize in different political parties or other competitive political groupings of their choice, and is the system free of undue obstacles to the rise and fall of these competing parties or groupings?

B2. Is there a realistic opportunity for the opposition to increase its support or gain power through elections?

B3. Are the people's political choices free from domination by forces that are external to the political sphere, or by political forces that employ extra-political means?

B4. Do various segments of the population (incl. ethnic, religious, gender, LGBT, and other relevant groups) have full political rights and electoral opportunities?

C. Functioning of Government

C1. Do the freely elected head of government and national legislative representatives determine the policies of government?

C2. Are safeguards against official corruption strong and effective?

C3. Does the government operate with openness and transparency?

Discretionary political rights question: Is the government or occupying power deliberately changing the ethnic composition of a country or territory so as to destroy a culture or tip the political balance in favor of another group?

Civil Liberties

D. Freedom of Expression and Belief

D1. Are there free and independent media?

D2. Are individuals free to practice and express their religious faith or nonbelief in public and private?

D3. Is there academic freedom, and is the educational system free from extensive political indoctrination?

D4. Are individuals free to express their personal views on political or other sensitive topics without fear of surveillance or retribution?

E. Associational and Organizational Rights

E1. Is there freedom of assembly?

E2. Is there freedom for nongovernmental organizations, particularly those that are engaged in human rights- and governance-related work?

E3. Is there freedom for trade unions and similar professional or labor organizations?

F. Rule of Law

F1. Is there an independent judiciary?

F2. Does due process prevail in civil and criminal matters?

F3. Is there protection from the illegitimate use of physical force and freedom from war and insurgencies?

F4. Do laws, policies, and practices guarantee equal treatment of various segments of the population?

G. Personal Autonomy and Individual Rights

G1. Do individuals enjoy freedom of movement, including the ability to change their place of residence, employment, or education?

G2. Are individuals able to exercise the right to own property and establish private businesses without undue interference from state or nonstate actors?

G3. Do individuals enjoy personal social freedoms, including choice of marriage partner and size of family, protection from domestic violence, and control over appearance?

G4. Do individuals enjoy equality of opportunity and freedom from economic exploitation?

REFERENCES

- Aguinis, H., Gottfredson, R. K., & Culpepper, S. A. (2013). Best-practice recommendations for estimating cross-level interaction effects using multilevel modeling. *Journal of Management*, 39(6): 1490-1528.
- Aitkin, M., & Longford, N. (1986). Statistical modeling issues in school effectiveness studies. *Journal of the Royal Statistical Society: Series A (General)*, 149(1): 1-26.
- Akinlabi, O. M. (2020). Citizens' accounts of police use of force and its implication for trust in the police. *Journal of Crime and Justice*, 43(2): 145-160.
- Akinlabi, O. M., & Murphy, K. (2018). Dull compulsion or perceived legitimacy? Assessing why people comply with the law in Nigeria. *Police Practice and Research*, 19(2): 186-201.
- Albrecht, S. L., & Green, M. (1977). Attitudes toward the police and the larger attitude complex: Implications for police-community relationships. *Criminology*, 15(1): 67-86.
- Albright, J. J., & Marinova, D. M. (2015). *Estimating multilevel models using SPSS, Stata, SAS, and R.* Indiana University.
- Alda, E., Bennett, R., & Morabito, M. (2017). Confidence in the police and the fear of crime in the developing world. *Policing: An International Journal of Police Strategies and Management*, 40(2): 366-379.
- Alda, E., Bennett, R., Marion, N., Morabito, M., & Baxter, S. (2019). Antecedents of perceived fairness in criminal courts: A comparative analysis. *International Journal of Comparative and Applied Criminal Justice*.
- Anderson, C. J., Blais, A., Bowler, S., Donovan, T., & Listhaug, O. (2005). *Loser's* consent: Elections and democratic legitimacy. Oxford University Press.
- Anderson, E. (1999). Code of the street. New York: W. W. Norton.
- Antrobus, E., Bradford, B., Murphy, K., & Sargeant, E. (2015). Community norms, procedural justice, and the public's perceptions of police legitimacy. *Journal of Contemporary Criminal Justice*, 31(2): 151-170.
- Armaline, W. T., Vera Sanchez, C. G., & Correia, M. (2014). 'The biggest gang in Oakland': Re-thinking police legitimacy. *Contemporary Justice Review*, 17(3): 375-399.
- Ashforth, B. E., & Gibbs, B. W. (1990). The double-edge of organizational legitimation. *Organization Science*, 1(2): 177-194.

- Aviv, G., & Weisburd, D. (2016). Reducing the gap in perceptions of legitimacy of victims and non-victims: The importance of police performance. *International Review of Victimology*, 22(2): 83-104.
- Baird, V. A. (2001). Building institutional legitimacy: The role of procedural justice. *Political Research Quarterly*, 54(2): 333-354.
- Baker, T., Pelfrey, W. V., Jr., Bedard, L. E., Dhungana, K., Gertz, M., & Golden, K. (2014). Female inmates' procedural justice perceptions of the police and courts: Is there a spill-over of police effects? *Criminal Justice and Behavior*, 41(2): 144-162.
- Baker, T., Pickett, J. T., Amin, D. M., Golden, K., Dhungana, K., Gertz, M., & Bedard L. (2015). Shared race/ethnicity, court procedural justice, and self-regulating beliefs: A study of female offenders. *Law & Society Review*, 49(2): 433-465.
- Balko, R. (2013). *Rise of the warrior cop: The militarization of America's police forces*. Philadelphia, PA: PublicAffairs.
- Banjak-Corle, C., & Wallace, L. N. (2020). Disaster experiences and terrorism news exposure: Effects on perceptions of police and trust in local government in the United States. *Police Practice and Research*: 1 - 15.
- Baranauskas, A. J. (2022). News media and public attitudes toward the protests of 2020: An examination of the mediating role of perceived protester violence. *Criminology & Public Policy*, 21(1): 107-123.
- Barker, R. (1995). Whose legitimacy? Elites, nationalism, and ethnicity in the United Kingdom. *Journal of Ethnic Migration Studies*, 21(2): 207-214.
- Barker, R. (2001). *Legitimating identities: The self-presentations of rulers and subjects*. Cambridge University Press.
- Barrett-Howard, E., & Tyler, T. R. (1986). Procedural justice as a criterion in allocation decisions. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 50(2): 296-304.
- Baum, L. (2006). *Judges and their audiences: A perspective on judicial behavior*. Princeton University Press.
- Beetham, D. (1991). The legitimation of power. Palgrave Macmillan.
- Bell, A., Fairbrother, M., & Jones, K. (2019). Fixed and random effects models: Making an informed choice. *Quality & Quantity*, 53(2): 1051-1074.
- Bellman, A. (1935). Police service rating scale. *Journal of Criminal Law and Criminology*, 26(1): 74-114.

- Benedict, W. R., Brown, B., & Bower, D. J. (2000). Perceptions of the police and fear of crime in a rural setting: Utility of a geographically focused survey for police services, planning, and assessment. *Criminal Justice Policy Review*, 11(4): 275-298.
- Berthelot, E. R., McNeal, B. A., & Baldwin, J. M. (2017). Victimization type, and trust and confidence in the police and courts. *American Journal of Criminal Justice*.
- Bittner, E. (1970). *The functions of police in modern society: A review of background factors, current practices, and possible role models*. Chevy Chase, MD: National Institute of Mental Health.
- Bleaney, M., & Dimico, A. (2016). State history, historical legitimacy, and modern ethnic diversity. *European Journal of Political Economy*, 43: 159-170.
- Blumer, H. (1958). Race prejudice as a sense of group position. *The Pacific Sociological Review*, 1(1): 3-7.
- Boateng, F. D. (2017). Institutional trust and performance: A study of the police in Ghana. *Australian & New Zealand Journal of Criminology*, 0(0): 1-19.
- Boateng, F. D. (2018). Police legitimacy in Africa: A multilevel multinational analysis. *Policing and Society*, 28(9): 1105-1120.
- Boateng, F. D., Lee, H. D., & Abess, G. (2016). Analyzing citizens' reported levels of confidence in the police: A cross-national study of public attitudes toward the police in the United States and South Korea. *Asian Journal of Criminology*, 11(4): 289-308.
- Bobo, L. D. & Thompson, V. (2006). Unfair by design: The war on drugs, race, and the legitimacy of the criminal justice system. *Social Research*, 73(2): 445-472.
- Bobo, L., & Hutchings, V. L. (1996). Perceptions of racial group competition: Extending Blumer's theory of group position to a multiracial social context. *American Sociological Review*, 61(6): 951-972.
- Bottoms, A., & Tankebe, J. (2012). Beyond procedural justice: A dialogic approach to legitimacy in criminal justice. *The Journal of Criminal Law and Criminology*, 102(1):119-170.
- Bradford, B. (2014). Policing and social identity: Procedural justice, inclusion, and cooperation between police and public. *Policing and Society*, 24(1): 22-43.
- Bradford, B. (2016). The dog that never quite barked: Social identity and the persistence of police legitimacy. In M. Bosworth, C. Hoyle, & L. Zedner (Eds.), *Changing contours of criminal justice: Research, politics, and policy*. Oxford: OUP.

- Bradford, B., Huq, A., Jackson, J., & Roberts, B. (2014a). What price fairness when security at stake? Police legitimacy in South Africa. *Regulation & Governance*, 8(2): 246-268.
- Bradford, B., Murphy, K., & Jackson, J. (2014b). Officers as mirrors: Policing, procedural justice, and the (re)production of social identity. *British Journal of Criminology*, 54: 527-550.
- Bradford, B., Sargeant, E., Murphy, K., & Jackson, J. (2017). A leap of faith? Trust in the police among immigrants in England and Wales. *British Journal of Criminology*, 57(2): 381-401.
- Bradford, B., Yesberg, J. A., Jackson, J., & Dawson, P. (2020). Live facial recognition: Trust and legitimacy as predictors of public support for police use of new technology. *British Journal of Criminology*.
- Braithwaite, V. (2003). Dancing with tax authorities: Motivational postures and noncompliant actions. *Taxing Democracy*, 3: 15-39.
- Brandl, S. G., Frank, J., Worden, R. E., & Bynum, T. S. (1994). Global and specific attitudes toward the police: Disentangling the relationship. *Justice Quarterly*, 11(1): 119-134.
- Bridenball, B., & Jesilow, P. (2008). What matters: The formation of attitudes toward the police. *Police Quarterly*.
- Brockner, J., Chen, Y., Mannix, E. A., Leung, K., & Skarlicki, D. P. (2000). Culture and procedural fairness: When the effects of what you do depend on how you do it. *Administrative Science Quarterly*, 45(1): 138-159.
- Brown, B., & Benedict, W. R. (2002). Perceptions of the police: Past findings, methodological issues, conceptual issues, and policy implications. *Policing: An International Journal of Police Strategies and Management*, 25(3): 543-580.
- Brudny, Y. M., & Finkel, E. (2011). Why Ukraine is not Russia: Hegemonic national identity and democracy in Russia and Ukraine. *East European Politics and Societies*, 25(4): 813-833.
- Bryan, M. L., & Jenkins, S. P. (2016). Multilevel modelling of country effects: A cautionary tale. *European Sociological Review*, 32(1): 3-22.
- Cao, L., Frank, J., & Cullen, F. T. (1996). Race, community context, and confidence in the police. *American Journal of Police*, 15(1): 3-22.
- Cao, L., & Graham, A. (2019). The measurement of legitimacy: A rush to judgement? *Asian Journal of Criminology*, 14(4): 291-299.
- Cao, L., Lai, Y., & Zhao, R. (2012). Shades of blue: Confidence in the police in the world. *Journal of Criminal Justice*, 40(1): 40-49.
- Cao, L., & Wu, Y. (2019). Confidence in the police by race: Taking stock and charting new directions. *Police Practice and Research*, 20(1): 3-17.
- Cao, L., & Zhao, J. S. (2005). Confidence in the police in Latin America. *Journal of Criminal Justice*, 33: 403-412.
- Carrabine, E. (2005). Prison riots, social order, and the problem of legitimacy. *British Journal of Criminology*, 45: 896-913.
- Casper, J. D., Tyler, T., & Fisher, B. (1988). Procedural justice in felony cases. *Law & Society Review*, 22(3): 483-508.
- Chambliss, W. J. (1979). On lawmaking. *British Journal of Law and Society*, 6(2): 149-171.
- Chamlin, M. B., & Cochran, J. K. (2006). Economic inequality, legitimacy, and crossnational homicide rates. *Homicide Studies*, 10(4): 231-252.
- Chase, O. G., & Thong, J. (2012). Judging judges: The effect of courtroom ceremony on participant evaluation of process fairness-related factors. *Yale Journal of Law and the Humanities*, 24(1): 221-245.
- Cheng, T. (2020). Input without influence: The silence and scripts of police and community relations. *Social Problems*, 67: 171-189.
- Chermak, S., McGarrell, E., & Gruenewald, J. (2005). Media coverage of police misconduct and attitudes toward police. *Policing: An International Journal of Police Strategies and Management*, 29(2): 261-281.
- Cherney, A., & Murphy, K. (2013). Policing terrorism with procedural justice: The role of police legitimacy and law legitimacy. *Australian & New Zealand Journal of Criminology*, 46(3): 403-421.
- Cheurprakobkit, S. (2000). Police-citizen contact and police performance: Attitudinal differences between Hispanics and non-Hispanics. *Journal of Criminal Justice*, 28(4): 325-336.
- Clark, P. B., & Wilson, J. Q. (1961). Incentive systems: A theory of organizations. *Administrative Science Quarterly*, 6(2): 129-166.
- Cohn, E. S., White, S. O., & Sanders, J. (2000). Distributive and procedural justice in seven nations. *Law and Human Behavior*, 24(5): 553-579.
- Coicaud, J. M. (2002). Legitimacy and politics: A contribution to the study of political right and political responsibility. Cambridge University Press.
- Coicaud, J. M. (2019). Changes underway and challenges to political legitimacy. *Chinese Political Science Review*.

- Connell, R. (2007). Southern theory: The global dynamics of knowledge in social science. Cambridge: Polity Press.
- D'Souza, A., Weitzer, R., & Brunson, R. K. (2018). Federal investigations of police misconduct: a multi-city comparison. *Crime, Law, and Social Change*, 71: 461 482.
- Dario, L. M., Fradella, H. F., Verhagen, M., & Parry, M. M. (2019). Assessing LGBT people's perceptions of police legitimacy. *Journal of Homosexuality*, 1-31.
- Dawson, A. (2017). The belief in state legitimacy and homicide: A cross-national analysis. *The Sociological Quarterly*, 58(4): 552-575.
- Dawson, A. (2018). Police legitimacy and homicide: A macro-comparative analysis. *Social Forces*, 97(2): 841-866.
- De Zuniga, H. G., Ardevol-Abreu, A., Diehl, T., Patino, M. G., & Liu, J. H. (2019). Trust in institutional actors across 22 countries: Examining political, science, and media trust around the world. *Revista Latina de Communicacion Social*, 74(0): 237-262.
- Deephouse, D.L., & Suchman, M. (2008). Legitimacy in organizational institutionalism. In R. Greenwood, C. Oliver, R. Suddaby, & K. Sahlin-Andersson (Eds.), *The Sage handbook of organizational institutionalism* (pp. 49-77). Sage.
- Douthit, N. (1975). August Vollmer, Berkeley's first Chief of Police, and the emergence of police professionalism. *California Historical Quarterly*, 54(2): 101-124.
- Dowler, K. (2003). Media consumption and public attitudes toward crime and justice: The relationship between fear of crime, punitive attitudes, and perceived police effectiveness. *Journal of Criminal Justice and Popular Culture*, 10(2): 109-126.
- Dowler, K., & Sparks, R. (2008). Victimization, contact with police, and neighborhood conditions: reconsidering African American and Hispanic attitudes toward the police. *Police Practice and Research*, 9(5): 395-415.
- Drakulich, K., Wozniak, K. H., Hagan, J., Johnson, D. (2019). Race and policing in the 2016 presidential election: Black lives matter, the police, and dog whistle politics. *Criminology*: 1-33.
- Dull, R. T., & Wint, A. V. N. (1997). Criminal victimization and its effect on fear of crime and justice attitudes. *Journal of Interpersonal Violence*, 12(5): 748-758.
- Easton, D. (1975). A re-assessment of the concept of political support. *British Journal of Political Science*, 5(4): 435-457.
- Eliason, S. R. (1993). *Maximum likelihood estimation: Logic and practice* (No. 96). Sage Publications.
- Ellmann, S. (1995). Law and legitimacy in South Africa. *Law and Social Inquiry*, 20: 407-479.

- Factor, R., Castillo, J. C., & Rattner, A. (2014). Procedural justice, minorities, and religiosity. *Police Practice and Research*, 15(2): 130-142.
- Fagan, J., & Tyler, T. (2005). Legal socialization of children and adolescents. *Social Justice Research*, 18(3): 217-242.
- Fauve, A. (2015). Global Astana: Nation branding as a legitimization tool for authoritarian regimes. *Central Asian Survey*, 34(1): 110-124.
- Ferdik, F. V., Wolfe, S. E., & Blasco, N. (2013). Informal social controls, procedural justice, and perceived police legitimacy: Do social bonds influence evaluations of police legitimacy? *American Journal of Criminal Justice*, 39(3): 471-492.
- Forrest, W. (2021). The contribution of intimate relationships to legal socialization: Legitimacy, legal cynicism, and relationship characteristics. *Journal of Social Issues*, 77: 600-630.
- Frank, J., Smith, B. W., & Novak, K. J. (2005). Exploring the basis of citizens' attitudes toward the police. *Police Quarterly*, 8(2): 206-228.
- Frimpong, L. K., Oteng-Ababio, M., Owusu, G., & Wrigley-Asante, C. (2019). Public confidence in the police: Tests of instrumental and expressive models in a developing country city. *Police Practice and Research*, 20(2): 139-155.
- Garson, G. D. (2019). *Multilevel modeling: Applications in STATA, IBM SPSS, SAS, R, & HLM*. Sage Publications.
- Gau, J. M. (2011). The convergent and discriminant validity of procedural justice and police legitimacy: An empirical test of core theoretical propositions. *Journal of Criminal Justice*, 39(6): 489-498.
- Gau, J. M., & Brunson, R. K. (2010). Procedural justice and order maintenance policing: A study of inner-city young men's perceptions of police legitimacy. *Justice Quarterly*, 27(2): 255-279.
- Gau, J. M., Corsaro, N., Stewart, E. A., & Brunson, R. K. (2012). Examining macro-level impacts on procedural justice and police legitimacy. *Journal of Criminal Justice*, 40: 333-343.
- Gelman, A., Hill, J., & Yajima, M. (2009). Why we (usually) don't have to worry about multiple comparisons.
- Gerber, M., González, R., Carvacho, H., Jiménez-Moya, G., & Jackson, J. (2017). On the justification of intergroup violence: The roles of procedural justice, police legitimacy, and group identity in attitudes towards violence among indigenous people. *Psychology of Violence*, 8(3): 379-401.
- Gibbs, J. P. (2000). Status integration and suicide: Occupational, marital, or both? *Social Forces*, 79(2): 363-384.

- Gibson, J. L., Gottfried, J. A., Delli Carpini, M. X., and Jamieson, K. H. (2010). The effects of judicial campaign activity on the legitimacy of courts: A survey-based experiment. *Political Research Quarterly*, 1-14.
- Gilley, B. (2006). The determinants of state legitimacy: Results for 72 countries. *International Political Science Review*, 27(1): 47-71.
- Gilley, B. (2009). *The right to rule: How states win and lose legitimacy*. New York, NY: Colombia University Press.
- Gilley, B. (2012). State legitimacy: An updated dataset for 52 countries. *European Journal of Political Research*, 51: 693-699.
- Gliem, J. A., & Gliem, R. R. (2003). Calculating, interpreting, and reporting Cronbach's alpha reliability coefficient for Likert-type scales. *Midwest Research-to-Practice Conference in Adult, Continuing, and Community Education*.
- Gold, L. J., Darley, J. M., Hilton, J. L., & Zanna, M. P. (1984). Children's perceptions of procedural justice. *Child Development*, 55(5): 1752-1759.
- Goldsmith, A. (2005). Police reform and the problem of trust. *Theoretical Criminology*, 9(4): 443-470.
- Goldsmith, A. (2010). Policing's new visibility. *British Journal of Criminology*, 50: 914 934.
- Goldstein, H. (2011). Multilevel statistical models. John Wiley and Sons
- Grund, S., Ludtke, O., & Robitzsch, A. (2016). Multiple imputation of missing covariate values in multilevel models with random slopes: A cautionary tale. *Behavior Research Methods*, 48: 640-649.
- Günay, C., & Dzihic, V. (2016). Decoding the authoritarian code: Exercising 'legitimate' power politics through the ruling parties in Turkey, Macedonia, and Serbia. *Southeast European and Black Sea Studies*, 16(4): 529-549.
- Habermas, J. (1975). Legitimation crisis. Beacon Press.
- Haerpfer, C., Inglehart, R., Moreno, A., Welzel, C., Kizilova, K., Diez-Medrano, J., M. Lagos, P. Norris, E. Ponarin & B. Puranen et al. (eds). (2020). World Values Survey: Wave Seven. Madrid, Spain & Vienna Austria: JD Systems Institute & WVSA Secretariat.

Hamilton, L. C. (2012). Statistics with STATA: Version 12 (8th ed.) Cengage Learning.

Hamilton, V. L., Sanders, J., & McKearney, S. J. (1995). Orientations toward authority in an authoritarian state: Moscow in 1990. *Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin*, 21(4): 356-365.

- Hamm, J. A., Trinkner, R., & Carr, J. D. (2017). Fair process, trust, and cooperation: Moving toward an integrated framework of police legitimacy. *Criminal Justice* and Behavior, 44(9): 1183-1212.
- Hamm, J. A., Wolfe, S. E., Cavanagh, C., & Lee, S. (2022). (Re)organizing legitimacy theory. *Legal and Criminological Psychology*. https://doi.org/10.1111/lcrp.12199
- Hastie, W. H. (1973). Judicial role and judicial image. *University of Pennsylvania Law Review*, 121(5): 947-961.
- Hathazy, P. (2013). Fighting for a democratic police: Politics, experts and bureaucrats in the transformation of the police in post-authoritarian Chile and Argentina. *Comparative Sociology*, 12(4): 505-547.
- Hawdon, J. (2008). Legitimacy, trust, social capital, and policing styles: A theoretical statement. *Police Quarterly*, 11(2): 182-201.
- Hawdon, J. E., Ryan, J., & Griffin, S. P. (2003). Policing tactics and perceptions of police legitimacy. *Police Quarterly*, 6(4): 469-491.
- Heaney, M. T. (2020). Protest at the center of American politics. *Journal of International Affairs*, 73(2): 195-208.
- Heen, M. S., Lieberman, J. D., & Miethe, T. D. (2018). The thin blue line meets the big blue sky: Perceptions of police legitimacy and public attitudes towards aerial drones. *Criminal Justice Studies*, 31(1): 18-37.
- Heisig, J. P., & Schaeffer, M. (2019). Why you should always include a random slope for the lower-level variable involved in a cross-level interaction. *European Sociological Review*, 35(2): 258-279.
- Herbert, S. (2006). Tangled up in blue: Conflicting paths to police legitimacy. *Theoretical criminology*, 10(4): 481-504.
- Hicks, A. J., & Lawrence, J. A. (1993). Children's criteria for procedural justice:
 Developing a young people's procedural justice scale. *Social Justice Research*, 6(2): 163-182.
- Hinds, L. (2007). Building police-youth relationships: The importance of procedural justice. *Youth Justice*, 7(3): 195-209.
- Hinds, L., & Murphy, K. (2007). Public satisfaction with police: Using procedural justice to improve police legitimacy. *The Australian and New Zealand Journal of Criminology*, 40(1): 27-42.
- Hinsch, W. (2010). Justice, legitimacy, and constitutional rights. *Critical Review of International Social and Political Philosophy*, 13(1): 39-54.
- Hobbes, T. (1651). Leviathan, or the matter, form, and power of a commonwealth, ecclesiastical and civil. Cambridge University Press.

- Hough, M., Jackson, J., & Bradford, B. (2013). Legitimacy, trust, and compliance: An empirical test of procedural justice theory using the European Social Survey. In J. Tankebe & A. Liebling (Eds.), *Legitimacy and Criminal Justice: An International Exploration* (pp. 326-352). Yale University Press.
- Hu, K., Hu, R., Sun, I., & Wu, Y. (2019). Social capital and public willingness to cooperate with the police in China. *Policing: An International Journal*.
- Hume, D. (1791). Essays: Moral, political, and literary. London: Grant Richards.
- Hurst, Y. G., & Frank, J. (2000). How kids view cops: The nature of juvenile attitudes toward the police. *Journal of Criminal Justice*, 28(3): 189-202.
- Hurwitz, J., & Peffley, M. (2005). Explaining the great racial divide: Perceptions of fairness in the U.S. criminal justice system. *The Journal of Politics*, 67(3): 762-783.
- Intravia, J., Wolff, K. T., & Piquero, A. R. (2018). Investigating the effects of media consumption on attitudes toward police legitimacy. *Deviant Behavior*, 39(8): 963-980.
- Jackson, J., & Bradford, B. (2019). Blurring the distinction between empirical and normative legitimacy? A methodological commentary on 'Police legitimacy and citizen cooperation in China.' *Asian Journal of Criminology*, 14(4): 265-289.
- Jackson, J., & Kuha, J. (2016). How theory guides measurement: Examples from the study of public attitudes toward crime and policing. In Huebner, B. M., & Bynum, T. S. (Eds.), *The handbook of measurement issues in criminology and criminal justice* (pp. 377-415). John Wiley & Sons.
- Jackson, J., & Sunshine, J. (2007). Public confidence in policing: A neo-Durkheimian perspective. *British Journal of Criminology*, 47(2): 214-233.
- Jackson, J., Bradford, B., Hough, M., Kuha, J., Stares, S., Widdop, S., Fitzgerald, R., Yordanova, M., & Galev, T. (2011). Developing European indicators of trust in justice. *European Journal of Criminology*, 8(4): 267-285.
- Jackson, J., Milani, J., & Bradford, B. (2018). Empirical legitimacy and normative compliance with the law. In A. Farazmand (Ed.), *Global encyclopedia of public administration, public policy, and governance* (pp. 1-8). Springer International.
- Jackson, J., Posch, K., Oliveira, T. R., Bradford, B., Mendes, S. M., Natal, A., L., & Zanetic, A. (2020). Fear and legitimacy in Sao Paulo, Brazil: Police-citizen relations in a high violence, high fear city. Sao Paulo Foundation (FAPESP).
- Jang, H., Joo, H., & Jihong, Z. (2010). Determinants of public confidence in police: An international perspective. *Journal of Criminal Justice*, 38(1): 57-68.

- Jang, H., Lee, J., & Gibbs, J. C. (2015). The influence of the national government on confidence in the police: A focus on corruption. *International Journal of Law, Crime, and Justice*, 43(4): 553-568.
- Jiadong, Z. (2006). The issue of the "legitimacy" of Chinese philosophy. *Contemporary Chinese Thought*, 37(1): 11-23.
- Johnston, J. (2018). Three phases of courts' publicity: Reconfiguring Bentham's open justice for the twenty-first century. *International Journal of Law in Context*, 14: 525-538.
- Jonathan-Zamir, T. & Weisburd, D. (2013). The effects of security threats on antecedents of police legitimacy: Findings from a quasi-experiment in Israel. *Journal of Research in Crime and Delinquency*, 50(1): 3-32.
- Jones, D. J. (2020). The potential impacts of pandemic policing on police legitimacy: Planning past the COVID-19 crisis. *Policing*, 14(3): 579-586.
- Jost, J. T., & Major, B. (2001). *The Psychology of Legitimacy: Emerging Perspectives on Ideology, Justice, and Intergroup* Relations. New York, NY: Cambridge University Press.
- Jurek, A. L., Matusiak, M. C., & King, W. R. (2022). Ferguson as a distal crisis: Chief assessments of changes in the police institutional environment. *Criminology & Public Policy*, 21(1): 83-105.
- Kane, R. J. (2005). Compromised police legitimacy as a predictor of violent crime in structurally disadvantaged communities. *Criminology*, 43(2): 469-498.
- Kelling, G. L., & Coles, C. M. (1998). *Fixing broken windows: Restoring order and reducing crime in our communities.* Free Press.
- Kim, H. S. (2018). Particularized trust, generalized trust, and immigrant self-rated health: Cross national analysis of World Values Survey. *Public Health*, 158: 93-101.
- Klockars, C. B. (1985). The idea of police. Sage Publications.
- Kochel, T. R. (2017). Explaining racial differences in Ferguson's impact on local residents' trust and perceived legitimacy: Policy implications for police. *Criminal Justice Police Review*, 30(3): 374-405.
- Kochel, T. R. (2018). Police legitimacy and resident cooperation in crime hotspots: Effects of victimization risk and collective efficacy. *Policing and Society*, 28(3): 251-270.
- Kochel, T. R., Parks, R., & Mastrofski, S. D. (2013). Examining police effectiveness as a precursor to legitimacy and cooperation with police. *Justice Quarterly*, 30(5): 895-925.

- Koenig, D. J. (1980). The effects of criminal victimization and judicial or police contacts on public attitudes toward local police. *Journal of Criminal Justice*, 8: 243-249.
- Koster, N. S. N., Kuijpers, K. F., Kunst, M. J. J., & Van der Leun, J. P. (2016). Crime victims' perceptions of police behavior, legitimacy, and cooperation: A review of the literature. *Victims & Offenders*, 11: 392-435.
- Kääriäinen, J. T. (2007). Trust in police in 16 European countries: A multilevel analysis. *European Journal of Criminology*, 4(4): 409-435.
- LaFree, G. (1998). Losing legitimacy: Street crime and the decline of social institutions in America. New York, NY: Routledge.
- LaHuis, D. M., & Ferguson, M. W. (2009). The accuracy of significance tests for slope variance components in multilevel random coefficient models. *Organizational Research Methods*, 12(3): 418-435.
- Laurie, P. (1972). Scotland Yard. London: Penguin Books.
- Lawson, S. (1993). The politics of tradition: Problems for political legitimacy and democracy in the South Pacific. *Pacific Studies*, 16(2): 1-29.
- Lee, H. D., Cao, L., Kim, D., & Woo, Y. (2019). Police contact and confidence in the police in a medium-sized city. *International Journal of Law, Crime, and Justice*, 56: 70-78.
- Leventhal, G. S. (1980). What should be done with equity theory? New approaches to the study of fairness in social relationships. In K. J. Gergen, M. S. Greenberg, & R. H. Willis (Eds.), *Social exchange: Advances in theory and research* (pp. 27-55). Plenum.
- Levi, M., & Sacks, A. (2009). Legitimating beliefs: Sources and indicators. *Regulation & Governance*, 3: 311-333.
- Levi, M., Sacks, A., & Tyler, T. (2009). Conceptualizing legitimacy, measuring legitimating beliefs. *American Behavioral Scientist*, 53(3): 354-375.
- Lewis, F., Butler, A., & Gilbert, L. (2011). A unified approach to model selection using the likelihood ratio test. *Methods in Ecology and Evolution*, 2: 155-162.
- Leyland, A. H., & Groenewegen, P. P. (2020). *Multilevel modeling for public health and health services research: Health in context*. Springer Nature.
- Lind, E. A., & Tyler, T. R. (1988). The social psychology of procedural justice. Springer Science & Business Media.
- Lind, E. A., & Tyler, T. R. (1992). A relational model of authority in groups. *Advances in Experimental Social Psychology*, 25: 115-191.

- Lind, E. A., Tyler, T. R., & Huo, Y. J. (1997). Procedural context and culture: Variation in the antecedents of procedural justice judgements. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 73(4): 767-780.
- Liu, J. (2019). Debating core conceptual and measurement issues about police legitimacy. *Asian Journal of Criminology*, 14(0): 261-263.
- Lloyd, E. P., Sim, M., Smalley, E., Bernstein, M. J., & Hugenburg, K. (2020). Good cop, bad cop: Race-based differences in mental representations of police. *Personality* and Social Psychology Bulletin, 0(0): 1-14.
- Loader, I., & Walker, N. (2007). Civilizing security. Cambridge University Press.
- Locke, J. (1690). Second treatise of government. Hackett Publishing Company.
- Lockwood, B., Doyle, M. D., & Comiskey, J. G. (2018). Armed, but too dangerous? Factors associated with citizen support for the militarization of the police. *Criminal Justice Studies*, 31(2): 113-127.
- Longford, N. T. (1993). Regression analysis of multilevel data with measurement error. British Journal of Mathematical and Statistical Psychology, 46(2): 301-311.
- Lowatcharin, G., & Stallmann, J. I. (2019). Decentralization and citizen trust: An empirical study of policing in more and less developed countries. *Journal of Public Affairs*, 20: 1-13.
- Luke, D. A. (2004). Multilevel modeling. Sage Publications.
- Luo, F., Ren, L., Hongwei, Z. (2019). Educational tracking and juvenile confidence in the police in China. *International Journal of Comparative and Applied Criminal Justice*, 43(2): 159-172.
- MacCoun, R. J. (2005). Voice, control, and belonging: The double-edged sword of procedural fairness. *Annual Review of Law & Social Science*, 1: 171-201.
- Machura, S., Jones, S. O., Würgler, A., Cuthbertson, J., & Hemmings, A. (2019). National identity and distrust in the police: The case of North West Wales. *European Journal of Criminology*, 16(1): 60-80.
- Madon, N. S., Murphy, K., & Cherney, A. (2017). Promoting community collaboration in counterterrorism: Do social identities and perceptions of legitimacy mediate reactions to procedural justice policing? *British Journal of Criminology*, 57(5): 1144-1164.
- Madon, N. S., Murphy, K., & Sargeant, E. (2017). Promoting police legitimacy among disengaged minority groups: Does procedural justice matter more? *Criminology* & *Criminal Justice*, 17(5): 624-642.
- Manning, P. K. (1980). Violence and the police role. *The Annals of the American Academy of Political and Social Science*, 452: 135-144.

- Manning, P. K. (1997). *Police work: The social organization of policing*. Waveland Press.
- Manning, P. K. (2010). Democratic policing in a changing world. Routledge.
- Marien, S., & Hooghe, M. (2011). Does political trust matter? An empirical investigation into the relation between political trust and support for law compliance. *European Journal of Political Research*, 50(2): 267-291.
- Martin, R., & Bradford, B. (2019). The anatomy of police legitimacy: Dialogue, power, and procedural justice. *Theoretical Criminology*, 1-17.
- Maskály, J., Ivković, S. K., Haberfeld, M., Donner, C., Chen, T., & Meyers, M. (2019). Assessing the validity of police integrity scale in a comparative context. *Policing and Society*, 0(0): 1-21.
- Matheson, C. (1987). Weber and the classification of forms of legitimacy. *The British Journal of Sociology*, 38(2): 199-215.
- Mathieu, J. E., Aguinis, H., Culpepper, S. A., & Chen, Gilad. (2012). Understanding and estimating the power to detect cross-level interaction effects in multilevel modeling. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 97(5), 951-966.
- Mauk, M. (2019). Disentangling an elusive relationship: How democratic value orientations affect political trust in different regimes. *Political Research Quarterly*, 0(0): 1-15.
- Mazerolle, L., & Terrill, W. (2018). Making every police-citizen interaction count: The challenges of building a better cop. *Criminology & Public Policy*, 17(1): 1-8.
- Mazerolle, L., Bennett, S., Antrobus, E., & Eggins, E. (2012). Procedural justice, routine encounters, and citizen perceptions of police: Main findings from the Queensland Community Engagement Trial (QCET). *Journal of Experimental Criminology*, 8: 343-367.
- Mazerolle, L., Bennett, S., Davis, J., Sargeant, E., & Manning, M. (2013). Procedural justice and police legitimacy: A systematic review of the research evidence. *Journal of Experimental Criminology*, 9: 245-274.
- McDonald, J. R. (2015). Developing a peace course in police studies: How a culture of peace can enhance police legitimacy in a democratic society. *Journal of Peace Education*, 12(1): 74-91.
- McLaren, J. G. (1999). A brief history of wigs in the legal profession. *International Journal of the Legal Profession*, 6(2): 241-250.
- McLean, K., Wolfe, S. E., & Pratt, T. C. (2018). Legitimacy and the life course: An agegraded examination of changes in legitimacy attitudes over time. *Journal of Research in Crime & Delinquency*, 56(1): 42-83.

- McNeish, D. (2017). Small sample methods for multilevel modeling: A colloquial elucidation of REML and the Kenward-Roger Correction. *Multivariate Behavioral Research*, 52(5): 661-670.
- McNeish, D. (2017). Thanks coefficient alpha, we'll take it from here. *Psychological Methods*, 23(3): 412-433.
- Meares, T. L., Papachristos, A. V., & Fagan, J. (2012). Why do criminals obey the law? The influence of legitimacy and social networks on active gun offenders. *Journal of Criminal Law and Criminology*, 102(2): 397-440.
- Mehozay, Y., & Factor, R. (2017). Deeply embedded core normative values and legitimacy of law enforcement authorities. *Journal of Research in Crime and Delinquency*, 54(2): 151-180.
- Mekouar, M. (2017). Police collapse in authoritarian regimes: Lessons from Tunisia. *Studies in Conflict and Terrorism*, 40(10): 857-869.
- Messner, S. F., Baumer, E. P., & Rosenfeld, R. (2006). Distrust of government, the vigilante tradition, and support for capital punishment. *Law & Society Review*, 40(3): 559-590.
- Meyer, J. W., & Rowan, B. (1977). Institutionalized organizations: Formal structure as myth and ceremony. *American Journal of Sociology*, 83(2): 340-363.
- Midi, H., Sarkar, S. K., & Rana, S. (2013). Collinearity diagnostics of binary logistic regression model. *Journal of Interdisciplinary Mathematics*, 13(3): 253-267.
- Miethe, T. D., Venger, O., & Lieberman, J. D. (2019). Police use of force and its video coverage: An experimental study of the impact of media source and content on public perceptions. *Journal of Criminal Justice*, 60: 35-46.
- Mills, C. W. (1959). The sociological imagination. Oxford University Press.
- Monks, A. (2018). Dressing the law. *International Journal of Law in Context*, 14: 479-492.
- Moran, L. J. (2015). Some reflections on the aesthetics of contemporary judicial ceremony. In A. Virmani (Ed.), *Political aesthetics: Culture, critique, and the everyday* (pp. 159-180). Routledge.
- Morris, C. (2015). An international study on public confidence in police. *Police Practice and Research*, 16(5): 416-430.
- Morris, M. W., & Leung, K. (2000). Justice for all? Progress in research on cultural variation in the psychology of distributive and procedural justice. *Applied Psychology: An International Review*, 49(1): 100-132.

- Moule, R. K., Burruss, G. W., Parry, M. M., & Fox, B. (2019). Assessing the direct and indirect effects of legitimacy on public empowerment of police: A study of public support for police militarization in America. *Law & Society Review*, 53(1): 77-107.
- Moule, R. K., Fox, B. H., & Parry, M. M. (2018). The long shadow of Ferguson: Legitimacy, legal cynicism, and public perceptions of police militarization. *Crime & Delinquency*, 65(2): 151-182.
- Mourtgos, S. M., Adams, I. T., & Nix, J. (2022). Elevated police turnover following the summer of George Floyd protests: A synthetic control study. *Criminology & Public Policy*, 21(1): 9-33.
- Murphy, K. (2017). Challenging the 'invariance' thesis: Procedural justice policing and the moderating influence of trust on citizens' obligation to obey police. *Journal of Experimental Criminology*, 13: 429-437.
- Murphy, K. (2021). Scrutiny, legal socialization, and defiance: Understanding how procedural justice and bounded-authority concerns shape Muslims' defiance toward police. *Journal of Social Issues*, 77: 392-413.
- Murphy, K., & Cherney, A. (2012). Understanding cooperation with police in a diverse society. *British Journal of Criminology*, 52: 181-201.
- Murphy, K., Hinds, L., & Fleming, J. (2008). Encouraging public cooperation and support for police. *Policing & Society*, 18(2): 136-155.
- Mutunga, W. (2014). Dressing and addressing the Kenyan judiciary: Reflecting on the history and politics of judicial attire and address. *Buffalo Human Rights Law Review*, 20(5): 125-157.
- Nalla, M. K., & Gurinskaya, A. (2020). Police legitimacy or risk-avoidance: What makes people feel safe? *Journal of Crime and Justice*.
- Newton, K. & Norris, P. (1999). Confidence in public institutions: Faith, culture, or performance? In Pharr, S. and Putnam, R. (Eds.): *Disaffected Democracies: What's Troubling the Trilateral Countries?* (pp. 1-33). Princeton, NJ: Princeton University Press.
- Nihart, T., Lersch, K. M., Sellers, C. S., & Mieczkowski, T. (2005). Kids, cops, parents, and teachers: Exploring juvenile attitudes toward authority figures. *Western Criminology Review*, 6(1): 79-88.
- Nivette, A. (2014). Legitimacy and crime: Theorizing the role of the state in crossnational criminological theory. *Theoretical Criminology*, 18(1): 93-111.
- Nivette, A. (2016). Institutional ineffectiveness, illegitimacy, and public support for vigilantism in Latin America. *Criminology*, 54(1): 142-175.

- Nivette, A., & Eisner, M. (2013). Do legitimate polities have fewer homicides? A crossnational analysis. *Homicide Studies*, 17(1): 3-26.
- Nivette, A., Eisner, M. & Ribeaud, D. (2020). Evaluating the shared and unique predictors of legal cynicism and police legitimacy from adolescence intro early adulthood. *Criminology*, 58(1): 70-100.
- Nix, J., Pickett, J. T., & Wolfe, S. E. (2019). Testing a theoretical model of perceived audience legitimacy: The neglected linkage in the dialogic model of police community relations. *Journal of Research in Crime and Delinquency*: 1-43.
- Novak, K. J., & Chamlin, M. B. (2012). Racial threat, suspicion, and police behavior: The impact of race and place in traffic enforcement. *Crime & Delinquency*, 58(2): 275-300.
- Nuño, L. E. (2018). Hispanics' perceived procedural justice, legitimacy, and willingness to cooperate with the police. *Police Practice and Research*, 19(2): 153-167.
- O'Connor, C. D. (2008). Citizen attitudes toward the police in Canada. *Policing: An International Journal of Police Strategies & Management*, 31(4): 578-595.
- O'Loughlin, J. (2004). Democratic values in a globalizing world: A multilevel analysis of geographic contexts. *GeoJournal*, 60: 3-17.
- Oberwittler, D., & Roché, S. (2019). *Police-citizen relations across the world*. New York, NY: Routledge.
- Oliveira, T. R., Jackson, J., Murphy, K., & Bradford, B. (2020). Are trustworthiness and legitimacy 'hard to win, easy to lose'? A longitudinal test of the asymmetry thesis of police-citizen contact. *Journal of Quantitative Criminology*, 1-43.
- Orr, M., & West, D. M. (2007). Citizen evaluations of local police: Personal experience or symbolic attitudes. *Administration & Society*, 38(6): 649-668.
- Ortmann, S. (2009). Singapore: The politics of inventing national identity. *Journal of Current Southeast Asian Affairs*, 28(4): 23-46.
- Owens, E., Weisburd, D., Amendola, K. L., & Alpert, G. P. (2018). Can you build a better cop? Experimental evidence on supervision, training, and policing in the community. *Criminology & Public Policy*, 17(1): 41-87.
- Paccagnella, O. (2006). Centering or not centering in multilevel models? The role of the group mean and the assessment of group effects. *Evaluation Review*, 30(1): 66-85.
- Parsons, T. (1963). On the concept of political power. *Proceedings of the American Philosophical Society*, 107(3): 232-262.
- Paternoster, R., Brame, R., Mazerolle, P., & Piquero, A. (1998). Using the correct statistical test for the equality of regression coefficients. *Criminology*, 36(4): 859-866.

- Peyton, K., Sierra-Arevalo, M., & Rand, D. G. (2019). A field experiment on community policing and police legitimacy. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 116(40): 19894-19898.
- Pillai, R., Williams, E. S., & Tan, J. J. (2001). Are the scales tipped in favor of procedural or distributive justice? An investigation of the U.S., India, Germany, and Hong Kong (China). *The International Journal of Conflict Management*, 12(4): 312-332.
- Piza, E. L., & Connealy, N. T. (2022). The effect of the Seattle Police-Free CHOP zone on crime: A microsynthetic control evaluation. *Criminology & Public Policy*, 21(1): 35-58.
- Power, T. J., & Cyr, J. M. (2009). Mapping political legitimacy in Latin America. *International Social Science Journal*, 60(196): 253-272.
- Pratt, N. C. (2007). *Democracy and authoritarianism in the Arab world*. Lynne Rienner Publishers.
- Punch, M. (2009). *Police corruption: Deviance, reform, and accountability in policing*. Portland, OR: Willan Publishing.
- Punch, M., & Gilmour, S. (2010). Police corruption: Apples, barrels, and orchards. *Criminal Justice Matters*, 79(1): 10-12.
- Putnam, R. D. (2000). *Bowling alone: The collapse and revival of American community*. Simon and Schuster.
- Radburn, M., & Stott, C. (2018). The social psychological processes of 'procedural justice': Concepts, critiques, and opportunities. *Criminology & Criminal Justice*, 19(4): 421-438.
- Rahim, M. A., Magner, N. R., Antonioni, D., Rahman, M. S. (2001). Do justice relationships with organization-directed reactions differ across U.S. and Bangladesh Employees? *The International Journal of Conflict Management*, 12(4): 333-349.
- Rasmussen, D. M. (2017). From the moral to the political: The question of political legitimacy in non-western societies. *Philosophy and Social Criticism*, 43(4-5): 430-441.
- Raudenbush, S. W., & Bryk, A. S. (2002). *Hierarchical linear models: Applications and data analysis methods (Vol. 1)*. Sage Publications.
- Rawls, J. (1971). A theory of justice. Harvard University Press.
- Reisig, M. D., & Lloyd, C. (2009). Procedural justice, police legitimacy, and helping the police fight crime. *Police Quarterly*, 12(1): 42-62.

- Reisig, M. D., & Parks, R. B. (2000). Experience, quality of life, and neighborhood context: A hierarchical analysis of satisfaction with police. *Justice Quarterly*, 17(3): 607-630.
- Reisig, M. D., & Stroshine, M. S. (2001). The effects of expectancy disconfirmation on outcome satisfaction in police-citizen encounters. *Policing: An International Journal of Police Strategies & Management*, 24(1): 88-99.
- Reisig, M. D., Tankebe, J., & Mesko, G. (2012). Procedural justice, police legitimacy, and public cooperation with the police among young Slovene adults. *Varstvoslovje: Journal of Criminal Justice & Security*, 14(2): 147-164.
- Reisig, M. D., Tankebe, J., & Mesko, G. (2014). Compliance with the law in Slovenia: The role of procedural justice and police legitimacy. *European Journal on Criminal Policy and Research*, 20(2): 259-276.
- Reisig, M. D., Wolfe, S. E., & Holtfreter, K. (2011). Legal cynicism, legitimacy, and criminal offending: The non-confounding effect of low self-control. *Criminal Justice and Behavior*, 38(12): 1265-1279.
- Repucci, S. (2020). *The freedom house survey for 2019: The leaderless struggle for democracy*. Freedom House. *Journal of Democracy*, 31(2): 137-151.
- Reynolds, J. J., Estrada-Reynolds, V., & Nunez, N. (2018). Development and validation of the Attitudes Towards Police Legitimacy Scale. *Law and Human Behavior*, 42(2): 119-134.
- Rhemtulla, M., Brosseau-Liard, P. E., & Savalei, V. (2012). When can categorical variables be treated as continuous? A comparison of robust continuous and categorical SEM estimation methods under suboptimal conditions. *Psychological Methods*, 17(3): 354-373.
- Rice, S. K., & Piquero, A. R. (2005). Perceptions of discrimination and justice in New York City. *Policing: An International Journal of Police Strategies and Management*, 28(1): 98-117.
- Richards, J., Van Buren, M., & Audouze, F. (Eds.). (2000). Order, legitimacy, and wealth in ancient states. Cambridge University Press.
- Robson, R. (2021). Why don't we all just wear robes? *Journal of Civil Rights and Economic Development*, 34(2): 179-206.
- Roche, S. P., Pickett, J. T., Gertz, M. (2015). The scary world of online news? Internet news exposure and public attitudes toward crime and justice. *Journal of Quantitative Criminology*, 32(2): 215-236.
- Rosenbaum, D. P., Schuck, A. M., Costello, S. K., Hawkins, D. F., & Ring, M. K. (2005). Attitudes toward the police: The effects of direct and vicarious experience. *Police Quarterly*, 8(3): 343-365.

- Rothstein, B., & Stolle, D. (2008). The state and social capital: An institutional theory of generalized trust. *Comparative Politics*, 40(4): 441-459.
- Sahin, N., Braga, A. A., Apel, R., & Brunson, R. K. (2017). The impact of procedurally just policing on citizen perceptions of police during traffic stops: The Adana randomized controlled trial. *Journal of Quantitative Criminology*, 33(4): 701-726.
- Sampson, R. J., & Bartusch, D. J. (1998). Legal cynicism and (subcultural?) tolerance of deviance: The neighborhood context of racial differences. *Law & Society Review*, 32(4): 777-804.
- Sargeant, E., Antrobus, E., Murphy, K., Bennett, S., & Mazerolle, L. (2015). Social identity and procedural justice in police encounters with the public: Results from a randomized controlled trial. *Policing and Society*, 26(7): 789-803.
- Sato, M., Havercamp, R., & Hough, M. (2016). Trust in the German police. *European Police Science and Research Bulletin*: 83-90.
- Schatz, R. T., & Lavine, H. (2007). Waving the flag: National symbolism, social identity, and political engagement. *Political Psychology*, 28(3): 329-355.
- Schatzberg, M. G. (1993). Power, legitimacy, and 'democratization' in Africa. *Africa: Journal of the International African Institute*, 63(4): 445-461.
- Schuck, A. (2019). Community policing, coproduction, and social control: Restoring police legitimacy. In Rabe-Hemp, C. E. & Lind, N. S. (Eds.), *Political Authority, Social Control, and Public Policy* (pp. 63-77). Bingley, UK: Emerald Publishing Limited.
- Schwartz, S. J., Park, I. J. K., Huynh, Q., Zamboanga, B. L., Umana-Taylor, A. J., Lee, R. M., Rodriguez, L., Kim, S. Y., Whitbourne, S. K., Castillo, L. G., Weisskirch, R. S., Vazsonyi, A. T., Williams, M. K., & Agocha, V. B. (2012). The American identity measure: Development and validation across ethnic group and immigrant generation. *Identity: An International Journal of Theory and Research*, 12: 93-128.
- Sela-Shayovitz, R. (2014). Police legitimacy under the spotlight: Media coverage of police performance in the face of a high terrorism threat. *Journal of Experimental Criminology*, 11(1): 117-139.
- Sevier, J., & Tyler, T. R. (2014). How do the courts create popular legitimacy? The role of establishing the truth, punishing justly, and/or acting through just procedures. *Albany Law Review*, 77(3): 1095-1137.
- Shakhrai, I. (2015). The legitimization of authoritarian rule through constructed external threats: Russian propaganda during the Ukrainian crisis. *East European Quarterly*, 43(1): 29-54.

- Shaw, A., & Olson, K. (2014). Fairness as partiality aversion: The development of procedural justice. *Journal of Experimental Child Psychology*, 119(1): 40-53.
- Sherman, L. W. (1993). Defiance, deterrence, and irrelevance: A theory of the criminal sanction. *Journal of Research in Crime and Delinquency*, 30(4): 445-473.
- Sijtsma, K. (2009). On the use, the misuse, and the very limited usefulness of Cronbach's alpha. *Psychometrika*, 74(1): 107-120.
- Simmons, R. (2018). Big data, machine judges, and the legitimacy of the criminal justice system. *UC Davis Law Review*, 52: 1067-1118.
- Simpson, R. (2019). Police vehicles as symbols of legitimacy. *Journal of Experimental Criminology*, 15(1): 87-101.
- Singer, A. J., Chouhy, C., Lehmann, P. S., Walzak, J. N., Gertz, M., & Biglin, S. (2019). Victimization, fear of crime, and trust in criminal justice institutions: A cross national analysis. *Crime & Delinquency*, 65(6): 822-844.
- Skogan, W. G. (2006). Asymmetry in the impact of encounters with police. Policing & Society, 16(2): 99-126.
- Skogan, W. G. (2009). Concern about crime and confidence in the police: Reassurance or accountability? *Police Quarterly*, 12(3): 301-318.
- Smith, D. (2007). The foundations of legitimacy. In T. Tyler (Ed.), *Legitimacy and criminal justice: International perspectives* (pp. 30-58). Russell Sage Foundation.
- Snijders, T. A. B., & Bosker, R. J. (2012). Multilevel analysis: An introduction to basic and advanced multilevel modeling. Sage Publications.
- Sparks, J. R., & Bottoms, A. E. (1995). Legitimacy and order in prisons. *The British Journal of Sociology*, 46(1): 45-62.
- Sparks, R., Bottoms, A., & Hay, W. (1996). *Prisons and the problem of order*. Clarendon Press.
- Spector, P. E. (1992). *Summated rating scale construction: An introduction*. Sage Publications.
- Sprott, J. B., & Doob, A. N. (1997). Fear, victimization, and attitudes to sentencing, the courts, and the police. *Canadian Journal of Criminology*, 39(3): 275-291.
- Sprott, J. B., & Doob, A. N. (2009). The effect of urban neighborhood disorder in evaluations of the police and courts. *Crime & Delinquency*, 55(3): 339-362.
- St. Louis, S., & Greene, J. R. (2019). Social context in police legitimacy: Giving meaning to police/community contacts. *Policing and Society*, 1-18.
- Stack, S. J., & Cao, L. (1998). Political conservatism and confidence in the police: A comparative analysis. *Journal of Crime and Justice*, 21(1): 71-76.

- Stafford, M. C., & Galle, O. R. (1984). Victimization rates, exposure to risk, and fear of crime. *Criminology*, 22(2): 173-185.
- Stafford, M. C., & Gibbs, J. P. (1985). A major problem with the theory of status integration and suicide. *Social Forces*, 63: 643-660.
- Stafford, M. C., & Gibbs, J. P. (1988). Change in the relation between marital integration and suicide rates. *Social Forces*, 66(4): 1060-1079.
- Stafford, M. C., & Gibbs, J. P. (1993). A theory about disputes and the efficacy of control. In Aggression and violence: Social interactionist perspectives. (pp. 69-96). American Psychological Association.
- Stelkia, K. (2020). An exploratory study on police oversight in British Columbia: The dynamics of accountability for Royal Canadian Mounted Police and municipal police. SAGE Open, 10(1): 1-10.
- Stoutland, S. E. (2001). The multiple dimensions of trust in resident/police relations in Boston. *Journal of Research in Crime and Delinquency*, 38(3): 226-256.
- Suchman, M. C. (1995). Managing legitimacy: Strategic and institutional approaches. *The Academy of Management Review*, 20(3): 571-610.
- Sun, I. Y., Li, L., Wu, Y., & Hu, R. (2018). Police legitimacy and citizen cooperation in China: Testing an alternative model. *Asian Journal of Criminology*, 13(4): 275-291.
- Sun, I. Y., Wu, Y., & Hu, R. (2013). Public assessments of the police in rural and urban China. *British Journal of Criminology*, 53: 643-644.
- Sun, I. Y., Wu, Y., & Li, L. (2019). Response to criticism: Understanding the conceptual and measurement models of legitimacy. *Asian Journal of Criminology*, 14(4): 305-308.
- Sun, I. Y., Wu, Y., Hu, R., & Farmer, A. K. (2016). Procedural justice, legitimacy, and public cooperation with police: Does Western wisdom hold in China? *Journal of Research in Crime and Delinquency*, 54(4): 454-478.
- Sunshine, J., & Tyler, T. R. (2003). The role of procedural justice and legitimacy in shaping public support for policing. *Law & Society Review*, 37(3): 513-548.
- Swain, R. (2018). Negative Black stereotypes, support for excessive use of force by police, and voter preference for Donald Trump during the 2016 presidential primary election cycle. *Journal of African American Studies*, 22: 109-124.
- Taber, K. S. (2017). The use of Cronbach's Alpha when developing and reporting research instruments in science education. *Research in Science Education*, 48: 1273-1296.

- Tankebe, J. (2008). Colonialism, legitimation, and policing in Ghana. *International Journal of Law, Crime, and Justice*, 36: 67-84.
- Tankebe, J. (2009). Self-help, policing, and procedural justice: Ghanaian vigilantism and the rule of law. *Law & Society Review*, 43(2): 245-270.
- Tankebe, J. (2010). Public confidence in the police: Testing the effects of public experiences of police corruption in Ghana. *British Journal of Criminology*, 50: 296-319.
- Tankebe, J. (2013). Viewing things differently: The dimensions of public perceptions of police legitimacy. *Criminology*, 51(1), 103-135.
- Tankebe, J. (2019). Cooperation with the police against corruption: Exploring the roles of legitimacy, deterrence, and collective action theories. *British Journal of Criminology*, 59: 1390-1410.
- Tankebe, J., & Asif, M. (2016). Police legitimacy and support for vigilante violence in Pakistan. *International Journal of Comparative and Applied Criminal Justice*, 40(4): 343-362.
- Tankebe, J., Reisig, M. D., & Wang, X. (2015). A multidimensional model of police legitimacy: A cross-cultural assessment. *Law and Human Behavior*, 40(1): 11-22.
- Tausch, A. (2016). The civic culture of the Arab world: A comparative analysis based on World Values Survey data. *Middle East Review of International Affairs*, 20(1): 35-59.
- Taylor, R. B., & Lawton, B. A. (2012). An integrated contextual model of confidence in local police. *Police Quarterly*, 15(4): 414-445.
- Taylor, R. B., Wyant, B. R., & Lockwood, B. (2015). Variable links within perceived police legitimacy? Fairness effectiveness across races and places. *Social Science Research*, 49: 234-248.
- Terpstra, B. L., & Van Wijck, P. W. (2021). The influence of police treatment and decision making on perceptions of procedural justice: A field study. *Journal of Research in Crime and Delinquency*: 1-34.
- Terrill, W. & Paoline, E. A. (2015). Citizen complaints as threats to police legitimacy: The role of officers' occupational attitudes. *Journal of Contemporary Criminal Justice*, 31(2): 192-211.
- Thibaut, J. & Walker, L. (1978). A theory of procedure. *California Law Review*, 66(3): 541-566.
- Thibaut, J., Walker, L., LaTour, S., & Houlden, P. (1974). Procedural justice as fairness. *Stanford Law Review*, 26(6): 1271-1289.

- Thomassen, G. (2013). Corruption and trust in police: A cross-country study. *European Journal of Policing Studies*, 1(2): 152-168.
- Tost, L. P. (2011). An integrative model of legitimacy judgements. *Academy of Management Review*, 36(4): 686-710.
- Tregle, B., Nix, J., & Alpert, G. P. (2019). Disparity does not mean bias: Making sense of observed racial disparities in fatal officer-involved shootings with multiple benchmarks. *Journal of Crime and Justice*, 42(1): 18-31.
- Trinkner, R. (2019). Clarifying the contours of the police legitimacy measurement debate: A response to Cao & Graham. Asian Journal of Criminology, 14(4): 309-335.
- Trinkner, R., & Cohn, E. S. (2014). Putting the "social" back in legal socialization: Procedural justice, legitimacy, and cynicism in legal and nonlegal authorities. *Law and Human Behavior*, 38(6): 602-617.
- Trinkner, R., Jackson, J., & Tyler, T. R. (2018). Bounded authority: Expanding 'appropriate' police behavior beyond procedural justice. *Law and Human Behavior*, 42(3): 1-20.
- Tsushima, M., & Hamai, K. (2015). Public cooperation with the police in Japan: Testing the legitimacy model. *Journal of Contemporary Criminal Justice*, 31(2): 212-228.
- Tyler, T. R. (1988). What is procedural justice? Criteria used by citizens to assess the fairness of legal procedures. *Law & Society Review*, 22(1): 103-136.
- Tyler, T. R. (1990). Why people obey the law. Yale University Press.
- Tyler, T. R. (2001). Public trust and confidence in legal authorities: What do majority and minority group members want from the law and legal institutions? *Behavioral Sciences and the Law*, 19: 215-235.
- Tyler, T. R. (2003). Procedural justice, legitimacy, and the effective rule of law. *Crime and Justice*, 30: 283-357.
- Tyler, T. R. (2009). Legitimacy and criminal justice: The benefits of self-regulation. *Ohio State Journal of Criminal Law*, 7: 307-359.
- Tyler, T. R., & Blader, S. L. (2003). The group engagement model: Procedural justice, social identity, and cooperative behavior. *Personality and Social Psychology Review*, 7(4): 349-361.
- Tyler, T. R., & Huo, Y. J. (2002). *Trust in the law: Encouraging public cooperation* with the police and courts. Russell Sage Foundation.
- Tyler, T. R., & Jackson, J. (2013). Future challenges in the study of legitimacy and criminal justice. In Tankebe, J. and Liebling, A. (eds.) *Legitimacy and Criminal Justice: An International Exploration*. Oxford University Press.

- Tyler, T. R., & Jackson, J. (2014). Popular legitimacy and the exercise of legal authority: Motivating compliance, cooperation, and engagement. *Psychology, Public Policy,* and Law, 20(1): 78-95.
- Tyler, T. R., & Trinkner, R. (2018). *Why children follow rules: Legal socialization and the development of legitimacy*. Oxford University Press.
- Tyler, T. R., Lind, E. A., & Huo, Y. J. (2000). Cultural values and authority relations: The psychology of conflict resolution across cultures. *Psychology, Public Policy, and Law*, 6(4): 1138-1163.
- Uchida, C. D. (1993). The development of the American police: An historical overview. Critical issues in policing, 16-32.
- United Nations Office on Drugs and Crime. (2019). *Global study on homicide*. https://dataunodc.un.org
- United Nations Population Division. (2018). *World urbanization prospects*. https://population.un.org
- Van Craen, M. (2013). Explaining majority and minority trust in the police. *Justice Quarterly*, 30(6): 1042-1067.
- Van Damme, A., Pauwels, L., & Svensson, R. (2015). Why do Swedes cooperate with the police? A SEM analysis of Tyler's procedural justice model. *European Journal on Criminal Policy and Research*, 21(1): 15-33.
- Van De Vijver, F. J. R., & Poortinga, Y. H. (2002). Structural equivalence in multilevel research. *Journal of Cross-Cultural Psychology*, 33(2): 141-156.
- Van Dijk, J. (2015). Procedural justice for victims in an international perspective. In G. Meško & J. Tankebe (eds.) *Trust and legitimacy in criminal justice* (p. 53-64). Springer International Publishing.
- Van Maanen, J. (1978). The asshole. *Policing: A view from the street*: 221-238.
- Vaughn, P. E., Peyton, K., & Huber, G. A. (2022). Mass support for proposals to reshape policing depends on the implications for crime and safety. *Criminology & Public Policy*, 21(1): 125-146.
- Vedder, E. (1863). The Questioner of the Sphinx [Oil on canvas]. Museum of Fine Arts, Boston, MA. Wikimedia (07/28/2017). Retrieved from: //commons.wikimedia.org/wiki/File:Vedder, Elihu_The_Questioner_of_the_Sphinx_1836.gif.
- Vedder, E. (1868). The Dead Alchemist [Oil on panel]. Brooklyn Museum, New York, NY. Wikimedia (05/28/2010). Retrieved from: //commons.wikimedia.org/wiki/-File:Brooklyn_Museum_The_Dead_Alchemist_Elihu_Vedder_overall.jpg

- Vedder, E. (1885). *The Pleiades* [Oil on canvas]. Metropolitan Museum of Art, New York, NY. Wikimedia (05/22/2016). Retrieved from: //commons.wikimedia.org/wiki/File:The Pleiades (Elihu Vedder).jpg
- Vedder, E. (1896). Corrupt Legislation [Mural]. Library of Congress, Washington, DC. Wikimedia (05/18/2008). Retrieved from: //commons.wikimedia.org/wiki/-File:Corrupt_Legislation_Vedder_Highsmith.jpeg
- Vitale, A. S. (2017). The end of policing. New York, NY: Verso.
- Vito, G. F., Wolfe, S., Higgins, G. E., and Walsh, W. F. (2011). Police integrity: Rankings of scenarios on the Klockars scale by 'management cops.' *Criminal Justice Review*, 36(2): 152-164.
- Von Soest, C., & Grauvogel, J. (2017). Identity, procedures, and performance: How authoritarian regimes legitimize their rule. *Contemporary Politics*, 23(2): 287-305.
- Waldron, J. (1989). John Locke: Social contract versus political anthropology. *The Review of Politics*, 51(1): 3-28.
- Walters, G. D., & Bolger, P. C. (2019). Procedural justice perceptions, legitimacy beliefs, and compliance with the law: A meta-analysis. *Journal of Experimental Criminology*, 15: 341-372.
- Wang, X., Zhao, J., & Zhang, H. (2019). The impact of two different cultures on juvenile attitudes toward the police in China. *International Journal of Offender Therapy* and Comparative Criminology: 1-20.
- Way, L. A., & Levitsky, S. (2006). The dynamics of autocratic coercion after the Cold War. Communist and Post-Communist Studies, 39(3): 387-410.
- Weber, M. (1919). Politics as a vocation. In Gerth, H. H., & Mills, C. W. (1946). From Max Weber: Essays in Sociology. (pp. 77-128). New York: Oxford University Press.
- Weber, M. (1922). Economy and society. Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press.
- Weitzer, R., & Tuch, S. A. (2005). Determinants of public satisfaction with the police. *Police Quarterly*, 8(3): 279-297.
- Williams, R. (2012). Using the margins command to estimate and interpret adjusted predictions and marginal effects. *The Stata Journal*, 12(2): 308-331.
- Williams, R. (2020). Ordinal independent variables. In P. Atkinson, S. Delamont, A. Cernat, J. W. Sakshaug, & R. A. Williams (Eds.), SAGE Research Methods Foundations. Sage Publications.
- Wilson, J. Q. (1968). Dilemmas of police administration. *Public Administration Review*, 28(5): 407-417.

- Wilson, J. Q., & Kelling, G. L. (1982). Broken windows. *Atlantic Monthly*, 249(3): 29-38.
- Wolfe, S. E., & McLean, K. (2021). Is it un-American to view the police as illegitimate? The role of national identity in the legal socialization process. *Journal of Social Issues*, 77: 577-599.
- Wolfe, S. E., & Piquero, A. R. (2011). Organizational justice and police misconduct. *Criminal Justice and Behavior*, 38(4): 332-353.
- Wolfe, S. E., Nix, J., Kaminski, R., & Rojek, J. (2016). Is the effect of procedural justice on police legitimacy invariant? Testing the generality of procedural justice and competing antecedents of legitimacy. *Journal of Quantitative Criminology*, 32(2): 253-282.
- Worden, R. E., & McLean, S. J. (2017a). Research on police legitimacy: The state of the art. *Policing: An International Journal*, 40(3): 480-513.
- Worden, R. E., & McLean, S. J. (2017b). *Mirage of police reform: Procedural justice and police legitimacy*. University of California Press.
- Yaremych, H. E., Preacher, K. J., & Hedeker, D. (2021). Centering categorical predictors in multilevel models: Best practices and interpretation. *Psychological Methods*.
- Zahnow, R., Mazerolle, L., & Pang, A. (2019). Do individual differences matter in the way people view police legitimacy? A partial replication and extension of invariance thesis. *Policing*, 15(2): 665-685
- Zelditch, M. (2001a). Processes of legitimation: Recent developments and new directions. *Social Psychology Quarterly*, 64(1): 4-17.
- Zelditch, M. (2001b). Theories of legitimacy. In J. T. Jost & B. Major. *The psychology of legitimacy: Emerging perspectives on ideology, justice, and intergroup relations*. Cambridge University Press.
- Zelditch, M., & Walker, H. A. (2003). The legitimacy of regimes. *Advances in Group Processes*, 20: 217-249.

Zimring, F. E. (2017). When police kill. Harvard University Press.